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Chairman’s Statement

ERW|E

On behalf of the board (the “Board”) (the
“Directors”) of China Carbon Neutral Development Group Limited
(the “Company”), | am pleased to present the annual results of
the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the
“Group”) for the year ended 31 December 2022 (the “Year").

of directors

For the Year, the Group recorded a consolidated revenue of
approximately HK$709.3 million (2021: approximately HK$468.0
million), representing an increase of approximately 51.6%, or
HK$241.3 million. The gross profit of the Group for the Year was
approximately HK$42.5 million (2021: approximately HK$35.9
million), representing an increase of approximately HK$6.6 million
or 18.4%. The Group recorded a loss attributable to owners of
the Company of approximately HK$197.5 million (2021: profit
attributable to owners of the Company of approximately HK$267.7
million). The loss attributable to owners of the Company, excluding
one-off non-operating items (loss on partial early repayment
of promissory note and loss on disposal of subsidiaries) was
amounted to approximately HK$122.9 million (2021:
attributable to owners of the Company, excluding one-off non-
operating items (the change in valuation of promissory notes, net,
HK$35.7 million).

the profit

and gain on disposal of subsidiaries) :

GLOBAL CARBON NEUTRAL BUSINESS

The Group commenced Global Carbon Neutral Business in early
2021. It established a unique market position for the carbon
neutral related operations with a primary focus on carbon credit
asset development,
carbon consulting and carbon neutral planning. Through actively
deploying negative carbon emissions as basic industry, the Group
achieved a unique carbon-neutral collaborative development
approach that combines new asset development and management
with industry and created a sustainable and high-return business
model.

operation and management, investment,
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Chairman’s Statement

ERW|E

In recent years, the world has accelerated its efforts to curb
carbon emission. With the gradual rollout of low-carbon transition
implementation program in key industries, total conviction of green
and low-carbon development has become the key for successful
evolution of the economy and society from the traditional growth
model to the green and sustainable development model. To align
with China’s commitment to achieve carbon neutrality before
2060, the government of Hong Kong would strive to achieve
carbon neutrality before 2050 and has set up an inter-departmental
“Steering Committee on Climate Change and Carbon Neutrality”
to formulate the overall strategy and oversee the coordination of
various actions. By grasping this opportunity with its strong brand
advantage and solid operation capability, the Group will continue
to focus on its carbon neutral business of carbon credit asset
development, operation and management, investment, carbon
consulting and carbon verification and industrial carbon negative
and natural carbon negative, expanding its layout for emerging
carbon neutral business.

For the Year, the revenue of the Global Carbon Neutral Business
was approximately HK$209.2 million (2021: approximately HK$0.5
million) and the segment loss was approximately HK$30.8 million
(2021: segment profit of approximately HK$149.0 million).

CIVIL ENGINEERING AND CONSTRUCTION BUSINESS
For the year ended 31 December 2022, the Civil Engineering and
Construction Business managed to record a stable performance,
despite of the grave challenges from the COVID-19 outbreak and
the economic downslope in Hong Kong.

As of 31 December 2022, the Group had 11 significant projects in
progress. 2 of them were building construction and maintenance
projects while the remaining were civil engineering construction
projects. As of 31 December 2022, the total contract sum and
the total outstanding values of the Group’s substantial projects
in progress were approximately HK$373.0 million and HK$199.0
million respectively (31 December 2021: approximately HK$626.0
million and HK$343.0 million respectively).
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Chairman’s Statement

ERW|E

OUTLOOK

For the Carbon Neutral Business, with the deepening of global
environmental and resource issues, promoting green development
has become a global consensus. Carbon neutrality not only brings
environmental benefits and mitigates the direct threat of climate
changes, but also creates abundant opportunities for the *
carbon and low carbon” derived from the carbon neutrality
journey, promoting the coordinated development of social
pollution reduction and carbon reduction and enhancing the
rapid growth of corporate demand for voluntary carbon credits.
In addition, with the launch of carbon trading markets in pilot
provinces and cities in China and the national carbon trading
market, the development of carbon trading market is expected
to be accelerated and become more active. Therefore, the Group
believes that there are broad prospects for the development of
Carbon Neutral Business.

‘zero

For the Civil Engineering and Construction Business, although
the operating environment in Hong Kong is expected to remain
tough in the coming years such as continuously rising wages
and cost of construction materials and shortage of skilled labors,
the Company is confident that the Group would be capable of
securing promising business opportunities given its vast experience
in handling a wide variety of construction works.

APPRECIATION

Finally, on behalf of the Board, | would like to take this
opportunity to express my sincere gratitude and appreciation to
our management team and staff for their dedication commitment,
as well as all of our customers, suppliers, shareholders, business
partners and associates for their support and encouragement to
the Group.

Sha Tao
Chairman of the Board
Hong Kong, 30 March 2023

6

Al
U ANSERS T 5 - BB BRI B R
FERYINEE - HEBh ok (B R O A SRR 3L

8

i o B RSB AR BRI AR o SR SR A
LA B > [FIRE > B h AN ERE T A
PR TR - RER]) JRANE R RS S
S R 1 IR 3% e > A A S B
R BRI R - 550 > BEE P RIEE
S7 R TR BR 2 2y T 85 I A BB AE T
W B8R > WA o A NS - SN
BE o UL s ASEEARLE o 8RR SE R
RS o

MEARTRELEEEEN S > REHNEE
R BRI AR AR SRIRE. (0 A ) A
TSRS Nl BT > B TR > M
SR FAE R 2 oAb el AR Uy Th Y T AR
B8 > Ao mISB AR SR T R A ) €0 PEAR Y SE5 B
BIAE G -

EE ]

Rig - A NER e R E R G e
B RR B 2t B TR0 B L
SRR 2 I BRI JERGHEBRAM P A
5o R BOR ~ BB LSRR
S G H B S T SRy B -

P
T > “E A =A=1H

China Carbon Neutral Development Group Limited F [ B o i1 88 Ji 42 (3 47 FR 23 )



Summary of Significant Contracts on Hand
EXRFEESABE

The following table summarises our significant contracts on hand I EMER PN —F -4+ "4 E—I“‘; 8
for the Civil Engineering and Construction Business as at 31 AR+ AR TR EEEEFRNERTFHESL
December 2022:

Particulars of the contract Contract sum
BRFHE BHEE
HK$ million
EEY o

Roads and drainage works ERRERIR

Provision of external cable construction works

PO SR B A s T S o sl b A

and outside telecommunications plant PR s (Note)
maintenance services (Fit5E)

Civil Engineering Improvement Works at Kwai EHMN LR TR E TR 49
Fong Estate

Roads and Drainage Works for Public Housing 5 P29 PG 4 4L 7 2 o 4 B BOR 15
Development at Tuen Mun Area 29 West TH

Upgrading/Improvement Works to Lands bl s B AR B R AR B TR 158
Department Slopes in the Northern Regions

Utilities civil engineering works NEARELARIE

Term contract for provision of civil engineering $ 1k 2 TR A A KR B it 2 —
works for the telecommunication networks TARTHREAL (Note)
and associated facilities (i 5E)

Provision of integrated field works for field FRAEFAKLA, KLB & NTC a4 £ 4 4% —
services in KLA, KLB & NTC region Lieid e (Note)

(FfF &)

Construction and Maintenance of Trenching/ AW MBI - B S RAT TS —
Cable Laying and Contractual Works in the YL,/ B s AR (Note)
Areas of Hong Kong, Ap Lei Chau, Lamma AR LR (it 5E)
Island and any Outlying Island

Provision of Works for Integrated PR EE AT AN A A TR RS —
Blockwiring Infrastructure (Note)

(FfF &)
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Summary of Significant Contracts on Hand
EXRFHEHEABE

Particulars of the contract Contract sum

BHEE BHEE

HK$ million

HE T

Civil and Building Works for North Point 132-kV b F1132 TR SR A 4 B ) £ R S 22
GIS Improvement (Phase 3-Stage 2) R OE TR (3 — 2P B

Building construction and maintenance works EFEENREIR

District Term Contract for Maintenance, JURETG [ L 7 B —

Improvement and Vacant Flat Refurbishment PR~ s Rz BRI (Note)

for Kowloon West, Sai Kung (1) 2023/2025 TR EE A1) (Fft &)

SR = RO

Construction of Activity Green and Associated LA HH IO B) Ak 3t S BR AR 129
Works at LOHAS Park

Note: No contract sum provided in the contracts due to the nature [tk - SEAAR A A KR - A B A AT A
of the relevant contracts. HUEGHIBH -
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Management Discussion and Analysis
EERBNwWR DM

BUSINESS REVIEW AND FINANCIAL REVIEW

The Group is principally engaged in (i) global carbon neutral business
with a focus on trading of carbon-credit assets, carbon credit and
carbon asset development, management and investment in carbon
neutral related fields and carbon consulting and planning, as well
as carbon negative business including industrial carbon negative
with a core of development of carbon capture, utilization and
storage (“CCUS") and natural carbon negative focusing on forest
and crop optimisation (“Global Carbon Neutral Business”); and
(ii) civil engineering works, building construction and maintenance
works (the "Civil Engineering and Construction Business”).

For the Year, the Group recorded a consolidated revenue of
approximately HK$709.3 million (2021: approximately HK$468.0
million), representing an increase of approximately 51.6%, or
HK$241.3 million, driven by the explosive growth in the Global
Carbon Neutral Business and significant increase in sale of carbon
credit assets during the Year.

As a result of the increase in the revenue during the Year, the
gross profit of the Group for the Year was approximately HK$42.5
million (2021:
increase of approximately HK$6.6 million or 18.4% as compared
to 2021.

approximately HK$35.9 million), representing an

The administrative and selling expenses of the Group for the Year
was approximately HK$86.0 million (2021: approximately HK$64.6
million),
million or 33.1% as compared to 2021. This is attributable to the
continuing expansion of the Global Carbon Neutral Business.

representing an increase of approximately HK$21.4

The finance costs of the Group for the Year was approximately
HK$59.4 million (2021: approximately HK$75.8 million),
representing a decrease of approximately HK$16.4 million or
21.6% as compared to 2021. During the Year, the Group has
taken initiatives to reduce the gearing of the Group, including the
repayment of other borrowings and promissory note, which led to
decrease in overall finance costs.

The Group recorded a loss on partial early repayment of promissory
note of approximately HK$74.6 million (2021: HK$ nil) during the
Year. The Group considers that the repayment of the promissory
note allows the Group to reduce its debt level, as well as to reduce
the long-term finance costs to the Group.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
EEREBNwWR DM

BUSINESS REVIEW AND FINANCIAL REVIEW
(Continued)

The Group recorded a loss attributable to owners of the Company
of approximately HK$197.5 million (2021:
owners of the Company of approximately HK$267.7 million),
representing a decrease in profit attributable to owners of the
Company of approximately HK$465.2 million, or 173.8% as
compared to 2021. This was mainly attributable to the following
reasons:

profit attributable to

(i)  aone-off net gain from the disposal of the entire interest of a
then wholly-owned subsidiary of the Group of approximately
HK$269.2 million was recognised for the year ended 31
December 2021 but a loss on disposal of subsidiaries of
approximately HK$5,000 was recognised for the Year; and

(ii)  a fair value gain on the carbon credit assets of approximately
HK$3.0 million was recorded for the Year, representing a
decrease of approximately HK$169.0 million, or 98.3% as
compared to 2021.
inventory during the Year and the carbon credit assets
holdings as at 31 December 2022 was lower than that of
2021.

The addition of carbon credit assets

The basic and diluted loss per share for the Year were HK$63.0
cents and HK$63.0 cents respectively (2021: the basic and diluted
earnings per shares of HK$103.4 cents and HK$69.4 cents
respectively).

In order to facilitate the investors’ and management’s understanding
of the financial information of the Company, an adjusted net
(loss)/profit is presented in this annual report. The (loss)/profit for
the Year, excluding one-off non-operating items, is derived from
extracting loss on partial early repayment of promissory note and
loss on disposal of subsidiaries (2021: the change in valuation of
promissory notes, net, and gain on disposal of subsidiaries) from
(loss)/profit for the Year.

The loss attributable to owners of the Company, excluding one-off
non-operating items was amounted to approximately HK$122.9
million (2021: the profit attributable to owners of the Company,
excluding one-off non-operating items: HK$35.7 million).
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Management Discussion and Analysis
EERBNwWR DM

BUSINESS REVIEW AND FINANCIAL REVIEW
(Continued)

The Group continues to improve its capital structure during the
Year through the following activities:

(i)  based on the market recognition of carbon neutral business
transformation, the Group seized the business opportunities
and completed a fund-raising activity in the capital market
during the first half of 2022. The Company issued and allotted
a total of 10,000,000 ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each of
the Company (“Shares”) and raised approximately HK$31.0
million. The Group’s capital and equity thus increased; and

(i) the Company completed a partial conversion of the
convertible bonds to the extent of HK$17,000,000, and
8,500,000 conversion Shares has been issued and allotted
during the Year.

Global Carbon Neutral Business

The Group commenced Global Carbon Neutral Business in early
2021. It established a unique market position for the carbon
neutral related operations with a primary focus on carbon credit
asset development, operation and management, investment,
carbon consulting and carbon neutral planning. Through actively
deploying negative carbon emissions as basic industry, the Group
achieved a unique carbon-neutral collaborative development
approach that combines new asset development and management
with industry and created a sustainable and high-return business
model.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
EEREBNwWR DM

BUSINESS REVIEW AND FINANCIAL REVIEW
(Continued)

Global Carbon Neutral Business (Continued)

In recent years, the world has accelerated its efforts to curb
carbon emission. With the gradual rollout of low-carbon transition
implementation program in key industries, total conviction of green
and low-carbon development has become the key for successful
evolution of the economy and society from the traditional growth
model to the green and sustainable development model. To align
with China’s commitment to achieve carbon neutrality before
2060, the government of Hong Kong would strive to achieve
carbon neutrality before 2050 and has set up an inter-departmental
“Steering Committee on Climate Change and Carbon Neutrality”
to formulate the overall strategy and oversee the coordination of
various actions. By grasping this opportunity with its strong brand
advantage and solid operation capability, the Group will continue
to focus on its carbon neutral business of carbon credit asset
development, operation and management, investment, carbon
consulting and carbon verification and industrial carbon negative
and natural carbon negative, expanding its layout for emerging
carbon neutral business.

For the Year, the revenue of the Global Carbon Neutral Business
was approximately HK$209.2 million (2021: approximately HK$0.5
million). The significant increase in the revenue from the Global
Carbon Neutral Business was mainly attributable to the sale of 2
million tons of quality carbon credit assets in Singapore during
the Year. This transaction marked a milestone for the Group's
development in carbon neutral business. The segment loss was
approximately HK$30.8 million (2021: profit of approximately
HK$149.0 million).
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Management Discussion and Analysis
EERBNwWR DM

BUSINESS REVIEW AND FINANCIAL REVIEW
(Continued)

Global Carbon Neutral Business (Continued)

In alignment with the development of carbon neutral business,
the Group formed a professional team with expertise in 2021 and
its business organizational structure is as follows:

Carbon Asset Development, Operation and Management

Segment
o Carbon Asset Management Division
o Carbon Information Technology Division

Carbon Negative Business Segment
o Industry Carbon Negative Division

° Nature Carbon Negative Division

The Group’s carbon neutral business management team possesses
extensive management experiences and a wealth of professional
knowledge and practical knowhow in financial, asset management,
corporate management and investment fields. All of the carbon
neutral business practitioners are experts with extensive hands-on
experiences in carbon neutral sector. They include world-renowned
experts on climate change, inspectors for national environmental
protection and national authority on environmental planning and
expert in the field of international computing. This professional
team helps the Company to master the accurate information
on carbon market and grasp the development trend in the field
of carbon neutrality. It provides comprehensive support to the
Company for its expansion of carbon neutral business and can
thus effectively deploy and expand carbon neutral related business
and create long-term values to shareholders of the Company.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
EEREBNwWR DM

BUSINESS REVIEW AND FINANCIAL REVIEW
(Continued)

Global Carbon Neutral Business — Carbon Asset
Development, Operation and Management

As for carbon asset operation and management business, this
segment focuses on carbon asset development, operation and
management originated from the provision of carbon consulting,
auditing and development services. A leading business model which
integrates carbon asset development, operation and management
is thus created. As the core asset under management, the carbon
asset operation and management business will be extended to
other areas, including but not limited to carbon trading, carbon
options and futures, carbon index, repurchase of carbon mortgage
and carbon custody.

During the Year, the Group’s carbon asset development and
business operation continues to make progress. The Group has
obtained a considerable number of development projects and is
implementing relevant projects. The co-developers of the project
are further diversified and cover more industries. Some projects
have completed the relevant public comments process, and the
relevant carbon credit assets are expected to be issued soon. The
carbon credit asset to be issued will be more diverse, including
projects of biomass power generation, animal manure treatment,
waste power generation, etc., which has enhanced the overall
value of the Group’s carbon credit asset portfolio. The carbon
credit assets held by the Group were high-quality carbon credit
assets in global circulation, all of which are related carbon credit
assets generated by the Verra mechanism in the United States
and the Gold Standard mechanism in Switzerland, mainly Veritied
Carbon Standard (“VCS”). With the continuous increase of the
carbon credit assets held by the Group, the related transaction
sales and asset management business have been carried out
smoothly.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
EERBNwWR DM

BUSINESS REVIEW AND FINANCIAL REVIEW
(Continued)

Global Carbon Neutral Business — Carbon Asset
Development, Operation and Management (Continued)
Successful completion of 2 million tons carbon credits assets
transaction

During the Year, the Group completed the sale and delivery of
2 million tons of high-quality carbon credit assets in Singapore,
all of which are VCS standard carbon emission reductions. The
transaction is one of the largest carbon emission reduction
transactions in Asia. This was meaningful for promoting the
development of the voluntary emission reduction market in Asia.
In addition, the transaction contributed a considerable financial
income to the Group. With increasing demand and the rapid
development of the trading of carbon credits, there will be greater
opportunities for the Group’s carbon asset development and
operation business, creating more financial returns for the Group.

Business expansion in Asian region

In the second quarter of the Year, the Group has formally
established “China Carbon Neutral Development Group ASEAN
Strategic Committee” (the “ASEAN Strategic Committee”) to
fully implementing the Group’s layout and development in the
ASEAN region and further expanding its business in the Asian
region.

In addition, the Group signed a memorandum of understanding
with SMRT Experience Pte Ltd (“SMRT Experience”, a company
under SMRT Corporation which is one of the two major public
transport operators in Singapore), to jointly develop carbon
neutral business in the ASEAN region. With Singapore’s largest
and most connected media and retail networks, SMRT Experience
reaches millions of customers daily with impactful advertisements
and retail products. The cooperation between the Group and
SMRT Experience mainly includes:

(i)  Origination and management of carbon assets: Centering on
SMRT Corporation, provide carbon consulting and carbon
neutrality planning, and conduct carbon verification and
originate carbon credit assets for related enterprises;
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Management Discussion and Analysis
EEREBNwWR DM

BUSINESS REVIEW AND FINANCIAL REVIEW

(Continued)

Global Carbon Neutral Business — Carbon Asset

Development, Operation and Management (Continued)

Business expansion in Asian region (Continued)

(i)  Carbon information technology: Support SMRT Corporation
to create an enterprise carbon emission information database,
create a carbon emission counting and monitoring system,
and conduct counting and processing of carbon emission
data in SMRT Corporation’s ecosystem to achieve carbon
informatization;

(iii) Low-carbon smart transportation ecosystem: With the
integration of the new generation of information technology
and green urban development, establish a SMRT Corporation
ecosystem with environmental protection and energy saving;

(iv) Establishment of “Zero-Carbon Community”:
exploring the enterprises and
SMRT Corporation’s ecosystem, assist SMRT Experience in
establishing a “Zero-Carbon Community” across Singapore;

By fully
individuals covered by

(v) Carbon trade and service platform: Build up a trading
platform for climate products — Climate Store, develop a
voluntary carbon emission reduction asset trading platform;
and

(vi) International business:

development strategy in the ASEAN region, promote the

implementation of carbon-neutrality related digitization,
energy saving, environmental protection and clean energy
technologies in the Southeast Asian market.

Following SMRT Corporation’s

The cooperation with SMRT Corporation reflects a strong capability
of the Group to develop international business. Relying on SMRT
Corporation’s core position in Singapore and its network in the
ASEAN region, the Group has gained a good entry point and
strong support for its business in the ASEAN region, which will
greatly promote a more balanced development of the Group’s
business.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
EERBNwWR DM

BUSINESS REVIEW AND FINANCIAL REVIEW
(Continued)

Global Carbon Neutral Business — Carbon Asset
Development, Operation and Management (Continued)
Being inaugural and active trading participant of Core
Climate of HKEX

In October of 2022, Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited
("HKEX") launched Core Climate, a new international carbon
marketplace that seeks to connect capital with climate-related
products and opportunities in Hong Kong, Mainland China, Asia
and beyond. Core Climate will facilitate effective and transparent
trading of carbon credits and instruments to support the global
transition to Net Zero and its participants will be able to source,
hold, trade, settle and retire voluntary carbon credits through the
Core Climate platform. All projects available on Core Climate,
including carbon avoidance, reduction and removal projects, are
verified against the VCS by Verra. In addition, Core Climate is
currently the only carbon marketplace that offers Hong Kong
Dollar (“HKD") and Renminbi (“"RMB") settlement for the trading
of international voluntary carbon credits. As the first batch of
selective market participants, the Company has been actively
participating in the carbon credit trading from the launch of
Core Climate. Given the Group’s leading edge in carbon credit
development and origination, it has become an active and capable
market participant of Core Climate. The Company has not only sold
but also bought high quality carbon credits through both market
orders and over-the-counter orders. Furthermore, the Company
successfully completed transactions settled in both HKD and RMB.
The Company will further develop its edge in cross-border carbon
credit development and management to grasp the global carbon
market opportunities in Hong Kong and other markets.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
EEREBNwWR DM

BUSINESS REVIEW AND FINANCIAL REVIEW
(Continued)

Global Carbon Neutral Business — Carbon Asset
Development, Operation and Management (Continued)
Establishment of Digital Technology Committee and business
expansion in carbon neutral digitalization

The Group has formally established the “Digital Technology
Committee” in accordance with the latest business progress, and
appointed Dr. Chen Bangdao who is an expert in the field of
international computing as its chairman to fully implement the
Group's layout and development in the area of carbon neutral
digitalization. Digital technology is integral to all industries during
the economic and social development. The realization of the
dual carbon goals cannot be separated from the application of
digital technology. Digital technology has given play in enabling
thousands of industries to achieve “carbon neutrality” and will
play a more important role in the next few decades. Digital
technology enhances the development of carbon trading and
carbon finance. The establishment of the Digital Technology
Committee is an important step in the technological layout of the
Group's carbon neutral business, which will effectively facilitate
the Group to seize the business opportunities arising from climate
change through digital technology, thereby further strengthening
the Group’s leading edge in related fields and generating positive
financial returns.

Global Carbon Neutral Business — Carbon Negative
Business

As for carbon negative business, the Group’s industry carbon
negative business segment focuses on the development and
application of negative carbon technology, including CCUS
technology. The nature carbon negative business segment redefines
forestry and agriculture and carries out carbon sink consulting
and trading through investment in afforestation and cooperative
development of forest carbon sink, resulting in sustainable green
investment in the long run. With a mission to cut China’s CO,
emissions by 2%, the Group hopes that it can achieve negative
carbon emissions of 100 million metric tons each from the nature-
based solutions and the technology-based solutions. The forests
created from the investment in afforestation will absorb 100
million metric tons of CO,. Meanwhile, the development of CCUS
project will reduce 100 million metric tons of CO, emissions.
Through these efforts, the Group can thus fulfill its corporate
social responsibilities in a sustainable manner.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
EERBNwWR DM

BUSINESS REVIEW AND FINANCIAL REVIEW
(Continued)

Global Carbon Neutral Business — Carbon Negative
Business (Continued)

Development of negative carbon business in Greater Bay
Area

Negative carbon business is an essential part of the Group’s
carbon neutral business that integrates industry and finance and
interacts with the carbon asset development and management
business. The Greater Bay Area is a critical area for the Group to
promote the business strategy of negative carbon business. The
printing and dyeing industry that highly related to export and
domestic demand is an important industrial area for the Group to
implement negative carbon business. In the first quarter of 2022,
the Group commenced providing consultancy services for the first
CCUS project in the domestic printing and dyeing industry in
the Greater Bay Area, which enable the Group to gradually form
advantage in the negative carbon emission business with CCUS as
the core, and will gain favorable business opportunities for future
involvement in this business in various forms.

Being an enterprise focusing on the carbon neutral business,
the Group, while developing its business, also promoting carbon
neutrality and environmental protection awareness to the whole
society, as well as promoting the implementation of carbon
neutrality and contribute to the global response to climate change.

Civil Engineering and Construction Business

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the Civil Engineering and
Construction Business managed to record a stable performance,
despite of the grave challenges from the COVID-19 outbreak and
the economic downslope in Hong Kong.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
EEREBNwWR DM

BUSINESS REVIEW AND FINANCIAL REVIEW
(Continued)

Civil Engineering and Construction Business (Continued)
In the course of project contracting, the Group also attached great
importance to the protection of famous and ancient trees and
biodiversity, and was committed to protecting the environment
and promoting sustainable development while building social
development. Besides, we focused on the principle of sustainable
construction and had a good record in the implementation of
green building projects. Our environmental management system
has obtained ISO 14001 certification. Under its strict framework,
we took a systematic approach to manage our resource utilization
efficiency and emission control to advance continuous upgrading.
Particularly, we attached great importance to the assessment of
our environmental data (such as energy and material utilization,
carbon emissions, water consumption and waste generation), and
took various effective measures to continuously reduce carbon
emissions.

As a main contractor of the contracts awarded to the Group, the
Civil Engineering and Construction Business offers high value-
added services that encompass works from the procurement of
materials and equipment, selection of sub-contractors to on-site
supervision, work progress monitoring and overall co-ordination
of the day-to-day work of projects. All of the Civil Engineering
and Construction Business’ contracts undertaken for both civil
and building construction business were for customers which are
independent third parties including certain departments of the
Government of Hong Kong, public utilities companies and private
organizations in Hong Kong.

For the year ended 31 December 2022, revenue generated
from the Civil Engineering and Construction Business was
approximately HK$500.1 million (2021: approximately HK$467.6
million), represented approximately 70.5% of the total revenue
of the Group (2021: approximately 99.9%). For the year ended
31 December 2022, the gross profit of the Civil Engineering and
Construction Business was approximately HK$26.0 million (2021:
gross profit of approximately HK$36.0 million), the gross profit
margin decreased to approximately 5.2% (2021: approximately
7.6%) due to increase in wages and costs of construction.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
EERBNwWR DM

BUSINESS REVIEW AND FINANCIAL REVIEW
(Continued)

Civil Engineering and Construction Business (Continued)
As of 31 December 2022, the Group had 11 significant projects in
progress. 2 of them were building construction and maintenance
projects while the remaining were civil engineering construction
projects.

As of 31 December 2022, the total contract sum and the total
outstanding values of the Group’s substantial projects in progress
were approximately HK$373.0 million and HK$199.0 million
respectively (31 December 2021: approximately HK$626.0 million
and HK$343.0 million respectively).

Despite the tough operating environment in Hong Kong, the Civil
Engineering and Construction Business maintained its competitive
advantages, which are to provide high-quality services of a wide
scope and to maintain a cordial client relationship, and the
progress in obtaining new contracts managed to record a stable
performance for the year ended 31 December 2022.

The Group has been awarded 5 new substantial contracts for the
year ended 31 December 2022:

Civil Engineering Improvement Works at Kwai Fong Estate

—  Roads and Drainage Works for Public Housing Development
at Tuen Mun Area 29 West

- Provision of External Construction Works and Outside Plant
Maintenance Services

—  Civil and Building Works for North Point 132-kV GIS
Improvement (Phase 3 — Stage 2)

- District Term Contract for the Maintenance, Improvement

and Vacant Flat Refurbishment for Kowloon West and Sai
Kung (1) 2023/2025
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EEREBNwWR DM

PROSPECTS

For the Carbon Neutral Business, with the deepening of global
environmental and resource issues, promoting green development
has become a global consensus. Carbon neutrality not only brings
environmental benefits and mitigates the direct threat of climate
changes, but also creates abundant opportunities for the *
carbon and low carbon” derived from the carbon neutrality
journey, promoting the coordinated development of social
pollution reduction and carbon reduction and enhancing the
rapid growth of corporate demand for voluntary carbon credits.
In addition, with the launch of carbon trading markets in pilot
provinces and cities in China and the national carbon trading
market, the development of carbon trading market is expected
to be accelerated and become more active. Therefore, the Group
believes that there are broad prospects for the development of
Carbon Neutral Business.

‘zero

For the Civil Engineering and Construction Business, although
the operating environment in Hong Kong is expected to remain
tough in the coming years such as continuously rising wages
and cost of construction materials and shortage of skilled labors,
the Company is confident that the Group would be capable of
securing promising business opportunities given its vast experience
in handling a wide variety of construction works.

CAPITAL STRUCTURE, FINANCIAL RESOURCES,
LIQUIDITY AND GEARING

As at 31 December 2022, the net current assets and net liabilities
of the Group were amounted to approximately HK$124.1 million
and HK$49.8 million respectively (2021: net current assets and
net assets of approximately HK$272.1 million and HK$87.1 million
respectively), representing a decrease by approximately 54.4%
and 157.2% respectively as compared to the net current assets
and net assets as at 31 December 2021.

As at 31 December 2021, the Group’s assets mainly comprised
the carbon-credit assets inventory. Due to the growth of the
Global Carbon Neutral Business, the Group had sold substantial
portion of its carbon credit assets inventory during the Year. As a
result, the balance of the carbon-credit assets inventory decreased
from approximately HK$193.2 million in 2021 to approximately
HK$8.9 million in 2022, representing a decrease of approximately
HK$184.3 million or 95.4%.
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CAPITAL STRUCTURE, FINANCIAL RESOURCES,
LIQUIDITY AND GEARING (Continued)

The Group had taken the following corporate actions to improve
the Group's financial position:

(i)  the Group completed a fund-raising activity in the capital
market during the first half of 2022. The Company issued
and allotted a total of 10,000,000 Shares and raised
approximately HK$31.0 million; and

(i) the Company completed a partial conversion of the
convertible bonds to the extent of HK$17,000,000, and
8,500,000 conversion Shares has been issued and allotted
during the Year.

Gearing ratio is calculated based on the amount of net cash and
bank balances (interest-bearing borrowings, liabilities component
of the convertible bonds and promissory notes less cash and cash
equivalents) divided by the total equity. As at 31 December 2022,
no gearing ratio was available as the Group was in a net deficit
in equity as at 31 December 2022 (the gearing ratio as at 31
December 2021: 173.0%).

CONVERTIBLE BONDS

On 4 February 2016, the Company issued zero coupon convertible
bonds with an aggregate principal amount of HK$390 million
(“Convertible Bonds”) as part of the consideration for the
acquisition of 100% equity interest in Well Surplus Enterprises
Limited (“Well Surplus”) and its subsidiaries. The maturity date
of the Convertible Bonds was on the second anniversary of the
date of issuance (i.e. 4 February 2018). The Convertible Bonds
bear no interest on the principal amount. No security or guarantee
is granted in respect of the Convertible Bonds. The Convertible
Bonds can be converted into 195,000,000 Shares at the initial
conversion price of HK$2.00 per conversion Share (subject to
adjustment pursuant to the terms of the Convertible Bonds). The
Company may redeem the Convertible Bonds at 100% of the
principal amount. Any amount of the Convertible Bonds which is
redeemed by the Company will forthwith be cancelled.

On 28 March 2018, the maturity date of the Convertible Bonds
extended for 2 years from 4 February 2018 to 4 February 2020.
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CONVERTIBLE BONDS (Continued)
On 14 January 2020, the maturity date of the Convertible Bonds
extended for 5 years to 4 February 2025.

On 26 March 2021, the then holder of the Convertible
Bonds exercised the conversion rights of principal amount of
HK$40,000,000 of the Convertible Bonds and 20,000,000 Shares
has been issued and allotted.

On 3 January 2022, the then holders of the Convertible
Bonds exercised the conversion rights of principal amount of
HK$7,000,000 of the Convertible Bonds and 3,500,000 Shares
has been issued and allotted.

On 14 June 2022, the then holder of the Convertible Bonds
exercised the conversion rights of principal amount of
HK$10,000,000 of the Convertible Bonds and 5,000,000 Shares
has been issued and allotted.

As at 31 December 2022, the outstanding principal amount of
the Convertible Bonds was HK$333.0 million. The maximum
number of Shares that will be issued upon conversion of all the
outstanding Convertible Bonds was 166,500,000 Shares.

PROMISSORY NOTES

On 4 February 2016, the Company issued two promissory notes
(the “Promissory Notes”) with face values of HK$174,250,000
(the “First Note”) and HK$235,750,000 (the “Second Note")
as part of the consideration for the acquisition of 100% equity
interest in Well Surplus and its subsidiaries. The Promissory Notes
carry interest at a rate of 10% per annum. The outstanding
principal amounts plus any accrued interest will be repayable on
the maturity date falling on the second anniversary of the date of
the First Note and Second Note, i.e. 4 February 2018.

On 31 December 2017, the Company executed and completed the
extension of the maturity date of the Promissory Notes for 2 years
from 4 February 2018 to 4 February 2020 and the interest rate of
the Promissory Notes shall be adjusted downward from 10% to
8% per annum for the extension period from 5 February 2018 to
4 February 2020 and all accrued and outstanding interest under
the Promissory Notes shall be repaid on the extended maturity
date of February 2020.
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PROMISSORY NOTES (Continued)

On 14 January 2020, the term of the Promissory Notes changed
to perpetual and the interest rate will be fixed at 5% per annum
with effect from 5 February 2020, payable annually and the
interest accrued on or before 4 February 2020 shall be payable
on 4 February 2025.

On 29 January 2021, part of the consideration for the disposal of
100% issued share capital of Well Surplus was settled by way of
waiver of the interest of HK$41,000,000 payable by the Company
to the then holder of the Promissory Notes from 5 February 2020
to 4 February 2022.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Second Note has
been fully repaid.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Company had
partial early redeemed the principal amount of the promissory
note of HK$129,462,000 and a further principal amount of
HK$6,473,000 was waived by the note holder. As a result of
the redemption of the promissory note, a loss on partial early
repayment of the promissory note of HK$74,562,000 was
recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income.

As at 31 December 2022, the carrying amount of the promissory
note of HK$16,099,000 (2021: HK$61,605,000) was recognised
as non-current liabilities on the consolidated statement of financial
position.

SUBSCRIPTION OF NEW SHARES

On 10 June 2022, the Company entered into six separate
subscription agreements with six subscribers (the “Subscriber(s)”),
each Subscriber is an independent third party of and not connected
with the Company (as defined in the Rules Governing the Listing
of Securities on the The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
("Listing Rules”)), in respect of the subscription of an aggregate
of 10,000,000 new Shares, at the subscription price of HK$3.10
per Share pursuant to the terms and conditions of the subscription
agreements (the
was HK$3.05 as quoted on the Stock Exchange on the date of the
subscription agreements.

“Subscriptions”). The closing price per Share
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SUBSCRIPTION OF NEW SHARES (Continued)

On 30 June 2022, all conditions precedent to the Subscriptions
as set forth in the subscription agreements have been fulfilled.
Accordingly, completion of the Subscriptions took place on 30
June 2022. The Company issued and allotted 10,000,000 Shares
under the Subscriptions. The aggregate nominal value of the
subscription Shares is HK$100,000.

The gross proceeds of the Subscriptions was HK$31,000,000. The
net proceeds from the Subscriptions (after deducting all applicable
costs and expenses of the Subscriptions) was approximately
HK$31,000,000 (the “Net Proceeds”) and the net price per
subscription Share was HK$3.10.

The Group intended to use and has already applied the Net
Proceeds of (i) approximately HK$9.6 million for investment in
basic industries (carbon capture and forest carbon sinks) and
carbon assets; (ii) approximately HK$9.6 million for repayment of
the debts of the Group and improving the financial position of
the Group; and (iii) approximately HK$11.8 million for general
working capital. As at 31 December 2022, the Company has fully
applied the net proceeds in accordance with the intended use as
stated in the announcement of the Company dated 10 June 2022.

The Group is actively developing its Global Carbon Neutral Business.
Such business expansion requires the Company to increase its
fund size, with an aim to improve the profit-making abilities and
developing abilities of the Group. The Board considered that
the Subscriptions would improve the financial position of the
Company, such as increasing the liquidity, lowering the gearing
ratio and enhancing the risk resistance capacity in a whole.

Details of the Subscriptions were set out in the announcements of
the Company dated 10 June 2022 and 30 June 2022.
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MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS OF
SUBSIDIARIES, ASSOCIATES AND JOINT VENTURES

There were no material acquisitions or disposals of subsidiaries,
associates and joint ventures during the Year.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS AND CAPITAL ASSETS

As at 31 December 2022, the Group did not have any significant
investment or capital assets.

PLEDGE OF ASSETS

As at 31 December 2022, the Group did not have any pledge of
assets (as at 31 December 2021: nil).

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
Detail of the Group’s contingent liabilities are set out in Note 37.
FOREIGN CURRENCY RISK

Most of the Group’s assets and liabilities are denominated in HKD
and RMB, which are the functional currencies of the Group. Any
fluctuation in the exchange rate of HKD against RMB may have
an impact on the Group's results. The Group has not entered into
any instruments to reduce the impact of the foreign exchange
exposure. The Group will closely monitor exchange rate movement
and will take appropriate activities to reduce the exchange risk.
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EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICIES

As at 31 December 2022, the Group had approximately 329
employees (as at 31 December 2021: 332) in Hong Kong and
Mainland China. During the Year, the total employee benefit of
the Group were approximately HK$124.9 million. The Group’s
remuneration policy is reviewed periodically and remunerations
of employees and the Directors are determined by reference to
market terms, company performance, and individual qualifications
and performance. Other staff benefits include bonuses awarded
on a discretionary basis, mandatory provident fund scheme for
Hong Kong employees, state-sponsored retirement plans for the
employees in Mainland China. Share options would be granted
to respective employees with outstanding performance and
contributions to the Group.

The Group provides or subsidies various training programs and
courses to its employees according to business needs, to ensure
that its employees are kept updated with relevant laws and
regulations, such as the Listing Rules, accounting standards, risk
management knowledge, labour regulations and the employee’s
code of conduct.

FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENTS OR
CAPITAL ASSETS

Save as disclosed in this report, the Group does not have any
future plans for other material investments or capital assets in the
coming year.
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EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

In March 2023, the Group has completed the acquisition of 73%
equity interest in Shenzhen Jianxin Zhuhe Technology Company
Limited (“Jianxin Zhuhe"”). Jianxin Zhuhe, is a national high-
tech enterprise. It has more than 30 soft writings and patents
in artificial intelligence, blockchain, big data, etc. With the
core of artificial intelligence, blockchain, and cloud computing
technologies, Jianxin Zhuhe combines the world’s leading digital
identity, key security, and privacy computing technologies to
provide green and trustworthy blockchain technologies, green
credit rating standards, rules and mechanisms for the industry
through digital technologies to facilitate more blockchain-based
independent and controllable data, establish green digital credit,
and link green digital finance.

Save as disclosed above, the Group did not have any significant
event after the Year and up to the date of this report.
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DIRECTORS

Executive directors

Mr. Sha Tao (“Mr. Sha"), aged 43, has been appointed as an
executive Director since 20 February 2023. Mr. Sha is also the
Chairman of the Board (the “Chairman”), who is responsible
for leading the Group. Mr. Sha holds a doctoral degree in
business administration. He was the deputy secretary-general of
the Greening Foundation of the State Forestry Administration,
the secretary-general of the China Ecological Economics
Society, and the legal representative and secretary-general of
the China Eco Development Association. Mr. Sha has 20 years
of rich management and administrative experience in ecological
construction and environmental protection. He has been engaged
in green industry investment, green industry strategic planning,
and green industry resource transformation and utilization for
many years. Mr. Sha is the spouse of Ms. Chan Tan Na, Donna,
the former Chairman (resigned as the Chairman and an executive
Director on 20 February 2023).

Mr. Chen Xinwei (“"Mr. Chen”), aged 47, has been appointed
as an executive Director since 2 March 2021, Mr. Chen is
also the Chief Executive Officer of the Company. Mr. Chen is
responsible for leading the Group’s Carbon Neutral Business
and participates in the formulation of strategies of the Carbon
Neutral Business and mobilizes the resources of the Group to
ensure the implementation of related businesses. Mr. Chen holds
a bachelor’s degree in Economics from the Peking University and
a master’'s degree in Finance from the Hong Kong University of
Science and Technology. Mr. Chen has more than 20 years of
experience in the global capital markets and has outstanding
expertise in the financial and asset management fields. Mr. Chen
served as the chairman of Sinocon Holdings International Limited,
engaging in cross-border financial services and cross-border
financial investment. He worked for many well-known financial
institutions such as Nomura, UBS and Merrill Lynch. Mr. Chen
in currently an independent non-executive director of Shenzhen
Infogem Technologies Co.,Ltd., a company whose shares are listed
on Shenzhen Stock Exchange (stock code: 300085). Mr. Chen is
the director of certain subsidiaries of the Company, namely Global
Carbon Asset Investment Management, Ltd and China Carbon
Neutral Group Limited.

30

5=

HITES

WEEE (IBEE]D - 435K » H-F =

AT HEREREARATEDS - WikAE
BN EEGEN (XE)) - AEHEE
AL o VAR HEAT TR B B o
WAL ZME RS R ER - PH
AR GHER > PEIREE B RME
EEREREAN - WER - WA Ak
B~ BREEORGE T A 204 A AT
BB > ZFERRIEEROEERE > 4%
o7 SERME R B > ARt 7E S G TR L A 4
T LAE o b5 AR 2 BROPHIR & - B BC AR (R
T AR EF A S HEHERATE
HEERE) o

BREVE A ((REED 475K > B &
—IE=H ZHBRER T AT ES - Bk
A IR B AR S AT, o BRSeAE B
AL BB RN E S o I 2 BB R R0 A B SRS
RS ) 7 N7 R ) A 4 ) U R A R S S T
B o BRI B A s B B T A B
BB SMEEL - BCA A 208 25k
GARTI GRS > 75 4 Bl SE AN ' o 4 B SR ek
BUZEMERIE o BRATAE T rp T R R 4 A R
ARAFIEEERR > RHEER SRR
A ARG > W AT IR B A E 4R
1T~ EMEEHLEMN L SR - oA
e Y SR 2 R B A RS 7] (— R Ry
N GEINRE S5 38 5 Bir BT/ > BEBMCHE
300085) Z B L IEHATES - PRICABLAA
NEIFMT AR 2 EE > R EERE
EHARRA A PR A EEARAR -

China Carbon Neutral Development Group Limited F [ B o i1 88 Ji 42 (3 47 FR 23 )



Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Manage
EERGEREEERE

Mr. Di Ling (“Mr. Di"), aged 59, has been appointed as an
executive Director since 18 March 2021. Mr. Di is responsible
for developing and executing corporate strategies of the Carbon
Neutral Business and directly leads the strategic investments
in Carbon Neutral Business. Mr. Di is experienced in the risk
investment and corporate finance sectors. He obtained a bachelor’s
degree from the Department of Thermal Engineering of Tsinghua
University. Mr. Di served as the standing vice president of SBCVC*
between 2011 and 2019 and president of SB Green Investment
Fund Limited* since 2019. He has extensive experience in risk
management, project management, corporate restructuring and
debt restructuring. Mr. Di is the director of certain subsidiaries
of the Company, namely China Carbon Neutral Group Limited,
China Carbon Green Development (Shenzhen) Co., Limited*,
China Carbon Green (Nanjing) Technology Development Co.,
Limited*, Singapore Carbon Neutral Development (Group) Pte.
Ltd. and Singapore International Carbon Asset Management Pte.
Ltd. Mr. Di is currently an executive director of a Hong Kong listed
Company, China Ecotourism Group Limited.

Mr. Chen Lei, aged 59, has been appointed as an executive
Director since 13 May 2021. Mr. Chen Lei is a well-known expert
in the field of ecological construction in China. He graduated from
Beijing Normal University with a degree in Chinese language in
1986. After the 1990s, Mr. Chen Lei moved into the television
industry. And after the year of 2000, he left media industry and
entered ecological field, serving as the Director of the propaganda
department of Working Committee of Eco-China under the
State Forestry Administration, the Director of the propaganda
department, an executive vice president and deputy secretary_
general of Strategy and Development Research
of China Eco Development Association. Currently, he is the
secretary-general of China Eco Development Association, and the
Chairman of the Tree-Planting & Wood-Fostering Committee of
the Company. Mr. Chen Lei was an executive director of a Hong
Kong listed company, Xinyang Maojian Group Limited), from 24
April 2019 to 3 May 2021.

Institution

*  For identification only
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Non-executive director

Mr. Lam Po Foon (“Mr. Lam”), aged 61, has been appointed
as a non-executive Director since 10 August 2021. Mr. Lam is
a bachelor of University of Salford, Manchester in the United
Kingdom, and started his career in a company under General
Electric in the United Kingdom. He has been involved in the financial
field since the late 1980s. He has worked in securities, commodity
futures and financial venture capital companies in Hong Kong, the
United Kingdom, Ireland, the United States and other places, and
has accumulated rich experience in financial investment and risk
management. Subsequently, Mr. Lam founded his independent
family office, focusing on his own wealth management and
inheritance planning, and the main areas involved include life
technology, clean energy, green finance and financial technology.
In 2017, while managing his independent family office, Mr. Lam
co-founded a Hong Kong-licensed trust company — Wealth Assets
Trustee Limited and served as the chairman.

Independent non-executive directors

Dr. Guo Yike (“Dr. Guo”), aged 60, has been appointed as an
independent non-executive Director since 4 August 2021. Dr. Guo
is also the chairman of the Technology Development Committee
of the Group. Dr. Guo is a Fellow of the Royal Academy of
Engineering, a Fellow of the Academy of Europe and the Director of
the Data Science Institute of Imperial College London; the Provost
of The Hong Kong University of Science and Technology; the Dean
of the School of Computer Engineering and Science, Shanghai
University, the Honorary Vice President of the Chinese Association
for Artificial Intelligence, the co-founder of Gold-wood Learning.
Dr. Guo studied in the Department of Computer Science, Tsinghua
University from 1980 to 1987, and obtained the first class honors
bachelor’'s degree in engineering and became the first batch of
graduate and doctoral students in Tsinghua University. He was
sent to the United Kingdom to study by the government in 1987,
and graduated with a PhD in Computer Science from Imperial
College London in 1994. He founded the Data Science Institute
at Imperial College London and was appointed as the Director in
2014. In April 2015, Shanghai University appointed Dr. Guo as the
Dean of the School of Computer Engineering and Science. From
January 2020 to November 2022, Dr. Guo was the Vice President
(Research and Development) at Hong Kong Baptist University since
2020. In December 2022, Dr. Guo served as the Provost of The
Hong Kong University of Science and Technology.

32

FHITES
MEELEE ((MEE] 615 > B -F
—HENHTHBEGBERE SR TER o M
e By B SRR R AR KRR A 5
i B [ 3 R SR T A R B LR B A U o
E A AR B B 4 S, > TR &
W R BT BRSNS W
i~ SREIREAF > BRREEE N SR
P& F R s FRAR R o BT - MOEAERINTH
ST RIEHEA T > B B 50w B
ARARE o W R - AR T
BAEW ~ SO SR LS MR SR o %
—LAE  MRSELEAE ST BB ST SR A E 1Y
R BEA A T B R Gt AF — B2 E
GEGEANERAR > W LR -

BYFHITES

R AEL ([BEL)) > 6058 > h_F_——
HENH M H B AT B FFRATES -
LR AALEBRRERESG TR o 5
Ao 2 K TRBERE -~ BONRHER BB
oo B[R A [ B T e iR 2R W S T
o HFBAHHEREEFEAIRE » B KE
B TRREBL R - PEA TS REE
ZERRMEE > mARBH ARG o HIF
T JUNERAE R — U/ LA AR TS KBSt
ARG BN > R T AR
B A NI R A AL SERE I A o — UL
CEBAIRE B AL > — L8R
SR T B B AR GE R AR SRR
PFELIH By o R — [0 AR A A B B T8
BRI At AT R o —F— AR
MM - BRI EE 90 L AT R A R
BRI o B TE—HE F
AT —H O B R F SR g KRR
£ BRI - —F -+ H il
AR BRI KRB R R -

China Carbon Neutral Development Group Limited F [ B o i1 88 Ji 42 (3 47 FR 23 )



Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Manage
EERGEREEERE |

Dr. Guo is a world-renowned scientist in the field of large-scale
data mining technology, systems and applications. Dr. Guo has
been interviewed by national leaders as the representative of
outstanding Chinese in the UK and provided suggestions for
the development of national science and technology. Dr. Guo
in currently an independent non-executive director of Lizhi Inc.
(NASDAQ: LIZI) and an independent non-executive director of a
Hong Kong listed company, Bairong Inc.

Mr. Wang Anyuan (“Mr. Wang"”), aged 51, has been appointed
as an independent non-executive Director since 18 November
2021. Mr. Wang obtained a Bachelor's degree specialising in
maritime and communication accounting from the Shanghai
Maritime University in July 1994. He joined China Merchants
Group and served as the manager of the audit (risk assurance)
department from September 1996 to July 2001, the chief financial
officer of China Merchants Securities (HK) Company Limited from
July 2001 to January 2007 and general manager of audit (risk
assurance) department of China Merchants Finance Holdings
Company Limited from February 2007 to February 2008. In April
2008, Mr. Wang served BOCOM International Holdings Company
Limited as an executive director and head of China operation,
responsible for the equity sales. From June to December 2009,
Mr. Wang served CITIC Securities International as a director
and head of China operation, responsible for their securities
business and had been the account executive of CITIC Securities
International Company Limited from January 2010 to November
2012. In October 2012, Mr. Wang served as a deputy head of
brokerage department of China Investment Securities (Hong Kong)
Financial Holdings Limited, responsible for securities trading. In
February 2013, Mr. Wang served as a responsible officer of China
Investment Securities International Brokerage Limited of Type 1
(Dealing in Securities) regulated activities as defined in the SFO.
Since May 2013, Mr. Wang joined Orient Finance Holdings (Hong
Kong) Limited as a business director of the brokerage department.
Mr. Wang was an executive director, compliance officer and
authorised representative of a Hong Kong listed Company,
Farnova Group Holdings Limited from September 2015 to January
2018. He is currently an independent non-executive director of
a Hong Kong listed Company, F8 Enterprises (Holdings) Group
Limited. Mr. Wang is licensed with the SFC as a representative of
Orient Securities Limited to carry out type 1 (dealing in securities)
regulated activity and as a representative of Orient Futures (Hong
Kong) Limited to carry out type 2 (dealing in futures contract)
regulated activity.
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Dr. Li Qun (“Dr. Li"), aged 61, has been appointed as an
independent non-executive Director since 2 June 2022. Dr.
Li is a doctor of applied mathematics and a post-doctoral
fellow in applied economics. He is currently the researcher and
postdoctoral cooperation tutor of the Institute of Quantitative &
Technical Economics of the Chinese Academy of Social Sciences,
and the professor and doctoral tutor of the Chinese Academy
of Social Sciences. Dr. Li is also the vice president of Chinese
Eco Development Association (H[EIMREA RE4E BAEHEE), the
chairman of China Eco Think Tank ({'EI4: 6% i), the president
of China Eco Development Institute (FFEI4EREWFFTBE), and the
member of the Think Tank Committee of All-China Federation
of Industry and Commerce (& TR HZEE). Dr. Li is
mainly engaged in the research on the fields including uncertain
economic prediction and evaluation, technological innovation
and strategic management, human resources and economic
development, national governance, “dual carbon” evaluation and
ecological civilization.

Dr. Li has presided over programs including the National Social
Science Fund, the national soft science project and the major
national conditions investigation and research project of the
Chinese Academy of Social Sciences. Dr. Li has constructed
some academic innovation models and concepts, such as L-Q
grey prediction model, disturbed fuzzy set and disturbed fuzzy
evaluation model. Dr. Li has published six monographs, including
the Research on Uncertain Mathematical Methodology and Its
Application in Social Sciences, which has been listed in the library
of Chinese social sciences doctoral thesis. Dr. Li has edited eight
blue books, including China Ecological Governance Development
Report, China Ecotourism Development Report and China Carbon
Neutral Development Report. Dr. Li has published more than 200
articles including thesis at home and abroad, theoretical articles
of the Chinese Academy of Social Sciences.

Dr. Li has won many awards including the provincial and
ministerial youth science and technology award and scientific
and technological advancement award, the first prize and special
prize for excellent thesis of the All-China Women’s Federation
and first prize of guidance of excellent graduation dissertation
for doctoral students of Graduate School of Chinese Academy of
Social Sciences in 2016.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Dr. Jiang Dongmei (“Dr. Jiang”), aged 51, Chief Scientific
Officer of the Group and Chairman of the Strategic Development
Committee of the Group, is responsible for the Carbon Neutral
Business and the development and execution of corporate
strategies on the Carbon Neutral Business. Dr. Jiang holds a
post-doctoral degree in the School of Environment of Tsinghua
University and the Institute of Nuclear and New Energy Research
of Tsinghua University. Dr. Jiang is also a world-renowned expert
on climate change. Dr. Jiang has been invited to deliver a speech
on “Combat Climate Change” at the United Nations Headquarters
in Manhattan and participated in the compilation of the second
and third communication to UNFCCC on China’s inventory of
GHG emissions from industrial process.

Mr. Wong Kin Yan, aged 53, is the Environmental and Quality
Manager of the Group, responsible for the implementation
and maintenance of our Group’s environmental and quality
management systems. Mr. Wong obtained a Bachelor Degree
in Applied Science in December 1994 from Hong Kong Baptist
University and after that he also obtained a Master degree in
environmental management from The University of Derby, United
Kingdom. He is a Chartered Environmentalist and a corporate
member of the Society of Operations Engineers. He has over 20
years of experience in the environmental and quality management
in the construction field. He is the Management Representative
of Excel’s ISO 9001 Quality Management System and I1SO 14001
Environmental Management System.

35

SREEE
ELMELE (/L)) > 515K - AEHER
PHEEZ MBI EREZ G LN - 2EA TR
SHEASE B A SERS - GUERR P ISR B
LB G R L BB - L
RERBRIFR B B TR B e 1o 4% A B BT
REVEWTFE I 1 AR o 221 I o S Bk 42 i
BRI K > 8 Z A AT A KT
il O [ A ORI A AL ) > M2 HLER R [
I — B 5 AR K~ A B R RO B

IRBBREE - 53K - AAEENREE R
I BTG S A AR AR I BR B R
BB AR o B4R —JULLE A+ H B
TS I ORI R R B Y AR B
5L B 7 EU R B BR B AT BRAE LA o A
IR A T B 5 T R 08 ] 7 7 TR R
B o P SR BR BT R R P S AT
B20FEKEER o AR 25 AYISO 9001 L4 H1L
F 0 %1SO 14001 37 55 8 B 2 40 10 45 B g AR
gé o

Annual Report 2022 —& — TAEAE



Corporate Governance Report

TEERKE

The Board is
development and review of the policies and practices on corporate
governance of the Group and monitoring the compliance with
legal and regulatory requirements, reviewing and monitoring the
training and continuous professional development of Directors
and senior management, and reviewing the corporate governance
compliance with the Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code")
contained in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules and disclosure in
the annual report.

responsible for, amongst other things, the

CORPORATE CULTURE

The Company conforms to the trend of worldwide to address
climate change through carbon neutral and China’s proposed
“carbon amount to 2030 peak and 2060 carbon neutral” country
strategy, centered on carbon neutral, focusing on the negative
carbon emissions as the core basic industry and carbon asset
development and management as the core in the field of financial
information. Building on the group’s existing business in civil
engineering, building construction and maintenance, the group
aims to become a leading player in the
of Hong Kong’s capital markets.

“carbon neutral” sector

COMPLIANCE WITH THE CG CODE

The Group is committed to maintaining high standards of corporate
governance to safeguard the interests of the shareholders of the
Company (the “Shareholders”) and to enhance corporate value
and accountability. The Company has adopted the CG Code since
11 December 2013, the date on which dealings in its shares first
commence on the Stock Exchange.

The Company regularly reviews its corporate governance practices
to ensure they comply with the CG Code and align with the latest
developments.

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the Company has

complied with the code provisions set out in the CG Code with
the following exceptions:
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Pursuant to Code provision C.2.7 of the CG Code, the Chairman
should at least annually hold meetings with the independent non-
executive directors without the presence of other directors. During
the year ended 31 December 2022 (the “Year"”), the Chairman,
did not hold any meeting with the independent non-executive
Directors without the presence of other Directors. However, the
Chairman held meetings with the independent non-executive
Directors with the presence of other Directors periodically during
the Year to understand their concerns, to discuss pertinent issues
and to ensure that there was access to adequate and complete
information. The independent non-executive Directors could have
direct contacts with the Chairman after meetings if necessary.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted a code of conduct regarding securities
transactions by Directors on terms no less exacting the required
standard set out in the model code for Securities Transactions
by Directors of Listed Issuers as contained in Appendix 10 to
the Listing Rules (the “Model Code”). The Company has made
specific enquiry of all Directors regarding any non-compliance
with the Model Code for the year ended 31 December 2022,
all Directors confirmed their respective full compliance with the
required standard as set out in the Model Code during the Year.

THE BOARD

Responsibilities of the Board

The Board is responsible for the overall leadership of the
Group, oversees the strategic decisions and monitors business
and performance of the Group. The Board has delegated
the authority and responsibility for day-to-day management,
operation and execution of plans and policies of the Group
to the senior management of the Group. Approval has to be
obtained from the Board prior to any significant transactions
entered into by the management. To oversee particular aspects
of the Company’s affairs, the Board has established three Board
committees including the audit committee of the Board (“Audit
Committee”), the remuneration committee of the Board
(“"Remuneration Committee”) and the nomination committee
of the Board (“Nomination Committee”) (together, the “Board
Committees”). The Board has delegated to the Board Committees
responsibilities as set out in their respective terms of reference.

All Directors shall ensure that they carry out duties in good faith,
in compliance with applicable laws and regulations, and in the
interests of the Company and the Shareholders at all times.
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All Directors have brought a wide spectrum of valuable business
experience, knowledge and professionalism to the Board for its
efficient and effective functioning. All Directors have separate
and independent access to the advices and services of the senior
management and the company secretary with a view to ensuring
that board procedures, and all applicable rules and regulations,
are followed.

Board Composition

As at the date of this report, the Board comprised four executive
Directors, one non-executive Director and three independent non-
executive Directors, namely:

Executive Directors:
Mr. Sha Tao (Chairman)
(appointed on 20 February 2023)
Mr. Chen Xinwei (Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Di Ling
Mr. Chen Lei

Non-executive Directors:
Mr. Lam Po Foon

Independent Non-executive Directors:
Dr. Guo Yike

Mr. Wang Anyuan

Dr. Li Qun (appointed on 2 June 2022)

The biographical details of the Directors are set out in the
section headed “Biographical Details of Directors and Senior
Management” on pages 30 to 35 of this annual report.

Independent non-executive Directors

Pursuant to Rule 3.10(1) of the Listing Rules, the board of
directors of a listed issuer must include at least three independent
non-executive directors. Pursuant to Rule 3.10A of the Listing
Rules, an issuer must appoint independent non-executive directors
representing at least one-third of the board. Pursuant to Rule
3.21 of the Listing Rules, the audit committee must comprise a
minimum of three members.
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Mr. Yu Wai Chun (“Mr. Yu") resigned as the independent non-
executive Director and a member of each of the Audit Committee,
Remuneration Committee and Nomination Committee on 31 May
2022. Following the resignation of Mr. Yu, (i) total number of
independent non-executive Directors accounts for less than three
and hence the Company fails to meet the requirement of Rule
3.10(1) and Rule 3.10A of the Listing Rules; and (ii) the number
of members of the Audit Committee will fall below the minimum
number requirement of Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules. The above
non-compliances arose only due to the resignation of Mr. Yu.

Dr. Li Qun was appointed as the independent non-executive
Director and a member of each of Audit Committee, Remuneration
Committee and Nomination Committee on 2 June 2022. Following
the appointment of Dr. Li Qun, the Company has fully complied
with the requirements as set out in Rules 3.10(1) and 3.10A and
3.210of the Listing Rules.

The Board has assessed the independence of all the independent
non-executive Directors. Having considered the guidelines as set
out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules, the Board considers all of them
to be independent having regard to (i) their annual confirmation
on independence as required under the Listing Rules; (ii) the
absence of involvement in the daily management of the Company;
(iii) the absence of any relationships or circumstances which would
interfere with the exercise of their independent judgment; and (iv)
the absence of remuneration from the Company other than the
directors’ fee.

Relationship among members of the Board
Saved as disclosed in the
Senior Management” of this report, there are no relationships
(including financial, business, family or other material or relevant
relationships) among members of the Board.

“Biographical Details of Directors and
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Continuous Professional Development

During the Year, the Company has provided regular updates
to Directors on material changes to regulatory requirements
applicable to the Directors and the Company and on the latest
business development of the Company. The Directors confirmed

that they have complied with code provision C.1.4 of the CG
Code on directors’ training. During the Year, the Directors have
participated in continuous professional development by attending
webinars/reading materials to develop and refresh their knowledge
and skills in areas related to their roles, functions and duties of
Directors such as corporate governance, regulatory updates and
topics related to the Company’s businesses, and provided their
respective record of training to the Company.

The table below summarises the participation of the Directors in
training during the Year:

Attending seminars/

AL > AAFCHMEF AL FABEAZ
RUE RUE 2 B RS B DL KA B A 28wl ok 38
B8t e ) PR AU IR E R o HE g
i AF ST SRR ST I 2 S IR OCER
CAARARERILEINZHE - IRAFE -
A CAM L AR E R B A TR
2T S B EEEE R - USRAER A
BHAE S 2 M - TRAE BT 2 Mk &
TR > WARSEAETR ~ BT BB A A F
BB ERSE > A C AL R RS
AR e -

TR Y R A 2 BRI 2 A B
LI

Types of training
=B

Reading journals/updates/

Name of Director conferences/forums articles/materials
EEpA LEMRSE g8 Wi BIEEIT, SHER XE ER
Executive Directors
HITES
Ms. Chan Tan Na Donna v v
Bk P98 22+
Mr. Chen Xinwei v v
BREK R SR
Mr. Di Ling v v
KR S5k
Mr. Chen Lei v v
BRAE e
Dr. Cui Dingjun ®ote N/A N/A
B JE T A G NV N
Non-executive Directors
FHTES
Mr. Lam Po Foon v v
ME e
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Attending seminars/

Types of training
=32 Bl

Reading journals/updates/

Name of Director conferences/forums articles/materials
EspR LERNE B8 Wil BIEMT RHEN XEER
Independent Non-executive Directors

BYFHITES

Dr. Guo Yike v v

TR L

Mr. Wang Anyuan v v

FE&ITEE

Dr. Li Qun v v

ZREE A

Mr. Yu Wai ChunNote2) N/A N/A

A ZR e R AN AN T

Notes:

(1) Dr. Cui Dingjun retired as an executive Director on 29 June 2022;
and

(2)  Mr. Yu Wai Chun resigned as an independent non-executive Director
on 31 May 2022.

Meetings

Code provision C.5.1 of the CG Code requires that at least
four regular board meetings should be held in each year at
approximately quarterly intervals with active participation of
majority of Directors, either in person or through electronic means
of communication.

The Company convened and held ten Board meetings during the
Year.

Additional Board meetings will be convened, as and when required,
to deal with ad hoc issues. Any Director who is not able to present
physically may participate at any Board meeting through electronic
means of communication, such as conference telephone or other
similar communication equipment, in accordance with the Articles.
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Notice convening each regular Board meeting is sent at least 14
days in advance, and reasonable notice is given for other Board
meetings and committee meetings. The company secretary of
the Company (the “Company Secretary”) assists the Chairman
and the executive Director(s) to prepare the meeting notice and
agenda. Each Director may include any item in the agenda. Save
for urgent matters which require the Board’'s or a committee’s
immediate attention and therefore lead to a short notice of a
meeting, the agenda, accompanied by meeting papers with
sufficient and reliable information, are sent to each Director at
least 3 days before each Board meeting or committee meeting to
enable the Directors to make informed decisions on the matters
to be discussed.

The Company Secretary is responsible for taking and keeping
minutes of all Board meetings and committee meetings. Draft
minutes will normally be circulated to Directors for comment
within a reasonable time after each meeting and the final version
is open for Directors’ inspection.
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During the Year, ten Board meetings, seven Audit Committee
meetings, two Remuneration Committee meetings, one Nomination
Committee meeting and two general meetings were held. Details
of individual Directors’ attendance at these meetings are set out

in the following table:

TEER®RE

AR > LT IORERG@E - TR
REBE  2RFMEE TR - 1R
4EA

B W R K G - A B 1

H S R R RSN TR

Audit Remuneration Nomination
Board Committee Committee Committee General
Name of Director meeting meeting meeting meeting meeting
ERZEE" FMEES REZE®

BEEps Ezgea 23 L] 23 A E VN
Executive Directors
HTES
Mr. Sha Tao N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A
Wik AR A AR AR AEH

(appointed on 20 February 2023)

W =FEZ=ZFEZH = HEZET)
Ms. Chan Tan Na Donna 8/10 N/A 2/2 11 2/2
BRSHI 2+ v

(resigned on 20 February 2023)

(P F = =AF = H A HEHE)
Mr. Chen Xinwei 10/10 N/A N/A N/A 212
PR S A AE A
Mr. Di Ling 8/10 N/A N/A N/A 2/2
KR & ek AEH A N
Mr. Chen Lei 9/10 N/A N/A N/A 212
[ N AR AR
Dr. Cui Dingjun 3/6 N/A N/A N/A 11
BRI AL N1 N1 A

(retired on 29 June 2022)

K ZFEZZFEANHZF I HBE)
Non-executive Director
FHITES
Mr. Lam Po Foon 5/10 N/A N/A N/A 2/2
WEBES: AEH AEH N
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Audit Remuneration Nomination
Board Committee Committee Committee General
Name of Director meeting meeting meeting meeting meeting
ERERR FHEES REZES

EEnA Exges 23 283 23 BREAE
Independent Non-executive Directors
BAKHITES
Dr. Guo Yike 3/10 4/7 12 171 2/2
SR
Mr. Wang Anyuan 9/10 717 2/2 171 2/2
EEIUEE
Dr. Li Qun 6/6 3/3 171 N/A 2/2
L A

(appointed on 2 June 2022)

(K =FEZZFNHZ HEZ(F)
Mr. Yu Wai Chun 4/4 4/4 171 171 1/1
RERE

(resigned on 31 May 2022)

(W —F =1 H=—+—HRFHE)
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer FERITHAR

The roles of the Chairman and the chief executive officer are
segregated. During the Year, Ms. Chan Tan Na Donna was the
Chairman (resigned on 20 February 2023, Mr. Sha Tao was
appointed as the Chairman on 20 February 2023). The Chairman
is mainly responsible for taking the lead in the Board to ensure
its effective operation, providing adequate, complete and reliable
information for all Directors in a timely manner, establishing good
corporate governance practices and procedures, encouraging
all Directors to contribute to the Board's affairs, and ensuring
that proper approaches are adopted to maintain effective
communication with shareholders. Mr. Chen Xinwei is the Chief
Executive Officer of the Company. The Chief Executive Officer
is mainly responsible for the day-to-day operations and overall
management of the Group, and implementing the business
policies and objectives determined and adopted by the Board.
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Terms of appointment of independent non-executive
Directors and non-executive Directors

Mr. Lam Po Foon has entered into a letter of appointment with the
Company which may be terminated by either party giving to the
other not less than one month prior notice in writing. Each of Dr.
Guo Yike, Mr. Wang Anyuan and Dr. Li Qun, has entered into a
letter of appointment for a term of three years commencing from
4 August 2021, 18 November 2021 and 2 June 2022 respectively.

Directors’ Liability Insurance

The Company purchases annually the Directors’ and officers’
liability insurance for members of the Board. The insurance cover
is reviewed annually to ensure that the Directors and officers are
adequately protected against potential liabilities.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has set up three Board Committees, namely, the Audit
Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination
Committee, to oversee particular aspects of the Company’s affairs.

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee was established in compliance with Rules
3.21 and 3.22 of the Listing Rules and the CG Code. The full
terms of reference of the Audit Committee are available on the
Stock Exchange’s website and the Company’s website.

The primary duties of the Audit Committee are to review and
supervise the financial reporting process and internal control
systems of the Group. During the Year, members of the Audit
Committee comprised Mr. Wang Anyuan (chairman of the Audit
Committee), Dr. Guo Yike, Dr. Li Qun (appointed on 2 June 2022)
and Mr. Yu Wai Chun (resigned on 31 May 2022), being the
independent non-executive Directors.
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The work performed by the Audit Committee during the Year
were:

o Reviewed the interim results and annual results;
o Reviewed the auditing and financial reporting matters,
including the management letter from the external auditor

in relation to the audit of the Group for the Year;

o Recommended to the Board on the appointment of external
auditor;

o Reviewed and approved the internal audit plans; and
o Reviewed the adequacy and effectiveness of financial

reporting system,
systems.

risk management and internal control

The Audit Committee meets at least twice annually and also meets
with the Company’s external auditor at least twice annually to
discuss the audit plan and to review the Company’s annual report
and accounts. During the Year, the Audit Committee held seven
meetings and the attendance record of the meetings are set out in
the section headed “Meetings” on pages 41 to 44 of this annual
report.

The Audit Committee also reviewed final results of the Company
and its subsidiaries for the year ended 31 December 2022 as well
as the audit report prepared by the external auditor relating to
accounting issues and major findings in course of audit.
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Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee was established in compliance with
Rules 3.25 and 3.26 of the Listing Rules and CG Code. The full
terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee are available
on the Stock Exchange’s website and the Company’s website.

The primary duties of the Remuneration Committee are to make
recommendations to the Board on the Company’s policy and
structure for the remuneration packages of Directors and senior
management and on the establishment of a formal and transparent
procedure for developing policy on such remuneration; determine
with delegated responsibility the remuneration packages of
individual executive Directors and senior management, including
benefits in kind, pension rights and compensation payments,
including any compensation payable for loss or termination
of their office or appointment, and make recommendations to
the Board of the remuneration of non-executive Directors; and
review and/or approve matters relating to share schemes under
Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules. During the Year, members of the
Remuneration Committee comprised Dr. Guo Yike (chairman of
the Remuneration Committee), Ms. Chan Tan Na Donna (resigned
on 20 February 2023 and Mr. Sha Tao has been appointed on 20
February 2023), Mr. Wang Anyuan, Dr. Li Qun (appointed on 2
June 2022) and Mr. Yu Wai Chun (resigned on 31 May 2022).

It is the Company’s policy that the remuneration package of each
Director and senior management shall be determined by reference
to the duties, responsibilities, experience and qualifications of
each candidate.

During the Year, the Remuneration Committee reviewed the
adjustment and proposals of director fee, salary and discretionary
bonus of Directors and senior management.

During the Year, the Remuneration Committee has reviewed the
grant of 16,500,000 share options among which 13,500,000
were proposed granted to executive director and chief executive
officer of the Company, Mr. Chen Xinwei, and 3,000,000 were
granted to Dr. Jiang Dongmei, the Chief Scientific Officer and
chairman of the Strategic Development Committee of the Group
(together with Mr. Chen Xinwei, the “Grantees”) (the “Grant”).
The Remuneration Committee has also reviewed the background
and contributions to the Group of the Grantees.
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In determining the Grant, the Remuneration Committee has
considered the following factors: a) the time commitment and
responsibilities of the Grantees; b) the Roles of the Grantees to
the future development of the Group’s Global Carbon Neutral
Business; and c¢) the significant contributions by the Grantees to
the development of Global Carbon Neutral Business.

The Remuneration Committee considered that though the
Company has not set specific performance targets before
exercising the share options, the economic benefits of the options
depend on the Group's share price rising as a result of improved
performance, which will benefit the Shareholders at that time. The
Grant will effectively encourage the Grantees to strive to enhance
the profitability of the Group, thereby enhancing the share price
and share value of the Company and its Shareholders, so that they
can enjoy unlimited potential upside when the Company’s share
price rises, which will be beneficial to Shareholders as a whole. In
addition, as the purpose of the share option is to recognise and
reward the Grantee's significant contributions, there is no claw
back mechanism for the Grant. Also, there is no specified minimum
period under the share option scheme of the Company for which
an option must be held and the vesting period of the Grant is
shorter than 12 months which is permitted by the share option
scheme of the Company. In view of the Grantee's achievements
in Global Carbon Neutral Business, the Remuneration Committee
believes that there is no need to establish a claw back mechanism,
and the vesting period is fair and reasonable, align with the
purpose of the share option scheme of the Company.

The Remuneration Committee meets at least once a year to review
the remuneration of Directors and make recommendations to
the Board. During the Year, two meetings of the Remuneration
Committee were held and the attendance record of the meetings
are set out in the section headed “Meetings” on pages 41 to 44
of this annual report.
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The details of the annual remuneration of the senior management
(including directors) by band for the year ended 31 December
2022 is as follows:

FRERE (CREES) WERE R T
TR = H IR AR EE A R I A I 0
T

Number of senior

management

SREEREAY

Nil to HK$1,000,000 % %1,000,000% 70 9
HK$1,000,001 to HK$2,000,000 1,000,001 7% % 2,000,000#5 7T 1

Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee was established in compliance with
the CG Code. The full terms of reference of the Nomination
Committee are available on the Stock Exchange’s website and the
Company’s website.

The primary duties of the Nomination Committee are to make
recommendations to the Board on the nominees for appointment
as Directors of the Company. During the Year, members of the
Nomination Committee comprised Ms. Chan Tan Na Donna
(chairman of the Nomination Committee) (resigned on 20 February
2023 and Mr. Sha Tao has been appointed on 20 February 2023),
Dr. Guo Yike, Mr. Wang Anyuan, Dr. Li Qun (appointed on 2 June
2022) and Mr. Yu Wai Chun (resigned on 31 May 2022)).

The work performed by the Nomination Committee during the
Year were:

o Reviewed the structure, size and composition of the Board;

o Assessed the independence of each independent non-
executive directors; and

° Reviewed and made recommendations to the Board on the
appointment and re-appointment of the Directors.

The Nomination Committee meets at least once a year. During
the Year, one meeting of the Nomination Committee was held
and the attendance record of the meeting is set out in the section
headed “Meetings” on pages 41 to 44 of this annual report.
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NOMINATION OF DIRECTORS
Criteria
The Board has adopted a nomination policy which sets

1.

out the selection criteria in assessing the suitability of a
proposed candidate as Director. Such criteria include, but
are not limited to the character and integrity, professional

qualifications, skills, knowledge and experience that are

relevant to the Company’s business and corporate strategy
of the proposed candidate, and the board diversity.

Nomination Procedures
Appointment of New Director

The Nomination Committee and/or the Board shall,
upon receipt of the proposal on appointment of new
director and the biographical information (or relevant
details) of the candidate, evaluate such candidate based
on the criteria as set out in section 1 to determine
whether such candidate is qualified for directorship.

If the process yields one or more desirable candidates,
the Nomination Committee and/or the Board shall rank
them by order of preference based on the needs of
the Company and reference check of each candidate
(where applicable).

The Nomination Committee shall make recommendation
to the Board in respect of the appointment of
appropriate candidate for directorship.

For any person that is nominated by a Shareholder for
election as a director at the general meeting of the
Company, the Nomination Committee and/or the Board
shall evaluate such candidate based on the criteria as set
out in section 1 to determine whether such candidate
is qualified for directorship and where appropriate, the
Nomination Committee and/or the Board shall make
recommendation to Shareholders in respect of the
proposed election of director at the general meeting.
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Re-election of Director at General Meeting

o The Nomination Committee and/or the Board shall
review the overall contribution and service to the
Company of the retiring director including his/her
attendance of Board meetings and, where applicable,
general meetings, and the level of participation and
performance on the Board.

. The Nomination Committee and/or the Board shall also
review and determine whether the retiring director
continues to meet the criteria as set out in section 1.

° The Nomination Committee and/or the Board shall
then make recommendation to Shareholders in respect
of the proposed re-election of director at the general
meeting.

BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

In order to strengthen the business development of the Company,
enhancement of the effectiveness and performance of the Board
are the fundamental and vital elements. The Company believes
that diversity at the Board level can intensify these fundamental
elements. The Board diversity shall consider from, including
but not limited to, age, gender, educational background,
professional experience, skills, knowledge and length of service.
All the appointments of the Board members shall be based on the
positive contribution to be brought by the proposed candidate to
the Company, its subsidiaries and/or its affiliated companies of
the Group.
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It is set out below a list of measurable objectives for selection
of candidates. The list is only an indication of factors relevant to
the selection of candidates to be considered by the Nomination
Committee and shall not be regarded as conclusive nor exhaustive
in nature. Where appropriate, the Nomination Committee may
take into account and/or further adopt and/or weight against one
another such factor(s) relevant to the business to be transacted.

° Age: 18 or over.

o Gender: Welcome both genders with no preference for any
particular proportion.

o Professional qualification: At least one independent non-
executive Director shall possess appropriate professional
qualifications in finance and accounting and meets the
requirements of the Listing Rules.

o Composition: One third of the Board or minimum three
members shall be independent non-executive Directors to
meet the requirements of the Listing Rules.

° Service period: Independent non-executive Directors’ tenure
(as at the date of re-appointment) could be relevant to the
determination of a non-executive Directors’ independence.
Re-appointment of independent non-executive Director
serving more than 9 years should be in full compliance with
the Listing Rules requirements.

o Other experience: Knowledge and experience which may
contribute to the business of the Company.

e Any other relevant factors.
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The diversity mix of the Board'’s current composition is summarized = & HajAL8 £ LS =T 3
as follows:

No. of Directors
in the category

Age Group FiRAAE ESHEIAH
Between 41-60 years old 412605 2 [H 7
Over 60 years old B 605K

No. of Directors
in the category

Gender 4 Bl EEHIAE
Female B8 0
Male B 8

No. of Directors
in the category

Length of services BR % 58 EZEIAK

1 to 3 years 15834 8

The Board believes that it has achieved a balanced compositions, — #H&AHFEHCEHBRYMPMAS - LHFHER
including but not limited to the following measurable objectives — FRJA LT 754 8% R AR 55 48 B2 J T 4 v 5 & H
in term of age and length of services. £ o

The Board and the Nomination Committee had reviewed the FEHFGFMARAZHGLEEEFFTGRNEL T
structure, size and composition of the Board with reference to  fLBURHFH# F & 2 2244 - BB LAWK - B
the Board Diversity Policy. The current Board composition reflects — Hij Y3 S5 & A A S e 1 & FRAS R ~ BETT ~ 4%
diverse mix of various experience, capabilities, skills and expertise. ~ BEFISESERGRAI Z AL G o AN RIS H
The Company considers that the current composition of the Board, — # & H Fil 2 A i it 488 ~ IRBFAEFR
is characterised by diversity, whether considered in terms of age, S ¥H 5t LI 1 % H A Z oL FF
length of service, professional background and skills. The current  Hi o BUAEFIE (EIEEARRIR) <5 M EEH
Directors have extensive experience and skills in, including but &S - JEFRE R - A& RBEEFEZS 7
not limited to, financial and asset management, risk management, — MHI#EA S & &5 L E I o

ecological field, risk audit etc.
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The Board currently consists of only male Directors. Having
reviewed the Board composition, the Nomination Committee
recognises the importance of the gender diversity at the Board level
and will take initiatives to enhance the gender diversity among
the Board members when selecting and making recommendation
on suitable candidates for Board appointments. The Company
targets to appoint at least one female director by no later than
31 December 2024.

Gender ratio in the workforce (including Management) is 80
(female) and 249 (male), women comprise 24.3% of all workforce.

BOARD INDEPENDENCE

The Company recognises that Board independence is key to good
corporate governance. As part of the established governance
framework, the Group has in place effective mechanisms that
underpin a strong independent Board and that independent views
and input from Directors are conveyed to the Board.

To facilitate attendance and participation at Board and other
Board committee meetings, the Company plans meeting schedules
with remote facilities for attendance. The Board process, ranging
from agenda setting, provision of information and focus on
constructive debates and discussions, facilitates effective and
active participation by all independent non-executive Directors.
The Company has also established channels through formal and
informal means whereby independent non-executive Directors
can express their views in an open and candid manner, and in a
confidential manner, should circumstances require; these include
periodic interaction with management and other Board Members
including the Chairman outside the boardroom and seeking
independent professional advice.

The Board has reviewed the effectiveness of the board independence
mechanism annually and considered such mechanism is effective.
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DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR FINANCIAL
REPORTING IN RESPECT OF FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the
financial statements of the Company and of the Group for the
year ended 31 December 2022, which give a true and fair view
of the state of affairs of the Company and of the Group on a
going concern basis. The Board is provided with explanations and
information by the senior management of the Company, so that
the Directors have an informed assessment of the financial and
other information of the Group putting forward to the Board for
discussion and approval.

The external auditor of the Company acknowledges his reporting
responsibilities in the Independent Auditor’s Report on the
consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December
2022 as set out in the Independent Auditor’s Report on pages 139
to 150 of the annual report.

AUDITOR’'S REMUNERATION

In respect of the year ended 31 December 2022, the total
remuneration of audit service paid and payable to the Company’s
external auditors was approximately HK$1.4 million, and there
was no non-audit services provided by such external auditors.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board is responsible for maintaining a sound risk management
and internal control systems to ensure that a review of the
effectiveness of the risk management and internal control systems
of the Group has been conducted at least annually, covering all
material controls, including financial, operational and compliance
controls, and ensuring adequacy of resources, staff qualifications
and experience, training programs and budget of the accounting,
internal audit and financial reporting functions.

The Board has also considered the adequacy of resources,

qualifications and experience of staff of the Company’s accounting
and financial reporting function, and their training programs.
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The Company conducted review of the risk management and
internal control systems of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2022, in order to ensure and enhance (i) proper
process used to identify, evaluate and manage significant risks;
(ii) main features of the risk management and internal control
systems were identified; (iii) the systems were designed to manage
the risks to achieve business objectives and provide reasonable
assurance against material misstatement or loss; (iv) appropriate
process to resolve material internal control defects; and (v)
effective procedures and internal controls for inside information
management. The Company has conducted a review of the
internal audit function of the Group.

The Board has reviewed the effectiveness of the risk management
and internal control systems of the Group annually and considered
that the systems were appropriate.

COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company has engaged in a service contract with Ms. Han
Lei, an external service provider. Mr. Chen Xinwei, the executive
Director and the Chief Executive Officer, is the primary corporate
contact person of the Company with Ms. Han Lei.

During the Year, Ms. Han Lei has complied with the relevant
professional training requirement under Rule 3.29 of the Listing
Rules.

COMMUNICATIONS WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND
INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company considers that effective communication with
shareholders is essential for enhancing investor relations and
understanding of the Group’s business, performance and
strategies. The Company also recognizes the importance of timely
disclosure of information, which will enable shareholders and
investors to make the informed investment decisions.

The various channels via which the Company communicates with
its shareholders include interim and annual reports, information
on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company, annual
general meeting and other general meeting that may be convened.

In addition, the Company has the information on the address,
fax and email for taking enquiries and for receiving information
requests from shareholders (see Shareholders’ Enquiries on page
61).
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The Board has reviewed the effectiveness of the shareholders’
communication policy and considered that these channels allow
us to receive feedback from the Shareholders.

RIGHTS OF SHAREHOLDERS

The right to attend the annual general meeting
and to receive information

The annual general meeting of the Company provides
opportunity for shareholders to communicate directly with
the Directors. The Chairman and the chairman of the Board
committees will attend the annual general meeting to
answer shareholders’ questions. In their absence, he should
invite another member of the committee or failing this his
duly appointed delegate, to attend. These persons should
be available to answer questions at the annual general
meeting. The chairman of the independent board committee
(if any) should also be available to answer questions at any
general meeting to approve a connected transaction or any
other transaction that requires independent shareholders’
approval. The external auditor of the Company will also
attend the annual general meeting to answer questions
about the conduct of the audit, the preparation and contents
of the auditor’s report, the accounting policies and auditor
independence.

Copies of the reporting documents, including consolidated
financial statements, the Directors’ report and the auditor’s
report must be sent to members at least 21 working days
before the annual general meeting of the Company.

The right to convene an extraordinary general
meeting

Any one or more shareholders holding at the date of deposit
of the requisition not less than one-tenth of the paid up
capital of the Company carrying the right of voting at general
meetings of the Company shall at all times have the right, by
written requisition to the Board or the company secretary, to
require an extraordinary general meeting to be called by the
Board for the transaction of any business specified in such
requisition; and such meeting shall be held within 2 months
after the deposit of such requisition.
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If within 21 days of such deposit the Board fails to proceed to
convene such meeting the requisitionists themselves may do
so in the same manner, and all reasonable expenses incurred
by the requisitionists as a result of the failure of the Board
shall be reimbursed to the requisitionists by the Company.

The voting powers at the shareholders’ meetings
Every shareholder has the right to vote at the shareholders
meetings subject to provisions on the Articles.

The power to elect and re-elect Directors and
auditors

The shareholders could hold individual Directors (or the Board
as a whole) to account for their actions by voting against
their re-election. The Articles provides at each annual general
meeting one-third of the Directors for the time being (or,
if their number is not a multiple of 3, the number nearest
to but not less than one-third) shall retire from office by
rotation provided that every Director shall be subject to
retirement at an annual general meeting at least once every
three years.

For the Directors to retire by rotation, and if they wish, they
may submit themselves for re-election at the annual general
meeting. The retiring Directors are eligible for reappointment
to the office.

The shareholders also have the right to approve (or reject) the
appointment of the auditors each year. The Company may by
an ordinary resolution passed at a general meeting remove
a person from the office of auditor despite any agreement
between the person and the Company or anything in the
Articles.

The right to receive information of the Company
The Company shall keep shareholders informed of certain
developments and to obtain shareholder approval for certain
transactions in accordance with the Listing Rules. In these
cases, the Company must communicate with its shareholders
and seek their support.
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The right to communicate with the Company

The Chairman or the executive Director should ensure
that the views of the shareholders are communicated to
the Board as a whole and the Chairman or the executive
Director should discuss strategy and governance with the
major shareholders.

Non-executive Directors should be given the opportunity
to attend general meetings with major shareholders, and
should be expected to attend general meetings if requested
by major shareholders.

CONSTRUCTIVE USE OF GENERAL MEETINGS

Effectiveness of general meetings

Shareholders should be given the opportunity to send in
written questions before the meeting. There should be a
circulation of a brief summary of points raised at the annual
general meeting to all shareholders after the event. The Board
should dispatch a circular accompanying the annual general
meeting notice, which contains comprehensive information
on the business to be transacted at the meeting, together
with summary procedure governing voting at the annual
general meeting and frequently asked questions regarding
voting procedures.

The Company should arrange for the notice of the annual
general meeting and the related papers to be sent to the
shareholders at least 21 working days before the meeting.
For other general meetings this should be at least 14 working
days in advance.

Giving shareholders an opportunity to ask
questions

The Chairman should attend the annual general meeting. He/
she should also invite the chairmen of the audit, nomination
and remuneration committees and any other committees (as
appropriate) to be available to answer questions at the annual
general meeting. In addition, independent non-executive
Directors and other non-executive Directors should attend
general meetings and develop a balanced understanding of
the views of shareholders.
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Voting procedure

At any general meeting, the Company proposes a separate
resolution on each substantially separate issue and in
particular proposes a resolution at the annual general meeting
relating to the report and accounts. For each resolution,
proxy appointment forms should provide shareholders with
the option to direct their proxy to vote either for or against
the resolution or to withhold their vote.

At any general meeting there should also be a separate
resolution to each substantially separate issue. The Company
should avoid “bundling” resolutions unless they are
interdependent and linked forming one significant proposal.
Where the resolutions are “bundled”, the Company should
explain the reasons and material implications in the notice
of meeting.

In the context of voting by proxy and poll results, the
Company should ensure that all valid proxy appointments
received are properly recorded and counted. For each
resolution, after a vote has been taken, except where taken
on a poll, the Company should ensure that the following
information is given at the meeting and made available
as soon as reasonably practicable on a website which is
maintained by or on behalf of the company.

The Company should announce the poll results as soon as
possible and at least 30 minutes before the commencement
of the Exchange’s morning session or any pre-opening
session on the business day following the general meeting.
The poll results announcement must include: the number of
shares entitling the holder to attend and vote at the general
meeting; shares entitling the holder to attend and abstain
from voting in favour; shares of holders that are required
under the Listing Rules to abstain from voting; shares actually
voted for a resolution and shares actually voted against a
resolution.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ ENQUIRIES

Shareholders should direct their questions about their shareholdings
to the Company’s registrar, Tricor Investor Services Limited at
17/F, Far East Finance Centre, 16 Harcourt Road, Hong Kong.

Shareholders and the investment community may at any time
make a request for the Company’s publicly available information.
The designated contacts and addresses to enable them to make
query in respect of the Company are:

the Board of Directors

Unit 1808,18/F, Landmark South, 39 Yip Kan
Street, Wong Chuk Hang, Hong Kong

Fax: (852) 3728 8710

Email: ir@carbonneutral.com.hk

Contact:
Address:

DIVIDEND POLICY
The Board has adopted a dividend policy (the “Dividend Policy”).
A summary of this policy is disclosed as below.

The Company may declare and pay dividends to the Shareholders
by way of cash or by other means that the Board considers
appropriate. It is the policy of the Board, in recommending
dividends, to allow the Shareholders to participate in the Company’s
profits, and at the same time, to ensure the Company to retain
adequate reserves for future growth. The Company’s decision to
declare or to pay any dividends in the future, and the amount of
such dividends will depend upon, among other things, the current
and future operations, financial condition, liquidity position and
capital requirements of the Group, as well as dividends received
from the Company’s subsidiaries and associates, which in turn will
depend on the ability of those subsidiaries and associates to pay
a dividend. In addition, any final dividends for a financial year will
be subject to the approval of the Shareholders. The declaration
and payment of dividends by the Company is also subject to any
restrictions under the laws of Cayman Islands, the laws of Hong
Kong, the Company’s article of association and any applicable
laws, rules and regulations.
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Whilst this Dividend Policy reflects the Board’s current views on
the financial and cash-flow position of the Group, the Board will
continue to review this Dividend Policy from time to time and the
Board may exercise its sole and absolute discretion to update,
amend and/or modify this Dividend Policy at any time as it deems
fit and necessary. There is no assurance that dividends will be
declared or paid in any particular amount for any given period.
The Dividend Policy shall in no way constitute a legally binding
commitment by the Company that any dividend will be paid in
any particular amount and/or in no way obligate the Company to
declare a dividend at any time or from time to time.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

There was no amendment made to the memorandum and articles
of association of the Company during the Year. The latest version
of the constitutional documents of the Company is available on
the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.
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The Directors are pleased to present their report together with
the audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for
the Year.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. Details
of the principal activities of other members of the Group are set
out in note 44 in Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

FINAL DIVIDEND
The Board does not recommend the payment of final dividend for
the Year (2021: Nil).

BUSINESS REVIEW

A fair review of the Group’s business, particulars of important
events affecting the Group that have occurred during the Year, and
an indication of likely future development in the Group's business,
are set out in the “Chairman’s Statement” and “Management
Discussion and Analysis” of this report. A description of principal
risks and uncertainties facing the Group is also set out in the
“Management Discussion and Analysis” of this report.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICY

The Group’s commitment to protecting the environment is well
reflected by its continuous efforts in promoting green measures
and awareness in its daily business operations. The Group
encourages environmental protection and promote awareness
towards environmental protection to the employees. The Group
also implements green office practices such as promoting the use
of recycled papers and reducing energy consumption by switching
off idle lighting and electrical appliances.

The Group will review its environmental practices from time to
time and will consider implementing further eco-friendly measures
and practices in the operation of the Group’s businesses and
enhance environmental sustainability.

A further discussion of the environmental policies and performance

of the Group is contained in the “Environmental, Social and
Governance Report” of this report.

63

2 BEARE SRR

EFEREK

AN Z EEEH BRI o ARSI HA
JRB A T 2 B R O AR A S R
W5tad -

KRS
RN A A B IR RIS (2
T ) o

E 3 E)

ARG EEN - AFEREZY
AL B 2 R A REAE MR SEHs 2 7]
RERAR BRI SRR > FRAER A [ R
Fe [ H I v S i | o A S5 9 T B ) = 22
JGR\ i B AN Tfe 7 M 22w W R A A i o [ B
& Et i S oA

RIBEHR

ASEBAE H W S5 8 b R B A R BR R A it
TR - DUBAT HRER SR © AL H
SR ER DR 4 B R B4R THER PR o ASSE
INECHE A5 SE AR R i - (AN BB i B3R
PRAR I 375 368 B A T ) 88 I i LA s

A A R o B ER DR AR A % R
AR I 2 S5 T B il B 2 BR AR I
B> T BREE T FEAE Y o

A I A S8 1 BR 05 A SR I A ) A — 28 i o
A [EREE - A BRI -

Annual Report 2022 —& — TAEAE



Report of the Directors

EEEHE

COMPLIANCE
REGULATIONS
During the Year, as far as the Group is aware, there was no
material breach of or non-compliance with applicable laws and
regulations by the Group that has a significant impact on the
business and operations of the Group.

WITH RELEVANT LAWS AND

SUMMARY FINANCIAL INFORMATION

A summary of the published results and assets and liabilities of
the Group for the last five years, as extracted from the audited
consolidated financial statements, is set out on page 292 in
this report. This summary does not form part of the audited
consolidated financial statements.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Pursuant to the Articles, every Director shall be entitled to be
indemnified out of the assets of the Group against all losses
or liabilities which he/she may sustain or incur in or about the
execution of the duties of his/her office or otherwise in relation
thereto. Such provisions were in force during the course of the
Year and remained in force as of the date of this directors’ report.
There is appropriate directors’ and officers’
coverage for the directors and officers of the Group.

liability insurance

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save for the share option scheme as disclosed in the below
section headed “Share Option Scheme” and the section headed
“Convertible Bonds”
no equity-linked agreements were entered into by the Company,
or existed during the Year.

of “Management Discussion and Analysis”,

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of
the whole or any substantial part of the business of the Group
were entered into or existed during the Year.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the Year, the largest customer accounted for approximately
28.6% (2021: approximately 28.5%) of the Group's total revenues.
The five largest customers accounted for approximately 87.2%
(2021: approximately 89.3%) of the Group’s total revenues for
the Year.

For the Civil Engineering and Construction Business, the customer
base is relatively concentrated to certain departments of the
Government, public utilities companies and private organisations

in Hong Kong. 64

B FRBEARERER

AAEFEN > BUASE B TR > 7SR 0 0 e T
L&iT@f“ﬁ!—‘%@Z%@&“ EHEKR

L2 A LiER TR
BB EREE

A [ T T 4F R R P B SR A S
AERIMEE (R A S AR & B R) I
ARG H292°H o i ML AR AR L
KRG B IRER L —HRa o

BEFZREEX

WA A A R > K EFAEREITH
WS S R A T FL S )y T S B A R ) T
SXEBB M EHRAIEERAERZE
FE T HEBORE o sZ M SURAFEENA AL
SR A HE R H AR AR - AEE#ES
Jor A B E 8 25 2 P N A B AT
TR IRFE o

SHE i
BRI 3T T PR 3 ) — 3 P B e 2 B B
) Je 78 TR & S 3 AT ) 2 Tl B 2 )
—HiAh > A R AR MR T 5L B L
e S AH A i o

EEEXN

FOARAE BE A > Sl 05T 7 5 A7 A S A 4 1
O U (] 3 B 4 S A B A R AT R
# e

FEEFRMUER
AN K F P LA B S K
28.6% (FE—4 : #)28.5%) o AL
N HRFEFALAEE I AK187.2% (.
T4 1 £189.3%)

R EARTRR KSR I > & 7 S GEA
eI TEUNERR - A RSN 1
FANKERE o

China Carbon Neutral Development Group Limited F [ B o i1 88 Ji 42 (3 47 FR 23 )



Report of the Directors

ESEHS

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS (Continued)
None of the Directors or their respective associates or any
Shareholder (to the knowledge of our Directors) holding more
than 5% of the Company’s issued share capital had any interest
in the five largest customers.

The Group's five largest suppliers, being its sub-contractors for
Civil Engineering and Construction segment, together accounted
for approximately 37.2% (2021: approximately 52.4%) of the
Group's total cost of sales charged to the Group as at the Year.
The largest supplier accounted for approximately 16.5% (2021:
approximately 23.9%) of the total cost of sales charged to the
Group as at the Year.

Other than as set out in the paragraph above, none of the Directors
or their associates or any Shareholders (to the knowledge of our
Directors) holding more than 5% of the Group’s issued share
capital had any interests in the five largest sub-contractors.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of
the Group during the Year are set out in note 15 in Notes to the
Consolidated Financial Statements.

LOANS AND BORROWINGS

Particulars of loans and borrowings of the group at the balance
sheet date are set out in note 27 in Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements.

CONVERTIBLE BONDS AND PROMISSORY NOTES
Details of movements in the Company’s convertible bonds and the
promissory notes during the Year are set out in note 28 and note
29 in Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in the Company’s share capital during the
Year are set out in note 31 in Notes to the Consolidated Financial
Statements.

RESERVES
Details of movements in the reserves of the Group during the Year
are set out in the Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity.
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DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES
The Company had no reserve available for distribution to
Shareholders as at 31 December 2022 (2021: Nil).

CHARITABLE DONATIONS
Charitable donations made by the Group during the Year
amounted to HK$890,000 (2021: HK$3,500,000).

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Articles
or the laws of Cayman Islands where the Group is incorporated,
which would oblige the Group to offer new shares to existing
Shareholders on a pro-rata basis.

TAX RELIEF

The Group is not aware of any relief from taxation available to
shareholders by reason of their holding of the Company’s listed
securities.

DIRECTORS
The Directors who held office during the Year and as at date of
this report were:

Executive Directors:
Mr. Sha Tao (Chairman)
(appointed on 20 February 2023)
Ms. Chan Tan Na Donna
(resigned on 20 February 2023)
Mr. Chen Xinwei (Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Di Ling
Dr. Cui Dingjun
(retired on 29 June 2022)
Mr. Chen Lei

Non-executive Directors:
Mr. Lam Po Foon

Independent Non-executive Directors:
Dr. Guo Yike
Mr. Wang Anyuan
Mr. Yu Wai Chun
(resigned on 31 May 2022)
Dr. Li Qun

(appointed on 2 June 2022)
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DIRECTORS (Continued)

In accordance with Article 84(1) of the Articles, each of Mr. Chen
Xinwei, Mr. Chen Lei and Mr. Lam Po Foon will retire from the
office of Director by rotation and each of them, being eligible, will
offer themselves for re-election at the forthcoming annual general
meeting (the “Annual General Meeting”).

In accordance with Article 83(3) of the Articles, Mr. Sha Tao shall
only hold office until the Annual General Meeting and, being
eligible, will offer himself for re-election at the Annual General
Meeting.

ANNUAL CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE

The Company has received from each of the independent non-
executive Directors an annual confirmation of independence
pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and the Company
considered all the independent non-executive Directors to be
independent.

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT OF THE GROUP

Latest biographical details of the Directors and senior management
of the Group are set out in Director and Senior Management
Biographies of this report.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY
DIRECTORS OF LISTED ISSUERS

The Board has adopted the Model Code as set out in Appendix
10 to the Listing Rules to regulate the Directors’ securities
transactions. The Group had made specific enquiry of all Directors
regarding any non-compliance with the Model Code for the
period under review, and they all have confirmed their respective
full compliance with the required standard set out in the Model
Code during the Year.
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DIRECTORS" AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As at 31 December 2022, the interests and short positions of
the Directors and chief executives of the Company in the shares,
underlying shares and debentures of the Company or any of its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the
Securities and Future Ordinance (Cap. 571, Laws of Hong Kong)
("SFO")) as recorded in the register required to be kept by
the Company under section 352 of the SFO, or were required,
pursuant to the Model Code, to be notified to the Company and
the Stock Exchange, were as follows:

EERBEITBRABZRAD - HE
ROKBEEZE2BERAR

MR- ZAEFZH=Z1—H o BAXER
AT B 571 R I S R Rl (38 25
REE RG] 53521070 T R Ar 2 B e it o
FLBk o BB HE ST R O R A 28 m] RO
LR ER > BRERERRARNTF EEITHANR
TR ) BCHAT ] R G 2 1 G 28 TR o %
B RGIEXVER) 2 Bty ~ A B Ay K A b
it 2 M dE SRR

Long position i)
Percentage
Number of ~ Number of of interest in
ordinary  underlying the Company
Name of directors Notes Nature of interest Shares held  Shares held Total (Note ¢)
N
frsgd Fri5 e EREAM
ESi?/ 40 Wi ERtE REE RBEE &y (Wfite)
Ms. Chan Tan Na Donna (@  Interest of spouse 88,000,000 164,500,000 252,500,000 78.78%
BTt il
Mr. Chen Xinwei (b)  Beneficial owner - 13,500,000 13,500,000 421%
565 % 1t 2N
Mr. Di Ling () Beneficial owner - 1,500,000 1,500,000 0.47%
Y3 BHEAA
Mr. Lam Po Foon (d)  Interest in a controlled corporation 22,000,000 - 22,000,000 6.87%
HEBEA RZEEE R
Founder of a discretionary trust who can influence how the 1,800,000 - 1,800,000 0.56%
trustee exercises his discretion
S % SEINITERIE Ny S S TARE TN
Subtotal 23,800,000 - 23,800,000 7.43%
it
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DIRECTORS" AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES (Continued)

Notes:
(a) 88,000,000 Shares and 164,500,000 Convertible Bonds are held
by Quick Tycoon Limited, which is wholly owned by Sound Gem
Limited, a company which is wholly owned by Mr. Sha Tao, the
spouse of Ms. Chan Tan Na Donna. The 164,500,000 underlying
Shares represent unlisted physically settled derivatives of the
Company.

The 13,500,000 underlying Shares represent unlisted physically
settled derivatives of the Company.

The 1,500,000 underlying Shares represent unlisted physically
settled derivatives of the Company.

22,000,000 Shares are held by Kasumi One Limited, which is in
turn wholly owned by Best Beyond Investment Development Limited
("Best Beyond"”). Best Beyond is wholly owned by Classica Holdings
Limited, whose share is jointly held by Mr. Lam Po Foon (“Mr.
Lam”) and Ms. Mok Yin Ling Helen, spouse of Mr. Lam. Mr. Lam is
also the founder of a discretionary trust who can influence how the
trustee exercises his discretion in relation to 1,800,000 shares held
on trust by Wealth Assets Trustee Limited.

Calculation of percentage of interest in the Company is based on
the issued share capital of 320,500,000 Shares as at 31 December
2022.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2022, none of the
Directors or the chief executives of the Company had registered
an interest or short positions in the shares, underlying shares
of the Company or any of its associated corporations that was
required to be recorded pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, or
as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to the Model Code.
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DIRECTORS’

DEBENTURES
Save as disclosed in the sections headed “Directors’ and Chief
Executive’s Interests and Short Positions in Shares, Underlying
Shares and Debentures” and the share options granted under
the share option scheme disclosed in note 32 in Notes to the
Consolidated Financial Statements, at no time during the Year
were rights to acquire benefits by means of the acquisitions of

RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR

Shares in or debentures of the Company granted to any Director
or their respective spouse or minor children, or were any such
rights exercised by them; or was the Company, or any of its
subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to enable the Director to
acquire such rights in any other body corporate.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

None of the Directors has a service contract with the Company
or any of its subsidiaries which is not determinable by the Group
within one year without payment of compensation, other than
statutory compensation.

DIRECTORS” INTERESTS IN
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS

No Director (including any person who at any time during the

TRANSACTIONS,

Year was a Director) nor a connected entity of a director had a
material interest, either directly or indirectly, in any transactions,
arrangements or contracts of significance to which the Company,
or any of its holding company, subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries
was a party during the Year.

CONTRACT OF SIGNIFICANCE

During the Year, neither the Company or any of its subsidiaries
had entered into any contract of significance with the controlling
shareholder or any of its subsidiaries, nor had any contract of
significance been entered into for the services provided by the
controlling shareholder or any of its subsidiaries to the Company
or any of its subsidiaries.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING BUSINESS
During the Year, no Director was interested in any business
apart from the Group's business, which competes or is likely to
compete, either directly or indirectly, with the Group’s business
which is required to be disclosed pursuant to the Listing Rules.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS AND OTHER #RiE®EREEEAISEXVRBERE
PERSONS WHO ARE REQUIRED TO DISCLOSE THEIR HEZ s HBFZTIERRRHMAL
INTERESTS PURSUANT TO PART XV OF THE SFO

As at 31 December 2022, the following persons, other than a R _-F - _H#+_H=+—H » FF A+
Director or the chief executive of the Company, had interests or (& H kAN FITE A BRIN AN 7 2 1
short positions in the shares and underlying shares of the Company 3 KA B I ¥R ZER0 R AN 2 I AR 1238 7%
which are required to be recorded in the register required to be  J& ] 56 15l 45 336446 i 47 B 2 B we M A 2 HE

kept by the Company under section 336 of the SFO: IR A -
Long position He
Percentage of
Number of Number of interest in the
ordinary underlying Company
Name of shareholders Notes Nature of interest Shares held Shares held Total (Note f)
EAAT
fisga frisiaE E&EAM
REfs/ 48 M ERUE REE VL ag (Htf)
Mr. Sha Tao (@ Interest in a controlled corporation 88,000,000 164,500,000 252,500,000 78.78%
Wik kAR
Mr. Jiang Jianhui (b)  Interest in a controlled corporation 51,700,000 - 51,700,000 16.13%
ZHAfE kAR
Mr. Cao Junsheng () Interestin a controlled corporation 23,760,000 - 23,760,000 741%
Btk HEEEER
Mr. Lam Po Foon (d)  Interest in a controlled corporation 22,000,000 - 22,000,000 6.87%
WEBEE ReEEENES
Founder of a discretionary trust who can influence how the 1,800,000 - 1,800,000 0.56%
trustee exercises his discretion
A EAZEA N EEMERD 2R R NARA
Subtotal 23,800,000 - 23,800,000 7.43%
It
Mr. Zhang Yaxun (e)  Interest in a controlled corporation 16,240,000 - 16,240,000 5.07%
RfELE TR
Mr. Zhang Junjie Beneficial owner 20,000,000 - 20,000,000 6.24%
Zhang Junjie’tt et O
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS AND OTHER
PERSONS WHO ARE REQUIRED TO DISCLOSE THEIR
INTERESTS PURSUANT TO PART XV OF THE SFO
(Continued)

Notes:

(@) Details of the interests in Shares and underlying Shares of Mr.
Sha Tao and the relationship between him and Ms. Chan Tan Na
Donna is disclosed under the section headed “Directors’ and Chief
Executive’s Interests and Short Positions in Shares, Underlying Shares
and Debenture” above.

(b) 51,700,000 Shares were held by Youth Force Asia Ltd., which was
wholly owned by Mr. Jiang Jianhui.

(c) 23,760,000 Shares were held by Mao Yuan Capital Limited, which
was wholly owned by Mr. Cao Junsheng.

(d) Details of the interests in Shares of Mr. Lam is disclosed under the
section headed “Directors’ and Chief Executive’s Interests and Short
Positions in Shares, Underlying Shares and Debenture” above.

(e)  Mr. Zhang Yaxun controls more than one-third of the voting power
of Z&F International Trading Limited, he is therefore deemed to be
interested in all the 16,240,000 Shares held by Z&F International
Trading Limited by virtue of Part XV of the SFO.

(f) Calculation of percentage of interest in the Company is based on
the issued share capital of 320,500,000 Shares as at 31 December
2022.

Save as disclosed above and in the paragraph headed “Directors’
and Chief Executive’s Interests and Short Positions in Shares,
Underlying Shares and Debentures” above, as at 31 December
2022, no other person had interests or short positions in the
shares and underlying shares of the Company which were required
to be recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company
under section 336 of the SFO.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

At the extraordinary general meeting of the Group held on 24
March 2016, the Shareholders approved the adoption of the share
option scheme of the Group (the “Scheme”). The relevant listing
approval was granted by the Stock Exchange on 29 March 2016.
A summary of the principal terms of the Scheme are as follows:

Purpose

The purpose of the Scheme is to enable the Group to grant
options to selected eligible participants as incentives or rewards
for their contribution or potential contribution to the Group.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

Participants

The eligible participant(s) of the Scheme is/are full time or part
time employees of the Group (including any directors, whether
executive or non-executive and whether independent or not,
of the Group); and any business or joint venture partners,
contractors, agents or representatives, consultants, advisers,
suppliers, producers or licensors, customers, licensees (including
any sub-licensee) or distributors, landlords or tenants (including
any sub-tenants) of the Group or any person who, in the sole
discretion of the Board, has contributed or may contribute to the
Group.

Maximum number of shares available for issue

The maximum number of unexercised share options currently
permitted to be granted under the Scheme is an amount
equivalent, upon their exercise, to 10% of the total number of
ordinary shares of the Company in issue as at the date when
the Scheme was approved by the shareholders of the Company
in a general meeting, which is a total of 20,000,000 ordinary
shares available for issue under the Scheme. The total number of
shares available for issue under the Scheme is 20,000,000 Shares,
representing approximately 6.24% of the issued Shares at the
date of this report.

The number of options available for grant under the scheme
mandate as at 1 January 2022 is 12,100,000 and there is no
options available for grant as at 31 December 2022.

There is no service provider sublimit under the Scheme as at as at
1 January 2022 and as at 31 December 2022.

Maximum entitlement of each participant

The maximum number of shares issuable under share options
to each eligible participant in the Scheme within any 12-month
period is limited to 1% of the shares of the Company in issue at
any time. Any further grant of share options in excess of this limit
is subject to shareholders’ approval in a general meeting.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

Option period

The option period of the Scheme, in respect of any particular
option, is the period to be determined and notified by the Directors
to the grantee thereof at the time of making an offer provided
that such period shall not exceed the period of ten (10) years from
the date of the grant of the particular option but subject to the
provisions for early termination thereof contained herein.

There is no specified minimum period under the Scheme for which
an option must be held or the performance target which must be
achieved before an option can be exercised under the terms of
the Scheme.

Acceptance of offer

The offer of a grant of share options may be accepted within
21 days from the date of the offer, upon payment of a nominal
consideration of HK$1 in total by the grantee. The exercise period
of the share options granted is determinable by the directors and
ends on a date which is not later than 10 years from the date of
the offer of the share options.

Exercise price

The exercise price of the share options is determinable by the
directors, but should not be less than the highest of (i) the closing
price of the shares of the Company as stated in the Hong Kong
Stock Exchange daily quotation sheet on the date of grant of
share options; (ii) the average of the closing prices of the shares
of the Company as stated on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange for
the 5 trading days immediately preceding the date of the offer;
and (iii) the nominal value of the shares of the Company.

Remaining life of the Scheme

The Directors shall be entitled at any time within 10 years
commencing on 29 March 2016 to offer the grant of an option
to any eligible participant. The Scheme will expire on 28 March
2026.

New Requirement

In view of the new requirements under Chapter 17 of the Listing
Rules which came into effect on 1 January 2023, any option shall
only be granted in accordance with such new requirements.

Movements of Share Options

Particulars of the share option scheme of the Company and details
of movements in the share options are set out in note 32 in Notes
to the Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Report of the Directors

ESEHS

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The Group's operations, financials and prospects are affected by
risks and uncertainties. The risk factors listed below may directly or
indirectly lead to significant differences in the Group’s operating
performances, financial positions and development prospects
from its expected or past performances. These factors are not
comprehensive, and there may be other risks and uncertainties
that are not known by the Group or may not be noticeable at
present, but may become significant in the future.

Business Risk

Performance of all business segments of the Group may be
affected by fluctuations in market prices and market demands
of the Group’s final products and services. On the other hand,
raw materials or outsourced services which are provided by the
Group’s suppliers are subject to price fluctuations. The Group does
not enter into any material contracts to hedge against such price
fluctuations. Therefore, any increases in these raw materials or
outsourced services will exert pressures on the Group’s production
costs, gross profits and final prices that the Group in turn charges
the customers. If the Group fails to adapt and respond successfully
to the changing demands and supplies, it may adversely affect the
business performance and development prospects.

Industry Risk

The Global Carbon Neutral Business is subject to certain industry
risks. The market for carbon credits can be volatile due to changing
supply and demand, as well as the regulatory changes around
carbon emissions and climate change. In addition, the verification
process for carbon credits can be complex due to technical
requirements for the certification under different standards,
which poses challenges to developing and procuring supply of
carbon credits. Meanwhile, the Group mitigates the risks through
investing in its professional team and leveraging its experience in
developing its Global Carbon Neutral Business.

Civil Engineering and Construction Business is operated in industry
which is highly competitive. Competition may intensify as the
Group's competitors expand their product or service, lower their
prices, or increase their qualities. There may be new competitors
entering the Group's existing markets as well. If the Group does
not compete successfully against existing and new competitors,
the Group may not be able to maintain its existing business scale
and operation performance.
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Report of the Directors

EEEHE

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES
(Continued)

Policy Risk

Some business segments of the Group must abide by various
policies and regulations. For example, the civil engineering and
construction business is subject to compliance requirements
imposed by the Hong Kong government. The regulators may
require the Group to apply for new licenses, and impose new rules,
regulations or requirements. Changes in policies and regulations
will affect the development of the Group’s business, such as
increasing compliance costs and reducing business opportunities.

Credit Risk

All business segments of the Group allow a credit for their
customers’ payment. All trade and other receivables are accounted
by their carrying amounts less expected credit loss. In the past,
the Group has experienced significant delay in the payment of
the trade and other receivables, and therefore some credit loss
has been recognized in the financial statements of the Group in
accordance with the accounting standards. However, the impaired
amounts of the trade and other receivables do not represent the
Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk. Recoverability of such
receivables depends on a lot of factors, including the general
economy, government policies, investor confidences, and most
importantly, the business performances and financial positions of
each debtor.

Liquidity Risks

As discussed before, the Group recorded net liabilities as at
31 December 2022, indicating that the Group was exposed to
liquidity risk. Despite that the Group has some measures to raise
additional working capital to finance its operation, there is always
a risk that the Group cannot meet its financial obligations as they
fall due.

ESG Risks

The Group places particular emphasis on several ESG risks. In terms
of the environment, the Group focuses on issues such as climate
change, energy efficiency, and waste management. In terms of
social factors, the Group is committed to social investments,
tenant engagement, and responsible supply chain management.
In terms of governance, the Group emphasizes ethics and
integrity, information privacy, risk and crisis management, etc.
This integrated strategy and operational advantage can provide
the group with additional support in the current uncertain
environment, seeking success and development.
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Report of the Directors

ESEHS

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES
(Continued)

Other Risks

Some risks are not noticeable from the daily operations of the
Group, but they can have a material adverse impact on the
Group. For example, the harshening business environment from
the U.S.- China trade conflicts, the sharp decrease in Hong
Kong economy after the local political movements, and the
recent COVID-19 outbreak. These kinds of events may interrupt
the Group’s operations, increase prices of raw material and
outsourced services, and deteriorate other risks and uncertainty
that the Group are facing. All such events are outside control of
the Group and there is no guarantee that the Group’s responsive
measures are sufficient to protect the Group's interests. Given the
complexity and materiality of these events, the Group is of the
view that their impacts may take a longer time to fully emerge.

TRANSACTIONS

RELATED PARTIES
Save for the related party transaction as disclosed in note 38(b) to
the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements, the related
party transactions during the Year as disclosed in note 38 to or
elsewhere in the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
did not fall under the definition of “connected transactions”
nor “continuing connected transactions” (as the case may be)
in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. The Directors confirm that
the Company has, where applicable, complied with the disclosure

WITH CONNECTED AND/OR

requirements in accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
The Group has applied the principles and code provisions as set
out in the CG Code contained in Appendix 14 of the Listing
Rules. During the Year, save as disclosed in the section headed
“Corporate Governance Report”, the Group has complied with
the code provisions in the CG Code.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD
Save as disclosed in the “Events after the Reporting Period” under
the “Management Discussion and Analysis” of this report, there
was no other significant event affecting the Group after the
reporting period and up to the date of this report.
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Report of the Directors

EEEHE

PURCHASE, REDEMPTION OR SALE OF LISTED
SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold
or redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities for the year
ended 31 December 2022.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the Directors as at the date of this
report, the Company has maintained the prescribed minimum
public float under the Listing Rules.

CHANGE OF AUDITOR IN ANY OF THE PRECEDING
THREE YEARS

On 28 December 2021, Zenith CPA Limited (“Zenith”) has
resigned as the auditor of the Group with effect from the same
date, as the Company and Zenith could not reach a consensus
on the audit fee for the year ending 31 December 2021. The
Company appointed RSM as the auditor of the Group with effect
from 28 December 2021 to fill the casual vacancy following the
resignation of Zenith.

On 7 April 2022, RSM has resigned as the auditor of the Group
with effect from the same date, as RSM unable to agree with
the Company on a mutually acceptable timetable to complete the
audit for the consolidated financial statements of the Group for
Year, nor to reasonably estimate the time and manpower resources
required to complete all audit works for the consolidated financial
statements of the Group in respect of the Year. The Company
appointed Prism Hong Kong and Shanghai Limited (“Prism”) as
the auditor of the Group with effect from 7 April 2022 to fill the
casual vacancy following the resignation of RSM.

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2022 have been audited by Prism.
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Report of the Directors

ESEHS

CHANGE OF AUDITOR IN ANY OF THE PRECEDING
THREE YEARS (Continued)

Prism shall retire in the Annual General Meeting and, being
eligible, will offer themselves for re-appointment. A resolution
for the re-appointment of Prism as auditor of the Group will be
proposed at the forthcoming annual general meeting.

On behalf of the Board
China Carbon Neutral Development Group Limited

Mr. Sha Tao
Chairman

Hong Kong, 30 March 2023
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report
RIE - HERERBSE

Overview

China Carbon Neutral Development Group Limited (the “Company”
or “China Carbon Neutral”) (Stock Code: 1372.HK) and its
subsidiaries (the “Group” or “we") are pleased to publish the
Environmental, Social and Governance Report (the "ESG Report”
or the “Report”). The Report provides an overview of the Group's
policies, sustainability strategies, management approaches and
initiatives in the environmental, social and governance (“"ESG")
areas of its business and the Group’s performance in this regard.

Reporting Scope

The Report covers the period from 1 January 2022 to 31 December
2022 (the “Reporting Period”). By comprehensively considering
the Company’s sustainable development background, the Report
covers the Group’s main business related to Global Carbon Neutral
and Civil Engineering and Construction.

Basis of Preparation

The Report has been prepared
Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting Guide (the "ESG
Reporting Guide”) set out in Appendix 27 to the Rules Governing
the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited issued by The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“SEHK") and is based on the reporting principles of materiality,
quantitative, balance and consistency.

in accordance with the

The Report has complied with the mandatory disclosure
requirements and “Comply or Explain” provisions set out in the
ESG Reporting Guide of the SEHK. For details, please refer to the
end of the Report.

Reporting Principles
During the preparation of the Report, the Group has followed the
following reporting principles:

Materiality: A materiality review and assessment is used to review
the material issues of the Group during the Reporting Period and
to focus on the material issues identified for the preparation of
the Report, for details please refer to the sections on “Stakeholder
Engagement” and “Materiality Assessment”;

Quantitative: The Report discloses the standards and methods
used in the calculation of relevant data in the Report, and disclose
the applicable assumptions;
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Reporting Principles (Continued)

Balance: The Report reflects an unbiased view of the Group’s
performance in all aspects of ESG, and avoids negative impacts
on the Group arising from inappropriate decisions or choices of
judgement, omissions of information or reporting formats;

Consistency: The preparation method of the Report is basically
consistent with the previous year, and the data with changes in
the scope of disclosure and calculation methods are explained.

Confirmation and Approval

The Report was reviewed, confirmed and approved by the board
(the "Board"”) of directors (the “Directors”) of the Company on
30 March 2023.

Publication of the Report

The Report is published in traditional Chinese and English
versions. In case of any discrepancy between the two versions,
the traditional Chinese version shall prevail. The electronic version
of the Report can be accessed and downloaded at the website of
the HKEXnews (www.hkexnews.hk) and the Company’'s website
(www.carbonneutral.com.hk).

Report Access and Feedback

The your and suggestions
on the Report or the Group’s ESG work via the email:
ir@carbonneutral.com.hk.

Group welcomes comments

81

BEERRA (FH)
T A A i A o 3 S BRAS B B R ES G
J7 T TR TARRE > G T A 16
PR B BTN R R (5 BRI EERE ASE
BALEEE N B

— B AR A A A D7 2B A A —
B 3l BB R Mt O B A
WY BURIELT RN -

HEER A HE
ARG R 20234330 KA AN A #EE
([EE]) & ([EBY])) &0 - mesRabitie o

wREBMHER

A DA v S R S SO B A o W T AR
WA AR A0 22 L > JE DA B b SCORUAS A U o
AR 45 AR RRAS T v W 52 T B R ) A
(www.hkexnews.hk) K& 2% 2 & 44 vk
(www.carbonneutral.com.hk) ZEBIFI R -

HREEEE KR

A H OEOWOEOF B M E B
ir@carbonneutral.com.hk - A ¥ 45 2 A 4
B ESG LVEHR i A gk o

Annual Report 2022 —& — TAEAE



1.

Environmental, Social and Governance Report

BRIk #HERERESH

Stable operation
1.1 Business Overview

The Group is principally engaged in (i) global carbon
neutral business with a focus on trading of carbon-credit
assets, carbon credit and carbon asset development,
management and investment in carbon neutral related
fields and carbon consulting and planning, as well as
carbon negative business including industrial carbon
negative with a core of development of carbon capture,
utilization and storage and natural carbon negative
focusing on forest and crop optimisation (“Global
Carbon Neutral Business”); and (ii) civil engineering
works, building construction and maintenance works
(the "Civil Engineering and Construction Business”).
In line with the national strategy of “Carbon Peaking by
2030 and Carbon Neutrality by 2060” (“Dual Carbon”),
the Group centers on carbon neutrality by focusing
on the basic industry sector with carbon negative
emissions as the core and the financial management
sector with carbon asset development and management
as the core. In the future, the Group will continuously
strive to expand its business and enhance its corporate
reputation on the basis of its current Civil Engineering
and Construction Business, with an aim to become a
leading enterprise in the field of carbon neutrality in
the Hong Kong capital market.

During the Reporting Period, the Group has made
progress in Global Carbon Neutral Business, including
but not limited to further diversification of project
development, completion of relevant international
public announcements of some projects. The Group
will gradually promote the implementation of carbon
credit assets related work to meet the national policies
and market demand. During the Reporting Period,
the Group also made breakthroughs and carried
out a series of external cooperation. For example,
we successfully completed the trading of 2 million
tonnes of carbon credit assets in Singapore, signed a
memorandum of understanding with SMRT Experience
Pte Ltd, participated in carbon credit trading from the
launch of Core Climate at Hong Kong Exchanges and
Clearing Limited (“"HKEX") as the first batch of selective
market participants, and set up a Digital Technology
Committee to expand our digital technology business

on carbon neutrality. 82

1.

BREE
1.1 ¥XHE

AEHEBEREE () IRERE
FEAT Gy ~ B Fp AR B8 4E S8R A R 15
Rt & mE B - R RE
DA Rt als ot SRR B 5 K DA R
WA 4 ~ R BB AE A A0 ) T
BB K DL AR R VR B A
ANORER SR E SRV €
([ZREBAPFAER]) 5 K& (i) 1A
TRIEH D T s MmgE L
BROILRIBREBEERK) - &
AL IEE [ 20304F- Bk 1 F12060
SRR (T8 8R]) A BT 5 Bkms
PUBR AR B Hols - SRR A LA AR
P Tl B A% 00 B FEE TR FEE 3 4 38R
7 DR R B HR 5 A% 0 ) A L
B o KA > AEBE ISR
FITAA 2 R TR e gk 2 S 1Y) S it
b BTSS0I PR T A
A NFATBEART S
g FRISE IS A SR S R -

R B AR 4R [ AE A R
G IS T HEE > EHEE
ABRATE H g eiE— 2 2 ouil o
5 T8 B 52 A B B R AR o AR
AR B2 25 HE ) 7 B R A
B TAE > WA B RBOR i
TR o RGN A R
J& TH AR T2 G A B SR — R
BIAAE > B an Bl 7 BT n 3k 5 i
200 HMaGRAE B 28 5 - BB
Tk b, 884 1B T A AR M A
AT s 28 7y B A5 8 I A R 2 w) 1Y)
([BBRBFr)) #%5Core Climate
BG > EA BTS2
H ST WRAS 38 5 B B
BEZEE - R P AMET
EWE o

China Carbon Neutral Development Group Limited F [ B o i1 88 Ji 42 (3 47 FR 23 )



1.

Environmental, Social and Governance Report
RIE #HERERBE

Stable operation (Continued)
1.2 Business Ethics and Integrity

The Group upholds the core values of honesty,
integrity, fairness, impartiality and compliance with
business ethics, and is committed to implementing
the Group’s compliance work on integrity and anti-
unfair competition, as well as actively promoting the
culture of integrity within the enterprise and regulating
the ethical conduct of its employees, so as to build a
clean corporate atmosphere through good corporate
governance. The Group is committed to the prevention,
deterrence, detection and investigation of all forms
of corruption, bribery, extortion, fraud and money
laundering. The Group strictly complies with the laws
and regulations relating to anti-corruption, anti-bribery
and anti-unfair competition, such as the Prevention
of Bribery Ordinance (Cap. 201 of the Laws of Hong
Kong), the Criminal Law of the People’s Republic of
China, the Anti-Unfair Competition Law of the People’s
Republic of China, the Anti-Money Laundering Law
of the People’s Republic of China and the Interim
Provisions for the Prohibition of Commercial Bribery by
the State Administration for Industry and Commerce
of the People’s Republic of China. At the same time,
the Group is committed to maintaining the highest
ethical standards in the conduct of its business. We
aim to safeguard fair competition by prohibiting any
unfair competition. To ensure full compliance with
the Competition Ordinance (Cap. 619 of the Laws of
Hong Kong), we require our employees not to disclose
or exchange competitive sensitive information to our
competitors or engage in price manipulation, and to
avoid imposing restrictions on customers, suppliers
or sub-contractors in all circumstances. In addition,
we also require all employees to collectively resist the
arrangement of market sharing. During the Reporting
Period, there were no reported cases of anti-unfair
competition behaviour by the Group.
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1.

Environmental, Social and Governance Report

BRIk #HERERESH

Stable operation (Continued)
1.2 Business Ethics and Integrity (Continued)

In our daily operations, we provide “Employee
Handbook” and “Employee Code of Conduct and
Ethics” for all employees as gquidelines for their
behaviour, setting out the standards of conduct that we
expect every employee to follow, such as those related
to acceptance, provision of gifts or hospitality, conflict
of interest and employment with external organisations
during business solicitation. All employees must
complete professional ethics training before joining
the Group. During the Reporting Period, the Group
organised several anti-corruption training activities for
Directors and employees to participate in and watched
anti-corruption training videos.

During the Reporting Period, the Group formulated and
issued the Code of Conduct Regarding Anti-corruption,
which states that in the course of business operation, the
Group is committed to providing customers with high-
quality services and requires all employees to adhere
to the highest integrity, commitment and professional
standards in performing their duties. In addition, the
Group also makes corresponding integrity requirements
for suppliers and contractors, and ceases to cooperate
with contractors, suppliers and other potential business
partners who have known to have committed bribery
and/or been involved in corrupt practices.
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Stable operation (Continued)
1.2 Business Ethics and Integrity (Continued)

In order to effectively promote and supervise the
integrity construction within the Group, the Group has
established an effective accountability mechanism to
enable relevant work to be carried out efficiently. The
Group has formulated and issued the Whistleblowing
Policy to enable employees to raise their opinions in a
responsible and effective manner. The Whistleblowing
Policy applies to the following senior management
concerns:

o Financial malpractice or impropriety or fraud,

° Misappropriation of company property;

o Failure to comply with a legal obligation or
Statutes;

o Dangers to Health & Safety or the environment;

° Criminal activity;
o Improper conduct or unethical behaviour; and
e Attempts to conceal any of these.

We encourage the whistleblowers to put their name to
any disclosures they make and require the whistleblowers
to ensure the accuracy of the information with due care.
The Group will treat all such disclosures in a confidential
and sensitive manner. Whistleblowers ought to provide
a statement as part of the required evidence when
necessary. Therefore, the identity of whistleblowers
will be kept confidential so long as it does not hinder
or frustrate any investigation. Disciplinary actions will
be taken if malicious reports are found. During the
Reporting Period, with the implementation of clear
policies, there were no cases of bribery or corruption
involving the Group and its employees.
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Stable operation (Continued)
1.3 Sustainability Management

The Group firmly believes that a sound and
comprehensive ESG governance system and ESG
strategies are essential to the successful implementation
of the Group’s sustainable development strategies.
Therefore, the Group is committed to implementing
ESG development strategies and practicing ESG-related
matters by gradually establishing and improving the
ESG governance system. To effectively promote the
implementation and management of ESG-related
work, the Group has incorporated ESG issues into the
consideration of its own development strategy, and the
Board is responsible for the formulation, update, review
and reporting of the Group’s ESG strategy. The Board
assumes responsibility for ESG issues and integrates
them into the Group’s management approach and
strategy, guides the management and monitoring of
ESG issues relevant to the Group, and reviews ESG-
related objectives. The Board is also responsible for
the truthfulness, objectivity, and completeness of the
information disclosed in the Report.

In addition, the Board is responsible for the Group’s
ESG related issues, identifying, reviewing and
evaluating recommendations on the Group’s corporate
responsibility, sustainability and addressing climate
change through internal meetings, and reviewing the
implementation and progress of ESG related work on
an annual basis. The Group’s management team is
responsible for the implementation of ESG related issues
and reports regularly to the Board to assist the Board
in assessing and determining whether the Company’s
internal control system is appropriate and effective in
controlling ESG related risks. At the operational level,
functional departments are responsible for ensuring
that sustainability strategies and practices are integrated
into the Group's business operations, and for exploring
new action plans or measures.
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Stable operation (Continued) 1. RBEEE @
1.3 Sustainability Management (Continued) 1.3 AHEZRERE @

The Directors are responsible for:
MESFERE A
+ Formulating long-term sustainable development guidelines and strategies

il R R T ) T AR R T 1 SR

Boa rd Of + Assessing and determining rislfs and opportunities associated with ESG
. A B 2 A BES G K i
Directors _ _ . , , o
+ Ensuring appropriate and effective ESG risk management and internal monitoring system
Y G A AT ESG IR T P DB R B

+ Reviewing and approving policies, objectives and action plans or measures related to ESG
et B AHAEESGAR BRI BOR ~ BB RATE) A8 5t it

+ Approving the ESG Report
FANLESGHR S

The management team is responsible for:

o R B R T

+ Formulating and reviewing policies, objectives and action plans or measures related to ESG
il 7 BLARSTESGAR B PO BOR ~ H AR M ATEY ] st

+ Monitoring and reporting to the Board of Directors on the progress and quality of implementation

Management

Team of the action plans or measures
s % BB R G AT I BT
B fi Ig] I%‘{ B I o) S A T B ) A ) A A P BT
+ Identifying risks and opportunities associated with ESG
il A ESGEUBR M 1
+ Reviewing the ESG Report
HHESGHR

The functional departments are responsible for:
AR REFR M £ 7
Identifying, assessing, determining and reporting to management on significant ESG issues
A~ A 7 S B e AL K R R ES G
Fu nctional Performing ESG risk management and internal monitoring
Depa rtments BUTESGIRUBR A HH e P i B4
b LB Ensuring that ESG policies, objectives and action plans or measures are integrated into business
ﬁ He nB Pﬂ operations
TEPRESGELHE ~ BB R AT ) i ) sl s ot A S5 218 o
Reporting to management on the progress and quality of implementation of the
action plans or measures

1) 5 L R A 7 B 81, 0 ) 01 e P BB 3R
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Stable operation (Continued)
1.4 Stakeholder Engagement

The Group is fully aware of the importance of
stakeholders to the Group’s operation and market
value. Therefore, the Group incorporates stakeholder
communication into its daily operations and s
committed to establishing a communication platform
between the Group and its major stakeholders,
listening to and analysing the opinions or suggestions
of major stakeholders on ESG matters to ensure
information sharing. The Group controls and manages
the relevant issues that may have an impact on the
Group’s operation and management system through
the established stakeholder needs and expectations
control procedures.

The Group maintains close contact with stakeholders
such as government/regulatory authorities, shareholders/
investors, employees, customers, suppliers, and the
community through diversified channels, strives
to balance their opinions and interests through
constructive communication, and understands the
needs and expectations of stakeholders, and therefore
to determine the direction of the Group’s sustainable
development. The expectations and requirements of
stakeholders, communication channels, and relevant
management responses from the Group are as follows:
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1. Stable operation (Continued) 1. BREE @
1.4 Stakeholder Engagement (Continued) 1.4 BFESHE @
Stakeholder Expectation and Requirement ~ Communication Channel Management Response
BhE HERER BERE EEEDE
Government/Regulatory ¢ Compliance with laws and ¢ Periodic report or o Conduct business with integrity and
Authorities requlations announcement comply with business regulations
B/ EEa8 BTHERER E A RER PRI GTTE ERTER
o Fulfillment of tax liability o Regular communication with ¢ Pay tax on time to give back to
BB R AT regulatory organisations society
*  Green operation E BB R TR > g
e ¢ Official business handling ¢ Establish comprehensive and effective
o Working together to combat through government websites internal control and environmental
COVID-19 or applications management systems
S[5]$ 47201 97 A 25 4 il Ey il H R TR R IR E R

o Fully implement the responsibility
system for safe production
AEELEREEEEHE

o Actively carry out all kinds of cleaner
production measures
TRMAEAT & W R 7 10 fe b

o Comply with the government's
COVID-19 measures and quidelines
to halt the spread of COVID-19
HESFURTAY 201 A RS A4S

G 1-201 97t 8 & 1
Shareholders/Investors s Return on investment ¢ Information disclosure on the »  Management has the relevant
R/ REE RE R websites of the Company and ~ experience and expertise to ensure
¢ Information transparency the SEHK the sustainable development of the
RN AN R RFBHCH4E  business
o Corporate governance system  Bf% & G AR MBS B, -
REERHE * Website and official WeChat PREB TR
account of the Company o Regularly distribute information
RN E through the websites of the SEHK
o General meetings of and the Company
shareholders and other AR IR S B B A s A8 S
shareholders' meetings R A
ARG RILMREH o Strive to improve internal monitoring
o Investor meetings or plant system and risk management
visits 1 o T AR A L A

hEEenIRE 28 *  Exchange views with investors
through various communication

channels
ERAEEEEE A ENER
i
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1. Stable operation (Continued) 1. BREE @
1.4 Stakeholder Engagement (Continued) 1.4 BHHPESE (@)
Stakeholder Expectation and Requirement ~ Communication Channel Management Response
BHE HEHRER BERE EEEDE
Suppliers o (Constant demand o Business visit ¢ Ensure performance of contractual
it okiEE T R obligations
¢ Good relationship with the ~ »  Contact via email, phone and ~ HERBEFTAHNET
Company communication applications ¢ Develop supply chain management
BN AR B R WBETHE - BHELEEE  policies and procedures
+  Corporate reputation FIRE Iy Bl Tl 2 (LR N BUR Ay
rEFER *  Promotions ¢ Establish and maintain long-term
»  Working together to combat 3tid cooperative relationship with quality
COVID-19 suppliers
SEI #7201 97 5 25 4 SRR LR 2 RARFE R A 1E
LS
o Rigorously select suppliers
i i R L
o Take effective measures to prevent
and control COVID-19
BRI AR T By s
Communities *  Environmental protection o Release of the Company's ¢ Pay attention to climate change and
HE REfRE information through its actively carry out all kinds of cleaner
*  Reduction of greenhouse website, official WeChat production measures
gas and waste emission and account and the government's BT SR . B R B R A6 S
generation information disclosure website 4 E I
U 2 R LR S 1 B AN RS - BB o Continue to invest resources in
B A RBHPG B AR environmental protection
*  Efficient use of resources YNGR FERRSRE T IRA LR
FRA R G ¢ Participation in community ¢ Actively innovate environmental
o Community participation activities protection technology
HESH SHM R ) Tl AR R
*  Economic development and o Strengthen management of energy

community employment
B R R
»  Working together to combat .
CovID-19
LR EH201 9

saving and emission reduction
e

Encourage employees to participate
in charity activities and volunteer
service

S B T3 B E ) A2 LR
Maintain sound financial
performance and business growth
BT AR R

Set up an pandemi prevention and
control team and formulate a code
of practice to prevent the further
spread of COVID-19

RO BB MR E B TAESF
Ao AR 12019 IR A e — 0
i
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Stable operation (Continued) 1.

1.5 Materiality Assessment

During the Reporting Period, the Group identified
material issues by reviewing and assessing material
issues, including reviewing the results of previous
materiality assessment, reviewing its applicability,
reviewing and confirming the materiality of identified
issues. In addition, on the basis of the material issues
identified in 2021, the Group also assessed and
updated the material issues in 2022 with reference to
the key indicators of Wind ESG rating’, and based on
its own strategy and business characteristics, combined
with national policies and the focus of the capital
market, which were then reviewed and confirmed by
the Board. The Report focuses on the material issues
identified during the Reporting Period and makes
detailed disclosure. For the review and assessment of
material issues, the Group has adopted the following
three processes:

1.5

and research and internal discussions

Retrospective
Review

Jel A A

AR B R AN P R 9 23 B ) 5 ST R 1 Y ES G R
+ Referring to Wind ESG rating key indicators of concerns
225Wind ESG Tk B TE i B S FE A

as well as national policies and capital market concerns

issues

Prioritization

stakeholders
R e R A 4 ) B SR ) o R A o) e A o

REEs (@)

BEEMFM
R AN - AREER A EEN
e [n] R R R O A
VERERE > LA ] R 1 B AT
il 5 0~ At Hom A v - B
WHERRE B R EE T o It
Hh o FE20214F B M R A JE AR
> ALEIF2 % Wind ESG'HF
SRR BESETEAE > JL [ B A B
MZEB AT, > S5 MR BRI E
AT B RS - R EH T
2022 F MR > W ESR G
FRRRERD o AL 3% F AR
A5 TR Pk Y G R M R
TTRb AN R o 0 Bk ki
FABLFEAL - ALECHRILLT =
R -

+ Reviewing of material issues of 2021 through multiple channels of understanding

A O U T AR T B I S s i 2021 4F 11 T B M R A T[]
- Reviewing and adopting ESG issues of concern from previous stakeholder engagement events

- Updating or adjusting issues based on its strategy and business characteristics

FLA B S M B S L e 0 ISR B A T 355 ] AT RS el

- Analysing and assessing the views of all parties to identify and prioritise potentially material

SR AT B SEAT T BT A - DA e SRR > 3 ML AR SRR RT S SR UUT

+ Preparing a matrix of materiality based on the importance of the issue to the Group and key

- Verifying the materiality assessment results by the management team to ensure that
these issues are consistent with the direction the Group is seeking to take in terms of sustainable
development
P A K 5 S AT A R R 1 T LA A4 [ R Y W] R A T ) — 3

- Reporting the results of the materiality assessment to the Board and make detailed disclosure in

Verification
5we

the ESG report

(i) B4 2 o TR B A A5 5 o R ESGHRAS R 1R Hh RE A I 45

! A+ B 4 i R B A Wind &5 A B A A
ESGHZMEHE 5T (1) 5F A4 A 2EESG R I AU 77 4%
/% °

! The ESG rating system was developed by Wind, an authoritative
Chinese financial information agency, to assess the ESG performance
of companies by combining domestic and international ESG
standards.
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Stable operation (Continued) 1. BREE (@
1.5 Materiality Assessment (Continued) 1.5 EEMFTME @)

iy B E

Materiality to the stakeholders

The materiality assessment helps the Group to understand
and focus on the expectations and requirements of the
stakeholders in order to continuously improve its own
operation system. The issues concerned by the Group
and stakeholders are listed in the following materiality
matrix:

Materiality Matrix

R e
e Anti-discrimination and e Talent management
diversity ANAE
S B2 Tt e Employee training and
e Assurance of human rights promotion
TRBEAHE BRI HE T

e Employee compensation
and benefits
B TR B A A

e Social Participation e Anti-corruption
e 28 B
e Greenhouse gas emission
i 2 SR Pk
e Energy use
REVR {5 1)
e Addressing climate change

JESS SR e 5 AL

Medium
th

e Measures to prevent child Water resource use
labour and forced labour KE WL
e 8 28 T % i i) e Discharge of
2 TR it non-hazardous waste
Jie 2 B B R

Low
{39

Low Medium

{4 G

Materiality to the Group
35 A 5 T g o
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e Product responsibility and

service quality
EE il AT LIRS i L

e Supplier management

A i L

e Pandemic prevention

B BETLRE

e Occupational health and

safety
T E A R B2 2

e (Clean production and

green products

R e e B €0

e Operational compliance

HEAH

e Protection of customer

privacy

PR F R AL

e Air emission

JE SRR AR

e \Wastewater discharge

JE KPR

e Raw material use

JEURE A

e Discharge of hazardous

waste

A E B PRI

High
#
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Green Development
2.1 Environmental Management

As an enterprise engaged in carbon neutral related
business around the world, the Group plays an
important role in protecting the environment. We
are committed to protecting the environment and
supporting sustainable development by conducting our
business in an environmentally responsible manner. We
believe that successful environmental management is
essential for us to meet our customers’ environmental
protection requirements, ensure steady business growth
and sustainable corporate development. Therefore, we
set and review environmental targets from time to time
with an aim to minimize our environmental footprint
and seek continuous improvement.

In terms of environmental protection, we also actively
fulfill our environmental responsibilities and link them
closely with the Group’s business operations. We
comply with the relevant laws and regulations where
we operate to ensure that we are able to manage the
environmental impact of our business in a proper and
responsible manner. Relevant laws and regulations
include:

° Air Pollution Control Ordinance (Cap. 311 of the
Laws of Hong Kong)

° Waste Disposal Ordinance (Cap. 354 of the Laws
of Hong Kong)

o Water Pollution Control Ordinance (Cap. 358 of
the Laws of Hong Kong)

° Noise Control Ordinance (Cap. 400 of the Laws of
Hong Kong)

e Dumping at Sea Ordinance (Cap. 466 of the Laws
of Hong Kong)

o Environmental Impact Assessment Ordinance (Cap.
499 of the Laws of Hong Kong)
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Green Development (Continued)

2.1

2.2

Environmental Management (Continued)

The Group is committed to reducing the negative
impact on the environment by complying with various
environmental laws and regulations in relation to the
Group’s business and operations. We implement the
concepts of green operation, resource conservation,
low carbon emission, and environmental protection to
guide the Group's daily operation and site management.
At the same time,
environmental concepts to our customers, suppliers and
sub-contractors to jointly conserve natural resources. We
have implemented a series of policies and procedures,
including environmental management policies and
waste management guidelines, in accordance with the
requirements and environmental standards where we
operate. During the Reporting Period, the Group did
not identify any cases of non-compliance with laws and
regulations.

we convey these innovative

Green Construction and Operation

Based on the business characteristics of the Group,
we continue to pay attention to the sustainable
construction principles and maintain a good track
record in implementing green building projects. Our
environmental management system has obtained
ISO14001: 2015 certification. Under its
framework, we take a systematic approach to managing
our resources use efficiency and emission control to drive
continuous upgrading. We attach particular importance
to the assessment of our environmental data (such
as energy and material use, carbon emissions, water
consumption and waste generation), to ensure that
all emissions data comply with the emission standards
where we operate.

rigorous
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Green Development (Continued)
2.2 Green Construction and Operation (Continued)

Emission Management

Air emissions and Wastewater Discharge
Management

The major air emissions generated by the Group are
from vehicles, which mainly include nitrogen oxides
(NOx), sulfur oxides (SOx) and particulate matter (PM).
During the Reporting Period, the above-mentioned
air emissions of the Group were 196.65 tonnes, 1.60
tonnes and 0.92 tonnes respectively. With the goal of
reducing air emissions, the Group encourages employees
to use public transportation as much as possible when
they are on duty. We also encourage employees to plan
their itineraries and manpower deployment in advance,
so that the the employees can share the same vehicle
when attending the same meeting to reduce energy
consumption and pollution during travel.

In order to further strengthen the awareness of
energy conservation and emission reduction among
the Group’s employees, we have also formulated a
business travel saving policy to encourage employees
to reduce the frequency of business travel and use
green communication methods, such as replacing
long-distance travel and face-to-face meetings with
telephone conferences, so as to reduce energy
consumption caused by additional transportation. For
official vehicles, the Group has formulated vehicle
management measures to manage the daily use of
vehicles and requires all departments who use official
vehicle to fill in the “Vehicle Request Form” and obtain
approval before using the Group’s official vehicles. If
the destination is a convenient location, employees
must give priority to taking public transportation. In
addition, official vehicle drivers must plan their driving
routes in advance to reach the destinations by the
shortest and fastest route so as to reduce the distance
travelled by vehicles and thus reduce air emissions.

In addition, the Group reuses the treated construction
wastewater as much as possible in the course of
business operations, such as water spraying for dust
prevention purposes and wheel washing.
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Green Development (Continued)
2.2 Green Construction and Operation (Continued)

Emission Management (Continued)
Hazardous
Management

The Group attaches great importance to hazardous

and Non-hazardous Solid Waste

and non-hazardous solid wastes generated during
its operation and aims to reduce the generation of
hazardous and non-hazardous wastes. The Group strictly
complying with the environmental related laws of the
places where it operates during the construction of our
Civil Engineering and Construction Business operations
and adopting a series of measures to prevent pollution
and mitigate potential environmental impacts arising
from our projects and operations. For construction
waste arising from the Group’s civil engineering and
construction related business,
excavation works, construction and fit-out works etc.,

such as site clearing,

we follow the 3R policy? and adopt a series of methods
to handle them,
waste management strategies and priority avoidance

including but not limited to proper

and minimisation of waste generation, materials reuse,
recovery and recycle etc.,
impact on the environment.

to mitigate the negative

The Group adopts waste treatment measures, including:

° Formulating proper
management practices to prevent over-ordering
of materials and cross-contamination of reusable

work plans and site

and recyclable materials to minimize waste;

o Fully complying with statutory requirements to
minimize, transport and dispose of all construction
waste that cannot be reused or recycled;

o Reusing timber in construction sites and recycling
materials such as metal parts, plastics and paper
packages;

Reduce, reuse and recycle.
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2.

Environmental, Social and Governance Report
RIE #HERERBE

Green Development (Continued)
2.2 Green Construction and Operation (Continued)

Emission Management (Continued)

Hazardous and Non-hazardous Solid Waste

Management (Continued)

o Monitoring the performance of our subcontractors
to ensure their compliance with our environmental
requirements;

o Both the Group and subcontractors carry out
classified collection and disposal of waste by
segregating waste materials into inert, non-inert
and chemical waste;

o Disposing of inert construction waste such as mud
and rocks at public landfills for reuse; handling
non-inert waste by qualified waste collectors for
reuse and recycle;

o Disposing of a general purpose disposal container
for controlled waste (i.e. non-hazardous industrial
or special waste) and placing the containers in the

site area;

o Issue notices to clearly state the materials that can
be disposed in general-purpose trash receptacle;
and

o Inspecting the materials discarded in trash

receptacle and other containers during routine
safety and environmental inspections.

During the Reporting Period, the Group was not aware
of any severe non-compliance with laws and regulations
relating to air emissions, discharges into water and land,
and generation of hazardous and non-hazardous waste
that would have a significant impact on the Group.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report
RIE - HERERBSE

2. Green Development (Continued) 2. REEE (&)
2.2 Green Construction and Operation (Continued) 22 #EEEHEE (B)

Resources management BREE
Energy management BEREHE

The Group is committed to conducting its business in
an environmentally responsible manner with an aim to
reduce the use of energy and reduce the adverse impact
on the environment. To reduce our environmental
footprint in the workplace, we always seek opportunities
to reduce unnecessary energy consumption, including
but not limited to implementing a series of energy
saving and consumption reduction policies or reducing
energy use in our office and Civil Engineering and
Construction Business operations.

The Group has formulated green office policy to
encourage employees to establish an awareness of
electricity conservation in daily office work to achieve
green and low-carbon office. This policy includes:

e Turning off the air conditioning system when not
in use;

o Strictly controlling the starting temperature of
the air conditioner, and under general conditions,
keeping the temperature of the air conditioner at
the standard 25.5¢C;

o Purchasing energy saving appliances;

o Replacing traditional fluorescent lamps with
energy-efficient LED lamps;

e Arranging lighting areas and ensuring that lights
are on only where they are needed; and

o Turning off electrical appliances when no one is

around to reduce energy consumption of office
equipment such as computers in standby state.
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BRelRR @
22 BREEEREY (B

2. Green Development (Continued) 2.
2.2 Green Construction and Operation (Continued)

Resources management (Continued)

Energy management (Continued)

In addition, the Group has also established electricity
management procedures to strictly require all
departments to use and save energy effectively.
The Group’s Administration and Human Resources
Department is responsible for providing training on
electricity consumption, and arranging pre-job training
for new employees, including environmental protection
facilities and equipment operating procedures, to ensure
that each new employee is equipped with sufficient
knowledge and methods to eliminate improper use
of equipment, thereby reducing unnecessary energy
consumption. During the Reporting Period, the Group
consumed a total of approximately 98,199.90 MWh of
electricity.

During the Reporting Period, the Group used B5
biodiesel in the Civil Engineering and Construction
Business to reduce pollutant emissions.

Water Resources Management

The Group mainly uses municipal water. During the
Reporting Period, the Group did not encounter any
problems in using water resources. With the goal of
reducing water consumption, the Group has always
attached importance to the use of water resources and
implemented different measures. The Group has also
arranged the Administration and Human Resources
Department to implement water conservation measures,
hoping that every employee can fully use water
resources and reduce waste. During the Reporting
Period, the Group used approximately 491.25 cubic
meters of water, representing a decrease of 0.3% from
the previous year.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

BRIk #HERERESH

Green Development (Continued)
2.2 Green Construction and Operation (Continued)

Resources management (Continued)

Other Resources Management

The Group understands that the earth has limited natural
resources. Therefore, we have not only implemented
various measures to manage the consumption of
resources, but also implemented other different policies
to manage the impact of our business operations on
the environment and natural resources.

Paper is the resource consumed in the Group’s
daily business operations. In order to mitigate the
environmental impact and minimize paper consumption,
the Group focuses on formulating recycling measures
and requires all employees to minimize the use of
office resources such as paper and printers. We also
encourage employees to set printers to double-sided
printing mode and check the format of documents
before photocopying or printing. We encourage to use
both sides of paper or reuse paper printed on one side.
Wastepaper that has been used on both sides shall put
into recycling bins and handled by qualified recyclers.
In addition, the Group actively promotes a “paperless
office” and encourages employees to transmit
information and documents in the form of electronic
files to reduce photocopying and printing, or store
drawings and product information electronically to
facilitate information search, management and sharing.
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2. Green Development (Continued) 2. BRERE (&)
2.2 Green Construction and Operation (Continued) 2.2 FEEEHEE (@)

Noise Management

Noise is one of the important environmental impacts
that need to be considered in the Group’s Civil
Engineering and Construction Business operations. We
regularly monitor the noise level at our construction
sites to ensure compliance with the requirements and
regulations of the relevant Construction Noise Permit
("CNP") to minimise the impact of noise on the
surrounding environment where we operate. During
the Reporting Period, all the monitoring results of each
construction site did not exceed the noise level limits
set by the CNP. During construction, we strictly comply
with relevant laws and regulations, such as the Noise
Control Ordinance (Cap. 400 of the Laws of Hong
Kong), and have established noise control guidelines
for subcontractors and employees to reduce noise
generated from construction and control noise impact
areas. Measures for noise management are as follows:

o Monitor noise intensity regularly and obtain a
valid CNP prior to the commencement of Civil
Engineering and Construction Business works,
especially those involving night construction or
percussive piling, so as to ensure compliance with
the Noise Control Ordinance (Cap. 400 of the
Laws of Hong Kong);

o Carefully plan and improve the construction
process to reduce unnecessary knocking and
cutting;

o Minimize the number and type of equipment used
to reduce noise levels to acceptable levels, and
where applicable, we apply for noise labels for
air compressors and hand-held impact breakers in
accordance with legal requirements;

o Install noise barriers where necessary to reduce
the impact of construction noise on the nearby
noise sensitive areas while complying with the
permit requirement;
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

BRIk #HERERESH

Green Development (Continued)

2.2

2.3

Green Construction and Operation (Continued)

Noise Management (Continued)

o Inspect and maintain all equipment to meet
acceptable noise levels.

Green Products

As a company focusing on carbon neutrality, the Group’s
business covers all areas of carbon neutrality reform.
In the process of business expansion, the Group helps
government departments or agencies to achieve carbon
emission reduction targets from various dimensions and
directions with its own business influence and product
efficacy.

Carbon Asset Development, Consulting and
Management

The Group conducts a series of businesses focusing on
carbon assets, carbon neutrality, carbon credit asset
inventory, and carbon credit price movements as the
core factors, such as the development and consultation
of carbon emission rights, carbon audit business, etc.,
to provide effective solutions for different enterprises
and institutions to help them achieve emission reduction
targets.

In addition, we continue to improve our own advantages
and qualifications, and have successfully held Certified
Emission Reductions (“CERs”) that complies with the
Gold Standard and Verified Carbon Standard, which
is a quality carbon credit asset with high liquidity
and wide acceptance in the world and it covers the
CERs generated by different types of projects such as
biomass power generation, solar power generation,
landfill power generation and coal-bed methane
power generation. During the Reporting Period, the
Group completed the sale of 2 million tons of high-
quality carbon credit assets and realized sales contract
amount over HK$200 million. This transaction was one
of the largest carbon emission reduction transactions
in Asia and was of great significance to promote the
development of the voluntary emission reduction
market in Asia.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report
RIE #HERERBE

Green Development (Continued)
2.3 Green Products (Continued)

Carbon Negative Business

As an important part of the Group’s Global Carbon Neutral
Business that integrates industry and finance, the Group
constantly seeks technological breakthroughs in two areas,
namely industrial carbon negative and natural carbon
negative, and participates in the carbon negative business
with “carbon capture, utilization and storage” (“CCUS")
as the core in various forms, and focuses on the technology
field that promotes the transformation and development
of agricultural and forestry to achieve carbon neutrality.
During the Reporting Period, the Group was committed to
carrying out carbon negative business in the Guangdong-
Hong Kong-Macau Greater Bay Area (“Greater Bay
Area”), providing carbon negative consulting services
for the “Carbon Capture and Utilization Demonstration
Project of flue gas from coal-fired boilers” implemented
by Foshan lJialida Environmental Protection Technology
Co., Ltd., building a “Dual Carbon” pilot demonstration
area in Guangdong Province. It is the first demonstration
project of “Dual Carbon” concept in the Greater Bay Area,
and also the first CCUS demonstration project in China’s
domestic printing and dyeing industry. In addition, the
Group has also successfully implementednatural carbon
negative cases, such as stimulating the natural nitrogen
fixation ability of plants, which further strengthened the
belief and goal of “ensuring the storage of every tonne of
carbon dioxide in forests”.

Digital Carbon Neutral Technology Business

The Group actively explores the carbon neutral
digitalization, and has cooperated with external parties
to provide solutions and digital system support for
financial institutions, enterprises and governments
to achieve carbon neutrality, integrates digital
informatization with the concept of carbon neutrality
to contribute to the carbon emission reduction of
enterprises and individuals.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

BRIk #HERERESH

Green Development (Continued)

2.3

2.4

Green Products (Continued)

Carbon Neutral Engineering

The Group has integrated the concept of carbon
neutrality into its Civil Engineering and Construction
Business with excellent qualifications and licenses, and
has completed several projects, such as wind turbine
site formation at Lamma Wind Power Station.

Actively Address Climate Change

As a part of the active response to China’s “Dual
Carbon” goal, the Group addresses climate change not
only by considering the risks associated with climate
change, but also by integrating the opportunities
arising from climate change into the Group’s business
development and strategy.

In order to address the risks brought by climate change,
the Group is committed to reducing the greenhouse
gas emissions of each operation site and office from the
source, including but not limited to requiring employees
to save energy and reduce consumption as written in
the green office policy, requiring employees to reduce
unnecessary travel, promoting green communication,
and therefore reducing greenhouse gasses generated
during travel as written in the business travel saving

policy.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report
RIE #HERERBE

Green Development (Continued)
2.4 Actively Address Climate Change (Continued)

In addition, the Group also follows the 3R Policy,
strengthens the concept of energy conservation
and energy efficiency improvement through daily
management and education and publicity, actively
adopts technically feasible and economically reasonable
measures, and actively explores new models of low-
carbon development. At the same time, the Group
has formulated scientific, rational and practical goals,
which explain the directional and purposive planning of
greenhouse gas emission reduction paths for enterprises,
and prepare for the response to the national regulatory
policies on climate change in advance. In addition, the
Group's ESG goals provide a benchmark and future
development direction for reviewing the progress
of greenhouse gas emission reduction and energy
transformation on an annual basis, and encourage
actions to address climate change more efficiently.
At the same time, in our carbon negative business
segment, we have set a "vision" of reducing China’s
carbon dioxide emissions by 2%, and have set two
industry targets of "100 million tonnes" of emission
reduction through a core approach of natural carbon
negative and industrial carbon negative respectively.

Make coordinated efforts to
reduce pollution and carbon emissions
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Optimize and adjust the energy structure

BCARREREE

Uphold the concept of innovative, coordinated, Promote environmental benefits, climate benefits

green, open and shared development
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

BRIk #HERERESH

Green Development (Continued)
2.4 Actively Address Climate Change (Continued)

The Group incorporates opportunities arising from
climate change into the Group’s operations in
accordance with the nature of its business. We seized
the opportunity to actively expand our business related
to carbon neutrality, such as external cooperation
in signing of emission reduction development and
purchase agreements and carbon credit assets disposal
agreements, etc. At the same time, the Group actively
explored various businesses and activities related to
carbon neutrality. For example, during the Reporting
Period, the Group contributed to the series of activities
under the “Support China to Achieve Zero Carbon
Campaign” are aimed at the communities such as
citizens, enterprises and schools. By disseminating green
low-carbon concepts to the public, we help to build
consensus among different people and combine their
wisdom and efforts, thereby arousing wide attention of
the “Zero Carbon Campaign” in China and encouraging
people to contribute efforts to help the nation achieve
the carbon neutrality target early.

Caring for Employees
3.1 Protection of Employees’ Rights and Benefits

The Group is well aware of the importance of talent
management to corporate development. It has
been actively seeking and welcoming talented and
enthusiastic talents for a long time, and has formulated
comprehensive human resources policies in recruitment,
dismissal, resignation, vacation and welfare to support
human resources work. During the Reporting Period,
the Group was not involved in any confirmed non-
compliance incidents in relation to employment and
labour standards that have a significant impact on the
Group.
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Caring for Employees (Continued)
3.1 Protection of Employees’ Rights and Benefits

(Continued)

Employment management

The Group is committed to creating a non-discriminatory,
diversified, fair and harmonious working environment
for each employee. The Group strictly complies with
all applicable rules and regulations of the Labour Law
of the People’s Republic of China and the Employment
Ordinance (Cap. 57 of the Laws of Hong Kong). All
job applicants are treated equally without unequal
restrictions and unequal preferential policies, provided
with equal competition opportunities. The Group adopts
open and transparent recruitment methods and accepts
reasonable supervision in any form to prevent any non-
compliant recruitment process and unfair recruitment
events.

In terms of employment, the Group strictly complies
with the Sex Discrimination Ordinance (Cap. 480 of
the Laws of Hong Kong), the Disability Discrimination
Ordinance (Cap. 487 of the Laws of Hong Kong),
the Family Status Discrimination Ordinance (Cap. 527
of the Laws of Hong Kong), the Race Discrimination
Ordinance (Cap. 602 of the Laws of Hong Kong) and
other relevant laws, and does not discriminate on the
grounds of gender, race, religion, age and disability.
All job positions are open and equal opportunities are
ensured for all, and the talent is selected on the basis
of individual skills and abilities. We use appropriate
assessment measures to select potential new employee
and regularly review our recruitment mechanisms to
ensure that our recruitment standards are up to date
with our requirements. In case of any violation of the
above regulations, we will take disciplinary measures,
including verbal or written warning, demotion or
dismissal.
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Caring for Employees (Continued)
3.1 Protection of Employees’ Rights and Benefits

(Continued)

Employment management (Continued)

The Group will also gradually implement the internal
promotion and rotation mechanism to ensure equal
competition environment and opportunities for
employees. The Group has always strictly complied
with all applicable anti-discrimination rules and
regulations where it operates, and takes the education
level, professional qualifications and work ability of
employees as the reference basis for employment,
remuneration, welfare, rewards, promotion, dismissal,
etc., and resolutely eliminates the unequal treatment
caused by gender, race, religion, age and disability.

Avoid Child and Forced Labour Management

The Group strictly complies with the Labour Law of
the People’s Republic of China and the Employment
Ordinance (Cap. 57 of the Laws of Hong Kong), and
resolutely prohibits the employment of child labour
and forced labour. In order to effectively prevent child
labour, we stipulate in the recruitment documents that
applicants must be at least 18 years old. During the
recruitment process, we carefully check the identity
documents and resume of the applicants to verify their
age background and other information, and prevent
child labour from using other person’s identification
documents for employment. The Group reviews the
management related to the prevention of child labour
annually. If child labour is found, the employment will
be immediately terminated.
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Caring for Employees (Continued)

3.1

3.2

Protection of Employees’ Rights and Benefits
(Continued)

Avoid Child and Forced Labour Management
(Continued)

To prevent forced labour, the Group strictly implements
the following measures:

o Signing labour contracts or internship agreements
with all employees on an equal and voluntary
basis;

o Never detaining the employee’s resident identity
card, temporary residence permits and other
personal identification documents;

o Strictly prohibiting any department or anyone to
physically punish, beat, frisk and insult employees,
and to lock up the workplace and dormitory to
restrict personal freedom of employees;

o Prohibiting any department or anyone to force
employees to work by means of violence, threat
or illegal restriction of personal freedom.

If any non-compliance with the above procedures is
found, an investigation will be carried out immediately
and the situation will be dealt with accordingly.

Employee Remuneration and Benefits

The Group offers remuneration packages with reference
to market level and individual ability, qualification and
experience. The Group has established a comprehensive
performance
performance of employees in an open and fair manner,
and provide employees with competitive remuneration
and benefits to reward their efforts. In addition, the
Group regularly reviews its remuneration policy based

review mechanism to evaluate the

on market terms, corporate performance and individual
qualifications and performance.
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BRIk #HERERESH

Caring for Employees (Continued)
3.2 Employee Remuneration and Benefits

(Continued)

The Group regards employees as the most important
core assets of the enterprise. In addition to operating
with heart and caring for the needs of employees, the
Group believes that the relaxation of employees’ life
will help improve the overall efficiency of the enterprise.
Therefore, we attach great importance to the work-life
balance of employees. The Group strictly abides by the
regulations and policies where it operates to ensure
employees’ working hours and rest days. Additionally,
in order to strengthen employees’ sense of belonging
to the Group, the Group actively creates a united
and harmonious working atmosphere and adopts the
following policies to help employees balance work and
life:

- Comply with relevant laws and policies in Mainland
China and Hong Kong to protect employees’ rest
and leave;

—  Take the purpose of creating a united and
harmonious working atmosphere and a warm
and comfortable working environment, care for
employees’ health and families.

In terms of employee benefits, the Group offers
discretionary bonuses, mandatory provident fund
scheme for employees in Hong Kong and state-
sponsored retirement plans for employees in Mainland
China. For employees with outstanding performance or
contribution to the Group, share options will be granted
separately. We are also committed to creating a good
working atmosphere for our employees and providing
them with support and convenience at work to the
greatest extent. For example, we provide employees
in Mainland China who travel to Hong Kong with a
dormitory. In addition, under the severe situation of
COVID-19 pandemic, the Group distributed pandemic
prevention materials (drugs, alcohol and testing kits)
and adopted a series of pandemic prevention measures
to protect the health of employees.
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Caring for Employees (Continued)
3.3 Employee Development and Training

The Group fully acknowledges the importance of
employee development and understands that the ability
of employees is the key to maintaining the Group’s
sustainable development and revenue increase. The
Group spares no effort in supporting the development
of its employees by providing support in various
aspects, including investing resources. We believe that
the improvement of employees’ personal capabilities
will create more value for the enterprise. The Group
regularly arranges the Administration and Human
Resources Department and the operation officer to
formulate training plans according to the needs, provides
different types of training programs for employees or
subsidizes various training programs and courses to
ensure that employees understand the Listing Rules of
the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong, risk management
knowledge, labour laws and employee codes of conduct
in a timely manner, and help employees improve their
skills to meet the needs of their positions. The Group
has formed a professional team with expertise and
established a business organisational structure to fully
support business development of carbon neutrality.

In addition to internal training, the Group also
encourages employees to actively participate in job-
related training organised by external institutions to
improve personal professional capability and efficiency,
and the relevant fees may be paid by the Group at the
discretion of the senior management after application.
In addition, the Group also provides allowances
and special holidays for employees who apply for
postgraduate training programs and other continuous
professional development courses.
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Caring for Employees (Continued)
3.4 Employee Health and Safety Management

The health and safety of employees are the top
priority of the Group. We attach great importance to
the working environment of our employees and strive
to achieve the goal of zero injury by minimizing the
possibility of injury to our employees during work. To
this end, we integrate health and safety into every
aspect of our business activities.

In the operation of our Civil Engineering and
Construction Business, we recognize that it is crucial
for our employees and subcontracted workers to be
alert to potential hazards and strictly follow the safety
rules during construction work on site. Therefore, our
occupational health and safety management system
has been certified with 1ISO 45001: 2018, which is in
line with best practices and international standard.
We work closely with our subcontractors to ensure
that all subcontracted workers we engage are given
comprehensive safety training during different project
stages. We have also formulated a series of plans
and measures to eliminate any hazards related to
occupational safety and health.

In addition, in order to enhance the ability of employees
to identify risks, the Group requires the safety officers
of each operation site to perform health and safety
related work and supervision, including conducting
regular safety inspections to identify potential safety
risks and implement relevant control measures, and
conducting safety accident investigation, emergency
preparedness and risk assessment to reduce and
manage any potential occupational health and safety
hazards. The Group also provides appropriate training
for employees to meet the responsibility performance
of relevant positions and requires relevant employees
to use personal protective equipment correctly. We also
encourage our employees and workers to report risks
through different channels, such as reporting safety
risks to safety officers or management personnel at the
operation sites or attending safety meetings.
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Caring for Employees (Continued)
3.4 Employee Health and Safety Management

(Continued)

In addition to daily health and safety, the Group is
always prepared to respond to accidents. In order
to enhance employees’ capabilities of emergency
response, all our operating companies are required
to formulate emergency response plans in accordance
with the applicable national laws and regulations where
we operate, and conduct emergency drills and safety
drills on a regular basis. If any safety accident occurs
during work, our employees are required to report
and investigate the accident in accordance with the
Group’s policy. All employees are required to report
every accident at work to their superiors for immediate
implementation of appropriate protective measures.

We also raise employees’ awareness of occupational
health and safety through training and publicity activities,
and commend employees with better performance
in safety and health to promote the construction of
occupational health and safety culture. At the same
time, the Group regularly arranges education and
training to help employees strengthen their knowledge
and skills of occupational safety and health, including
the topics of safe use of equipment, accident
prevention and handling, emergency management and
rescue, production safety and corresponding laws and
regulations, and fire protection knowledge.

During the Reporting Period, the raging pandemic
swept many cities across the country, and we faced
unprecedented challenges in pandemic prevention and
control. However, the Group still did not give up its
responsibility to all employees under this situation,
and constantly reviewed and updated the pandemic
prevention measures taken by the headquarters and
operating site to ensure the safety of employees.
Specific measures include:

- Strictly complying with pandemic prevention

regulations in all operations, such as social
distancing policies at meetings;
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3.

Caring for Employees (Continued)
3.4 Employee Health and Safety Management
(Continued)

Attending virtual meetings rather than face-to-
face meetings if possible;

Checking and recording temperature mandatorily
at the Group’s premises and entrance to
construction sites;

Mandatorily requiring all employees, site workers
and visitors to wear masks within the Group’s
premises and construction sites;

Requiring all employees and site workers to report
whether there have been any recent confirmed
cases of COVID-19 in their residential premises;

Providing disinfectant hand sanitizer at the
entrance to the Group’s premises;

Requiring employees and site workers to conduct
regular COVID-19 testing and report test results;

Providing flexible working arrangements for
employees of the headquarters to alternate
between home and office work; and

Suspending all indoor and most outdoor activities
for employee to participate.

The Group had no work-related fatalities in each of the
past three years (including the Reporting Period).
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4. Quality Management
4.1 Product Management

The Group is committed to product responsibility.
During the Reporting Period, the Group was not aware
of any non-compliance with laws and regulations
that have a significant impact on the Group relating
to health and safety and privacy matters relating to
products and services provided and methods of redress.
Our operations do not involve any product advertising
and labeling.

In terms of quality management of the Civil Engineering
and Construction Business, we have always believed
that quality management and quality of construction
works are conducive to enhancing the Group’s overall
reputation. To enhance the quality of our construction
works, implemented
quality management system in accordance with the
requirements of 1SO 9001:2015. In addition, to ensure
the provision of quality services to our customers, our
project team members have received sufficient training

we have and enforced a

on the implementation of our quality management
measures, (including monitoring, verifying and certifying
the construction, installation works and materials before
delivering completed projects to our customers). Our
project team members also conduct regular inspections
on the construction works completed to ensure that the
works comply with the specifications and requirements
set out in the relevant contracts. The Group attaches
great importance to customer feedback and requests,
and has put in place methods to respond to customer
complaints:

—  The Customer Service Department will be responsible

for handling complaints, communicating with customers
and providing explanations;
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report
RIE - HERERBSE

4. Quality Management (Continued)

4.1

4.2

Product Management (Continued)

- If the relevant supervisors or complaint handling
employee are unable to reach consensus with the
customer after several times of communication,
or if there is a hidden risk of litigation by the
customer, the matter will be reported to the
Internal Control and Compliance Department for
further confirmation and handling, and external
appeal countermeasures will be prepared.

During the Reporting Period, the Group did not receive
any products and service related complaints.

Supply Chain Management

The Group deeply believes that the supply chain is
crucial to the sustainable development performance
of an enterprise and therefore regards supply chain
competitiveness as one of the core competencies of
the Group, adhering to the supply chain management
approach of placing equal emphasis on quality and
efficiency. At all time, the Group adheres to the principle
of integrity first and conducts business according to the
operation practices which are compliance with the local
rules and regulations.

Our supply chains mainly cover office supply chains and
subcontractors and suppliers in construction work. We
adopt stringent supplier assessment guidelines in our
procurement process. In the selection of suppliers, in
addition to price factors, we also evaluate the ability
of suppliers to meet our business needs based on non-
price factors (such as labour practices, environment and
quality).
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RIE #HERERBE

4. Quality Management (Continued)
4.2 Supply Chain Management (Continued)

In a construction project, we need to work with
different subcontractors and suppliers. Therefore,
supply chain management is important to the Group’s
provision of quality construction work. The Group has
well-established policies and control procedures for the
selection of subcontractors and suppliers, and carefully
evaluates the reputation, capability, quality of work,
experience and other relevant factors of all suppliers and
subcontractors in accordance with the relevant policies
and procedures. During the project implementation
process, we continue to monitor the performance of
our suppliers and take adequate control measures to
ensure that the products purchased meet the project
specifications. The Group evaluates the performance of
suppliers annually to confirm whether such suppliers are
qualified to continue to be included in our approved list
of subcontractors and suppliers.

In addition, the Group has also formulated the “Supplier
Code of Conduct and Procurement Policy” as a guideline
of code of conduct for subcontractors and suppliers,
and provided relevant training, requiring them to fully
comply with the Group’s ESG practices and policies in
environmental management and health and safety. We
conduct site visits to confirm that our subcontractors
and suppliers comply with the code of conduct. We
require our construction subcontractors to follow
good labour practices. We treat our subcontractors
with integrity, treat their employees fairly and ensure
compliance with all applicable laws and regulations as
the minimum requirements. Since the Group regards
carbon neutrality as the core of our business, we attach
great importance to the sustainability performance of
suppliers and subcontractors and set requirements on
their environmental performance. We will hold regular
meetings with subcontractors to ensure that they and
their workers comply with our environmental policy.

We choose to work with subcontractors in Hong
Kong whenever possible to promote local economic
development. We will also assess the feasibility of
incorporating more medium or social enterprises in our
supply chain to promote local entrepreneurship.
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RIE - HERERBSE

4. Quality Management (Continued)
4.3 Customer Privacy Management

The Group recognizes the importance of protecting
the personal data of its suppliers and customers. The
Group has established stringent monitoring guidelines
for personal data and privacy protection. The relevant
information of customers and suppliers is regarded
as highly confidential to the Group and can only be
accessed with authorization. To effectively protect
the relevant documents and information of customers
and suppliers, the Group organised training for all
employees, requiring all employees to fully understand
the confidentiality policy formulated by the Group and
regulate their behaviours according to this policy. We
are also devoted to protecting intellectual property
rights and trademarks of our suppliers to support
their business interests and information confidentiality.
During the Reporting Period, the Group did not detect
any non-compliance with relevant laws and regulations
that have a significant impact on the Group relating to
privacy matters.

118

4.

A
4

nE

3

R (F

EFRERILER

A% 4 [ W 0 AL R 8 I % 5
NERHI BN o AL G
BB 0 180 N R L R 1
2248 8| o K It RE 7 A AH B
R BB A 4 T 10 78
B (TR BT A e
B oo B T RIRER T R AR
(AR B R A5 B > A A I AL 4
THEAEE TR > BRI
A H T IS4 T 107 4 18 1 17
S I AR R UL BRI AT o
A S BT R 0 75 S 20k
WE PR o DL LR 2R 25
15 95 135 5L B0 A o 7 LA 9 T
P s AR 4 A B BT ] B L BB
SHEL A B  AR SE 1 o RTR
2 B R L o

China Carbon Neutral Development Group Limited F [ B o i1 88 Ji 42 (3 47 FR 23 )



5.

Environmental, Social and Governance Report
RIE #HERERBE

Giving Back to Society
5.1 Social Contribution

We are well aware of the importance of making
positive contributions to the communities where the
Group operates. We regard community interests as
an important social responsibility and in accordance
with our internal guidelines on social welfare, we
continue to contribute to the community in various
ways without forgetting to give back to the community
while maintaining our growth momentum. During
the Reporting Period, the Group invested a total of
approximately HK$1.5 million and other resources
in community investment and social contribution,
including the creation and donation of the "“Blue Book
of Low-Carbon Development — Annual Report on the
Carbon Neutrality in China (2022)", jointly prepared
with the China Eco Development Association which
published by the Social Sciences Academic Press (China)
under the Chinese Academy of Social Sciences, and
the donation of a publication to the Federation of HK
Jiangsu Woman Organisations to actively promote the
concept of gender equality and to encourage women'’s
concern and participation in social development. In
addition, we also assisted the Hong Kong Association
of Traditional Chinese Medicine in organising a number
of seminars on pandemic prevention and distributing
Chinese medicines on site.

At the same time, we have been actively promoting
sustainable development concepts and behaviours
through participating in and organising various
sustainability-themed activities to enhance the Group's
sustainability impact, such as our Chief Scientist, Dr
Jiang Dongmei, being invited as a distinguished speaker
at the Redbird Salon Lecture to disseminate carbon
neutral knowledge to elites from all walks of life as
well as university teachers and students to enhance
education on ecological civilisation to the public.
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5. Giving Back to Society (Continued) 5. EfEHE (@)
5.1 Social Contribution (Continued) 51 25/ (@

Case: China Carbon Neutral is represented at the UN Climate Change Conference for the
first time

P FEBPFAMEORRRHEBRSERERS

During the Reporting Period, Dr. Jiang Dongmei, the chief scientist of the Group, and Dr. Ma
Xiangshan, the general manager of the Carbon Capture Utilization and Storage Department,
were invited to attend relevant conferences and major events of the Climate Change Conference,
and participated in the intensive negotiations on the United Nations Framework Convention on
Climate Change with representatives from various countries for several days, contributing to
China’s persistence and confidence in addressing climate change.

TR TR > A SR T R R AR A M L~ A S R T B A A S O L TR R e SR
R & AHBH G ok S RIS E) > SH3 OB G B S 3 AL AE R A 40) B B FAEAT B H BaRAORA - /iy
Hh B 7 SR L T T R BR AR BRAE D R — I ' -
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Giving Back to Society (Continued) 5. EfEHE @)
5.1 Social Contribution (Continued) 51 #2ER (@

Case: China Carbon Neutral Partners with Pui Ching Middle School Macau to launch “Zero
Carbon Citizen” campaign

P PEBPANBSRPIZETRED [TRARITH

In order to actively promote Chinese youth to pay attention to global climate change issues, the
Group cooperated with Pui Ching Middle School Macau and China Eco Development Association
to launch the “Zero Carbon Citizen” campaign and will jointly announce the “Zero Carbon
School” standards. During this activity, the students were fully informed about the relevant
carbon reduction methods such as reducing the use of plastics, saving energy, choosing green
travel, participating in tree planting to expand the green area, and offsetting individual carbon
emissions through verified voluntary emission reduction, which marked the first step of the
students to become a “Zero Carbon Citizen".

It R MR 380 v 0 55 0 A BRI A B R S AL BRI R AR B R i S0 R I T IR M B A R B P AR A
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ARSI B BRI B O BRPEBCE AR BB R A T [RRAR] M o

CCNG
hEEE

121
Annual Report 2022 =& “ARARE




Environmental, Social and Governance Report
RIE - HERERBSE

Prospects

As a responsible enterprise, the Group actively supports
the nation’s "Dual Carbon" commitment. Based on its
own business characteristics and with reference to market
and policy trends, the Group will actively explore new
development directions, and integrate the concept of carbon
neutrality into our own business by combining diversified
methods with emerging concepts and new directions.

In terms of carbon asset business, the Group actively develops,
manages, invests and deals in carbon assets (carbon credit
and carbon emission rights) around the world, as well as
carbon neutrality consulting, verification and planning. We
are committed to helping customers achieve their carbon
emission reduction goals through expanding business to
promote the “Dual Carbon” process.

In terms of negative carbon business, the Group focuses on
industrial carbon negative and natural carbon negative fields,
empowers carbon neutrality through technological research
and development, promotes the development of negative
carbon emissions business with modern technologies, and
opens a new journey of negative carbon.

For the Civil Engineering and Construction Business, despite
facing a more demanding operating environment, the
Group will continue to maintain its competitive edge by
leveraging on its extensive experience in handling diversified
construction projects and integrating the concept of carbon
neutrality in the future.

In the future, the Group will continuously develop its
business, and will also take advantage of the characteristics
of its business to promote the awareness of carbon neutrality
and environmental protection to all sectors of society, so as
to promote the implementation of carbon neutrality and
contribute to the response to climate change globally.
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Performance data of the Group 7. REENENEE
The statistics and calculations used in this Report are RS T EE A B S 5T M Et B T
appropriately referenced. Previous data and information W& T TEEEW o WA gk
have been collated and presented. For environmental O A AR B R - B A R 5% g T Y
data, the data for 2022 and 2021 excludes carbon neutral % > 2022 5202147 JE ) BUE AN G R
related business in Mainland China and the data for 2020 Hh B A HiL ) B R R B SE S 0 20204F
excludes automotive engines business which has been sold. BE BB A GG O B R R B Y
In addition, the intensity figures in the Report are calculated BTG o AN o AR TR Y B R SR 1
using the number of employees as the denominator. As the LB TN EHEITRIE - REHE
Group has further improved its data collection and statistical AR5 A i — 2 5E 35 O I B
systems during the Reporting Period, some of the data are RS o R R R WA A
varied compared with previous years. A “-" in each table 54k o KFNFEH [-] BRITTEFEM AR
indicates that the relevant data has not been disclosed or % B R 40 A B B s L B 50 o BR
not been counted for the year or that data is 0. Unless HBANE B A B AT R AR g Y
otherwise stated, the data provided in this section are either 5 S RE B AR B 4 AF B AR 00 ol 3 RE
the aggregate figures for the corresponding financial year or B B E 12 H 31 H B -
the figures for the corresponding financial year ending on
31 December.
Environmental Key 2022 2021 2020
Performance Indicators BREHEAMREZ  Unit B 20224 20214 20204
Resource Consumption ERERE
Consumption and intensity of ~ SMNEE S MWh JETLIE 98,199.90  89,061.70  49,678.80
purchased electricity (indirect (HHERER) MWh/ JKECIE 303.09 268.26 156.72
energy) THFER SR Employee HAL
Diesel consumption? L 3th 1 13 MWh JEEL IRy 1,381.50 218,939.00 169,355.00
(litres) (litres)
Petrol consumption* TR MWh JETL IR 407.20 94,820.80 61,883.00
(litres) (litres)
Total direct energy HZRTREAE Mwh JERLIE 1,788.70 - -
consumption and intensity T MWh/ JRECHE, 5.52 - -
Employee HET
Total energy consumption and  fEVRIH FEAL & MWh JE LI 99,988.60 - -
intensity S g MWHh/ I 308.61 - -
Employee HET
Total water consumption KEPFHERER m VRS 491.25 492.75 -
and intensity I m3¥/ SRS 1.52 0.05 -
Employee BET
Total paper consumption HEHFEAE Tonnes yNL 7.73 8.08 1.25
and intensity S TE Tonnes/ N/ 0.024 0.024 0.004
Employee BT

Diesel consumption data in 2021 and 2020 are disclosed in litres.

3

Diesel consumption data in 2021 and 2020 only include the amount

of diesel consumed by the Group's official vehicles, while data in
2022 include the amount of diesel consumed by the Group's official
vehicles and heavy construction equipment.

Petrol consumption data in 2021 and 2020 are disclosed in litres
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Performance data of the Group (Continued) 7.

REENEAREE (@)

Environmental Key 2022 2021 2020
Performance Indicators B sEENIERE  Unit By 2022 20214F 20204
Waste Generation BEENHHE
Total volume and density of I [ o ) Tonnes N 16,867.00  22,827.18  17,312.00
non-hazardous solid waste R R kg/ T/ 52.06 68.76 54.61
Employee H®HET
Total volume and density of AEBBEEYAEE  Tonnes N 0.50 - -
hazardous waste Y& kg/ T/ 1.54% 107 - -
Employee HAT
Air Emissions® BERHERES
Nitrogen Oxides AEAY Tonnes NI 196.65 1,979.51 1,764.91
Sulphur Oxides =Rl Tonnes N 1.60 3.90 3.18
Particulate Matter RER) Tonnes AW 0.92 156.63 140.23

The calculation of air emissions includes the Group's vehicles fuel
consumption in Hong Kong, the calculation methodology and the
related emission factors are based on the EMEP/EEA Air Pollutant
Emission Inventory Guidebook - 2016 published by the European
Environment Agency and Appendix Il: Reporting gudience on
Environmental KPIs in How to Prepare an ESG Report published by
the HKEX.
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Performance data of the Group (Continued) 7. XAEENEMEE (@)
Environmental Key 2022 2021 2020
Performance Indicators BREHEZAMIEE  Unit By 20224 20214F 20204
Greenhouse Gas Emissions BERBENRE
Scope 1 - Direct Emissions® HE— - EEk
e
Petrol Combustion Rk bE Tonnes N - 113.76 256.76 167.57
COse femE &
Diesel combustion Sedh ki Tonnes N 339.23 586.78 456.03
COse e &
Scope 1 Total emissions and RPN E Tonnes YN = 453.00 843.54 623.60
intensity &3 COse s &
Tonnes YN ) 1.40 2.54 1.97
CO,e/ ’Ttﬁf}%';‘i'?
Employee &,/
BET
Scope 2 — Indirect Emissions’ W -
i
Purchased Electricity® SR g8 Tonnes AMEZAH 64.04 56.12 28.20
COse e &
Scope 2 Total emissions and i PR Tonnes Ly 0.20 0.17 0.09
intensity & COe/ 4731
Employee ®,/
BAT
Total greenhouse gas emissions ik % 4 48 Pl
Total greenhouse gas emissions  MLZERBEAYEKE  Tonnes MR AR 517.04 899.66 651.80
and intensity T COse femkd &
Tonnes /N 1.60 2.71 2.06
COse/ @73
Employee &
HET

Scope 1 refers to greenhouse gas emissions directly attributable
to the Group's operations, including carbon dioxide, methane and
nitrous oxide from the combustion of diesel and petrol. During the
Reporting Period, the Group's Scope 1 greenhouse gas emissions
included greenhouse gas emissions from the use of diesel and petrol
for business vehicles and the use of heavy equipment and were
calculated with reference to Appendix Il: Reporting gudience on
Environmental KPIs in How to Prepare an ESG Report published by
the HKEX.

Scope 2 refers to "indirect energy" greenhouse gas emissions
from the consumption of purchased electricity within the Group's
operations.

The grid emission factors used in the 2022 greenhouse gas emissions
calculations for purchased electricity in Hong Kong are sourced from
the Sustainability Report 2021 published by HK Electric Investments
Limited and the latest 2022 Sustainability Report published by the
CLP Group.
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REENEAREE (@)

Performance data of the Group (Continued) 7.

Social Key HEHEN 2022 2021 2020
Performance Indicators BEMIEE Unit By 20225 20214F 20204F
Total Number of Employees BTA%H Persons A 329 332 317
Number of Employees by RERIE2H

Gender BT AH
Male B Persons A 249 249 257
Female /g Persons A 80 83 60
Number of Employees by REBERES N

Employment Type BT AH
Regular Employees EXET Persons A 327 314 316
Contract/non-regular 24,/ FIEX BT Persons A 2 18 1

Employees
Number of Employees by RERARIE DN

Age Group BETIAE
18-30 18-30 Persons A 39 41 19
31-50 31-50 Persons A 120 120 127
>50 >50 Persons A 170 171 171
Number of Employees by B EE SN

Region BIAY
Hong Kong China o B 7 v Persons A 295 299 317
Mainland China o 1A 3l Persons A 34 33 -
Employee Turnover Rate by &% BIE 2K

Gender® BIfRKZE
Male B % % 22.09 32.13 24.90
Female 7 % % 23.75 24.10 26.70
Employee Turnover Rate by RE#RARIE 2

Age Group BIRAE
18-30 18-30 % % 38.46 12.20 68.42
31-50 31-50 % % 21.67 48.33 26.77
>50 >50 % % 19.41 21.64 19.30
Employee Turnover Rate by &t B &%

Region BIRKE
Hong Kong China o B A % % 22.37 33.44 25.24
Mainland China o [ 7 3 % % 23.53 - -

The employee turnover rate is calculated as: turnover rate of the ° BTG R ITIA R « MBS B Tk
relevant category of employees = number of employees lost in that F=pZ BN M e B TRy 88 5 T
category/total number of employees in that category. N -
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Performance data of the Group (Continued) 7. REENEXEE @)
Social Key HEHEMN 2022 2021 2020
Performance Indicators EMISE Unit By 20228 20214F 20204F
Percentage of Employees BERE2HZI

Trained by Gender™ =l
Male HE % % 88.35 87.95 91.44
Female Egcd % % 77.50 87.95 95.00
Percentage of Employees ERARARE DB

Trained by Employee FIET

Category
Senior Management E L % % 47.06 73.33 50.00
Middle Management AR P % % 71.05 82.76 100.00
General Employee AEEAT % % 90.15 89.24 92.23
The Average Training Hours &M BIEI 5 0 FEH

Completed Per Employee SHIRFH

by Gender™"
Male Bk Hours NG 6.22 6.49 5.51
Female Ltk Hours NS 2.07 1.94 1.67
The Average Training Hours  REERARIZ S M

Completed Per Employee T2 H

by Employee Category
Senior Management A LS Hours NG 2.50 4.65 12.63
Middle Management S B Hours NG 2.96 2.44 3.91
General Employee HEEET Hours NG 5.69 5.68 473
Number of Working Days HIGELRTHE

Lost Due to Work-related HE

Injuries
Number of working days lost'> #8025 TfF H #"2 Days BN i 8 1,149 2,023

The employee training rate is calculated as: Employee training rate '
for the relevant category = number of employees training by that
category/total number of employees in that category.

The average training hours completed per employee is calculated "
as: average number of hours of training for the relevant category

of employees = total number of hours of training for that category

of employees/number of employees in that category.

During the Reporting Period, given the Group paid high attention to 2
the safety and security of the working environment and the reduced
operating hours as a result of the pandemic, therefore the number

of working days lost is reduced.
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Performance data of the Group (Continued)

BRIk #HERERESH

REENEAREE (@)

Social Key HEHEN 2022 2021 2020
Performance Indicators BEMIEE Unit By 20225 20214 20204
Number of Suppliers by RihEE 5 M HEE
Region BEE
Hong Kong China o A Number i 273 260 241
Number of Certified RERE D BBI
Suppliers by Category BEHHEREE
Number of suppliers with MEEREEMBA  Number 1 28 - -
Quality Management System R T AL R T
certification "
Number of suppliers WBEREE AR Number i 20 - -
with Environmental R e 11 1L 1 7
Management System =
certification
Number of suppliers with IR EM LS Number 8 - -
Occupational Health and RN
Safety Assessment Series It 8 1
18001 certification
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SEHK’s ESG Reporting Guide Content Index 8.

HER TR E

XS]

ERB X2 (ESGHREEE)

Mandatory Disclosure Requirements
BEHE

Relevant
Chapter(s)
of this
Mandatory Report
Disclosure or Other
Requirements Description Explanation
S
BREHE
BEHEERT it Al
Governance A statement from the board containing the following elements: 23
structure (i) adisclosure of the board's oversight of ESG issues;
(i) the board's ESG management approach and strategy, including the process used to evaluate, prioritise and
manage material ESG-related issues (including risks to the issuer's businesses); and
(iii) how the board reviews progress made against ESG-related goals and targets with an explanation of how
they relate to the issuer's businesses.
ERRH mMEFGRLOBY - HhRATIIRE
() BEEFEHRE  HERERFENEE
(i) EHFEME A RERERH O > AFEFH - BRI REREEORS - e RERREFE
(EFHBT B RR) B8k &
(ii) EEGMEERE - A8 RERHE B ERHER - LR TMmmRET ERA R -
Reporting Describe or explain how the following reporting principles were applied in the preparation of the ESG report: 1, 2.4, 2.5
Principles materiality, quantitative, consistency.
iG] MRS R RIS AL G RN RS RN AR - FE - B —Hudt .

Reporting Scope

R

A narrative explaining the reporting boundaries of the ESG report and describing the process used to identify
which entities or operations are included in the ESG report. If there is a change in the scope, the issuer
should explain the difference and reason for the change.

BB - MO REA G MIERAE - R R S AT
REEATUE BT EREARE R REBFR -

CHERERREDRE A
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8. SEHK'’s ESG Reporting Guide Content Index 8. BBERXFTZ(ESGHREFE DI
(Continued) #35| (@)
“Comply or explain” Provisions
[METRBER] L
Relevant
Chapter(s)
of this
General Report
Disclosures or Other
and KPls Description Explanation
K&
-REER BREH
BRENES i Al

Environmental

REHE

Aspect A1: Emissions

BEAT: S

General Disclosure  Information on: 3.1
(@) the policies; and
(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact on the issuer
relating to air and greenhouse gas emissions, discharges into water and land, and generation of hazardous
and non-hazardous waste.

— bR FRBER R E R - kRSB - A% RIEE R0 S -
(a) BUR: R
(b) HFHETAFERYEMGMRER LA LR
KPIA1.1 The types of emissions and respective emissions data. 32,8
KPI A1.1 HER o 1 B B B
KPI A1.2 Direct (Scope 1) and energy indirect (Scope 2) greenhouse gas emissions (in tonnes) and, where appropriate, 8
intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume, per facility).
KPI AT.2 Bk G RAVRME GEE2) RERIME GO R (&R BE WmpleeE R0 BHEREHE)
KPI'A1.3 Total hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and, where appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of production 8
volume, per facility).
KPI A1.3 PR A E AR (DINERTSE) R () B (NGB - SHER )
KPI A1.4 Total non-hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and, where appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of 8

production volume, per facility).

KPI A1.4 FIEEREEENAE CNE) R (WER) % MpVEEERA - BHETE)
KPI A1.5 Description of emissions target(s) set and steps taken to achieve them. 3.2
KPIA1.5 S T 3L A0 e R B R S 2 T AR A B
KPI A1.6 Description of how hazardous and non-hazardous wastes are handled, and a description of reduction 3.2
target(s) set and steps taken to achieve them.
KPI A1.6 SRS E S E BRI A > SO A A0 U R R A St R T AR A B
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8. SEHK's ESG Reporting Guide Content Index 8. BRI Z(ESGH & 158l
(Continued) #3| (&)
“Comply or explain” Provisions
[METRBER] L
Relevant
Chapter(s)
of this
General Report
Disclosures or Other
and KPIs Description Explanation
S
-REER BREHT

BRENER Hik AftrHH

Environmental

RAHE

Aspect A2: Use of Resources

BHA2 : ERER

General Disclosure  Policies on the efficient use of resources, including energy, water and other raw materials. 3.2

—fl b FRBRER (R - KRB FEUR

KPI A2.1 Direct and/or indirect energy consumption by type (e.g. electricity, gas or oil) in total (kWh in '000s) and 32,8
intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume, per facility).

KPI A2.1 HRRBMEHR/ SRR (W - R AR TR INGE) REE UABEREN - 5
A )

KPI'A2.2 Water consumption in total and intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume, per facility). 32,8

KPI A2.2 MHKRREE MbEEREN  BEHREHH)

KPI A2.3 Description of energy use efficiency target(s) set and steps taken to achieve them. 3.2

KPI A2.3 BT AT S YRR P AR B 1R B By BT 26 AT AR R 0 R

KPI A2.4 Description of whether there is any issue in sourcing water that is fit for purpose, water efficiency target(s) 3.2
set and steps taken to achieve them.

KPI A2.4 SR U R KR b T AR TR R > DA BRBRT S 0 R K B R A R B 6 R SRR 4 TR

KPI A2.5 Total packaging material used for finished products (in tonnes) and, if applicable, with reference to per unit Not
produced. applicable®

KPI A2.5 L L SR RLE A R (DAMERHSE) e () 5 A WA A

' As the Group's operations do not involve the use of packaging ' 1A MISEHE A 05 KR i ) G2 b1 RHIE
materials for products, this KPI is not applicable. o BRSBTS A -
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8. SEHK'’s ESG Reporting Guide Content Index 8. BBERXFTZ(ESGHREFE DI
(Continued) #35| (@)
"Comply or explain” Provisions
[FETRHBR]
Relevant
Chapter(s)
of this
General Report
Disclosures or Other
and KPls Description Explanation
K{E
-REER BREHS

BRENER Hik Aftr3H

Environmental

RAHE

Aspect A3: The Environment and Natural Resources
BEA3: BERARER

General Disclosure PoIicies on minimising the issuer’s significant impacts on the environment and natural resources. 3.2

— iR BURE T ABBE BRI U R B BUR

KPI A3.1 Description of the significant impacts of activities on the environment and natural resources and the actions 31,32
taken to manage them.

KPI A3.1 W HHRE R ARG RN ERYE R RIE AR Y BT

Aspect Ad: Climate Change
BEAL: RIEZ(

General Disclosure  Policies on identification and mitigation of significant climate-related issues which have impacted, and those 34
which may impact, the issuer.
— It O M O J T R BT A A Y T KRR B S LR BUR
KPI Ad.1 Description of the significant climate-related issues which have impacted, and those which may impact, the 34
issuer, and the actions taken to manage them.
KPI A4 1 HECARUREHRT AR LR BN EARBEMAEE - RENTH
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Environmental Social and Governance Report .
RE HERERERS
8. SEHK's ESG Reporting Guide Content Index 8. BBB X (ESGHEISE
(Continued) #3| (&)
Relevant
Chapter(s)
of this
General Report
Disclosures or Other
and KPIs Description Explanation
S
-REER BREHT

BREMER Hik Aftr3 9

Social

HEHR

Employment and Labour Practices

ERESIER

Aspect B1: Employment
BEB1 : R
General Disclosure  Information on: 41.42
(a) The policies; and
(b) Compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact on the issuer
Relating to compensation and dismissal, recruitment and promotion, working hours, rest periods, equal
opportunity, diversity, anti-discrimination, and other benefits and welfare.

— b FEHMRAHE - MBRET - TIEREC B FERE - Zooit - RO RA AR AR -

(a) BUK: R

(b) BFHETAHERPBOMBRER AN G
KPIB1.1 Total workforce by gender, employment type (for example, full- or part- time), age group and geographical 8

region.
KPI B1.1 HRRERL ~ B REREL (AR - A BOALRI Bt 2 B 5 A
KPI B1.2 Employee turnover rate by gender, age group and geographical region. 8
KPI B1.2 FRRER] - FEREALR RO B0 [ 5 0% R
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Relevant

Chapter(s)

of this

General Report

Disclosures or Other

and KPls Description Explanation

&

-REER FRESY

BREMER

Social

HeHR

Hik Aftr3 9

Employment and Labour Practices

ERESIER

Aspect B2: Health and Safety

EmB2: RERZ2

General Disclosure

— iR

KPI B2.1

KPI B2.1
KPI B2.2
KPI B2.2
KPI B2.3

KPI B2.3

Information on: 4.4

(a) The policies; and

(b) Compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact on the issuer

Relating to providing a safe working environment and protecting employees from occupational hazards.

ARG 2 TIERE RIRBE IR B S 50 -

(a) BUR: &

(b) HFHETAHEREENMBRER LA EH

Number and rate of work-related fatalities occurred in each of the past three years including the Reporting 44
Period.

WA (EAEERER) BT AR L%

Lost days due to work injury. 8

HILGRE LAY

Description of occupational health and safety measures adopted, and how they are implemented and 4.4
monitored.

AR SR AR YR I B S % 216 LA BMBRBAT B

Aspect B3: Development and Training

[BMB3 : BEREH
General Disclosure

— R
KPI B3.1

KPI B3.1
KPI B3.2
KPI B3.2

Policies on improving employees' knowledge and skills for discharging duties at work. Description of training 43
activities.

ARRIHE BB TIERFR R R AR BUR - S35 B

The percentage of employees trained by gender and employee category (e.g. senior management, middle 8
management).

RAERI R R BB S RERE - PRERES) BANTIES L

The average training hours completed per employee by gender and employee category. 8

FEVEA R BRI 4 0 B S A T3
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report
RIE  HERERBSE
SEHK's ESG Reporting Guide Content Index 8. BEBHMIRFZ (ESGﬁ%?"’E
(Continued) #3| (&)
Relevant
Chapter(s)
of this
General Report
Disclosures or Other
and KPIs Description Explanation
&
-REER ERESY
BRENES it Al

Social

HEHR

Employment and Labour Practices

ERESIER

Aspect B4: Labour Standards

JEmEB4 : HTEA

General Disclosure  Information on: 4
(a) The policies; and
(b) Compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact on the issuer
Relating to preventing child and forced labour.

— bR FBARGIEE T HI% T

(a) BUR; K

(b) HEFHEETAHELEEMGMRER LA ER
KPI B4.1 Description of measures to review employment practices to avoid child and forced labour. 4.1
KPI B4.1 R IR IR R LR S 3 TR AI% T
KPI B4.2 Description of steps taken to eliminate such practices when discovered. 4.1
KPI B4.2 AT BB VLR B A OB SR 2 3R
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Relevant
Chapter(s)
of this
General Report
Disclosures or Other
and KPls Description Explanation
&
-REER FRESY
BRENER it Al

Social

HEHR

Operating Practices

LR

Aspect B5: Supply Chain Management

JEmBS : ftEHER
General Disclosure
— MR %

KPI B5.1

KPI B5.1

KPI B5.2

KPI B5.2
KPI B5.3

KPI B5.3
KPI B5.4

KPI B5.4

Policies on managing environmental and social risks of the supply chain. 5.1
IR HE SRR ST S IR U

Number of suppliers by geographical region. 8
Tt A7 ) G RE R R

Description of practices relating to engaging suppliers, number of suppliers where the practices are being 5.1

implemented, and how they are implemented and monitored.

LA B RSB O ) T A BRI O BB R - DL JA B IR B AT BB

Description of practices used to identify environmental and social risks along the supply chain, and how they 5.1
are implemented and monitored.

AT TR L (R BR B A TR BAL & ORI > DA BB AT BBy

Description of practices used to promote environmentally preferable products and services when selecting 5.1
suppliers, and how they are implemented and monitored.

M AERRE AL P RO 002 IR IR BB R DA BT R
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Description

Hik

Aspect B6: Product Responsibility

EMB6 : EREL

General Disclosure

—RiisE

KPI B6.1

KPI B6.1
KPI B6.2
KPI B6.2
KPI B6.3
KPI B6.3
KPI B6.4
KPI B6.4
KPI B6.5
KPI B6.5

Information on:

(a) The policies; and

(b) Compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact on the issuer

Relating to health and safety, advertising, labelling and privacy matters relating to products and services
provided and methods and redress.

AR R AR R R 2 - B - SRR AL RO -

(a) BUK: R

(b) HEFHETAFELYEMGARER LA LR

Percentage of total products sold or shipped subject to recalls for safety and health reasons.

© 6 S R A R B0 R o B ) 70

Number of products and service related complaints received and how they are dealt with.

SRR & SR A0 SR E D R O o

Description of practices relating to observing and protecting intellectual property rights.

B T R e R A B fE

Description of quality assurance process and recall procedures.

HE e R R

Description of consumer data protection and privacy policies, and how they are implemented and monitored.

B R R R AL RECR > DR R i

¥

8. BREBXMZ(ESGHELN
=zl (@)

Relevant
Chapter(s)
of this
Report

or Other

Explanation

rEE
RRESH
Aftr3 9

5.2

No relevant
incident
AR
5.2

53

5.2

53
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Relevant

Chapter(s)
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General Report

Disclosures or Other

and KPls Description Explanation

&

-REER FRESY

BRENER it Al

Social

HEHR

Operating Practices

LR

Aspect B7: Anti-corruption

JBEB7 : RES

General Disclosure  Information on: 22
(@ The policies; and
(b) Compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact on the issuer
Relating to bribery, extortion, fraud and money laundering.

— iR FBRDT LR ~ B0 - HGE R RS -
(a) BUR; R
(b) HFHETAHEREENMBRER LA EH
KPI B7.1 Number of concluded legal cases regarding corrupt practices brought against the issuer or its employees 2.2
during the Reporting Period and the outcomes of the cases.
KPI B7.1 TGRS BT AR B 00 C A 45 A5 A R AR B R h i
KPI B7.2 Description of preventive measures and whistle-blowing procedures, and how they are implemented and 2.2
monitored.
KPI B7.2 BRI R DR BT R
KPI B7.3 Description of anti-corruption training provided to directors and employee. 2.2

KPI B7.3 il e 2 8 R B TR R 2553

Community

HE

Aspect B8: Community Investment
EEBS : HERE

General Disclosure  Policies on community engagement to understand the needs of the communities where the issuer operates 6.1

and to ensure its activities take into consideration the communities' interests.
— M AR RS B T R A B R AR R R B &% 184 B A R R BUR
KPI B8.1 Focus areas of contribution (e.g. education, environmental concerns, labour needs, health, culture, sport). 6.1
KPI B8.1 BT EMEE (AE  REEE SRk @ UL #F)
KPI B8.2 Resources contributed (e.g. money or time) to the focus area. 6.1
KPI B8.2 TERE RO P 1 (2 BRI )
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Independent Auditor’s Report
B &% A RS

D4

To The Shareholders of China Carbon Neutral Development
Group Limited
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of China
Carbon Neutral Development Group Limited (the “Company”)
and its subsidiaries (hereinafter collectively referred to as the
“Group”) set out on pages 151 to 291, which comprise the
consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December
2022, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in
equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year
then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements,
including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a
true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the
Group as at 31 December 2022, and of its consolidated financial
performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then
ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs"”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA") and have been properly
prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in
the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated
financial statements section of our report. We are independent
of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics
for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled
our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We
believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Prism Hong Kong and Shanghai Limited
Units 1903A - 1905, 19/F 8 Observatory Road, Tsim Sha Tsui, Hong Kong
T:+85227742188 F:+852 27742322
www.prism.com.hk
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Independent Auditor’s Report
B &% AR S

To The Shareholders of China Carbon Neutral Development
Group Limited
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

MATERIAL UNCERTAINTY RELATED TO GOING
CONCERN

We draw attention to note 3 to the consolidated financial
statements concerning the adoption of the going concern basis on
which the consolidated financial statements have been prepared.
The Group experienced a loss of approximately HK$199,038,000
for the year ended 31 December 2022 and had net liabilities of
approximately HK$49,769,000 as at that date. These conditions,
along with other matters as set forth in note 3 to the consolidated
financial statements, indicate that a material uncertainty exists that
may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern. The directors of the Company, having considered
the measures being taken by the Group, are of the opinion that
the Group would be able to continue as a going concern. Our
opinion is not modified in respect of this matter.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on
these matters.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
B &% A RS

To The Shareholders of China Carbon Neutral Development Group Limited
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Revenue recognition from construction services and civil engineering services

Refer to note 5 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies on pages 175 to

178.

Key audit matters

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group
has recognised revenue arising from the construction
services and civil engineering services of approximately
HK$500,128,000, by using the output method, based
on direct measurements of the value transferred
by the Group to the customer as estimated by the
management. Management periodically measures the
value of the civil and structural works completed for
each project with reference to the certified value of
works and estimates the value of works completed but
yet to be certified at the end of the reporting period.

We have identified the revenue recognition from
construction works as a key audit matter as it is
guantitatively significant to the consolidated financial
statements and the estimation of the final outcome.
The value of the services transferred to customer to
date is measured according to the progress certificate
(by reference to the construction works certified by
the customers or their agents). When the outcome of
a construction contract cannot be estimated reliably,
contract revenue is recognised only to the extent of
contract costs incurred that are likely to be recoverable.

Our procedures were designed to review the management
judgements and estimates used in the determination of
the progress and total contract costs of each individual
project.

We have assessed the appropriateness of the revenue
recognition policy adopted by the management under
HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers.

In assessing the management judgements and estimates
in the determination of the total contract costs, we
challenged the reasonableness of the total expected
costs, and compared the actual costs incurred and the
expected costs to be incurred to the latest updated
budgeted contract costs. We also assessed the reliability
of the management’s assessment by investigating
variance between the total actual costs and budgeted
costs for the completed projects during the year.

We have also checked the revenue recognised, on a
sample basis, the certificates issued by the customers,
before and subsequent to year end date and other
relevant correspondences and supporting documents in
respect of variation orders to evaluate the reasonableness
of the revenue recognised.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
B &% A RS

To The Shareholders of China Carbon Neutral Development Group Limited

(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Valuation of carbon-credit assets

Refer to note 20 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies on page 190.

Key audit matters

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

As at 31 December 2022, the Group's carrying value
of carbon-credit assets amounted to HK$8,877,000.
For the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group
had recognised a fair value gain on carbon-credit
assets of HK$2,980,000.

The fair value of carbon-credit assets had been
determined using market approach, by reference to
market transactions. Fair value measurement had
taken into account the transaction prices involving
assets that are the same or similar to the subject
asset to arrive at an indication of value. The fair value
measurement had assumed that:

the price information underlying the comparable
represented arm’s length transaction price
involving similar carbon offset credits on or near

the year end date; and

the price of carbon-credit assets with similar
attributes were comparable.

We have identified the valuation of carbon-credit
assets as a key audit matter because of its significance
to the consolidated financial statements and because
applying the Group’s accounting policies in this
area involves a significant degree of judgement by
the management in assessing the fair value of the
carbon-credit assets.

Our procedures in relation to management'’s judgements
used in the valuation assessment of the carbon-credit

assets included:

143

obtaining an understanding of the management’s
valuation processes in relation to the carbon-
credit assets and assessing the inherent risk of
material misstatement by considering the degree
of estimation uncertainty and other inherent risk
factors;

challenging the scope of work of the external
valuer and evaluating the appropriateness of
the valuation methodology used which based
on their knowledge and practices;

involving our valuation experts to discuss
with management and external valuer and
reconsidering the appropriateness of valuation
methodology and assumptions used; and

obtaining information to verify the parameters
and data used by the external valuer.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
B &% A RS

To The Shareholders of China Carbon Neutral Development Group Limited

(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Impairment assessment of accounts receivable and contract assets

Refer to notes 21 and 22 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies on

pages 194 to 201.

Key audit matters

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

As at 31 December 2022, the carrying amounts of
accounts receivable and contract assets amounted to
HK$40,429,000 and HK$123,086,000 respectively.
Allowance for impairment of accounts receivable
and contract assets is based on lifetime expected
credit losses model, which is estimated by taking
into account the credit loss experience and forward
looking information including both current and
forecast general economic conditions.

We have identified on the impairment assessment
of accounts receivable and contract assets as a key
audit matter because the material amounts involved,
and the significant judgement and assumptions
involved in the determination of loss allowance
under the expected credit losses model.

Our procedures in relation to management'’s judgements
used in the recoverability of accounts receivable and
contract assets included:

145

Understanding and evaluating the operating
effectiveness of key internal controls which govern
credit control, debt collection and estimation of
expected credit losses;

Testing on a sample basis the ageing of accounts
receivable and contract assets as at year end;

Evaluating the level of provision made by
management for the accounts receivable and
contract assets which based on management’s
estimation of lifetime expected credit losses to be
included with reference to credit loss experience,
ageing of overdue receivable, customers’ repayment
history and forecast general economic conditions;

Assessing the competency, objectivity and
independence of the external valuer used by
management and discussing with the external
valuer their scope of work, and assessing the
appropriateness of the valuation methodology; and

Assessing the adequacy of the disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
B &% A RS

To The Shareholders of China Carbon Neutral Development
Group Limited
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information
included in the annual report other than the consolidated financial
statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and,
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed,
we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing
to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS OF THE
COMPANY AND THOSE CHARGED WITH
GOVERNANCE FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
of the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair
view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance,
and for such internal control as the directors of the Company
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated
financial statements that are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
of the Company are responsible for assessing the Group's ability
to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters
related to going concern and using the going concern basis of
accounting unless the directors of the Company either intend to
liguidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
B &% AR S

To The Shareholders of China Carbon Neutral Development
Group Limited
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS OF THE
COMPANY AND THOSE CHARGED WITH
GOVERNANCE FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (continued)

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the
Group’s financial reporting process.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to
issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Our report is
made solely to you, as a body, in accordance with the terms of
our engagement, and for no other purpose. We do not assume
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for
the contents of this report. Reasonable assurance is a high level
of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in
accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement
when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and
are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they
could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions
of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial
statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations,
or the override of internal control.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

B 2B AR E

To The Shareholders of China Carbon Neutral Development
Group Limited

(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability) (74 B 2 7 55 7 s o7 19 A PR 23 7 )

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF RZEEIMBT RS HERRAKEN
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS EFE (&)

(continued)

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the e
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing
an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal
control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used e
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors of the Company.

o Conclude on the appropriateness of the Company’s directors’ e
use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on
the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty
exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant
doubt on the Group's ability to continue as a going concern.
If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are
required to draw attention in our auditor’'s report to the
related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements
or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion.
Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up
to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events
or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as
a going concern.

o Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the o
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent
the underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

o Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the e
financial information of the entities or business activities
within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain
solely responsible for our audit opinion.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
B &% AR S

To The Shareholders of China Carbon Neutral Development
Group Limited
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(continued)

We communicate with the those charged with governance
regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of
the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant
deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the those charged with governance with
a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical
requirements regarding independence and to communicate with
them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be
thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable,
actions taken to estimate threats or safeqguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the those charged with
governance, we determine those matters that were of most
significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements
of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters.
We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when,
in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter
should not be communicated in our report because the adverse
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to
outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Mr. Dai Tin Yau.

Prism Hong Kong and Shanghai Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Dai Tin Yau

Practising Certificate Number: P06318

Hong Kong
30 March 2023
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss

and Other Comprehensive Income

mEEaRkHEMEZEKAR
For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE_EZ A= HIREE
2022
—=-=
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
B & FHET T# T
REVENUE WA 5 709,306 468,007
Cost of sales B A (666,800) (432,078)
Gross profit EF 42,506 35,929
Other income and gains HoA e A Bl 25 6 9,211 2,788
Fair value gain on carbon-credit assets B {e il & & 1A FefE(H
I £ 20 2,980 172,022
Research and development costs WFEE LA (4,018) (3,411)
Administrative and selling expenses A7 B 8 B BH S (86,014) (64,602)
Equity-settled share option expenses B &4 53 1 IO HE B < 32 (34,974) (21,789)
Finance costs s A 8 (59,420) (75,758)
Reversal of impairment/(impairment)  MEUHEFK ~ HAbBEIE
of accounts receivable, other G KB R A R
receivables and contract assets, net 8],/ (i fH) 62 (3,529)
Operating (loss)/profit e (B518), &7 (129,667) 41,650
Change in valuation of promissory TR S8 SRR (B 5 B AR
notes, net - (37,231)
Loss on partial early repayment of P B T R S0 SR R
promissory note ZEtE 29 (74,562) -
Share of loss of a joint venture JEAG & A 1R (82) -
(Loss)/gain on disposal of subsidiaries  H & & A 72 (518
i % 34 (5) 269,220
(LOSS)/PROFIT BEOFRE TAX BRBiAT (B518),&F 9 (204,316) 273,639
Income tax credit/(expense) FrASRLEdn, (B %) 12 5,278 (6,075)
(LOSS)/PROFIT FOR THE YEAR FR (EB), SEF (199,038) 267,564
(Loss)/profit for the year, excluding HIKRIEEEEROER
loss on partial early repayment EECEE  ARHE
of promissory note, change in BAESBFEREE
valuation of promissory notes, MEBLARZ (Bi8), W
net and (loss)/gain on disposal = ([—RMEREME
of subsidiaries (“one-off non- Bl #0NFR (KR~
operating items”) s Al (124,471) 35,575
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss

and Other Comprehensive Income
REBEaREMEZEKAR

For the year ended 31 December 2022

BE_EZ A=t —HILEE
2022 2021
—E-= - S o
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
it 5 FHT T % T
(LOSS)/PROFIT FOR THE YEAR FR (B8),wF (199,038) 267,564
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE Hitp2m (EH), WA
(EXPENSE)/INCOME
ltems that will not be reclassified to ¥ ARAIREEH S E
profit or loss in subsequent periods: Bz HE :
Fair value loss on a finance asset 2N SO R A A A2
at fair value through other TS 2 4 il
comprehensive income Z A REEBER (11,800) -
ltems that may be reclassified to profit % n] A & ¥/ M £ 8
or loss in subsequent periods: i JHH -
Exchange differences on translation g A S5 BB
of foreign operations Tz WS EHH (21) 1,190
TOTAL OTHER COMPREHENSIVE FRHEMZE (ER)
(EXPENSE)/INCOME FOR THE YEAR PNt (11,821) 1,190
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE (EXPENSE) H£R2mE (EHA) WA
INCOME FOR THE YEAR 4K (210,859) 268,754
(Loss)/profit for the year UTATELEFER
attributable to: (B8) B8F
Owners of the Company EN/NEIE XN (197,471) 267,651
Non-controlling interests FE FE M 25 (1,567) (87)
(199,038) 267,564
Total comprehensive (expense)/ LTATESAEREZEH
income for the year attributable (BR) WALHE:
to:
Owners of the Company EN/NCIE XS DN (209,288) 268,841
Non-controlling interests FEVE I 2 (1,571) (87)
(210,859) 268,754
(LOSS)/EARNINGS PER SHARE R (FB8),BF 14
Basic (HK cents) FEA (Al (63.0) 103.4
Diluted (HK cents) () (63.0) 69.4
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
meEMBERRR

As at 31 December 2022
R-FEZZHF+H=+—H

2022
—E-= - S
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
Bt 5 FET Tt
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FREEE
Plant and equipment BeAR S A 15 3,689 889
Right-of-use assets o R 16(a) 17,216 11,775
Intangible assets Y & 18 2,378 2,378
Deposits and other receivables i S HoAb B K 23 1,885 2,109
Investment in a joint venture HGEh¥ERE 36 146 -
Financial asset at fair value through N FAE R A A 2 T8
other comprehensive income A 2 4Rl 19 8,200 20,000
TOTAL NON-CURRENT ASSETS IRBEELE 33,514 37,151
CURRENT ASSETS REEE
Carbon-credit assets s & 20 8,877 193,188
Contract assets BHIEE 21 123,086 98,256
Accounts receivable JEM R K 22 40,429 32,056
Prepayments, deposits and other FALEOA - 4 )
receivables HAth U 2K 23 31,020 35,205
Restricted bank deposits % PR $RAT 773K 24 1,495 695
Cash and cash equivalents Bl KBS EY 24 76,117 88,266
TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS REBEEHAE 281,024 447,666
CURRENT LIABILITIES REBAE
Accounts payable JEEAST Hi K 25 72,816 68,553
Other payables and accruals A JREAF 3 R P A 26 69,560 66,769
Interest-bearing other borrowings Fh S A 3K 27 7,500 33,000
Lease liabilities RSN 16(b) 7,032 7,278
TOTAL CURRENT LIABILITIES nREEEHAE 156,908 175,600
NET CURRENT ASSETS REBEEFE 124,116 272,066
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT EERERRBAR
LIABILITIES 157,630 309,217
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
meEMBERRR

As at 31 December 2022
M-EZZ T ZH=+—H

2022 2021
—S-= —EF_—4F
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
Bt 5 FET T
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES FEREBEME
Other payables and accruals HAbEST S LR EH 26 2,042 841
Interest-bearing other borrowings HAbgt B &K 27 - 6,000
Lease liabilities HEAME 16(b) 10,863 9,295
Convertible bonds ] A 5 28 177,544 138,286
Promissory note 7R S0 SR 29 16,099 61,605
Deferred tax liabilities AR AER A B 1 30 851 6,129
TOTAL NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES 3 RBEEHEE 207,399 222,156
NET (LIABILITIES)/ASSETS (BB EEFE (49,769) 87,061
EQUITY s
Share capital i€ 31 3,205 3,020
Reserves G (52,351) 83,854
(Deficit in equity)/equity AATHEE AEMN
attributable to owners of the (B#) R
Company (49,146) 86,874
Non-controlling interests FERER (623) 187
(DEFICIT IN EQUITY)/TOTAL EQUITY #EHEA) f#EsaE (49,769) 87,061
Sha Tao Chen Xinwei
Chairman Executive Director
FH HirHEH
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Eqwty ;

mERERBER

For the year ended 31 December 2022
WEEZ T AT HIEEE

Attributable to owners of the Company

RAAREARE
Equity

Statutoy  Exchange  component Share Non- (Defict
Share Share Capitdl surplus—— fluctuation  of convertble option  Accumulated controlling ~ in equity)
aptd premium fesene fesene Tesere bonds TESene s Subdotdl  interests tofal equity
i 4 TR EgEs/
RE o RbER  EERE  NBE MERE EERD  RRERR  EER N RBERE  ER4E
HKSO00  HKS000  HKSO00  HKSO00  HKSO00  HKSOOD  HKS000  HKSO00  HKSO00  HKS'000  HKSO00
(e T TRt Tkt Tt T T TRt Tt T T

(note33)  {note 33) note28)  (note 33)

a3 W) s W)

At 1 January 2021 e S i s 2000 4546 - 1085 (183 303 - (106971 (678929) - (899
Poftlosy fortheyear £/ 65 - - - - - - - KIS T B) 75
Other comprehensive income for EAERAIA -
ihe year

Bchange difeenceson BRI AERHT R E

translation of forign $ER

operations - - - - 1190 - - - 119 - 1190
Tota comprehensive incomel 2T (&) /N A4

(expense] for the year - - - - 1,190 - - 61651 268,841 ) 2087
Capiel contributon fom RS RERRARA

non-controlling interests - - - - - - - - - i i
Disposalof subsidiries note 34) EREAA (::34) - - - (1089 40476 - - - k]
Fouitysettd sare option WSR2

expenses note 31) BRERT (R0 - - - - - - SN SN
lsue of shares upon comversion T EBH e

of convertle bonds (note 28) %7t Hfzk28) m 5 - - -3 - - 1486 - 148
Ksue of new shares (note 31) SRRt (f:i31) 80 40315 - - - - - S VRE S ViRE
Waiver o inteest of amount due AR EZ A%

o a sharefolder - - 2,161 - - - - - 1161 - 2161
At 31 December 2001 REE-EPCA=-0 30 s 2167 - (157 344649 21789 (802063 86874 187 87,061
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
mERERBE X
For the year ended 31 December 2022
BEF - F+ A=+ HILFEE

Attributable to owners of the Company

RATREARE

Fair value
reserve of
finandial
assets at
fair value

Equity
Bichange  component

Share

through
other

Non-  (Deficit

Share Share ~ Capital  fluctuation of convertible option comprehensive - Accumulated controlling ~ in equity)/
capital  premium leServe Tesene honds ~ reserve ncome loss  Subtotal interests total equity
ROAEIA
H2E0A
TRRESN LEREEY [EEEY)/
Br  RfbEE  E5RE  MERR  REER  RRERR B ZiEE Nt FERER  BREE
HKS000  HKS000  HKS000  HKSO00  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS000  HKFOOD  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000
A T TR T T TEm T TR TEm T THm
(note 33) (note28)  (note33)  (note33)
(K33) (W) a) )
At1 January 2022 RoEoZE-A-R 3000 517475 2,161 (157) 344,649 21,789 - (302,003 86,874 187 87,061
Logsfor the year Mg - - - = - - - (A () (16T (199,039)
Other comprehensie expense A RATER
for the year
Fairvalue loss on a fnandel %% \fE{E AERE
asset at fair vlue trough A SHEEZIA
other comprehersiie ncome (E{Eiﬁ% - - - - - - (1180) - (11800 - (14o0)
Bchnge dfferenceson~ BERNEREIIGE
transaton of foreign ZENER
operations - - - (1) - - - - (1) @ )
Tota comprehensive experse ~ FR2AERSH
for the year - - - (17) - - (11800)  (197.471)  (209,288) (1571 (2108%)
Capitel contributon fom non- - KA ERERRASRA
controling interest = = - - = - - - - 761 T6!
Fouitysettled share option - AR 112 B RIER A
expenses (note 32) (K:t32) - - - - - 34974 - - 34974 - 34974
Transfer of share option reserve - FHBRCRE Kb e
wonthe lpseof e~ Gl
options - - - - - (1685) - 16,855 - - -
lsue o shares upon comversion - TEEHE ek
of convertihle bonds (note 28) &1kl (H:28) 8 2950 - - (1674) - - - 129 - 729
Isue of new shares (note 31)  B¢frnRk (:E31) 100 30900 5 5 = - - - 3000 - 3000
At 31 December 2022 MR TEL AR 305 513 2,161 (174 307.908° 39,908 (11800 (982679 (49,146) (623 (49,769)

A A IR B AR R 42 A MBS IR R Y
4 A 552,351,000 70 (& — —4F
83,854,000 70) ©

* These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserve of  *
HK$52,351,000 (2021: HK$83,854,000) in the consolidated
statement of financial position.
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

= A 3 =
HEEHERER
For the year ended 31 December 2022
WEEZ T AT HIEEE

2022
—E-= TR AR
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
fit 3 FHET T
CASH FLOW FROM OPERATING R R TR
ACTIVITIES
(Loss)/profit before tax BLET (E48) T F (204,316) 273,639
Adjustments for: H 5 EIE > g7
Change in valuation of promissory R b T i (1 S T VR A
notes, net - 37,231
Depreciation of plant and equipment 38 1 3 (i3 549 452
Depreciation of right-of-use assets G TS 9 7,772 3,608
Equity-settled shared option JBOREE 45 A W JBOHE o 52
expenses 34,974 21,789
Fair value gain on carbon-credit fe {5 & e s B (E
assets g (2,980) (172,022)
Finance costs A2 8 59,420 75,758
Loss/(gain) on disposal of B B A F 2 e
subsidiaries 8,7 (k) 5 (269,220)
(Reversal of impairment)/impairment  FEUZIRZR ~ H Al #ENK
of accounts receivable, other W G RV E
receivables and contract assets, (U E W ) Bl
net 9 (62) 3,529
Interest income FE WA 6 (13) (102)
(Gain)/loss on leases modification FEBRT Ukt~
8 9 (923) 249
Gain on settlement on other oAl 15 &S S A
borrowings (3,389) -
Loss on partial early repayment of P RAE R IR K LR
promissory note i T s 74,562 -
Share of loss of a joint venture JREAK 78 A SR 1 82 -
Loss on disposal of plant and HH B e 2 S e 1R
equipment 319 -
Operating cash flows before B S B A A
movements in working capital HehE (34,000) (25,089)
Decrease/(increase) in carbon-credit Wis Mg Ew D,/
assets (4T 187,291 (21,166)
Increase in contract assets BHEERM (25,953) (7,589)
(Increase)/decrease in accounts JRE S B () ek
receivable (5,805) 21,092
Decrease/(increase) in prepayments, TARTRIE ~ Hede R HoAt
deposits and other receivables JRESC I s 2> (4 ) 2,163 (18,360)
Increase in accounts payable JRE AT B3 o 4,263 20,027
Increase/(decrease) in other payables — Hoft A} lE 3K &% TE 4R %
and accruals I, 8 14,737 (55,010)
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

mERETRE

For the year ended 31 December 2022
Fr A=+ —HILFE

T -

2022 2021
—S-= —EF_—4F
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
B 5 FHET T
Cash generated from/(used in) g EL (R BB
operations 4 142,696 (86,095)
Interest received AR 13 2
Interest paid CATFLE (9,448) (2,106)
Net cash flows generated from/ BEEWEA R
(used in) operating activities MO 4 0 B VR AR 133,261 (88,199)
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING REEKEENES
ACTIVITIES nE
Purchase of financial asset at fair HEA PL2S AR (B T A A
value through other comprehensive A TH IR i 2 4 P
income = (20,000)
Acquisition of intangible assets W B ST - (2,378)
Net cash outflow on disposal of H S P A ) B
subsidiaries it - (1,096)
Acquisition of plant and equipment (NG S & ] (3,684) (827)
Investment in a joint venture BEERE (226) -
Proceeds from disposal of plant and B R SRR AR T S
equipment HIH 9 -
Net cash flows used in investing P& SRl I BB I
activities gtk | (3,901) (24,301)
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING MEXBELENRE
ACTIVITIES RE 35(b)
Interest on promissory notes paid EAT IR 2 229 ]S - (50,501)
Proceeds from issue of shares AT IR A P A5 3KOE 31,000 421,135
Non-controlling interests arising from — ZEZME & & A= 19 I #E A
additional capital injection HE 4 761 274
Partial early repayment/extinguish of — $&F(EIE TR/5E 87K L
promissory notes = (129,462) (210,000)
New other borrowings 1 At A 3K 20,000 -
Repayment of other borrowings 18 7 LA 3K (51,500) (5,000)
Repayment of lease liabilities T A A 42 0 43 (10,026) (4,236)
Net cash flows (used in)/generated RVETEE) (),
from financing activities By B 4 T VR A (139,227) 151,672
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
GEEERER

For the year ended 31 December 2022
WEEZ T AT HIEEE

2021

2022
—E_— TR AR
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
fit 3 - T-HE T
NET (DECREASE)/INCREASE IN CASH BE2RBELZEY
AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (m2) /1R (9,867) 39,172
Cash and cash equivalents at the SRR B M B S E )
beginning of year 88,961 49,749
Effect of foreign exchange rate A1 BE e 5 5 )y 5 288 13 A
changes, net (1,482) 40
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT FARMERLERBELZEY
THE END OF YEAR 77,612 88,961
ANALYSIS OF BALANCES OF CASH #HREeBEREBRMIIZ
AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AS RERALEEY
STATED IN THE CONSOLIDATED LR
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
Cash and bank balances Bl S SRAT 45 B 24 76,117 88,266
Restricted bank deposits Z PR SRAT A7 3K 1,495 695
Cash and cash equivalents as stated in A& ERITIIZ
the consolidated statement of B MRS EY)
cash flows 24 77,612 88,961
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REMBRRWE

For the year ended 31 December 2022
WEFZ T AT —HIEEE

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION

China Carbon Neutral Development Group Limited (the
“Company”) is an exempted company with limited liability
incorporated in the Cayman lIslands and its shares are listed
on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited. In the opinion
of the directors of the Company, the immediate holding
company is Quick Tycoon Limited and the ultimate holding
company is Sound Gem Limited, which were incorporated in
Hong Kong and the British Virgin Islands respectively. The
registered office address of the Company is located at Cricket
Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681, Grand Cayman
KY1-1111, Cayman Islands and changed to 89 Nexus Way,
Camana Bay, Grand Cayman, KY1-9009, Cayman Islands
on 4 January 2022. The principal place of business of the
Company is relocated at Unit 1808,18/F, Landmark South,
39 Yip Kan Street, Wong Chuk Hang, Hong Kong on 1
November 2022.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Company
and its subsidiaries (hereinafter collectively referred to as the
("Group”) was principally engaged in the following principal
activities:

. Trading of carbon-credit assets, carbon credit and
carbon asset development, management and investment
in carbon neutral related fields and carbon consulting
and carbon planning; and the carbon negative business
including industrial carbon negative with a core of
development of carbon capture, utilisation and storage
(“CCUS") and natural carbon negative focusing on
forest and crop optimisation (the “Global Carbon
Neutral Business”); and

o Civil engineering works and building construction

and maintenance works (the “Civil Engineering and
Construction Business”).
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REMBRRWE

For the year ended 31 December 2022
WEEZ T AT HIEEE

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS

TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING

STANDARDS (“HKFRSs")

Amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatory effective

for the year

In the current year, the Group has applied, for the first

time, the following amendments to HKFRSs issued by the

Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the

“"HKICPA") which are effective for the Group’s financial year

beginning 1 January 2022:

Amendments to HKFRS 3 Reference to the Conceptual
Framework

Property, plant and
Equipment: Proceeds before
Intended Use

Onerous Contracts — Cost of
Fulfilling a Contract

Annual Improvements to
HKFRSs 2018 — 2020 cycle

Amendments to HKAS 16

Amendments to HKAS 37

Amendments to HKFRSs

The application of the amendments to HKFRSs in the current
year has had no material effect on the Group’s financial
performance and positions for the current and prior periods
and/or on the disclosures set out in these consolidated
financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO

REMBRRWE

For the year ended 31 December 2022
WEFZ T AT —HIEEE

HKFRSs (Continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs issued but not yet

effective

The Group has not applied the following new and revised

HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet effective:

HKFRS 17
(including
the October
2020 and
February 2022
amendments
to HKFRS 17)

Amendments to
HKFRS 16

Amendments to
HKFRS 10 and
HKAS 28

Amendments to
HKAS 1

Amendments to
HKAS 1
Amendments to
HKAS 1 and
HKFRS Practice
Statement 2
Amendments to
HKAS 8
Amendments to
HKAS 12

Insurance Contracts and related
Amendments’

Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback?

Sale or Contribution of Assets between
an Investor and its Associate or Joint
Venture?

Classification of Liabilities as Current
or Non-current and the related
amendments to Hong Kong
Interpretation 5 (2020) Presentation of
Financial Statements — Classification
by the Borrower of a Term Loan that
Contains a Repayment on Demand
Clause?

Non-current Liabilities with Covenants?

Disclosure of Accounting Policies’

Definition of Accounting Estimate’

Deferred Tax related to Assets and
Liabilities arising from a Single
Transaction’

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January

2023.

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2024.

3 Effective for annual period beginning on or after a date to be
determined.

The directors of the Company anticipate that the application
of new and amendments to HKFRSs will have no material
impact on the results and the financial position of the Group.

162

R REETERBUBERE
2 ((ERMBREER]) &)
B 18 14 5 2 R B 37 3T RATAE 4T &
B BHEER

A% S5 I 0 42 6 PR TS 500 29 46 04
Rt 2T B ARG T U B A
R

BB R RER A T BELAT B

HISE179% (L% BT

2020410 H &

202242 H 7

T P s M L)

TR AETTA)

T s A TS HE R B AR A ] 2 L

16k BRTA) AfF2

T s A s ME R 13 o B L

F109E R EHEE  AFHAEEAH

HENSE 2858 Z BB & E

(EFTA) B S

TS EAEERE

58 (BFTA) a I B K A
W E B 59k
(2020) A9FHER
BRT A R
Gl — N
ER IR
HGE RN E
RS2

FWE s ERIZET AR5

58 (IBFTA) FE B & 12

T s EtEOR 2 PR

8 (BRIA) KA

s B 2 e

B AL 258

T EsHEREe  Ftistz gk

58 (IBRTA)

T arhERsE12 B 535 E g

98 (IBFTA) 2EERAEER
B 2 AR SE R IED

! AR —E - —Hlz %M

TG 14T B 1]
2 w AR ZE A — A —H sz %
UG 14T B ]
3 ?@Ejﬂ%ﬁ&%ﬁ H 5% 2 1% BAUh 14 4F 5 3
ARAFHEEEG - S w T LEBEET

Z 7 i P S Y A R A A i
AR G ) 2 S A SV R UL AR K
@ .

China Carbon Neutral Development Group Limited F [ B o i1 88 Ji 42 (3 47 FR 23 )



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements,
e EHmRME ‘

For the year ended 31 December 2022
WEEZ T AT HIEEE

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3. FESHBEHE

POLICIES

Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA. In addition,
the consolidated financial statements include applicable
disclosures required by the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited and
by the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on
the historical cost basis except for financial asset at fair value
through other comprehensive income that are measured at
fair values and carbon-credit assets that are measured at fair
values less cost to sell at the end of each reporting period.
These consolidated financial statements are presented in
Hong Kong dollars and all values are rounded to the nearest
thousand except when otherwise indicated.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the
consideration given in exchange for goods and services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an
asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction
between market participants at the measurement date,
regardless of whether that price is directly observable or
estimated using another valuation technique. Details of fair
value measurement are explained in the accounting policies
set out below.

The significant accounting policies are set out below.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REMBRRWE

For the year ended 31 December 2022
WEFZ T AT —HIEEE

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3.

POLICIES (Continued)

Basis of preparation (Continued)

Going concern assessment

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the consolidated
revenue of the Group increased to approximately HK$709,306,000
(2021: approximately HK$468,007,000). The Group also
had a positive cash flows generated from operations of
approximately HK$133,261,000 (2021: cash used in operations
of approximately HK$88,199,000). During the year, the Group
also took the initiatives to reduce the leverage of the Group
through repaying other borrowings and promissory note.

Meanwhile, the Group incurred a net loss of approximately
HK$199,038,000 for the year ended 31 December 2022 and
had net liabilities of approximately HK$49,769,000 as at that
date. Notwithstanding the above results, the consolidated
financial statements have been prepared on a going concern
basis, the validity of the going concern basis is dependent
upon the success of the Group's future operations, its ability to
generate adequate cash flows in order to meet its obligations
as and when fall due and its ability to refinance or restructure
its borrowings such that the Group can meet its future working
capital and financing requirements.
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REMBRRWE

For the year ended 31 December 2022
WEEZ T AT HIEEE

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3.
POLICIES (Continued)

Basis of preparation (Continued)

Going concern assessment (Continued)

Also, the directors of the Company are of the opinion
that the Group will be able to finance its future financing
requirements and working capital based on the following
considerations:

o during the year ended 31 December 2022, the Global
Carbon Neutral Business has been expanding rapidly.
During the year, the consolidated revenue of the Group
increased to approximately HK$709,306,000 (2021:
approximately HK$468,007,000), representing an
increase of approximately 51.6%, or HK$241,299,000.
The Group will continue to grasp the opportunity in
the field of carbon neutrality and earn considerable
financial returns in the future;

o other than continuing to develop carbon-credit assets
from existing carbon projects, the Group will continue
to identify and seize more new carbon projects to
secure supply of carbon-credit assets and enrich the
carbon-credit assets portfolio of the Group;

o during the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group
has taken initiatives to improve the gearing of the
Group, including the repayment of other borrowings
and promissory note, which will reduce the long-term
finance costs to the Group;

o the Group will carefully monitor and control
administrative costs and future capital expenditures;

o The immediate holding company has agreed to provide
financial support for the continuing operations of the
Company so as to enable it to meet its liabilities when
they fall due for the foreseeable future and not call
for any repayment of convertible bonds amounting
approximately HK$329,000,000, until the Group is in a
financial position to do so; and
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REMBRRWE

For the year ended 31 December 2022
WEFZ T AT —HIEEE

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3.

POLICIES (Continued)

Basis of preparation (Continued)

Going concern assessment (Continued)

J the directors of the Company have carried out a detail
review of the working capital forecast of the Group for
not less than twelve months from the year end date,
which took into account the projected future working
capital of the Group.

In view of the above, the directors of the Company are of
the opinion that there will be sufficient financial resources
available to the Group to enable it to meet its liabilities as
and when they fall due and to continue as a going concern.
Accordingly, the directors of the Company have prepared the
consolidated financial statements on a going concern basis.

Notwithstanding the above, significant uncertainties exist as
to whether the directors of the Company will be able to
achieve its plans and measures as described above. Whether
the Group will be able to continue as a going concern would
depend upon the Group’s ability to generate adequate
financing and operating cash flows in the near future.

Should the Group be unable to continue to operate as a
going concern, adjustments would have to be made to write
down the value of assets to their recoverable amounts,
to provide for further liabilities which might arise and to
reclassify non-current assets and non-current liabilities
as current assets and current liabilities respectively. The
effect of these adjustments has not been reflected in these
consolidated financial statements.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the
financial statements of the Company and entities controlled
by the Company and its subsidiaries.

Control is achieved where the Group has: (i) the power over
the investee; (ii) exposure, or rights, to variable returns from
its involvement with the investee; and (iii) the ability to use
its power over the investee to affect the amount of the
Group's returns.
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
WEEZ T AT HIEEE

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3. FESHBEHME @)

POLICIES (Continued)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

The Group reassess whether it controls an investee if facts
and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or
more of these elements of control stated above.

When the Company has less than a majority of the voting
rights of an investee, it considers that it has power over the
investee when the voting rights are sufficient to give it the
practical ability to direct the relevant activities of the investee
unilaterally. The Company considers all relevant facts and
circumstances in assessing whether or not the Company’s
voting rights in an investee are sufficient to give it power,
including:

e  The size of the Company’s holding of voting rights
relative to the size and dispersion of holdings of the
other vote holders;

o Potential voting rights held by the Company, other vote
holders or other parties;

o Rights arising from other contractual arrangements;

o Any additional facts and circumstances that indicate
that the Company has, or does not have, the current
ability to direct the relevant activities at the time that
decisions need to be made, including voting patterns at
previous shareholders’ meetings.

The Group reassess whether it controls an investee if facts
and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or
more of these elements of control stated above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains
control over the subsidiary and cease when the Group loses
control of the subsidiary. Income and expenses of subsidiaries
are included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income from the date the Group
gains control until the date when the Group ceases to control
the subsidiary.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REMBRRWE

For the year ended 31 December 2022
WEFZ T AT —HIEEE

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3.

POLICIES (Continued)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive
income of subsidiaries are attributed to the owners of
the Company and to the non-controlling interests. Total
comprehensive income of subsidiaries is attributed to the
owners of the Company and to the non-controlling interests
even if this results in the non-controlling interests having a
deficit balance. All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity,
income, expenses and cash flows relating to transactions
between entities of the Group are eliminated in full on
consolidation.

Interests in joint operations

A joint operation is a joint arrangement whereby the parties
that have joint control of the arrangement have rights to
the assets and obligations for the liabilities, relating to
the arrangement. Joint control is the contractually agreed
sharing of control of an arrangement, which exists only when
decisions about the relevant activities require the unanimous
consent of the parties sharing control.

The Group recognises in relation to its interest in a joint
operation:

o its assets, including its shares of any assets held jointly;

o its liabilities, including its shares of any liabilities
incurred jointly;

J its revenue from the sale of share of the output arising
from the joint operation;

o its share of the revenue from the sale of the output by
the joint operation; and

o its expenses, including its share of any expenses incurred
jointly.

The Group accounts for the assets, liabilities, revenues
and expenses relating to it's interest in a joint operation in
accordance with the HKFRSs applicable to particular assets,
liabilities, revenues and expenses.
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
WEEZ T AT HIEEE

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3. FESHBEHME @)

POLICIES (Continued)

Business combinations and goodwill

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition
method. The consideration transferred is measured at the
acquisition date fair value which is the sum of the acquisition
date fair values of assets transferred by the Group, liabilities
assumed by the Group to the former owners of the acquiree
and the equity interests issued by the Group in exchange
for control of the acquiree. For each business combination,
the Group elects whether to measure the non-controlling
interests in the acquiree that are present ownership
interests and entitle their holders to a proportionate share
of net assets in the event of liquidation at fair value or at
the proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable net
assets. All other components of non-controlling interests
are measured at fair value. Acquisition related costs are
expensed as incurred.

The Group determines that it has acquired a business when
the acquired set of activities and assets includes on input and
substantive process that together significantly contribute to
the ability to create outputs.

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the financial
assets and liabilities assumed for appropriate classification
and designation in accordance with the contractual terms,
economic circumstances and pertinent conditions as at the
acquisition date. This includes the separation of embedded
derivatives in host contracts of the acquiree.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the
previously held equity interest is remeasured at its acquisition
date fair value and any resulting gain or loss is recognised
in profit or loss.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the
acquirer is recognised at fair value at the acquisition date.
Contingent consideration classified as an asset or liability is
measured at fair value with changes in fair value recognised
in profit or loss. Contingent consideration that is classified
as equity is not remeasured and subsequent settlement is
accounted for within equity.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REMBRRWE

For the year ended 31 December 2022
WEFZ T AT —HIEEE

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3.

POLICIES (Continued)

Business combinations and goodwill (Continued)
Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess of
the aggregate of the consideration transferred, the amount
recognised for non-controlling interests and any fair value of
the Group’s previously held equity interests in the acquiree
over the identifiable net assets acquired and liabilities
assumed. If the sum of this consideration and other items
is lower than the fair value of the net assets acquired, the
difference is, after reassessment, recognised in profit or loss
as a gain on bargain purchase.

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less
any accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is tested for
impairment annually or more frequently if events or changes
in circumstances indicate that the carrying value may be
impaired. The Group performs its annual impairment test of
goodwill as at 31 December. For the purpose of impairment
testing, goodwill acquired in a business combination is, from
the acquisition date, allocated to each of the Group’s cash-
generating units, or groups of cash-generating units, that are
expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination,
irrespective of whether other assets or liabilities of the Group
are assigned to those units or groups of units.

Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable
amount of the cash-generating unit (group of cash-
generating units) to which the goodwill relates. Where the
recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit (group of
cash-generating units) is less than the carrying amount, an
impairment loss is recognised. An impairment loss recognised
for goodwill is not reversed in a subsequent period.

Investment in joint ventures

A joint venture is a joint arrangement whereby the parties
that have joint control of the arrangement have rights
to the net assets of the arrangement. Joint control is the
contractually agreed sharing of control of an arrangement,
which exists only when decisions about the relevant activities
require the unanimous consent of the parties sharing control.
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
WEEZ T AT HIEEE

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3. FESHBEHME @)

POLICIES (Continued)
Investment in joint ventures (Continued)

The Group’s investments in joint ventures are accounted for
in the consolidated financial statements using the equity
method. Under the equity method, investments in joint
ventures are initially recognised at cost. The Group’s share
of the profit or loss and changes in the other comprehensive
income of the and joint ventures are recognised in profit or
loss and other comprehensive income respectively after the
date of acquisition. If the Group’s share of losses of a joint
venture equals or exceeds its interest in the joint venture,
which determined using the equity method together with
any long-term interests that, in substance, form part of
the Group’s net investment in the joint venture, the Group
discontinues recognising its share of further losses. Additional
losses are provided for, and a liability is recognised, only to
the extent that the Group has incurred legal or constructive
obligations or made payments on behalf of the joint venture.

If a joint venture uses accounting policies other than those
of the Group for like transactions and events in similar
circumstances, adjustments are made to make the joint
venture’s accounting policies conform to those of the Group
when the joint venture's financial statements are used by the
Group in applying the equity method.

An investment in a joint venture is accounted for using the
equity method from the date on which the investee becomes
a joint venture. On acquisition of the investment, any excess
of the cost of acquisition over the Group’s share of the net
fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities of the joint
venture is recognised as goodwill and is included in the
carrying amount of the investment.

Any excess of the Group’s share of the net fair value of the
identifiable assets and liabilities over the cost of acquisition,
after reassessment, is recognised in profit or loss in the
period in which the investment is acquired.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
WEFZ T AT —HIEEE

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3.

POLICIES (Continued)

Investment in joint ventures (Continued)

The requirements of HKAS 36 are applied to determine
whether it is necessary to recognise any impairment loss with
respect to the Group’s investment in a joint venture. When
necessary, the entire carrying amount of the investment
(including goodwill) is tested for impairment as a single asset
by comparing its recoverable amount (higher of value in use
and fair value less costs of disposal) with its carrying amount.
Any impairment loss recognised is not allocated to any asset,
including goodwill that forms part of the carrying amount
of the investment. Any reversal of that impairment loss is
recognised to the extent that the recoverable amount of the
net investment subsequently increases.

The Group discontinues the use of the equity method from
the date when the investment ceases to be a joint venture.
When the Group retains an interest in the former a joint
venture and the retained interest is a financial asset, the
Group measures the retained interest at fair value at that
date and the fair value is regarded as its fair value on initial
recognition in accordance with HKFRS 9. The difference
between the carrying amount of a joint venture at the date
the equity method was discontinued, and the fair value of any
retained interest and any proceeds from disposing of a part
interest in a joint venture is included in the determination of
the gain or loss on disposal of the associate or joint venture.
In addition, the Group accounts for all amounts previously
recognised in other comprehensive income in relation to
joint venture on the same basis as would be required if that
joint venture had directly disposed of the related assets or
liabilities. Therefore, if a gain or loss previously recognised
in other comprehensive income by that joint venture would
be reclassified to profit or loss on the disposal of the related
assets or liabilities, the Group reclassifies the gain or loss
from equity to profit or loss (as a reclassification adjustment)
when the joint venture is disposed of.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 4 ‘&
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
WEEZ T AT HIEEE

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3. FESHBEHME @)

POLICIES (Continued)
Investment in joint ventures (Continued)

When the Group’s ownership interest in a joint venture
is reduced, but the Group continues to apply the equity
method, the proportion of the gain or loss that had
previously been recognised in other comprehensive income
relating to that reduction in ownership interest is reclassified
to profit or loss if that gain or loss would be required to be
reclassified to profit or loss on the disposal of the related
assets or liabilities.

Gains and losses resulting from transactions between the
Group and its joint venture are recognised in consolidated
financial statements only to the extent of unrelated investors’
interests in the joint venture. The Group’s share in the joint
venture’s gains or losses resulting from these transactions is
eliminated.

The Group applies HKFRS 9, including the impairment
requirements, to long-term interests in a joint venture to
which the equity method is not applied and which form part
of the net investment in the investee. In applying HKFRS 9
to long-term interests, the Group does not take into account
adjustments to their carrying amount required by HKAS
28 (i.e. adjustments to the carrying amount of long-term
interests arising from the allocation of losses of the investee
or assessment of impairment in accordance with HKAS 28).

Fair value measurement

When measuring fair value except for the Group’s share-
based payment transactions and leasing transactions, the
Group takes into account the characteristics of the asset or
liability if market participants would take those characteristics
into account when pricing the asset or liability at the
measurement date.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into
account a market participant’s ability to generate economic
benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by
selling it to another market participant that would use the
asset in its highest and best use.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
WEFZ T AT —HIEEE

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3.

POLICIES (Continued)

Fair value measurement (Continued)

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in
the circumstances and for which sufficient data are available
to measure fair value, maximizing the use of relevant
observable inputs and minimizing the use of unobservable
inputs. Specifically, the Group categorized the fair value
measurements into three levels, based on the characteristics
of inputs, as follow:

Level 1 — Quoted (unadjusted) market prices in active markets
for identical assets or liabilities.

Level 2 — Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input
that is significant to the fair value measurement is
directly or indirectly observable.

Level 3 — Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input
that is significant to the fair value measurement is
unobservable.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group determines
whether transfer occur between levels of the fair value
hierarchy for assets and liabilities which are measured at fair
value on recurring basis by reviewing their respective fair
value measurement.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements,
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
WEEZ T AT HIEEE

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3.

POLICIES (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue is recognised to depict the transfer of promised
goods or services to customers in an amount that reflects the
consideration to which the entity expects to be entitled in
exchange for those goods or services. Specifically, the Group
uses a 5-step approach to revenue recognition:

o Step 1: Identify the contract(s) with a customer;

o Step 2: Identify the performance obligations in the
contract;

o Step 3: Determine the transaction price;

o Step 4: Allocate the transaction price to the

performance obligations in the contract; and

o Step 5: Recognise revenue when (or as) the entity
satisfies a performance obligation.

The Group recognised revenue when (or as) a performance
obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control” of the goods or
services underlying the particular performance obligation is
transferred to customers.

A performance obligation represents a good or service (or

a bundle of goods or services) that is distinct or a series of
distinct goods or services that are substantially same.
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
WEFZ T AT —HIEEE

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)
Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised
over time by reference to the progress towards complete
satisfaction of the relevant performance obligation if one of
the following criteria is met:

o The customer simultaneously receives and consumes
the benefits provided by the Group’s performance as
the Group performs;

. The Group's performance creates or enhances an asset
that the customer controls as the asset is created or
enhanced; or

e  The Group's performance does not create an asset
with an alternative use to the Group and the Group
has an enforceable right to payment for performance
completed to date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when
the customer obtains control of the distinct goods or service.

Revenue is measured based on the consideration specified
in a contract with a customer, excludes amounts collected
on behalf of third parties, discounts and sales related taxes.

Contract assets and contract liabilities

A contract asset represents the Group's right to consideration
in exchange for goods or services that the Group has
transferred to a customer that is not yet unconditional. It
is assessed for impairment in accordance with HKFRS 9. In
contrast, a receivable represents the Group’s unconditional
right to consideration, i.e. only the passage of time is
required before payment of that consideration is due.

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation to
transfer goods or services to a customer for which the
Group has received consideration from the customer. A
contract liability would also be recognised if the Group
has an unconditional right to receive consideration before
the Group recognises the related revenue. In such cases, a
corresponding receivable would also be recognised.
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
WEEZ T AT HIEEE

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3. FESHBEHME @)

POLICIES (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)
Contract assets and contract liabilities (Continued)

For a single contract with the customer, either a net contract
asset or a net contract liability is presented. For multiple
contracts, contract assets and contract liabilities of unrelated
contracts are not presented on a net basis.

The Group recognised revenue from the following major
sources:

Civil engineering works and building construction and
maintenance works

i. Sales, development and operation of carbon credit
assets

iii. Provision of carbon neutral advisory service and
informatisation service

iv.  Development and operation of negative carbon emission
business

Construction contracts

A contract with a customer is classified by the Group as a
construction contract when the contract relates to work on
an asset under the control of the customer and therefore the
Group’s construction activities create or enhance an asset
under the customer’s control.

Over time revenue recognition: measurement of
progress towards complete satisfaction of performance
obligation (Output method)

Revenue from civil engineering works and building
construction and maintenance works is recognised over time.

The progress towards complete satisfaction of a performance
obligation is measured based on output method, which is
to recognise revenue on the basis of direct measurements
of the value of the goods or services transferred to the
customer to date relative to the remaining goods or services
promised under the contract, that best depict the Group's
performance in transferring control of goods or services.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
WEFZ T AT —HIEEE

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3.

POLICIES (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)
Trading of carbon-credit assets

For trading of carbon-credit assets to the market and
carbon credit exchange, the Group considers the revenue is
recognised when the control of the goods has transferred,
being when the title of the goods have been transferred
to the customers and there is no unfulfilled obligation that
could affect the customer’s acceptance of the products. The
customer has accepted the products and the performance
obligation is satisfied at a point in time at which the title
of the carbon-credit assets are transferred according to the
term of sales contract.

Payment of the transaction price is due immediately when
the customer purchases the carbon-credit assets.

Contract costs
Costs incurred to fulfil a contract with a customer are
capitalised as an asset if all of the following criteria are met:

a. The costs relate directly to a contract or to an anticipated
contract that the entity can specifically identify.

b.  The costs generate or enhance resources of the entity
that will be used in satisfying (or in continuing to
satisfy) performance obligations in the future.

c.  The costs are expected to be recovered.

The capitalised contract costs are amortised and charged to
the statement of profit or loss on a systematic basis that is
consistent with the transfer to the customer of the goods or
services to which the asset relates. Other contract costs are
expensed as incurred.

Consultancy fee income

Consultancy fee income is recognised over the schedule
period on a straight-line basis because the customer
simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits provided
by the Group.
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
WEEZ T AT HIEEE

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3.

POLICIES (Continued)

Leases

Definition of a lease

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys a
right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of
time in exchange for consideration.

The Group as lessee

For the contracts entered into or modified on or after the
date of initial application, the Group assesses whether a
contract is or contains a lease, at inception of the contract or
modification date. The Group recognises a right-of-use asset
and a corresponding lease liability with respect to all lease
arrangements in which it is the lessee, except for short-term
leases (defined as leases with a lease term of 12 months
or less). For these leases, the Group recognises the lease
payments as an operating expense on a straight-line basis
over the term of the lease unless another systematic basis is
more representative of the time pattern in which economic
benefits from the leased assets are consumed.

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date, the Group measures lease
liability at the present value of the lease payments that are
not paid at that date. The lease payments are discounted
by using the interest rate implicit in the lease. If this rate
cannot be readily determined, the Group uses its incremental
borrowing rate.

Lease payments included in the measurement of the lease
liability comprise:

e fixed lease payments (including in-substance fixed
payments), less any lease incentives receivable; and

o payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the
lease term reflects the Group exercising an option to

terminate the lease.

The lease liability is presented as a separate line in the
financial position.
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
WEFZ T AT —HIEEE

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3.
POLICIES (Continued)

Leases (Continued)

The Group as lessee (Continued)

Lease liabilities (Continued)

The lease liability is subsequently measured by increasing
the carrying amount to reflect interest on the lease liability
(using the effective interest method) and by reducing the
carrying amount to reflect the lease payments made.

Lease liability is remeasured (and with a corresponding
adjustment to the related right-of-use asset) whenever:

the lease term has changed or there is a significant event
or change in circumstances resulting in a change in the
assessment of exercise of a purchase option, in which
case the lease liability is remeasured by discounting the
revised lease payments using revised discount rate.

the lease payments change due to changes in an
index or rate or a change in expected payment under
a guaranteed residual value, in which cases the lease
liability is remeasured by discounting the revised lease
payments using the initial discount rate (unless the
lease payments change is due to a change in a floating
interest rate, in which case a revised discount rate is
used).

a lease contract is modified and the lease modification
is not accounted for as a separate lease, in which case
the lease liability is remeasured by discounting the
revised lease payments using a revised discount rate at
the effective date of the modification.

180

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e B R R R MR

TEETHRME @

HE @)

FEBEREEA (@&

HERRE (#)

L B A AR 30 % 28 8 404 B v (.
u&%m%%ﬁm% (PR JT 2 PR A
) BB D MR T H L SR A Al
B

BRI - R AT REAEAM
(GlE AR ) o P A AT R ) -

LB A i 8 ) ol SR AT R E Y
APl g R > ERZEDLT - A
A R R AT A T R B
HAGR BT -

GINCREEE L ERIES 3D e
% ORI B A (T~ FELIUD A0 o 8 8 i
HBLEE > RN - HER
(R s 0 8 1 0 o U 0 A< Bl B
REAERT R AT (R IR AL A
PR 9 B M S b B i A B A
PRI DU R A A R T R B
) o

HE A Bl B EE S AT
- THEBHE AL 7221 I
> HERME A S
RGBSR B A -

China Carbon Neutral Development Group Limited F [ B o i1 88 Ji 42 (3 47 FR 23 )



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements,
e EHmRME

For the year ended 31 December 2022
L e =y ER N

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3. FESHBEHME @)

POLICIES (Continued)

Leases (Continued)

The Group as lessee (Continued)

Right-of-use assets

The right-of-use assets comprise the initial measurement of
the corresponding lease liability, lease payments made at or
before the commencement date and any initial direct costs,
less lease incentives received. Whenever the Group incurs
an obligation for costs to dismantle and remove a leased
asset, restore the site on which it is located or restore the
underlying asset to the condition required by the terms
and conditions of the lease, provision is recognised and
measured under HKAS 37 Provision, Contingent Liabilities
and Contingent Assets. The costs are included in the related
right-of-use asset, unless those costs are incurred to produce
inventories.

Right-of-use assets are subsequently measured at cost
less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses and
adjusted for any measurement of lease liabilities. They are
depreciated over the shorter period of lease term and useful
life of the underlying asset. The depreciation starts at the
commencement date of the lease.

The Group presents right-of-use assets as a separate line
item in the financial position.

The Group applies HKAS 36 Impairment of Assets to

determine whether a right-of-use asset is impaired and
accounts for any identified impairment loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REMBRRWE

For the year ended 31 December 2022
WEFZ T AT —HIEEE

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3.

POLICIES (Continued)

Leases (Continued)

The Group as lessee (Continued)

Lease modification

Except for Covid-19-related rent concessions in which the
Group applied the practical expedient, the Group accounts
for a lease modification as a separate lease if:

o The modification increases the scope of the lease by
adding the right to use one or more underlying assets;
and

e The consideration for the lease increases by an amount
commensurate with the stand-alone price for the
increase in scope and any appropriate adjustments to
that stand-alone price to reflect the circumstances of
the particular contract.

For a lease modification that is not accounted for a separate
lease, the Group remeasures the lease liability based on the
lease term of the modified lease by discounting the revised
lease payments using a revised discount rate at the effective
date of the modification.

The Group as lessor

The Group enters into lease agreements as a lessor with
respect to its leased properties. Leases for which the Group
is a lessor are classified as finance or operating leases.
Whenever the terms of the lease transfer substantially all the
risks and rewards of ownership to the lessee, the contract is
classified as a finance lease. All other leases are classified as
operating leases.

When a contract includes both lease and non-lease components,
the Group applies HKFRS 15 to allocate the consideration
under the contract to each component.

Rental income from operating leases is recognised on a
straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease.
Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging an
operating lease are added to the carrying amount of the
leased asset and recognised on a straight-line basis over the

lease term.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements,
e EHmRME ‘

For the year ended 31 December 2022
WEEZ T AT HIEEE

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3. IESHBEHME (&)

POLICIES (Continued)

Leases (Continued)

The Group as lessor (Continued)

Amounts due from lessees under finance leases are
recognised as receivables at the amount of the Group’s net
investment in the leases. Finance lease income is allocated
to accounting periods so as to reflect a constant periodic
rate of return on the Group’s net investment outstanding in
respect of the leases.

Sublease

When the Group is an intermediate lessor, it accounts for
the head lease and the sublease as two separate contracts.
The sublease is classified as a finance or operating lease by
reference to the right-of-use asset arising from the head
lease, rather than by reference to the underlying asset. If
the head lease is a short-term lease to which the group
applies the exemption described above, the sublease shall
be classified as an operating lease.

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group
entity, transactions in currencies other than the functional
currency of that entity (foreign currencies) are recorded in
the respective functional currency (i.e. the currency of the
primary economic environment in which the entity operates)
at the rates of exchanges prevailing at the dates of the
transactions. At the end of the reporting period, monetary
items denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at
the rates prevailing at that date. Non-monetary items carried
at fair value that are denominated in foreign currencies are
retranslated at the rates prevailing at the date when the
fair value was determined. Non-monetary items that are
measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are
not retranslated.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REMBRRWE

For the year ended 31 December 2022
WEFZ T AT —HIEEE

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3.

POLICIES (Continued)

Foreign currencies (Continued)

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary
items, and on the retranslation of monetary items, are
recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise,
except for exchange differences arising on a monetary item
that forms part of the net investment in a foreign operation,
in which case, such exchange differences are recognised in
other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity and
will be reclassified from equity to profit or loss on disposal
of the foreign operation. Exchange differences arising on the
retranslation of non-monetary items carried at fair value are
included in profit or loss for the period.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group's foreign
operations are translated into the presentation currency of
the Group (i.e. Hong Kong dollars) using exchange rates
prevailing at the end of each reporting period. Income and
expenses items are translated at the average exchange rates
for the year, unless exchange rates fluctuate significantly
during the period, in which case, the exchange rates prevailing
at the dates of transactions are used. Exchange differences
arising, if any, are recognised in other comprehensive
income and accumulated in equity under the heading of
exchange reserve (attributed to non-controlling interests as
appropriate).
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
WEEZ T AT HIEEE

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3. FESHBEHME @)

POLICIES (Continued)

Foreign currencies (Continued)

On the disposal of a foreign operation (i.e. a disposal of the
Group's entire interest in a foreign operation, or a disposal
involving loss of control over a subsidiary that includes a
foreign operation, a disposal involving loss of joint control
over a joint arrangement that includes a foreign operation,
or a disposal involving loss of significant influence over
an associate that includes a foreign operation), all of the
exchange differences accumulated in equity in respect of
that operation attributable to the owners of the Company
are reclassified to profit or loss. In addition, in relation to
a partial disposal of a subsidiary that does not result in the
Group losing control over the subsidiary, the proportionate
share of accumulated exchange differences are re-attributed
to non-controlling interests and are not recognised in profit
or loss. For all other partial disposals (i.e. partial disposals
of associates or joint arrangements that do not result in
the Group losing significant influence or joint control), the
proportionate share of the accumulated exchange differences
is reclassified to profit or loss.

Government grants

Government grants are not recognised until there s
reasonable assurance that the Group will comply with the
conditions attaching to them and that the grants will be
received. Government grants are recognised in profit or loss
on a systematic basis over the periods in which the Group
recognises as expenses the related costs for which the grants
are intended to compensate.

Retirement benefits costs and termination benefits
Payments to state-managed retirement benefit schemes and
the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme are recognised as
an expense when employees have rendered service entitling
them to the contributions.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REMBRRWE

For the year ended 31 December 2022
WEFZ T AT —HIEEE

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Short-term and other long-term employee benefits
A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees in
respect of wages and salaries, annual leave and sick leave in
the period the related service is rendered at the undiscounted
amount of the benefits expected to be paid in exchange for
that service.

Liabilities recognised in respect of short-term employee
benefits are measured at the undiscounted amount of the
benefits expected to be paid in exchange for the related
service.

Liabilities recognised in respect of other long-term employee
benefits are measured at the present value of the estimated
future cash outflows expected to be made by the Group in
respect of services provided by employees up to the reporting
date.

Related parties

A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(@) the party is a person or a close member of that person’s

family and that person

(i)  has control or joint control over the Group;

(i) has significant influence over the Group; or

(iii) is a member of the key management personnel of
the Group or of a parent of the Group; or
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
WEEZ T AT HIEEE

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3.

POLICIES (Continued)

Related parties (Continued)

(b) the party is an entity where any of the following
conditions applies:

(i)  the entity and the Group are members of the
same group;

(i) one entity is an associate or joint venture of the
other entity (or of a parent, subsidiary or fellow
subsidiary of the other entity);

(iii) the entity and the Group are joint ventures of the
same third party;

(iv) one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and
the other entity is an associate of the third entity;

(v)  the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for
the benefit of employees of either the Group or
an entity related to the Group;

(vi) the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (a);

(vii) a person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence
over the entity or is a member of the key
management personnel of the entity (or of a parent
of the entity); and

(viii) the entity, or any member of a group of which
it is a part, provides key management personnel
services to the Group or to the parent of the
Group.
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
WEFZ T AT —HIEEE

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3.

POLICIES (Continued)

Plant and equipment and depreciation

Plant and equipment, other than construction-in-progress,
are stated in the consolidated statement of financial position
at cost less subsequent accumulated depreciation and
subsequent accumulated impairment losses, if any.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of items
of property, plant and equipment other than properties
under construction-in-progress less their residual values over
their estimated useful lives, using the straight-line method.
The estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation
method are reviewed at the end of each reporting period,
with the effect of any changes in estimate accounted for on
a prospective basis.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised
upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are
expected to arise from the continued use of the asset.
Any gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of
an item of property, plant and equipment is determined as
the difference between the sales proceeds and the carrying
amount of the asset and is recognised in profit or loss.

Construction in progress represents machineries in the
process of installation, which is stated and at cost less any
impairment losses, and is not depreciated. Cost comprises
the direct costs of installation and capitalised borrowing costs
on related borrowed funds during the period of installation.
Construction in progress is reclassified to the appropriate
category of plant and equipment when completed and ready
for use.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements,
e EHmRME ‘

For the year ended 31 December 2022
WEEZ T AT HIEEE

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3. IESHBEHME (&)

POLICIES (Continued)

Intangible assets acquired separately

Intangible assets with finite useful lives that are acquired
separately are carried at costs less accumulated amortisation
and any accumulated impairment losses. Amortisation for
intangible assets with finite useful lives is recognised on
a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives. The
estimated useful life and amortisation method are reviewed
at the end of each reporting period, with the effect of any
changes in estimate being accounted for on a prospective
basis.

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives that are
acquired separately are carried at cost less any subsequent
accumulated impairment losses.

Customer contracts

Customer contracts secured on the date of acquisition are
recognised as cost of goods sold under the unit of production
method which is based on the volume of production in each
reporting period as a proportion of the total estimated units
of production for the relevant customer contracts over the
contract period.

Cross-boarder licence plates

Cross-boarder license plates of the Group are regarded
to have indefinite useful lives as they are renewable on a
periodic basis with the appropriate authority and there is no
foreseeable limit to the number of renewals and the period
over which these assets are expected to generate cash flows
for the Group.
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
WEFZ T AT —HIEEE

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3.

POLICIES (Continued)

Intangible assets acquired separately (Continued)
Research and development costs

All research costs are charged to profit or loss as incurred.

Expenditure incurred on projects to develop new products
is capitalised and deferred only when the Group can
demonstrate the technical feasibility of completing the
intangible asset so that it will be available for use or sale,
its intention to complete and its ability to use or sell the
asset, how the asset will generate future economic benefits,
the availability of resources to complete the project and
the ability to measure reliably the expenditure during the
development. Product development expenditure which does
not meet these criteria is expensed when incurred.

Carbon-credit asset

Carbon-credit asset is capitalised and can be readily to be
traded when it is verified by certain international approved
organisations. For the carbon-credit assets which are directly
purchased, the carbon-credit assets are initially measured
at cost, which including purchase cost and other variable
purchase expenses. For the carbon-credit assets which are
generated and developed under projects, the carbon-credit
assets are initially measured at cost, which including the
project costs and certain expenses for the application and
verification.

At the end of each reporting period, carbon-credit assets are
measured at fair value less cost to sell. Fair value is based
on prices of similar products at international active markets
where the carbon-credit assets can be sold. Changes in fair
value of carbon credit assets are recognised as a separate line
of “fair value changes in carbon-credit assets” in consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income.

Carbon-credit assets is derecognised when the Group
disposes of the inventory through its trading activities or
when the Group otherwise loss control and therefore, access
to the economic benefits associated with ownership of the
carbon-credit assets.

190

TEETHRME @

BRWE BT EE (&)
e
Jir A BR8P B A IR AR IR 2 -

FUA A S5 B RE ) 35 1 58 AR TR 6 1)
F TR AT Ao FE RE ) o A Bk -
5 JI R [ S KL ) B A Y e

A RE B AL AR S B BT A S TH H 3
o ] A A R A Y AR A
SEJRCIE F IR L K AT B M i B g
WA R SCHBIRET) » AT EIEL
R HE B B S AR SR AR R REACE
WiHR -

RIEHEE

B A T A I R 3 T AL P A% B AR
BB AL e w] LABERFHEAT 38 5 o BHIR
HEBENREREE - RGHERE
AERT VI Ia R > AL R
AT ISR 2 o BRIHE T E
AR R R BRAE R E - RIS AR
HMAERT VI ta R > AR IEE AR
AT H R A 2 -

A WAE IR - BRAE A E &S R E
HrtE o & REE R WA T E E n]
VA [ ¢ 0 i T 35 B B (E A R
H B A B A S A A K AT A B
P 8 o B AR T A M (B 5 B
TEAR B BRSO AL R TR K [BRE
FERY o> SR B (A Bl ) — B R AT o

WALEER L EE N EFE
i 7SR B R 5 SN TR 2R 2 4 i RE A
T 48 2 48 A5 B e £ 1) 2 9T A HEE A ol
A KL I8 ) 2 g o BB A L A% 1L e

27
Ao o

China Carbon Neutral Development Group Limited F [ B o i1 88 Ji 42 (3 47 FR 23 )



REMBRRWE

For the year ended 31 December 2022
WEEZ T AT HIEEE

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3. FESHBEHME @)

POLICIES (Continued)

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position when a group
entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the
instrument.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured
at fair value, except for trade receivables arising from
contracts with customers which are initially measured in
accordance with HKFRS 15. Transaction costs that are directly
attributable to the acquisition or issue of financial assets and
financial liabilities (other than financial assets or financial
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss) are added to
or deducted from the fair value of the financial assets or
financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition.
Transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition of
financial assets or financial liabilities at fair value through
profit or loss are recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Financial assets

All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets are
recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis. Regular
way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial
assets that require delivery of assets within the time frame
established by regulation or convention in the marketplace.

All recognised financial assets are subsequently measured in
their entirety at either amortised cost or fair value, depending
on the classification of the financial assets. Financial assets
are classified, at initial recognition, as subsequently measured
at amortised cost, fair value through other comprehensive
income (“FVTOCI"), and fair value through profit or loss
("FVTPL").

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition
depends on the financial asset’s contractual cash flow
characteristics and the Group's business model for managing
them.
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
WEFZ T AT —HIEEE

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3.
POLICIES (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)
The Group measures financial assets subsequently at
amortised cost if both of the following conditions are met:

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e B R R R MR

TEETHRME @

The financial asset is held within a business model
whose objective is to hold financial assets in order to
collect contractual cash flows; and

The contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on
specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments
of principal and interest on the principal amount
outstanding.

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently measured
using the effective interest method and are subject to
impairment.

(i)

Amortised cost and effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating
the amortised cost of a debt instrument and of
allocating interest income over the relevant period.

For financial assets, the effective interest rate is the
rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash
receipts (including all fees and points paid or received
that form an integral part of the effective interest rate,
transaction costs and other premiums or discounts)
excluding expected credit losses, through the expected
life of the debt instrument, or, where appropriate, a
shorter period, to the gross carrying amount of the
debt instrument on initial recognition.

The amortised cost of a financial asset is the amount
at which the financial asset is measured at initial
recognition minus the principal repayments, plus the
cumulative amortisation using the effective interest
method of any difference between that initial amount
and the maturity amount, adjusted for any loss
allowance. The gross carrying amount of a financial
asset is the amortised cost of a financial asset before

adjusting for any loss allowance.
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
WEEZ T AT HIEEE

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3.

POLICIES (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)

(Continued)

(i)  Amortised cost and effective interest method
(Continued)
Interest income is recognised using the effective interest
method for debt instruments measured subsequently at
amortised cost and at FVTOCI. For financial assets other
than purchased or originated credit-impaired financial
assets, interest income is calculated by applying the
effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount of
a financial asset, except for financial assets that have
subsequently become credit-impaired (see below).
For financial assets that have subsequently become
credit-impaired, interest income is recognised by
applying the effective interest rate to the amortised
cost of the financial asset. If, in subsequent reporting
periods, the credit risk on the credit-impaired financial
instrument improves so that the financial asset is no
longer credit-impaired, interest income is recognised by
applying the effective interest rate to the gross carrying
amount of the financial asset.

Interest income is recognised in profit or loss and is
included in the “other income and gains” line item
(note 6).

Equity instruments designated as at FVTOCI

On initial recognition, the Group may make an irrevocable
election (on an instrument-by-instrument basis) to designate
investments in equity instruments as at FVTOCI. Designation
at FVTOCI is not permitted if the equity investment is held
for trading or if it is contingent consideration recognised by
an acquirer in a business combination.
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
WEFZ T AT —HIEEE

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3.

POLICIES (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Equity instruments designated as at FVTOCI (Continued)

Investments in equity instruments at FVTOCI are initially
measured at fair value plus transaction costs. Subsequently,
they are measured at fair value with gains and losses arising
from changes in fair value recognised in other comprehensive
income and accumulated in the investment revaluation
reserve. The cumulative gain or loss will not be reclassified to
profit or loss on disposal of the equity investments, instead,
they will be transferred to retained earnings.

Dividends from investments in equity instruments are
recognised in profit or loss when the Group’s right to receive
the dividends is established, unless the dividends clearly
represent a recovery of part of the cost of the investment.
Dividends are included in the 'investment and other income’
line item in profit or loss.

Impairment of financial assets and other items subject
to impairment assessment under HKFRS 9

The Group recognises a loss allowance for expected credit
losses on investments in debt instruments that are measured
at amortised cost. The amount of expected credit losses is
updated at each reporting date to reflect changes in credit
risk since initial recognition of the respective financial
instrument.

The Group always recognises lifetime expected credit
losses (“ECL") for trade receivables and contract assets.
The expected credit losses on these financial assets are
estimated using a provision matrix based on the Group’s
historical credit loss experience, adjusted for factors that
are specific to the debtors, general economic conditions and
an assessment of both the current as well as the forecast
direction of conditions at the reporting date, including time
value of money where appropriate.
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
WEEZ T AT HIEEE

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3. IESHBEHME (&)

POLICIES (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items subject
to impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)
For all other financial instruments, the Group measures the
loss allowance equal to 12-month ECL, unless when there has
a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, the
Group recognises lifetime ECL. The assessment of whether
lifetime ECL should be recognised is based on significant
increase in the likelihood or risk of a default occurring since
initial recognition.

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk on a financial instrument
has increased significantly since initial recognition, the Group
compares the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the reporting date with the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as at the date of
initial recognition. In making this assessment, the Group
considers both quantitative and qualitative information
that is reasonable and supportable, including historical
experience and forward-looking information that is available
without undue cost or effort. Forward-looking information
considered includes the future prospects of the industries in
which the Group’s debtors operate, obtained from economic
expert reports, financial analysts, governmental bodies,
relevant think-tanks and other similar organisations, as well
as consideration of various external sources of actual and
forecast economic information that relate to the Group's
operations.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
WEFZ T AT —HIEEE

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3.

POLICIES (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items subject
to impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)
Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

In particular, the following information is taken into account
when assessing whether credit risk has increased significantly
since initial recognition:

o an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
financial instrument’s external (if available) or internal
credit rating;

J existing or forecast adverse changes in business,
financial or economic conditions that are expected to
cause a significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to
meet its debt obligations;

o an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
operating results of the debtor;

o significant increases in credit risk on other financial
instruments of the same debtor;

o an actual or expected significant adverse change in the
regulatory, economic, or technological environment of
the debtor that results in a significant decrease in the
debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment, the
Group presumes that the credit risk on a financial asset
has increased significantly since initial recognition when
contractual payments are more than 30 days past due, unless
the Group has reasonable and supportable information that
demonstrates otherwise.
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
WEEZ T AT HIEEE

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3. FESHBEHME @)

POLICIES (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items subject
to impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)
Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

Despite the foregoing, the Group assumes that the credit risk
on a debt instrument has not increased significantly since
initial recognition if the debt instrument is determined to have
low credit risk at the reporting date. A financial instrument
is determined to have low credit risk if i) the financial
instrument has a low risk of default, ii) the borrower has a
strong capacity to meet its contractual cash flow obligations
in the near term, and iii) adverse changes in economic and
business conditions in the longer term may, but will not
necessarily, reduce the ability of the borrower to fulfil its
contractual cash flow obligations. The Group considers a
debt instrument to have low credit risk when the asset has
external credit rating of 'investment grade’ in accordance
with the globally understood definition or if an external
rating is not available, the asset has an internal rating of
‘performing’. Performing means that the counterparty has a
strong financial position and there is no past due amounts.

For financial guarantee contracts, the date that the Group
becomes a party to the irrevocable commitment is considered
to be the date of initial recognition for the purposes of
assessing the financial instrument for impairment. In assessing
whether there has been a significant increase in the credit
risk since initial recognition of a financial guarantee contract,
the Group considers the changes in the risk that the specified
debtor will default on the contract.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of the criteria
used to identify whether there has been a significant increase
in credit risk and revises them as appropriate to ensure that
the criteria are capable of identifying significant increase in
credit risk before the amount becomes past due.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
WEFZ T AT —HIEEE

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3.

POLICIES (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items subject
to impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)
Definition of default

The Group considers the following as constituting an event
of default for internal credit risk management purposes as
historical experience indicates that receivables that meet
either of the following criteria are generally not recoverable:

e  When there is a breach of financial covenants by the
debtor; or

J Information developed internally or obtained from
external sources indicates that the debtor is unlikely to
pay its creditors, including the Group, in full (without
taking into account any collaterals held by the Group).

Irrespective of the above analysis, the Group considers that
default has occurred when a financial asset is more than
90 days past due unless the Group has reasonable and
supportable information to demonstrate that a more lagging
default criterion is more appropriate.

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is
information indicating that the debtor is in severe financial
difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of recovery, e.g.
when the counterparty has been placed under liquidation
or has entered into bankruptcy proceedings, or in the case
of trade receivables, when the amounts are over 24 months
past due, whichever occurs sooner. Financial assets written
off may still be subject to enforcement activities under the
Group's recovery procedures, taking into account legal advice
where appropriate. Any recoveries made are recognised in
profit or loss.
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3. IESHBEHME (&)

POLICIES (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items subject
to impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)
Measurement and recognition of expected credit losses

The measurement of expected credit losses is a function
of the probability of default, loss given default (i.e. the
magnitude of the loss if there is a default) and the exposure
at default. The assessment of the probability of default and
loss given default is based on historical data adjusted by
forward-looking information as described above. As for the
exposure at default, for financial assets, this is represented
by the assets’ gross carrying amount at the reporting date;
for financial guarantee contracts, the exposure includes the
amount drawn down as at the reporting date, together with
any additional amounts expected to be drawn down in the
future by default date determined based on historical trend,
the Group’s understanding of the specific future financing
needs of the debtors, and other relevant forward-looking
information.

For financial assets, the expected credit loss is estimated as
the difference between all contractual cash flows that are
due to the Group in accordance with the contract and all the
cash flows that the Group expects to receive, discounted at
the original effective interest rate.

If the Group has measured the loss allowance for a financial
instrument at an amount equal to lifetime ECL in the previous
reporting period, but determines at the current reporting
date that the conditions for lifetime ECL are no longer met,
the Group measures the loss allowance at an amount equal
to 12-month ECL at the current reporting date, except for
assets for which simplified approach was used.
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WEFZ T AT —HIEEE

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3.

POLICIES (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items subject
to impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)
Measurement and recognition of expected credit losses
(Continued)

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in profit
or loss for all financial instruments with a corresponding
adjustment to their carrying amount through a loss allowance
account, except for investments in debt instruments that
are measured at FVTOCI, for which the loss allowance is
recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated
in the investment revaluation reserve, and does not reduce
the carrying amount of the financial asset in the consolidated
statement of financial position.

Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or
when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the
risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to another party.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised
cost, the difference between the asset’s carrying amount
and the sum of the consideration received and receivable
is recognised in profit or loss. In addition, on derecognition
of an investment in equity instrument which the Group
has elected on initial recognition to measure at FVTOCI,
the cumulative gain or loss previously accumulated in the
investments revaluation reserve is not reclassified to profit or
loss, but is transferred to retained earnings.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3. FESHBEHME @)

POLICIES (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items subject
to impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)
Modification of financial assets

A modification of a financial asset occurs if the contractual
cash flows are renegotiated or otherwise modified.

When the contractual terms of a financial asset are modified,
the Group assesses whether the revised terms result in a
substantial modification from original terms taking into
account all relevant facts and circumstances including
qualitative factors. If qualitative assessment is not conclusive,
the Group considers the terms are substantially different if
the discounted present value of the cash flows under the
new terms, including any fees paid net of any fees received,
and discounted using the original effective interest rate, is
at least 10 per cent different from the discounted present
value of the remaining cash flows of the original financial
asset, after reducing gross carrying amount that has been
written off.

For non-substantial modifications of financial assets that
do not result in derecognition, the carrying amount of the
relevant financial assets will be calculated at the present value
of the modified contractual cash flows discounted at the
financial assets’ original effective interest rate. Transaction
costs or fees incurred are adjusted to the carrying amount
of the modified financial assets and are amortised over the
remaining term. Any adjustment to the carrying amount of
the financial asset is recognised in profit or loss at the date
of modification.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
WEFZ T AT —HIEEE

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3.

POLICIES (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial liabilities and equity instruments
Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments issued by a group entity are
classified as either financial liabilities or as equity in accordance
with the substance of the contractual arrangements and the
definitions of a financial liability and an equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual
interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all of its
liabilities. Equity instruments issued by a group entity are
recognised at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Repurchase of the Company’'s own equity instruments is
recognised and deducted directly in equity. No gain or loss
is recognised in profit or loss on the purchase, sale, issue or
cancellation of the Company’s own equity instruments.

Financial liabilities
All financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised
cost using the effective interest method.

Financial liabilities that arise when a transfer of a financial
asset does not qualify for derecognition or when the
continuing involvement approach applies, and financial
guarantee contracts issued by the Group, are measured in
accordance with the specific accounting policies set out
below.

Financial liabilities subsequently measured at amortised cost
Financial liabilities that are not 1) contingent consideration
of an acquirer in a business combination, 2) held-for-trading,
or 3) designated as at FVTPL, are subsequently measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest method.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3. FESHBEHME @)

POLICIES (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial liabilities and equity instruments (Continued)
Financial liabilities (Continued)

Financial liabilities subsequently measured at amortised cost
(Continued)

The effective interest method is a method of calculating
the amortised cost of a financial liability and of allocating
interest expense over the relevant period. The effective
interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated
future cash payments (including all fees and points paid or
received that form an integral part of the effective interest
rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts)
through the expected life of the financial liability, or (where
appropriate) a shorter period, to the amortised cost of a
financial liability.

Convertible bonds

Convertible bonds issued by the Group that contain both
the liability and conversion option components are classified
separately into respective items on initial recognition
in accordance with the substance of the contractual
arrangements and the definitions of a financial liability and
an equity instrument. Conversion option that will be settled
by the exchange of a fixed amount of cash or another
financial asset for a fixed number of the Company’s own
equity instruments is classified as an equity instrument.

On initial recognition, the fair value of the liability component
is determined using the prevailing market interest of similar
non-convertible debts. The difference between the gross
proceeds of the issue of the convertible bonds and the
fair value assigned to the liability component, representing
the conversion option for the holder to convert the bonds
into equity, is included in equity (convertible bonds equity
reserve).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
WEFZ T AT —HIEEE

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3.

POLICIES (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial liabilities and equity instruments (Continued)
Financial liabilities (Continued)

Convertible bonds (Continued)

In subsequent periods, the liability component of the
convertible bonds is carried at amortised cost using the
effective interest method. The equity component, representing
the option to convert the liability component into ordinary
shares of the Company, will remain in convertible bonds
equity reserve until the conversion is exercised (in which
case the balance stated in convertible bonds equity reserve
will be transferred to share premium). Where the option
remains unexercised at the expiry date, the balance stated
in convertible bonds equity reserve will be released to the
retained earnings. No gain or loss is recognised in profit or
loss upon conversion or expiration of the option.

Transaction costs that relate to the issue of the convertible
bonds are allocated to the liability and equity components
in proportion to the allocation of the gross proceeds.
Transaction costs relating to the equity component are
charged directly to equity. Transaction costs relating to the
liability component are included in the carrying amount of
the liability portion and amortised over the period of the
convertible bonds using the effective interest method.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only
when, the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or
they expire. The difference between the carrying amount of
the financial liability derecognised and the consideration paid
and payable, including any non-cash assets transferred or
liabilities assumed, is recognised in profit or loss.
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3. FESHBEHME @)

POLICIES (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial liabilities and equity instruments (Continued)
Financial liabilities (Continued)

Modification of financial liabilities

A substantial modification of the terms of an existing
financial liability or a part of it (whether or not attributable
to the financial difficulty of the Group) is accounted for
as an extinguishment of the original financial liability and
the recognition of a new financial liability. The Group
considers that the terms are substantially different if the
discounted present value of the cash flows under the new
terms, including any fees paid net of any fees received
and discounted using the original effective interest rate, is
at least 10 per cent different from the discounted present
value of the remaining cash flows of the original financial
liability. Accordingly, such exchange of debt instruments or
modification of terms is accounted for as an extinguishment,
any costs or fees incurred are recognised as part of the gain
or loss on the extinguishment.

Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual
impairment testing for an asset is required, the asset'’s
recoverable amount is estimated. An asset’s recoverable
amount is the higher of the asset’s or cash-generating unit’s
value in use and its fair value less costs of disposal, and is
determined for an individual asset, unless the asset does not
generate cash inflows that are largely independent of those
from other assets or groups of assets, in which case the
recoverable amount is determined for the cash-generating
unit to which the asset belongs. In testing a cash-generating
until for impairment, a portion of the carrying amount of a
corporate asset is allocated to an individual cash-generating
until if it can be allocated on a reasonable and consistent
basis, or otherwise, to the smallest group of cash-generating
unit.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3.

POLICIES (Continued)

Impairment of non-financial assets (Continued)

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying amount
of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. In assessing
value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted
to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that
reflects current market assessments of the time value of
money and the risks specific to the asset. An impairment
loss is charged to profit or loss in the period in which it arises
in those expense categories consistent with the function of
the impaired asset.

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting
period as to whether there is an indication that previously
recognised impairment losses may no longer exist or may
have decreased. If such an indication exists, the recoverable
amount is estimated. A previously recognised impairment
loss of an asset other than goodwill is reversed only if there
has been a change in the estimates used to determine the
recoverable amount of that asset, but not to an amount
higher than the carrying amount that would have been
determined (net of any depreciation/amortisation) had no
impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior years.
A reversal of such an impairment loss is credited to profit or
loss in the period in which it arises.

Provisions

A provision is recognised when a present obligation (legal or
constructive) has arisen as a result of a past event and it is
probable that a future outflow of resources will be required
to settle the obligation, provided that a reliable estimate can
be made of the amount of the obligation.

Provisions are measured at the best estimate of the
consideration required to settle the present obligation at the
end of the reporting period, taking into account the risks and
uncertainties surrounding the obligation. When a provision
is measured using the cash flows estimated to settle the
present obligation, its carrying amount is the present value
of those cash flows (where the effect of the time value of
money is material).
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3. FESHBEHME @)

POLICIES (Continued)

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalent in the consolidated statement of
financial position comprise cash at banks and on hand.

Bank balances for which use by the Group is subject to third
party contractual restrictions are included as part of cash
unless the restrictions result in a bank balance no longer
meeting the definition of cash. Contractual restrictions
affecting use of bank balances are disclosed in note 24.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows,
cash and cash equivalents consist of cash and short-term
deposits and assets similar in nature to cash, which are not
restricted to use.

Income tax
Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently
payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the
year. Taxable profit differs from profit before tax as reported
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income because it excludes items of income
or expense that are taxable or deductible in other years and
it further excludes items that are never taxable or deductible.
The Group's liability for current tax is calculated using tax
rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the
end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the
consolidated financial statements and the corresponding tax
bases used in the computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax
liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary
differences. Deferred tax assets are generally recognised for
all deductible temporary difference to the extent that it is
probable that taxable profits will be available against which
those deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such
deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised if the
temporary difference arises from goodwill or from the initial
recognition (other than in a business combination) of other
assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the

taxable profit nor the accounting profit.
207

Annual Report 2022 —& — TAEAE

RERREEEY
AR MBS IR LR 25 2 B4 KB &
FEHYEFRITR & S FHB S -

A T 1) 52 56 = O 45 % BR ) Y SRS
KER R A B — R > BRI %R
EHERATHI IR A AT G BLE N E R -
5B T SRAT BRBAY () IR 1 7E B R
249 PR -

MGeHERERNS - HEBE
SEY O F I e LA - B
RV BL A ~ A28 R &
P o

Fris®i
I 15 50 8 JT) 7% O AT LR A0 S
THZ AN -

i A T L 4 B SRR 2
B o ME R A B AR A 1 i R H Al A
T WS A 3R P 2 3 ) R B ik A A T
PRl 7% " B4 7 A 4 B2 R T
TR A BB SO E I A
A RBLSAT BRI H o A4 J 9 )
BLIH A i S R il E sUE L
B il B A FT G o

A0 S T TEL T ol A B S R P
F B0 R T (L BEL O M B k)
57 ) A R 2 ] 1 T IR P 22 L e
A8 o R AL BLIE B — e w T A R
B e 1k 22 SR RD - IREBLHE & —
F o AL T A AT R AT R IR 2 ST
FUBLAR AT B A e SRUBL ik ) T 4K 8 5%
AR AT R 2R B o A R IR 2 B
I ph PR L A B B B R
FE AR 22 5 W) RS CGERS & D BR
b HAb AR > AR
AR IE P AR E E R A




Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REMBRRWE

For the year ended 31 December 2022
WEFZ T AT —HIEEE

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3.

POLICIES (Continued)

Income tax (Continued)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries and
associates, and interests in joint ventures, except where
the Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary
difference and it is probable that the temporary difference
will not reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets
arising from deductible temporary differences associated
with such investments and interests are only recognised to
the extent that it is probable that there will be sufficient
taxable profits against which to utilise the benefits of the
temporary differences and they are expected to reverse in
the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the
end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that
it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be
available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax
rates that are expected to apply in the period in which
the liability is settled or the asset is realised, based on tax
rate (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the end of the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects
the tax consequences that would follow from the manner in
which the Group expects, at the end of the reporting period,
to recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets and
liabilities.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a
legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets against
current tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes
levied by the same taxation authority and the Group intends
to settle current tax liabilities and assets on a net basis.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for leasing
transactions in which the Group recognises the right-of-
use assets and the related lease liabilities, the Group first
determines whether the tax deductions are attributable to

the right-of-use assets or the lease liabilities.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3. FESHBEHME @)

POLICIES (Continued)

Income tax (Continued)

For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions are
attributable to the lease liabilities, the Group applies HKAS
12 Income Taxes requirements to right-of-use assets and
lease liabilities separately. Temporary differences relating to
right-of-use assets and lease liabilities are not recognised at
initial recognition due to application of the initial recognition
exemption. Temporary differences arising from subsequent
revision to the carrying amounts of right-of-use assets and
lease liabilities, resulting from remeasurement of lease
liabilities and lease modifications, that are not subject to
initial recognition exemption are recognised on the date of
remeasurement or modification.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss,
except when they relate to items that are recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case,
the current and deferred tax are also recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity respectively.
Where current tax or deferred tax arises from the initial
accounting for a business combination, the tax effect is
included in the accounting for the business combination.

Share-based payments

The Company operates a share option scheme for the
purpose of providing incentives and rewards to eligible
participants who contribute to the success of the Group's
operations. Employees (including directors) of the Group
receive remuneration in the form of share-based payments,
whereby employees render services as consideration for
equity instruments (“equity-settled transactions”).
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3.

POLICIES (Continued)

Share-based payments (Continued)

Share options granted to employees

The fair value of services received determined by reference
to the fair value of share options granted at the date of
grant is recognised as an expense in full at the grant date
when the share options granted vest immediately, with a
corresponding increase in equity (share options reserve).

The cost of equity-settled transactions with employees is
measured by reference to the fair value at the date at which
they are granted. The fair value is determined by an external
valuer using a binomial model, further details of which are
given in note 32 to the consolidated financial statements.

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised in
employee benefit expense, together with a corresponding
increase in equity, over the period in which the performance
and/or service conditions are fulfilled. The cumulative expense
recognised for equity-settled transactions at the end of each
reporting period until the vesting date reflects the extent
to which the vesting period has expired and the Group’s
best estimate of the number of equity instruments that will
ultimately vest. The charge or credit to profit or loss for a
period represents the movement in the cumulative expense
recognised as at the beginning and end of that period.

Service and non-market performance conditions are not
taken into account when determining the grant date fair
value of awards, but the likelihood of the conditions being
met is assessed as part of the Group’'s best estimate of
the number of equity instruments that will ultimately vest.
Market performance conditions are reflected within the
grant date fair value. Any other conditions attached to
an award, but without an associated service requirement,
are considered to be non-vesting conditions. Non-vesting
conditions are reflected in the fair value of an award and
lead to an immediate expensing of an award unless there are
also service and/or performance conditions.
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
WEEZ T AT HIEEE

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3. FESHBEHME @)

POLICIES (Continued)

Share-based payments (Continued)

Share options granted to employees (Continued)

For awards that do not ultimately vest because non-market
performance and/or service conditions have not been met,
no expense is recognised. Where awards include a market
or non-vesting condition, the transactions are treated as
vesting irrespective of whether the market or non-vesting
condition is satisfied, provided that all other performance
and/or service conditions are satisfied.

Where the terms of an equity-settled award are modified, as
a minimum an expense is recognised as if the terms had not
been modified, if the original terms of the award are met. In
addition, an expense is recognised for any modification that
increases the total fair value of the share-based payments, or
is otherwise beneficial to the employee as measured at the
date of modification.

Where an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is treated as if
it had vested on the date of cancellation, and any expense
not yet recognised for the award is recognised immediately.
This includes any award where non-vesting conditions within
the control of either the Group or the employee are not met.
However, if a new award is substituted for the cancelled
award, and is designated as a replacement award on the
date that it is granted, the cancelled and new awards are
treated as if they were a modification of the original award,
as described in the previous paragraph.

The dilutive effect of outstanding options is reflected as
additional share dilution in the computation of earnings per
share.

Borrowing costs
All other borrowing costs are expensed in the period in
which they are incurred. Borrowing costs consist of interest
and other costs that an entity incurs in connection with the
borrowing of funds.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REMBRRWE

For the year ended 31 December 2022
WEFZ T AT —HIEEE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which
are described in Note 3, the directors of the Company are
required to make judgements, estimates and assumptions
about the amounts of assets, liabilities, revenue and expenses
reported and disclosures made in the consolidated financial
statements. The estimates and associated assumptions are
based on historical experience and other factors that are
considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from
these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on
an on-going basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised
if the revision affects only that period, or in the period of
the revision and future periods if the revision affects both
current and future periods.

Critical judgements in applying accounting policies
The followings are the critical judgements, apart from those
involving estimations (see below), that the directors of the
Company have made in the process of applying the Group’s
accounting policies and that have the most significant effect
on the amounts recognised and disclosures made in the
consolidated financial statements.

Judgments in determining the timing of satisfaction of
performance obligations

The recognition of each of the Group’s revenue stream
requires judgement by the management of the Group
in determining the timing of satisfaction of performance
obligations.

In making their judgement, the directors of the Company
considered the detailed criteria for recognition of revenue
set out in HKFRS 15 and in particular, whether the Group
has satisfied all the performance obligations over time or
at a point in time with reference to the details terms of
transaction as stipulated in the contracts entered into with
its customers.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND 4.

ESTIMATES (Continued)

Critical judgements in applying accounting policies
(Continued)

Judgments in determining the timing of satisfaction of
performance obligations (Continued)

For the Group’s revenue from contract works, the
management of the Group has assessed that the Group's
performance creates and enhances an asset that the customer
controls as the Group performs. Therefore, the management
of the Group have satisfied that the performance obligation
is satisfied over time and recognised the revenue over the
construction period.

Accounting of carbon-credit assets

Management considers that the carbon-credit assets are a
commodity. As HKFRSs do not define the term “commodity”,
management has considered the guidance in HKAS 8
Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and
Errors ("“HKAS 8”) that allows an entity to consider the
most recent pronouncements of other standard-setting
bodies that use a similar conceptual framework to develop
accounting standards, other accounting literature and
accepted industry practice to the extent that these do not
conflict with the requirements of HKFRSs and the Hong Kong
Accounting Standards Board Conceptual Framework. Under
United States Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (“US
GAAP") as set out in the Master Glossary of the Accounting
Standards Codification, a commodity has been defined as
“products whose units are interchangeable, are traded on an
active market where customers are not readily identifiable,
and are immediately marketable at quoted prices”. Based
on this definition and the guidance in HKAS 8, management
has therefore determined that carbon-credit assets are a
commodity notwithstanding that carbon-credit assets lack
physical substance.

The Group's activities include trading of carbon-credit assets
primarily buying and selling of carbon-credit assets, and
therefore, the Group recognise the carbon-credit assets
at fair value, reflecting the Group’s purpose of holding
such carbon-credit assets as a commodity broker-trader in
accordance with HKAS 2 Inventories.
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND 4.

ESTIMATES (Continued)

Critical judgements in applying accounting policies
(Continued)

Accounting of carbon-credit assets (Continued)

As a result of the carbon-credit assets protocol, costs to
sell carbon-credit assets are immaterial and no allowance
is made for such costs. Changes in the amount of carbon-
credit assets based on fair value are included in profit or loss
for the period.

Carbon-credit asset is derecognised when the Group disposes
of the inventory through its trading activities or when the
Group otherwise loses control, and, therefore, access to the
economic benefits associated with ownership of the carbon-
credit assets.

Key sources of estimation uncertainties

The followings are the key assumptions concerning the
future, and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at
the end of the reporting period, that have a significant risk
of resulting in a material adjustment to the carrying amounts
of assets and liabilities within the next financial year.

Estimated impairment of non-financial assets (other
than goodwill)

The Group assesses whether there are any indicators
of impairment for all non-financial assets at the end of
each reporting period. Non-financial assets are tested for
impairment when there are indicators that the carrying
amounts may not be recoverable. An impairment exists
when the carrying value of an asset or a cash-generating
unit exceeds its recoverable amount, which is the higher of
its fair value less costs of disposal and its value in use. The
calculation of the fair value less costs of disposal is based
on available data from binding sales transactions in an arm’s
length transaction of similar assets or observable market
prices less incremental costs for disposing of the asset. When
value in use calculations are undertaken, management must
estimate the expected future cash flows from the asset or
cash-generating unit and choose a suitable discount rate in
order to calculate the present value of those cash flows.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainties (Continued)
Estimated impairment of non-financial assets (other
than goodwill) (Continued)

The future cash flow is estimated based on past performance
and expectation for market development, including but
not limited to the impacts of COVID-19 pandemic. As the
current environment is uncertain, the estimated cash flows
and discount rate are subject to higher degree of estimation
uncertainty. Changing the assumptions and estimates,
including the discount rates or the growth rate in the cash
flow projections, could materially affect the recoverable
amounts.

As at 31 December 2022, the carrying amount of right-of-
use assets and intangible assets were HK$17,216,000 and
HK$2,378,000 (2021: HK$11,775,000 and HK$2,378,000)
respectively.

Provision for expected credit loss on accounts receivables,
other receivables and contract assets

The impairment provision for accounts receivables, other
receivables and contract assets are based on assumptions
about ECL. The Group uses judgement in making these
assumptions and selecting the inputs to the impairment
calculation, bases on the number of days that an individual
receivable is outstanding as well as the Group’s historical
experience and forward-looking information at the end of
the reporting period. Due to the unprecedented nature of
the COVID-19 pandemic, its effect on the Group’s customers
and their ability to meet their financial obligations to the
Group is difficult to predict. Changes in these assumptions
and estimates could materially affect the result of the
assessment and it may be necessary to make additional
impairment charge to the consolidated statement of profit
or loss and other comprehensive income. As at 31 December
2022, loss allowance of accounts receivable, other receivables
and contract assets are HK$1,438,000, HK$1,661,000 and
HK$1,322,000 (2021: HK$2,623,000, HK$1,661,000 and
HK$199,000) respectively.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND 4.

ESTIMATES (Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainties (Continued)
Income taxes

As at 31 December 2022, a deferred tax liabilities of
HK$851,000 (2021: HK$6,129,000) in relation to the fair
value gain on carbon-credit assets has been recognised in
the Group’s consolidated statement of financial position,
where the taxable temporary difference is estimated by the
management based on the expected tax consequences from
its carbon-credit assets usage based on the future plan.

Leases — Estimating the incremental borrowing rate
The Group cannot readily determine the interest rate implicit
in a lease, and therefore, it uses an incremental borrowing
rate ("IBR") to measure lease liabilities. The IBR is the rate of
interest that the Group would have to pay to borrow over a
similar term, and with a similar security, the funds necessary
to obtain an asset of a similar value to the right-of-use
asset in a similar economic environment. The IBR therefore
reflects what the Group “would have to pay”, which
requires estimation when no observable rates are available
(such as for subsidiaries that do not enter into financing
transactions) or when it needs to be adjusted to reflect the
terms and conditions of the lease. The Group estimates the
IBR using observable inputs (such as market interest rates)
when available and is required to make certain entity-specific
estimates.

Estimation of fair value of carbon-credit assets

The fair value is determined with reference to transactions
involving identical or similar assets. The management of the
Company has identified the unit of comparison as price per
tonne of carbon dioxide equivalent, which is a common unit
of comparison in the transaction of carbon credit assets.
Estimation has been made by the management of the Group
in relation to the unit value per comparable transactions.
As at 31 December 2022, the carrying value of the carbon-
credit asset is HK$8,877,000 (2021: HK$193,188,000).
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REVENUE 5. WA
Revenue represents revenue arising on sales of carbon-credit W AFEE N B A5 B RS ~ Ik
assets, service income and construction contracts for the B BB EE LA o AL F 4
year. An analysis of the Group’s revenue for the year from AAR H RE A A8 B LA Z
continuing operations is as follows: T
2022 2021
—E2=-= T T AR
HK$'000 HK$'000
THET THTT
Revenue from contracts with customers  J& & i B 755 i 1 HE J|
within the scope of HKFRS 15 551 55 IR TN B
FZ )& &) A
A 709,306 468,007
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
WEFZ T AT —HIEEE

5. REVENUE (Continued) 5. WA &
(i) Disaggregated revenue information (i) DHFBAER
For the year ended 31 December 2022 BZE-—E-_—_%+=-H=+—H
IEFE
Civil
engineering
Global carbon and
Segments 23 neutral  construction Total
2RBHH TARIBREE b
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TR TR
Type of goods or services BN RS ER
Sales of carbon-credit assets iR R ERE#E 207,834 - 207,834
Provision of carbon neutral advisory R LR P A o B A MR
and carbon planning services 1,344 - 1,344
Construction services e o/ - 172,899 172,899
Civil engineering services TARTHRRE - 327,229 327,229
Total revenue from contracts with customers S 7 2 FIf0 & 4 7 A A A S04 209,178 500,128 709,306
Geographical markets BT
Hong Kong ik 4,763 500,128 504,891
Macau 1A 259 = 259
Mainland China R R 1,356 = 1,356
Singapore Hng 202,800 - 202,800
Total revenue from contracts with customers 1% 2 A9 A& 407 £ AU A 4% 209,178 500,128 709,306
Timing of revenue recognition RN
At a point in time R~ 207,834 - 207,834
Over time BEFF B 1,344 500,128 501,472
Total revenue from contracts with customers 1% 7 2 A A4 407 = A A 40 209,178 500,128 709,306
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
WEEZ T AT HIEEE

()

REVENUE (Continued) 5. WA @&
Disaggregated revenue information (i) ZHFVAER @&
(Continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2021 BE_E - —4%#+-_A=+—H
1R
Civil
engineering
Global carbon and
Segments A neutral  construction Total
WA LATEREE st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Tt T Tt
Type of goods or services BN R R 103 - 103
Sales of carbon-credit assets WEREREHE
Provision of carbon neutral advisory SR e D Al B
and carbon planning services 352 - 352
Construction services B - 154,724 154,724
Civil engineering services TARTHMH - 312,828 312,828
Total revenue from contracts with customers B 5 2 [ & 41 F A 8 455 467,552 468,007
Geographical markets WENS
Hong Kong & - 467,552 467,552
Mainland China i 3 455 - 455
Total revenue from contracts with customers — EL& F 2 [0 & 40 A A A 48 3 455 467,552 468,007
Timing of revenue recognition ERhEMHEE
At a point in time JAKE— T 103 103
Over time W i 7 35 467,552 467,904
Total revenue from contracts with customers — EL& B 2 [0 & 40 A B I A 40 4 455 467,552 468,007
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REVENUE (Continued)
(ii) Performance obligations

Information about the Group’s performance obligation
is summarised below:

Sales of carbon-credit assets

The performance obligation is satisfied upon the title
transferred to the customers and payment is generally
due upon the completion of the transaction.

Provision of carbon neutral advisory and carbon
planning services

The performance obligation is satisfied over time as
services are rendered and payment is generally due
within 30 days from the date of billing.

Construction and civil engineering services

The performance obligation is satisfied over time as
services are rendered and payment is generally due
within 30 days from the date of billing. A certain
percentage of payment is retained by customers
until the end of the retention period as the Group’s
entitlement to the final payment is conditional on the
satisfaction of the service quality by the customers over
a certain period as stipulated in the contracts.
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5. REVENUE (Continued) 5. YA (&)

(ii) Performance obligations (Continued) (i) BREFE @
Construction and civil engineering services BERTARIRRE @&
(Continued)
The amounts of transaction prices allocated to the R BR > AR ERRELNE
remaining performance obligation (unsatisfied or & CRIBATEF A KBEAT) MK
partially unsatisfied) as at the end of reporting period (I

are as follows:

2022 2021
—E-— R4
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET T 0
Amounts expected to be TR A PR
recognised as revenue WAL i 1Y) 4 BH
Within one year — A 110,172 125,380
After one year —4FEfR 113,695 192,391
223,867 317,771
The amounts of transaction prices allocated to the oy BL BRI ERE A BAEN A S &
remaining performance obligation which are expected (FE R IR — 4F A% il ol 5 Wi i) B
to be recognised as revenue after one year related A T A TN B AT B 4 B AT 1 A
to construction services, of which the performance MRHSH B - o Tl 2 0 6% B 4 B AT
obligations are to be satisfied within two years. All the 9 BT A7 H A 52 o B < BT ot
other amounts of transaction prices allocated to the T — 4F T S A Wi Ak o b Al Y
remaining performance obligations are expected to be i 1) 4B N B4 52 PR A A T AR
recognised as revenue within one year. The amounts & -

disclosed above do not include variable consideration
which is constrained.
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OTHER INCOME AND GAINS 6. Hit ARz
2022 2021
=== R4
Note HK$’000 HK$'000
R 51 FE T Tt
Interest income FLE WA 13 102
Gain on settlement of other HoAth A KA, AU A
borrowings 3,389 -
Consultancy fee income FEHE-J N 360 450
Government subsidies (note a) BUF A B (Fft5ka) 3,014 556
Income on sublease (note b) S Z A (fsEb) 118 91
Gain on lease modification T EAEFT Ik 16 923 -
Management fee income A 1,394 1,314
Sundry income A TE IS - 275
9,211 2,788
Notes: Fi
(a) Being the subsidies received from the COVID-19 Anti- (@)  BPARYE A2 A RICRN B 7 i R B AT L
epidemic Fund under the Employment Support Scheme and [ TR I 4 P A 1) F g ST B IR
other subsidy schemes as promulgated by the Government of 149201 95 R I 25 917 i < B HL Al Al
the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the People’s i TRAT QIR A A R U S
Republic of China during the year. There are no unfulfilled R R B A SR AE DL

conditions and other contingencies attached to the receipts
of those subsidies.

(b) The Group sublet part of its leased premises to a related (b) AR THEES I EY & T AL
company of the Company. Z B A o
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SEGMENT INFORMATION

Information reported to the directors of the Company,
being the chief operating decision maker, for the purpose
of resource allocation and assessment of segment focus on
type of goods or services delivered or provided, specifically
the Group is organised into business units based on their
products and service and has two reportable operating
segments as follows:

° Global carbon neutral segment - (i) trading of
carbon-credit assets, carbon credit and carbon asset
development, management and investment in carbon
neutral related fields and carbon consulting and carbon
planning; and (ii) carbon negative business including
industrial carbon negative with a core of development
of CCUS and neutral carbon negative focusing on forest
and crop optimisation; and

o Civil engineering and construction segment - civil
engineering works and building construction and
maintenance works.

Management monitors the results of the Group’s operating
segments separately for the purpose of making decision about
resources allocations and performance assessment. Segment
performance is evaluated based on reportable segment
profit or loss, which is a measure of adjusted profit or loss
before tax. The adjusted profit or loss before tax is measured
consistently with the Group's profit or loss before tax except
that finance costs (other than interest on lease liabilities),
(loss)/gain on disposal of subsidiaries, equity-settled share
option expenses, charge in valuation of promissory notes,
net, loss on partial early repayment of promissory note, as
well as head office and corporate unallocated income and
expenses are excluded from such measurement.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REMBRRWE

For the year ended 31 December 2022
WEFZ T AT —HIEEE

SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 7.

The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue and
results and the Group’s assets and liabilities by reportable

operating segments.

DERER ()

RSN T B o HE oy
YA B2 BB M SRR RN M A AR -

Civil engineering and

Global carbon neutral construction Total
2RBEAA TRIBRES @it
2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021
E-CEFE % - E-CE 0 “FC- —E-CE —F—

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

T i T T T i

Segment revenue AHBA 209,178 455 500,128 467,552 709,306 468,007

Segment results PES (30,789) 149,028 4223 7,231 (26,566) 156,265

Change in valuation of promissory notes, net R S BRI (& S (37,231)
Loss on partial early repayment of promissory {2 RAERIR HEHE

note LER (74,562) -

(Loss)/gain on disposal of subsidiaries BEREAAZ

(B8 /i (5) 269220

Fquity-settled share option expenses et 5 AR (34974)  (21,789)

Corporate and unallocated income BERFHRIRA 372 373

Corporate and unallocated expenses BERAMR X (134790 (1775)
Finance costs (other than interest on lease HHER (FafEHE

liabilites) B ERIE) (58,457) (75,447)

(Loss)/profit before tax B (B8 /5 (204,316) 273,639

Segment assets FHEE 35,197 202,011 260,495 232,184 295,692 434,195

Corporate and other unallocated assets SERENREE 18,846 50,622

Total assets B 314,538 484,817

Segment liabilities 28486 21,873 62,696 139,073 150,947 160,946 213,643

Corporate and other unallocated liabilties BERIMR RS 203,361 184,113

Total liabilities AfEAGE 364,307 397,756
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REMBRRWE

For the year ended 31 December 2022
WEEZ T AT HIEEE

SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 7.

Civil engineering and

DEER (&)

Corporate and other
unallocated income

Global carbon neutral construction and expenditure Total
BERIMANE
g Ui TATRREE BARIB st
2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021
ZEICE CRTF ZBIZE CRT-F ZBICE CRT-F ZBIZE CRT-R
HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000
Thrn  T#c  TEx  Tix  TEn  T#x TR T#x
Amounts included in the measure of B EA PR
segment profit or loss or segment PHEENSE
assets
Bank interest income BATFERA 1 1 12 - - 101 13 102
Fair value gain on carbon-credit assets  BRfEEEAREELE 2980 172,022 - - - - 290 1,0
Reversal of impairment/(impaiment) of  HEMXREKA (L )/ (5ifE)
accounts receivable - - 1,185 (1,814) - - 1,185 (1,814)
Impairment of other receivables bR - - - - - (1661) - (1661)
Impairment of contract assets {%%’] BERE - - (113 (54) - - (113 (54)
Depreciation of plant and equipment s Rt (333) (78 (16)  (168) - (06) (549 (452)
Depreciation of right-of-use assets fifEGENE (2,925) 952) (1829  (1.84)  (3018) (832)  (71772)  (3,608)
Addition to non-current assets* RE I 19277 10173 4768 939 - 12263 4045 23375

*

Non-current assets include plant and equipment, right-of-use

assets and intangible assets.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e B R R R MR

For the year ended 31 December 2022
WEFZ T AT —HIEEE

7. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 7. DEPER (&
Geographical information i EEE

(a) Revenue from external customers (a) RBEMFEFHWA
2022 2021
—E-= TE T
HK$’000 HK$'000
F & T Tt
Hong Kong s 504,891 467,552
Macau TR 259 -
Mainland China HH e A b 1,356 455
Singapore B 202,800 -
709,306 468,007

(b)

The revenue information above is based on the locations

of the customers.

Non-current assets

AR AERL TS EE AR BT AL -

(b) FRBEE

2022 2021

—E-CF TR AR

HK$’000 HK$'000

FET T

Hong Kong s 17,848 14,916
Mainland China H e Ay 3 580 126
Singapore B 5,001 -
23,429 15,042

The non-current asset information above is based on the
locations of assets and exclude financial instruments.

226

I B A B LLE E BT AE R A

B> NS T -

China Carbon Neutral Development Group Limited F [ B o i1 88 Ji 42 (3 47 FR 23 )



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statement

REMBRRWE

For the year ended 31 December 2022
WEEZ T AT HIEEE

SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 7. 7EHER @)
Information about major customers FTEEZFNER
Revenue from each major customer which accounted for KE T ARTEMEESFNSEEER
10% or more of the Group’s revenue for the year, is set out J5 1 A A 2 B A 4E NIRRT 10%
below: UL AR TR
2022 2021
—E-— R4
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET T
Customer A EFEA 202,800 N/A*
Customer B KB 133,352 133,179
Customer C HEC 135,953 109,895
Customer D ZFD 86,986 104,392
Customer E KFE N/A* 48,044
*  The corresponding revenue did not contribute over 10% of o MBI ARG AL B AR A 10%
the total revenue of the Group. PIE o
Except for the aforesaid, no revenue from a single external B bl 35 41 > HEHEZR B B — A& 5
customer accounted for 10% or more of the Group's AAE A B AR 10%E L) | -
revenue.
FINANCE COSTS 8. HMBEHM
An analysis of finance costs is as follows: MBS HTnT
2022 2021
—E-= R4
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
fit 3 FET T IT
Interest on lease liabilities HEABMNE 16(b) 963 311
Interest on other borrowings HoAth A8 AN S 2,511 4,572
Interest on promissory notes R S ZE PR S 29 9,394 34,292
Imputed interest on convertible A # Ak &%
bonds ZHEE A 28 46,552 36,583
59,420 75,758
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REMBRRWE

For the year ended 31 December 2022
WEFZ T AT —HIEEE

(LOSS)/PROFIT BEFORE TAX 9.

The Group's (loss)/profit before tax is arrived at after

BRBiAT (B51R) % F

AL 2 BRBLRT (B518) B A E Fnkk T

(crediting)/charging: FI|#%IH
2022 2021
—=_-= TR A
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
iE! FE T Tt
Cost of sales: B AR
Cost of inventories sold BB A 20 192,103 294
Cost of service income 7 el 610 -
Contract costs G R A 474,087 431,784
666,800 432,078
Employee benefit expense fié B4R A B S R 4G
(excluding directors’ and chief — HEH K=t E
executive’s remuneration M (BiF5E10))#
(note 10))*
— Wages and salaries - L&EMH 4 81,770 96,460
— Equity-settled share option — TR &5 AL Y W TR
expenses B 11,665 17,652
— Pension scheme contributions — B RHEFI 5t 3 {2 3,126 2,660
96,561 116,772
(Reversal of impairment)/ JRE WSO R (U (L I )
impairment of accounts Tl A *
receivable* 22 (1,185) 1,814
Impairment loss of other A R WA U (1 *
receivables* 23 - 1,661
Impairment loss of contract B H B e
assets* 21 1,123 54
Depreciation of plant and e Rk i a5
equipment 15 549 452
Depreciation of right-of-use assets fifi Ff ##f & = 7 # 16(a) 7,772 3,608
Auditor’s remuneration % BT 4 1,400 1,400
(Gain)/loss on lease modification F BT k)~
EEN 16(c) (923) 249
Lease payments not included 3 IF FEATH & B AR
in the measurement of lease B2 B
liabilities 16(c) 188 107
*  The (reversal of impairment)/impairment of accounts * RN HAB G R A K&

receivable, other receivables and contract assets for the year
are included in “Reversal of impairment/(impairment) of
accounts receivable, other receivables and contract assets,
net” in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income.

# The employee benefit expense of HK$44,019,000 (2021:
HK$66,030,000) for the year included in “cost of sales”
provided above and the expense of HK$4,018,000 (2021:
HK$1,511,000) for the year included in “research and
development expenses” provided above.

228

B E) /{JMEHU\VTE. Eﬁé&
oA 2 T S R A T A 3K
%WEI& &/\f@g?mﬁ{#ﬂlﬁl/

# AN AR B AR A B 32 44,019,000 7t

(T~ —4F 1 66,030,000 7T) 7FA
bSO T8 8 A © 4£1A4,018,000
#oT (CF 4 11,511,000 71)
B SR A B SO TR 2 ] -

China Carbon Neutral Development Group Limited F [ B o i1 88 Ji 42 (3 47 FR 23 )



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statementsf

REMBRRWE

For the year ended 31 December 2022
WEEZ T AT HIEEE

10. DIRECTORS’ AND
REMUNERATION
Directors’ and chief executive’s remuneration for the year,
disclosed pursuant to the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on The Stock Exchange, section 383(1)(a), (b), (c)
and (f) of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and Part 2
of the Companies (Disclosure of Information about Benefits
of Directors) Regulation, is as follows:

CHIEF  EXECUTIVE'S 10.

EERBESTRAEME

RIEWE S a7 LAl - (Rl AR
efily 55383(1)(@) ~ (b) ~ (O B &
(AT (o A 2 R ML) 26527
Wi 2 R R R AT BN B
LU

2022 2021
—E=-= TR AR
HK$'000 HK$'000
THET T
Emoluments paid or receivable il AfFATER (R A
in respect of a person’s services /] B H f & 2 ® A9 3 5F)
as a director, whether of the PR ES T AT > s
Company and its subsidiaries F1%) P <
undertaking
Fees w4 1,459 705
Emoluments paid or receivable 5% B m) K HCFiHE 2\ ) HY
in respect of director’s other 34 A B IR
services in connection with the Sz a B i i TN 4
management of the affairs of
the Company and its subsidiaries
undertaking
Other emoluments: HoAt e
Salaries, allowances and benefits in  #r4x ~ H X EY) F %
kind 3,500 2,939
Pension scheme contributions R ARARE A 8 R 72 44
Equity-settled share option expense & 4 3 1 A #E 2% ) 23,309 4,137
26,881 7,120
28,340 7,825

During the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021,
directors of the Company were granted options, in respect of
their services to the Group, under the share option scheme
of the Company, further details of which were set out in
note 32 to the consolidated financial statements. The fair
value of such options, which had been recognised in profit
or loss over the vesting period, was determined as at the
date of grant and the amount included in the consolidated
financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2022
was included in the above directors’ and chief executive's

remuneration disclosures.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e B R R R MR

For the year ended 31 December 2022
WEFZ T AT —HIEEE

10. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S 10. EERESTHAEMS (&)
REMUNERATION (Continued)

(@) Independent non-executive directors (a) BIUFHITEE
The fees paid to independent non-executive directors N AT T8 5L FE AT A
during the year were as follows: W
Salaries,
allowances Pension  Equity settled
and benefits scheme  share option Total
Fees inkind  contributions expenses remuneration

k-1 RIER RE&E
we  REWAR FHRR  RRERR ans
Notes HKS$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

i TR TR TAL TAT TER
2022 —ECCE
Mr. Yu Wai Chun REREE (il 50 = = = 50
Dr. Li Qun AR (iif) 209 - - - 209
Dr. Guo Yike HRMEL 600 - - - 600
Mr. Wang Au Yuan TRk 600 - - - 600
1,459 - - - 1,459
2021 —EC-F
Mr. Leung Tsz Wing PSR S (i 134 - - - 134
Mr. Ip Mei Shun EEIE%SE (i 134 - - - 134
Mr. Yu Wai Chun rEREE (i 120 - - - 120
Dr. Guo Vike BRATH L 245 - - - 245
Mr. Wang Au Yuan TR 72 - - - 7
705 - - - 705
Notes: Bt -
() Resigned on 18 November 2021. (i R FE—FT—HTANHBHE
(i)  Resigned on 29 May 2022. (i) WMoFFHHATILHBEHT -
(iiiy  Appointed on 2 June 2022. (i) AZEZTAENHZHEERE -
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REMBRRWE

For the year ended 31 December 2022
WEEZ T AT HIEEE

10. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S 10. E%&%Eﬁi&kém&(ﬁé\)g

REMUNERATION (Continued)

(b) Executive directors and non-executive directors (b) MITEERFHITEE
Salaries,
allowances Pension  Equity settled
and benefits scheme  share option Total
Fees inkind  contributions expense  remuneration
-1 BIKEN RELE

#e  REWAER FHER  BREER aye
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
it TExn TEx TERn TER TERx

2022 “ECCE

Executive directors irEE

Ms. Chan Tan Na Donna ~ BFHI 4 £ (i) - 600 18 - 618
Mr. Chen Lei (¥ 5% (v) - 600 18 - 618
Mr. Chen XinWei Bk (vi) - 720 18 21,700 2,438
Mr. Cui Dingjun EEERE (vii) - 300 - - 300
Mr. Di Ling i (vi) - 680 18 1,609 2,307
- 2,900 n 23,309 26,281

Non-executive director i fTE S
Mr. Lam Po Foon WEREE (xii) - 600 - - 600
- 3,500 7 23,309 26,881
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e B R R R MR

For the year ended 31 December 2022
WEFZ T AT —HIEEE

10. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S 10. EERESTHAEME (@)
REMUNERATION (Continued)

(b) Executive directors and non-executive directors (b) HITESERIEHTESE (@
(Continued)
Salaries,
allowances Pension  Equity settled
and benefits scheme  share option Total
Fees inkind  contributions expense  remuneration

LERE ) BRI Tesisi
ik iz sl RRERA Lk
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
sk Tt T T T T

2021 —EC-F

Executive directors ohEE
Mr. Artem Matyushok ~ Artem Matyushok’e2 () - - - - -
Mr. Brett Ashley Wight ~ Brett Ashley Wight/e4 (i) - - - - -

Mr. Chin Chun Hin SRR (il - 150 - - 150
Ms. Chan Tan Na Donna [ Hil &+ (iv) - 72 3 - 75
Mr. Chen Lei B R (v - 381 2 - 383
Mr. Chen XinWei B L (vi) - 520 15 - 535
Mr. Cui Dingjun EEERE (vii) - 473 - - 473
Mr. Di Ling iyt (vii) - 473 6 4,137 4,616
Dr. Gao Gunter LGSy (ix) - vy 6 - 47
Mr. Lam Wah ML ) - 124 6 - 130
Mr. Xing Bin jidipies (xi) - 90 6 - 9%

- 2,704 44 4,137 6,385

Non-executive director AT ES

Mr. Chen Bing Yan BRI (xi) - - - - -
Mr. Lam Po Faon WEBLE (xil) - 235 - - 235

- 235 - - 235

- 2,939 44 4,137 7,120
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10. DIRECTORS’

REMBRRWE

For the year ended 31 December 2022
WEEZ T AT HIEEE

AND CHIEF  EXECUTIVE'S

REMUNERATION (Continued)
(b) Executive directors and non-executive directors
(Continued)

Notes:

(xiii)

Resigned on 24 September 2021.

Resigned on 5 April 2021.

Resigned on 17 March 2021.

Appointed on 18 November 2021 and resigned on 20
February 2023.

Appointed on 13 May 2021.

Appointed on 2 March 2021.

Appointed on 18 March 2021 and resigned on 29 June
2022.

Appointed on 18 March 2021.

Appointed on 2 March 2021 and resigned on 17 March
2021.

Resigned on 2 March 2021.

Resigned on 2 March 2021.

Appointed on 2 February 2021 and resigned on 17
March 2021.

Appointed on 10 August 2021.

There was no arrangement under which a director
waived or agreed to waive any remuneration during
the year (2021: Nil).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REMBRRWE

For the year ended 31 December 2022
WEFZ T AT —HIEEE

FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES
The five highest paid employees during the year included
two (2021:

11.

nil) directors, details of whose remuneration are

TEBREHHNES

JAAEIA > T decm BN 1 B L4 W44
CFZ A ERA) EF > WM

set out in note 10 above. Details of the remuneration of EFEEHER ESCHEE10 - AR > H
the remaining three (2021: five) non-directors, highest paid B=% CE—F 0% EEmE
employees for the year are as follows: 1M1 FF 36 S A R B RO SR E s an T -
2022 2021
—E=-= TR T A
HK$'000 HK$'000
FE T Tt
Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind ~ #4: ~ HASFIE W HI 35 6,783 8,093
Discretionary performance-related bonuses Bl 3 B 54 19 1 1% 1E 4L 2,520 6,038
Share based compensation DA RS ARE 7 43 114 M 4 6,945 5,516
Pension scheme contributions AR A R Ak 138 262
16,386 19,909

The number of non-directors, highest paid employees whose

P < A ~F- T 51 4 i i 6 M i

remuneration fell within the following bands is as follows: HMEB ANBIT
2022 2021
—E--F —F
HK$1,000,001 to HK$2,000,000 1,000,001¥ yC 22,000,000 & = 2
HK$2,000,001 to HK$3,000,000 2,000,001 7£%3,000,000i% ¢ - -
HK$3,000,001 to HK$4,000,000 3,000,001 724,000,000 7 1 1
HK$4,000,001 to HK$5,000,000 4,000,001 7££5,000,000i ¢ 1 -
HK$5,000,001 to HK$6,000,000 5,000,001 £%6,000,000i 7 - -
HK$6,000,001 to HK$7,000,000 6,000,001 727,000,000 7 = 2
HK$7,000,001 to HK$8,000,000 7,000,001 5.28,000,000i ¢ - -
HK$8,000,001 to HK$9,000,000 8,000,001 7££9,000,000i% ¢ 1 -
3 5
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REMBRRWE

For the year ended 31 December 2022
WEEZ T AT HIEEE

12. INCOME TAX CREDIT/(EXPENSE) 12.

Hong Kong profits tax was been provided at the rate of
16.5% (2021: 16.5%) on the estimated assessable profits
arising in Hong Kong during the year. Tax on profits
assessable elsewhere have been calculated at the rates of tax
prevailing in the jurisdictions in which the Group operates.

FrEBEH, (i)
EN > FHERIBLI R
BLliE FIH%16.5% (ZE =4 : 16.5%)
fO B AR B o o I O L
il 2 0T T 41 A S I 66 8 P 1 ) 25
% 2 BUATBLRA S -

2022 2021

—=E-— TR AR

HK$’000 HK$'000

THET T-# T

Current tax A — -
Deferred tax credit/(expense) IEAEBLAK I, (B 2)

(note 30) (fft5E30) 5,278 (6,075)

A ERLIEIRAN (L)
Total tax credit/(charge) for the year HaEH 5,278 (6,075)

A reconciliation of the tax expense applicable to (loss)/
profit before tax at the statutory/applicable rates for the
jurisdictions in which the Company and the majority of its
subsidiaries are domiciled to the tax expense at the effective

tax rate is as follows:

AR 2% ) B FL IR 73 Wi Ja 2 =) e 7 19
FERERL 2 558 T B FHA B R
BERIT (), P18 A )5 2L Bl i B LA
TP R BLIE B S 2 IR

2022 2021

—E-CH R AR

HK$'000 HK$'000

FAET T T

(Loss)/profit before tax BRBLRT (E59R) T Al (204,316) 273,639

Tax at the statutory tax rate/applicable %% & B R FHA M

rates of different jurisdictions i I8 (34,414) 44,672

Income not subject to tax DR ZERABL A (34,836) (66,749)

Expenses not deductible for tax a0 BE 3 58,830 23,005

Tax losses not recognised ER(ARYINEY oEic 5,155 5,790

Temporary difference not recognised R AR R 2 5L 181 838
Utilisation of tax loss previously not B ST AR R 2 BB

recognised (R (194) (1,481)

Tax (credit)/charge BLIA (GE4n) B2 (5,278) 6,075
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14.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REMBRRWE

For the year ended 31 December 2022
WEFZ T AT —HIEEE

DIVIDEND

No dividend was paid or proposed for ordinary shareholders
of the Company during the year ended 31 December 2022,
nor has any dividend been proposed since the end of the
reporting period (2021: Nil).

(LOSS)/EARNINGS PER SHARE

The calculation of the basic (loss)/earnings per share amounts
for the year is based on the loss for the year attributable
to owners of the Company of HK$197,471,000 (2021:
profit for the year attributable to owner of the Company
of HK$267,651,000) and the weighted average number of
313,303,000 (2021: 258,973,000) ordinary shares in issue
during the year.

For the year ended 31 December 2021, the calculation of the
diluted earnings per share amounts is based on the profit for
the year attributable to the owners of the Company, adjusted
to reflect the interest on the convertible bonds. The weighted
average number of ordinary shares used in the calculation is
the number of ordinary shares in issue during the year ended
31 December 2021, as used in the basic earnings per share
calculation, and the weighted average number of ordinary
shares assumed to have been issued at no consideration on
the deemed exercise or conversion of all dilutive potential
ordinary shares into ordinary shares for the year ended 31
December 2021.

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the computation
of diluted loss per share and diluted loss per share did not
assume the conversion of the convertible bonds and the
exercise of the share options since the assumed conversion
and exercise would be anti-dilutive which result in a decrease
in loss per share.
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B (&518), BF

T REA (BT BATIARE AN A
A N EAL 4 N 515 197,471,000 %
TG (R AR RN A N EAL AR
A5 F1 267,651,000 71) 2 4F A E %%
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mEMBHRERME Loy
For the year ended 31 December 2022 ‘ %\ %
WE-F- A+ A=+—AILFE i ?

14. (LOSS)/EARNINGS PER SHARE (Continued) 14. 8 (&58) BF (&)
The calculations of basic and diluted (loss)/earnings per share FEREEEAS B (B1R) BRI
are based on: A
2022 2021
—=E-— CE AR
HK$'000 HK$'000
T T Tt
(Loss)/earnings (&518) /B

R G E G EEA (5
(Loss)/profit attributable to owners of the  18) /& FIA AL w5
Company, used in basic (loss)/earnings A AMEML (B518) /&
per share calculation il (197,471) 267,651
Imputed interest on convertible bonds A B AE I 2 HEE RS, - 36,583

(Loss)/profit attributable to owners of the 11K AT # i f& 55 F1l 5
Company before interest on convertible B2 wl#EA A BEL

bonds (k5 48) 2 F (197,471) 304,234
FERCIEAS B (B1R) BRI R R 3
The calculations of basic and diluted (loss)/earnings per share i

are based on:

Number of shares

% 2
2022 2021
—E-_F i
Shares ikl
Weighted average number of ordinary ARG IREEA K
shares in issue during the year used i (s48) EA
in the basic (loss)/earnings per share AN AT A8 N
calculation HeT-14 8 313,302,740 258,973,370
Effect of dilution — weighted average e B — %
number of ordinary shares: JNHEF- 258
Convertible bonds CEid e - 179,603,000
Weighted average number of ordinary FA 51 Jc i v
shares in issue during the period used (E18) /B A 2 N
in diluted (loss)/earnings per share E BT 2 Rn e
calculation -4 8 313,302,740 438,576,370
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e B R R R MR

For the year ended 31 December 2022

BEZZ-F+-A=+—HILFE
15. PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 15. HRNRE
Furniture,
fixtures
Leasehold ~ Machinery and and office
improvements equipment equipment  Motor vehicles Total
. B BRRE \ .
BEyE HERRE RBARE A& st
HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THT TR TR TR TR
Cost B
1 January 2021 R-Z-—%-H-H 388 24,089 2,39 495 21,366
Additions RE 460 146 21 - 827
Disposal of subsidiaries HERE LA = (24,089) (1,775) - (25,864)
Fichange realignment B - 1 1 - 2
At 31 December 2021 and REFZ-FHZAZT-HR
1 January 2022 “ET A0 848 147 841 495 2,331
Additions RE 2,082 132 39 1,431 3,684
Disposals & (460) = - (10) (470)
Fichange realignment B ji (3) (8) - (1)
At 31 December 2022 REFZZHEFZA=A—A 2,470 276 872 1,916 5,534
Accumulated depreciation and ZHRERAE
impairment
t 1 January 2021 “Z-—F—-f—H 195 24,089 2,240 330 26,854
Disposal of subsidiaries HEREAA - (24,089) (1,775) - (25,864)
Charge for the year R 249 15 8 105 45
At 31 December 2021 and RZZZ EJr H Jr Ak
1 January 2022 “ECTE- 444 15 548 435 1,442
Disposals ik (132) = - (10) (142)
Charge for the year R 14 3 115 255 549
Exchange realignment IE % - 2) @) - (4)
At 31 December 2022 REF_ZE+ZA=1-H 454 50 661 680 1,845
Carrying amount BELE
At 31 December 2022 REZ-ZEFZA=T—H 2,016 226 211 1,236 3,689
At 31 December 2021 Sy e et 404 132 293 60 889

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to write

off the cost of each item of plant and equipment to its

residual value over its estimated useful life. The principal

annual rates used for this purpose are as follows:

Leasehold improvements
Machinery and equipment
Furniture, fixtures and office

equipment
Motor vehicles

20%
10% to 24
20% to 33

24%

%
%
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e EHmRME :

For the year ended 31 December 2022
WEEZ T AT HIEEE

Annual Report 2022 —& — TAEAE

16. LEASES 16. #HE
The Group as lessee EEBEERAEEA
The Group leases office premises for its daily operations. The AEE S HEEEHEIRAL -
lease term is ranging from 24 months to 60 months (2021: EHRATF24F 60 H (ZF_—4F -
from 24 months to 38 months), with an option to renew the 2473811 H) » AT RAESETE FH B 1
lease when all terms are renegotiated. Lease payments are HFRHFEETHE - HEMFE W%
usually increased annually to reflect current market rentals. AEBEN DA M BT T A 4 o
(a) Right-of-use asset (a) FERAREEE
The carrying amounts of the Group’s right-of-use assets TN > A B [ i R O R T
and the movements during the year are as follows: (B EaERmT
2022 2021
—==-= CE
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET T
At 1 January Hm—H—H 11,775 1,887
Additions NE 20,361 20,170
Depreciation charge (note 9) TEEM E9) (7,772) (3,608)
Derecognised the right-of-use IR 2 ﬁifﬁﬁ%§§F‘Zi - (4,671)
assets and recognise receivable PR IR R R K
for net investment
Lease modification FEBET (7,263) (2,003)
Exchange realignment FE 54, ) % 115 -
At 31 December it H=+—H 17,216 11,775
(b) Lease liabilities (b) HERE
The carrying amount of lease liabilities and the RN > A A R I S A )
movements during the year are as follows: TERAT -
2022 2021
—E-—& Y -
HK$'000 HK$'000
TR THIT
Carrying amount at 1 January R—HA—HZKEE 16,573 2,673
New leases & 20,361 20,170
Accretion of interest recognised during 4F Ay il s A 1 B 1 i
the year (note 8) (Hftk8) 963 311
Disposal of subsidiaries (note 34) R E A A (aE34) - (600)
Payments =K (10,026) (4,236)
Lease modification BT (10,102) (1,754)
Exchange realignment b 50, 8 4% 126 9
Carrying amount at 31 December R ZHA=+—HZ R E 17,895 16,573
Analysed into: A T
Current portion i B B4y 7,032 7,278
Non-current portion EIS I R a 10,863 9,295
239



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e B R R R MR

For the year ended 31 December 2022
WEFZ T AT —HIEEE

16. LEASES (Continued) 16. 8 &)
The Group as lessee (Continued) AEBEREBEA B
(c) The amounts recognised in profit or loss in relation (¢ BEENREZTRIANSENT:

to leases are as follows:

2022 2021
=== - S
HK$’000 HK$'000
THET T-H5 7T
Interest on lease liabilities (note 8) FHE &AL (Hi::8) 963 311
Depreciation charge of i REE T s 2
right-of-use assets (note 9) (fftzE9) 7,772 3,608
Expense relating to short-term A B AR B B
leases (included in administrative  (GFEAATECEE ) (KF5E9)
expenses) (note 9) 188 107
(Gain)/loss on lease modification — FEEFT (ks HHK
(note 9) (Bt 5E9) (923) 249
Total amount recognised in wh AE fn A HH
profit or loss 8,000 4,275
17. GOODWILL 17. B8
Goodwill acquired through a business combination is 7R ST A ORI O ) P R A i A
allocated to the cash-generating unit of the Automotive REBEERET 2 BlEE LR (DR
Engines Business (the “Automotive Engines CGU") for HRPFEEESELESEN]) FHE %
impairment testing for the year ended 31 December 2020. CEEF A=+ —HIEEE 2 EE
HIEL -
During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Automotive RE ST S E LR AERE %
Engines CGU has been disposed. Details refer to note 34. Tt A=+ —HIEFE S
o HIESEMEE34 -
As at 31 December 2022, the Group did not have any BE - F - "HF+_H=1+—H K
goodwill. EEBRAHMEE
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
WEEZ T AT HIEEE

18. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

8. BEEE

Cross-boarder Customer
license plates Contracts Total
B B R R EFEH st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THETT TH#ETT TH#TT
Cost B
At 1 January 2021 REFZ—F—A—H - 698,697 698,697
Addition NE 2,378 - 2,378
Disposal of subsidiaries 6 BB A ) - (698,697) (698,697)
At 31 December 2021, 1 January 2022 M=% ——#F T J=1—H
and 31 December 2022 #2#4¢#H#E&
e S ey e 2,378 - 2,378
Accumulated amortisation and Rt R E
impairment
At 1 January 2021 REFZ—F—A—H - 698,697 698,697
Disposal of subsidiaries MR A R - (698,697) (698,697)
At 31 December 2021, 1 January 2022 M=% ——#FT_J=1—H
and 31 December 2022 —Q;??$ E E&
—“E- A+ ZH=+—H - - _
Carrying amount IREEE
At 31 December 2022 RoF - _HFE+A=+—H 2,378 - 2,378
At 31 December 2021 WoECZ A=+ —H 2,378 - 2,378

On 27 January 2021, the Group disposed the Well Surplus
Enterprises Limited and its subsidiaries (the “Automotive
Engines Group”), and the customer contract included in
intangible assets, also disposed.
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19.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REMBRRWE

For the year ended 31 December 2022
WEFZ T AT —HIEEE

INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued)

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group has
acquired two cross-boarder license plates, with a legal life of
1 to 2 years but is renewable every year at minimal cost. The
directors of the Company are of the opinion that the Group
would renew the cross-boarder license plates continuously
and has the ability to do so. As a result, the cross-boarder
license plates are considered by the management of the
Group as having an indefinite useful life because it is
expected to contribute to net cash inflows indefinitely. The
cross-boarder license plates will not be amortised until its
useful life is determined to be finite. Instead it will be tested
for impairment annually and whenever there is an indication
that it may be impaired.

FINANCIAL ASSET AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

18.

19.

BIEE (&

RBEE-F - —Ft+_A=+—H1L
I ACKR ] 2 IO A s R
W EEABIN A 224 HEFE
AR AR A B - ANFIEERS -
7 B2 S R A SEORT % 5F TP s E M R
M A REITERRA o L - ARLEH
L R 2 A v e L A
e PR M ERK TR B A o B R
AT AR ) o Fp i R A L 4R
W E 2 A BRAT A G S - ez o fi
A7 5 R W1 aZ 55 s R AT RE R A B
(6 > MEAFEETIRE R -

BAREBEEFARMGEBAZER
BE

2022 2021

—=E-— R4

HK$000 HK$'000

FET T

Listed investment at fair value FHEZ A R fEE 8,200 20,000

Investments in listed equity securities represent the Group’s
investment in China Ecotourism Group Limited, a company
listed in Hong Kong and engaged in provision of technology
and operation terminal
equipment and gaming products in China’s lottery market.
This investment in equity instrument is not held for trading.
Instead, they are held for medium to long-term strategic
purposes. Accordingly, the directors of the Company have
elected to designate this investment in equity instrument
as at FVTOCI as they believe that recognising short-term
fluctuations in this investment’s fair value in profit or loss
would not be consistent with the Group's strategy of holding
this investment for long-term purposes and realising their
performance potential in the long run.

services for lottery systems,

Ms. Chan Tan Na Donna, who was the chairman of the
Company and resigned on 20 February 2023, and Mr. Di
Ling, a director of the Company, are also the directors of
China Ecotourism Group Limited.
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3 i B A IR 5 R B BT A ] o
FRA % 56 A TR ABCE I IR AE 2 5
B oo 2 FEA BRI R
W E B o L AN R E S OO
%A T AR R E By % s LB E R
A Al A A Z A TR J5 R &
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e EHmRME ‘

For the year ended 31 December 2022
WEEZ T AT HIEEE

20. CARBON-CREDIT ASSETS

The movements during the year in the balance as follows:

20. MIEAEE

FNERBEEEIT

2022 2021

—E-— TR T4

HK$’000 HK$'000

FHBT T 0

At 1 January w—H—H 193,188 -
Addition e 4,812 21,460
Fair value changes N E(ESEE) 2,980 172,022
Charge to profit and loss s A (192,103) (294)
At 31 December wr—HAH=1+—H 8,877 193,188

Carbon-credit assets were formed through the exploration
and development of relevant business units of the Group
and originated from the verified and issued International
Certified Emission Reductions which is generated from
various emissions reductions projects such as biomass power
generation, solar pv power generation, landfill gas recovery
and power generation, and coal mine methane power
generation. These International Certified Emission Reductions
are tradable carbon credit assets that comply with the Gold
Standard (GS) and the Verified Carbon Standard (VCS).

The Group only recognised the forward carbon-credit assets
which are subsequently realised and transferred to spot
carbon-credit assets. The carbon-credit assets are stated
at fair value on valuations performed by an independent
professional valuer, Crowe (HK) Global Corporate Advisory
Limited (“Crowe (HK)").

Fair value gain on carbon-credit assets

Carbon-credit assets are measured at fair value less cost
to sell and the changes in fair value are recognised as fair
value gain or loss on carbon-credit assets in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income.

As at 31 December 2022, to provide an indication about the
reliability of the inputs used in determining fair value, the
Group has classified its carbon-credit assets into the three
levels prescribed under HKFRS 13. An explanation of each
level is provided in Note 40.
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
WEFZ T AT —HIEEE

20. CARBON-CREDIT ASSETS (Continued)
Fair value gain on carbon-credit assets (Continued)
The fair value hierarchy of carbon-credit assets held by the

ﬁ&#mﬁé (IIE)
BRiEREEN DI AERKE @
A R A I B A5 T B R S R (2R

20.

Group is set out below. IR o
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
14 B4 FE3IR/ F
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T 0 T T T T T T
As at 31 December 2022 R-ZE-=F+=A
=+—H
Carbon-credit assets Tfs i & - - 8,877 8,877
As at 31 December 2021 R=-ZB=—F+=A
=+—H
Carbon-credit assets A5 & & - - 193,188 193,188

AR K JE AR R

There are no transfers between any levels during the year.

PRI L BER 5 7 7 o M (L P A
SRR3R A A AT B R

Carbon-credit assets have therefore been classified as level
3 in the fair value hierarchy, since market approach with

unobservable inputs from the international markets are F T 35 7 A 1 B P T S5 AR Y -
obtained.
Information about Level 3 fair value measurements FE=ZMAREBEIENESR
Significant
Valuation unobservable
technique inputs Range Sensitivity
TREEN
ik B 5% filr EERA £ E BRE
Carbon-credit Comparable Reselling price USD4.46/tCO,e The higher the

assets transaction less cost of - USD13.04/
method sale of similar tCO,e (2021:
carbon-credit USD3.50/tCO,e
certificates in - USD30.00/
the market tCO,e)
AR & CINA 73S EERE LY 4463500, W
t?l‘HUE’JﬁW* FAbhE & -
Y B B A 13.043£ 70, W]
RS R E R
(CF 4
3.50% 70, M
TR REE -
30.00 7t/ W
AR E )
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
WEEZ T AT HIEEE

21.

CONTRACT ASSETS 21. BREE
2022 2021
—s=-= TR 4R
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET Tt
Unbilled revenue of: (note a) KEEE g (i sEa)
— Construction services — BERY 19,364 14,693
— Civil engineering services - AT 83,280 64,447
102,644 79,140
Less: Allowance for impairment loss W AR (1,222) (180)
Sub-total INEF 101,422 78,960
Retention receivables of: (note b) MEUSARTE 4 (B 5Eb)
— Construction services — FERG 14,296 10,099
— Civil engineering services - TR TR 7,468 9,216
21,764 19,315
Less: Allowance for impairment loss W A (100) (19)
Sub-total /NEf 21,664 19,296
Total contract assets BB HE 123,086 98,256
Notes: g

(a)

(b)

Unbilled revenue included in contract assets represents the
Group’s right to receive consideration for work completed
but not yet billed because the rights are conditional upon
the satisfaction by the customers on the construction and
civil engineering services completed by the Group and the
service is pending for the certification by the customers. The
contract assets are transferred to trade receivables when the
rights become unconditional, which is typically at the time the

(a) BLIEG A AL R AR B Bk £ 5 A
SEEA RS E 5 T TR HUE - H
PR ISR RE R 28 757 2 P A AR A 42 1 T 58
RS N AR TR A/EE > H TR
IEFE R SRR o A B LR B o A
TR 2y B A IR > & 400 T B 5
B REWCHIE o — AR S &
P 5E TR SE TREIWERRERT o T f

Group obtains the certification of the completed construction IR HE W A SR AE T A A — AR i ]
work from the customers. The balance of unbilled revenue of A o

construction contracts is expected to be recovered within one
year.

Retention receivables included in contract assets represents
the Group's right to receive consideration for work performed
and not yet billed because the rights are conditional on the
satisfaction of the service quality by the customers over a
certain period as stipulated in the contracts. The contract
assets are transferred to trade receivables when the rights
become unconditional, which is typically at the expiry date
of the period for the provision of assurance by the Group on
the service quality of the construction and civil engineering
services performed by the Group.
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
WEFZ T AT —HIEEE

21. CONTRACT ASSETS (Continued) 21. BHEE @)

The Group classifies these contract assets under current
assets because the Company expects to realise them in its
normal operating cycle.

The Group has applied the simplified approach permitted
by HKFRS 9 to measure the allowance for credit losses at
lifetime ECL. The ECL on contract assets are estimated using
a provision matrix. The provision rates for the measurement
of the ECL of the contract assets are based on those of
the accounts receivables as the contract assets and the
accounts receivables are from the same customer bases. The
provision rates of contract assets are based on days past due
of accounts receivables of various customer segments with
similar loss patterns (i.e., by geographical region, product
type, customer type and rating). The calculation reflects the
probability-weighted outcome, the time value of money and
reasonable and supportable information that is available at
the reporting date about past events, current conditions and
forecasts of future economic conditions.

There has been no change in the estimation techniques or
significant assumptions made during both year/period in
assessing the loss allowance for contract assets.

The movement in the loss allowance of unbilled revenue is
set out below:

AL ZESNEET B REE
B TR m T HIE
N B

AR R T A SV o M ISR 9 BT
(4 A 7 ik wH B A U S B 1E
MR o & A RTINS R
FHE SRR B AR - FHEA A
7 1) TE UL B M 48 T T A R DL
S BRI S TE o TR A
JE WS BR K R R T 2 AR o i
R (B - BRI - PR
Leatdh) AR AR EFEERIS - &
) I A 2 DA AR R Y A )
HOR S e o A B wH R S W 2 i e
AR BWRIE(E DA ROR H H T A
A B AL F A~ BURFIR DL R A AL 37
IR VLTE B ) & P IR ER -

T T AR 4 T IR - A 5 4
SRR A 5 BT bR A Al B 3 Al K

R HCE 1 s IR A B T

2022 2021

—E-— e S

HK$'000 HK$'000

B JTT 0

At the beginning of the year A 180 59

Impairment losses recognised RN RV 1,042 121

At the end of the year TRAE AR 1,222 180
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. CONTRACT ASSETS (Continued) 21. BREE (@)
The movement in the loss allowance of retention receivables JREWCOR B AR s iR S B T
is set out below:
2022 2021
—E—-_= TR TR
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET T T
At the beginning of the year N AER) 19 86
Impairment losses/(Reversal of impairment I {EL 5 18, (3 (e 16
losses) recognised [m]) R 81 (67)
At the end of the year AR 100 19
During the year ended 31 December 2022, HK$1,123,000 CE T A=t —HBARY
(2021: HK$54,000) is recognised as provision for ECL on %R TH M5 B 48 T 1 B M TSR B
contract assets. 1,123,000 70 (=% — —4F : 54,000
#IT) o
The expected timing of recovery or settlement for contract RTHZH=1+—0  kBSEGEEAL
assets as at 31 December is as follows: HE IR AT
2022 2021
—_E_— ZE AR
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET T
Within one year —HE R 109,929 89,289
After one year — AR 13,157 8,967
Total contract assets o KB E AR 123,086 98,256
Set out below is the information about the credit risk T R BB D A A A AR Y AR 4
exposure on the Group’s contract assets using a provision B KGR S B b R
matrix:
2022 2021
—E-= TR AR
Expected credit loss rate (G SRR 0.1%-76.7% 0.3%-91.7%
HK$'000 HK$'000
FERT Tt
Gross carrying amount i T 48 124,408 98,455
Expected credit losses TH S B 1 1,322 199
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
WEFZ T AT —HIEEE

22. ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE 22. FEUBRRX

Accounts receivable represented receivables for contract
work. The payment terms of contract work receivables are
stipulated in the relevant contracts and the credit period
is generally 30 days. The carrying amounts of accounts
receivable approximate to their fair values. The Group does
not hold any collateral or other credit enhancements over
its accounts receivable balances and they are non-interest
bearing.

FEWUIR i ds & ) TIER UUR K - &
) AR BB WSO 1 FOT IR A B
P ETH] > AR EM - A30H o B
e B R R T (L BN AR B (A Y« A
AR ] S0 8 R S A B A A A
FRA b SO A - B %
B oo

2022 2021

—=E-= TR AR

HK$'000 HK$'000

FE T Fits o

Accounts receivable JRE AT iR 41,867 34,679
Less: Allowance for impairment loss W B (1,438) (2,623)
40,429 32,056

In view of the aforementioned and the fact that the Group’s
accounts receivable relate to a few number of major
customers, there is concentration of credit risk and further
details are discussed in note 41 to the consolidated financial
statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements,,,‘
e M B ®mRME

For the year ended 31 December 2022
WEEZ T AT HIEEE

22. ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE (Continued)

The ageing analysis of the accounts receivable as at the end

22.

PR fRR ()

TR R B MO AR 4 3 5 S AT BR

of the reporting period, based on the invoice date and net e R 2 BRI 0 AT I T
of loss allowance, is as follows:

2022 2021
—E-= R
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET T T
Within 3 months 3 A KN 38,270 28,344
4 to 6 months 4-61f A 1,782 3,501
Over 6 months 6fE A Lk L 377 211
40,429 32,056

The movements in the loss allowance for impairment of
accounts receivable are as follows:

BRI A s B B T

2022 2021

—E-= R4

HK$’'000 HK$'000

FET T T

At the beginning of the year AR 2,623 682,856

Disposal of subsidiaries L Ff A ) - (682,047)
(Reversal of impairment losses)/ (BB s 18 1) Bk

Impairment losses recognised (note 9) s E AR (R EE9) (1,185) 1,814

At the end of the year R 1,438 2,623
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REMBRRWE

For the year ended 31 December 2022
WEFZ T AT —HIEEE

22. ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE (Continued) 22.

Impairment

An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting date

using a provision matrix to measure expected credit losses

on remaining accounts receivable. The Group determines

the provision for expected credit losses by grouping together
accounts receivable with similar credit risk characteristics and
collectively assessing them for likelihood of recovery, taking

into account prevailing economic conditions.

Set out below is the information about the credit risk exposure
on the Group’s accounts receivable using a provision matrix:

FEWBRR (&)

{E

TP A St S D 48 A R e o A 9
Sy A AR TR R IR OR 3k 2 IS
iR o A GE EER > A%
V2 AR [ S £ 5 e 5 3 B AR
AL R B T H R RS UL R
e Bl B T REPE

229 ) 9540 A0 0 A 5
WSSk 1 £35SO R -

Past due
al-
Current 1-3 months  Over 3 months Total
Ik 1-318 A 3EANL &5
2022 “EC-CE
Expected credit losses rate BHEEERE 0.82% 2.25% 74.11% 3.43%
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR THR THR THER
Gross carrying amount MR (E 38,584 1,823 1,460 41,867
Expected credit losses BHEEER 315 41 1,082 1,438
2021 “EC--F
Expected credit losses rate Bl REEE 0.19% 6.46% 91.7% 7.56%
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T T T Tl
Gross carrying amount R 28,399 3,743 2,537 34,679
Expected credit losses TG &R 55 242 2,326 2,623
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REMBRRWE

For the year ended 31 December 2022
WEEZ T AT HIEEE

23. PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER
RECEIVABLES

2022 2021
—g=-= e S
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET T
Prepayments TR 2,709 2,675
Loan receivables (note a) FEY SR (i 3Ea) 10,100 16,000
Deposits and other receivables 4 Al H th fE i 3k 21,757 20,300
34,566 38,975

Less: Allowance for impairment & : Js{E 5 #5
loss (1,661) (1,661)
32,905 37,314

Note:

(@) The Group’s loan receivables are unsecured, with fixed interest
and repayable within 1 year. Included in the loan receivables

it

(GRS Ll Y@ i1 LU
%$U$=/E1$ﬁqﬁéﬁ o

HK$2,000,000 (2021: HK$8,000,000) is due from a related
company, of which its director and shareholder is the mother
of Ms. Chan Tan Na Donna, a director of the Company who

resigned on 20 February 2023.

52,000,000 # o6 (& = — 4F
8,000,000%5 7T) JE Y BH#E 23 w1 B K >
% BN 9 R A BT &+
RAFIERHI N —F - Z4FE A

+ HBHT) Z B8 -
2022 2021
—E-= - S o
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT Fils o

Represented by: REL -

Current Eh 31,020 35,205
Non-current FE ) 1,885 2,109
32,905 37,314

The movements in the loss allowance for impairment loss of
other receivables are as follows:

HAbRE WO 2 BE R A T

2022 2021

—E=-= - S D

HK$’000 HK$'000

FB T Tt

At the beginning of the year TR AFEA]) 1,661 -

Impairment losses recognised TAE R - 1,661

At the end of the year TR 1,661 1,661
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
WEFZ T AT —HIEEE

24. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 24. BENBREEEY

2022 2021

=== - S

HK$’000 HK$'000

FET T T

Cash and bank balances 4 M SRAT &5k 77,612 88,961
Less: Restricted bank deposits W 2 BRI A ERAT AR K (1,495) (695)
76,117 88,266

The restricted bank deposits represented cash set aside
by the Group in banks designated as surety bonds in
favour of customers for due performance of the Group's
obligations under a construction contract which is expected
to be completed within one year. The balances are therefore
classified as current assets. The amount will be released
upon the completion of the respective construction project.

The restricted bank deposits released during the year ended
31 December 2023.

At the end of the reporting period, the cash and bank
balances of the Group denominated in RMB amounted to
HK$1,459,000 (2021: HK$730,000). The RMB is not freely
convertible into other currencies. However, under PRC's
Foreign Exchange Control Regulations and Administration
of Settlement, Sale and Payment of Foreign Exchange
Regulations, the Group is permitted to exchange RMB
for other currencies through banks authorised to conduct
foreign exchange business.

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on daily
bank deposit rates.
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AR > AREBUARTEFHER
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25. ACCOUNTS PAYABLE

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements,,,

REMBRRWE

For the year ended 31 December 2022
WEEZ T AT HIEEE

25.

An ageing analysis of the accounts payable as at the end

of each reporting period, based on

the invoice date, is as

follows:

PE 14 BRK
I B R A S R
B2 Bt AT

2022 2021
—E_— TR TR
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET T
Within 3 months 3ME A " 67,462 62,284
4 to 6 months 4-61 J1 2,011 488
Over 6 months A 6 1R H 3,343 5,781
72,816 68,553
At 31 December 2022, retentions payable included in W_EFE__HFF+_H=Z1+—H:
accounts payable amounted to HK$12,038,000 (2021: JE A B R L B RE AT AR B Bk E
HK$8,407,000) and were normally settled on terms ranging 55 12,038,000 # oo (— & — — @
from two to three years. The carrying amounts of accounts 8,407,000 t) » — MAF P T 1E2-34F
payable approximate to their fair values. &S o AT HR Y R T B B L A
TEEARE o
The remaining accounts payable is non-interest-bearing and Pl R EAT R R FH AR > — B IR
is normally settled on terms ranging from 7 to 120 days. The TE7-120 KNGS o SIAMRERTER B &

payment terms are stipulated in the relevant contracts.
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REMBRRWE

For the year ended 31 December 2022
WEFZ T AT —HIEEE

26. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS 26. HtEERRAFEIREH

2022 2021
=== - S
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET Fis o

Accruals of costs for contract work G LA
TEHE 2 59,075 41,560
Other payables (note a) HAbRERT R (fita) 3,378 12,725
Accruals TER 2 9,149 13,325
71,602 67,610

Represented by: & -

— non-current liabilities - ERB AR 2,042 841
— current liabilities - REAE 69,560 66,769
71,602 67,610

The carrying amounts of other payables and accruals
approximate to their fair values.

Note:

(a) Other payables are non-interest-bearing and are expected
to be settled within one year. Included in other payables
is interest payable of HK$nil (2021: HK$11,029,000) to a
related company, which is controlled by Mr. Jiang Jianhui, a
shareholder of the Company.
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
WEEZ T AT HIEEE

27. INTEREST-BEARING OTHER BORROWINGS 27. sTEEMER
2022 2021
ZEICE SR
Contractual Contractual
Interest Interest
rate (%) rate (%)

per annum Maturity HK$'000  per annum Maturity HK$'000
SHEHEY) B TEL  AHFENE) N T

Current ik
Other loans - unsecured HAb 3 - HEAEA 10%  on demand 1,500 10%  on demand 1,500
Other loans - unsecured HAE - B 5% 2023 6,000 10%-12%  on demand 31,500*
ZE-CE TEX
7,500 33,000
Non-current L]
Other loans - unsecured H - N/A N/A - 5% 2023 6,000
7,500 39,000
2022 2021
—E-= ZF A
HK$'000 HK$'000
THET T 0
Analysed into: AT A
Within one year or on demand — AR UH R (B R 7,500 33,000
In the second year A - 6,000
7,500 39,000
* Included in other loans are loans of HK$nil (2021: * HMEREERE —F —F+_H
HK$31,500,000) for the year ended 31 December 2022 from ZP—HIEFER A — KB AR 2
a related company, which is controlled by Mr. Jiang Jianhui, a H#31,500,000 70 > % BB B R
shareholder of the Company. AR T R 2 e S A e
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
WEFZ T AT —HIEEE

28. CONVERTIBLE BONDS 28. ‘JM&LF%
The convertible bonds recognised in the consolidated T &5 A BAFS IR L 2 5 %) AT 6 1% A 5
statement of financial position are bifurcated into two R W T (1 AL 11137 N 2 51 7
components for accounting purposes, namely the liability EAE TR FRE Z2 5043 o T A% SR A R
component and the equity component, and the movements AR EBE N
in these components during the reporting period are as
follows:
Liability Equity
component  component Total
afEHs ERZBS oy
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T T T
At 1 January 2021 RoF-—H—A—H 114,189 384,037 498,226
Interest expense (note 8) FEBE (38 36,583 - 36,583
Conversion of convertible bonds B B (12,486) (39,388) (51,874)
At 31 December 2021 and 1 January 2022 ﬁ’\LZ# E+ZA=1—H
ZER-E-A-0 138,286 344,649 482,935
Interest expense (note 8) %'L%Fﬂﬁi (Ff5E8) 46,552 - 46,552
Conversion of convertible bonds R A 5 e A (7,294) (16,741) (24,035)
At 31 December 2022 WZEZZHFrZA=1—A 177,544 327,908 505,452
The details of the outstanding principal amount of the AR AR AR R T R B S A R RS
convertible bonds is as follows: Ik
HK$'000
TH5 T
At 1 January 2021 WoE D —AE—H—H 390,000
Conversion of convertible bonds AR B i 1) 4R (40,000)
At 31 December 2021 and 1 January 2022 R _F_—F+_H=1—H
M-ZF——4—H—H 350,000
Conversion of convertible bonds I 468 BB 5 5 1 i 4t (17,000)
At 31 December 2022 W oFE - AFF A =+—H 333,000
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REMBRRWE

For the year ended 31 December 2022
WEEZ T AT HIEEE

28. CONVERTIBLE BONDS (Continued) 28. AERES (&)

On 4 February 2016, the Company issued zero coupon
convertible bonds with an aggregate principal amount of
HK$390,000,000 to Power Expert Global Limited (“Power
Expert”) as part of the consideration for the acquisition
of Automotive Engines Business. The maturity date of the
convertible bonds is on the second anniversary of the date of
issuance (i.e. 4 February 2018). The convertible bonds bear no
interest on the principal amount. No security or guarantee is
granted in respect of the convertible bonds. The convertible
bonds can be converted into 195,000,000 ordinary shares
in the Company at the initial conversion price of HK$2.00
per conversion share (subject to adjustment pursuant to the
terms of the convertible bonds). The Company may at any
time before the maturity date by written notice redeem the
convertible bonds at 100% of the principal amount. Any
amount of the convertible bonds which is redeemed by the
Company will forthwith be cancelled.

On 13 March 2018, the Company has executed the
extension of the maturity date of the convertible bonds for
2 years from 4 February 2018 to 4 February 2020. On 8
November 2019, the Company and the then holder of the
convertible bonds, Power Expert, entered into an amendment
agreement, pursuant to which the maturity date of the
convertible bonds shall be extended for 5 years to 4 February
2025. This proposed amendment took effect on 14 January
2020 (“"CB Extension”). As a result of CB Extension, the
liability and equity component was extinguished by a gain
of HK$302,173,000 and loss of HK$8,461,000 respectively
based on revaluation upon the date of execution, i.e. 14
January 2020. The revaluation was carried out by Moore
Transaction Services Limited (“Moore”). On the other hand,
the carrying amount has been charged with imputed interest.

On 3 February 2020, the Company received a duly-executed
transfer notice from Power Expert notifying the Company that
Power Expert has agreed to transfer the convertible bonds to
LE Group Holdings Pte. Ltd. (“"LEGH"). The Company has
given its consent on the transfer and issued new certificates
of the convertible bonds to LEGH.
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
WEFZ T AT —HIEEE

28. CONVERTIBLE BONDS (Continued) 28. AERES (&)

On 7 October 2020, the Company received a transfer notice
from LEGH notifying the Company that LEGH has agreed to
transfer the convertible bonds back to Power Expert. The
Company has given its consent on the transfer and issued
new certificates of the convertible bonds to Power Expert.

On 23 September 2021, the Company received a transfer
notice from Power Expert notifying the Company that Power
Expert has agreed to transfer the entire convertible bonds to
Quick Tycoon Limited (“Quick Tycoon”). The Company has
given its consent on the transfer and issued new certificates
of the convertible bonds to Quick Tycoon.

On 18 October 2021, the Company received an assignment
notice from Quick Tycoon notifying the Company that Quick
Tycoon has agreed to transfer the convertible bonds in the
principal amount of HK$2 million and HK$3 million to two
different independent party respectively. The Company has
given its consent on the transfer and issued new certificates
of the convertible bonds accordingly.

As at 31 December 2022, the convertible bonds had a carrying
amount of HK$505,452,000 (2021: HK$482,935,000), in which
HK$327,908,000 (2021: HK$344,649,000) was recognised as
equity and HK$177,544,000 (2021: HK$138,286,000), was
recognised as non-current liabilities.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the imputed interest
on convertible bonds was amounted to HK$46,552,000
(2021: HK$36,583,000), in which HK$45,995,000 (2021:
HK$34,388,000) was related to the convertible bonds held
by Quick Tycoon.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, convertible
bonds with principal amount of HK$17,000,000 (2021:
HK$40,000,000) were converted and the outstanding principal
amount of the convertible bonds was HK$333,000,000
(2021: HK$350,000,000).
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
WEEZ T AT HIEEE

29. PROMISSORY NOTE 29. RHAEE

2022 2021

—E-= TR AR

HK$'000 HK$'000

FE T T

First Note 55— g 16,099 61,605

On 4 February 2016, the Company issued two promissory
notes with face values of HK$174,250,000 (the “First
Note”) and HK$235,750,000 (the “Second Note”) in
favour of Power Expert as part of the consideration for the
acquisition of Automotive Engines Business. Both the First
Note and Second Note carry interest at a rate of 10% per
annum. The outstanding principal amounts plus any accrued
interest will be repayable on the maturity date falling on the
second anniversary of the date of the First Note and Second
Note, i.e. 4 February 2018.

On 31 December 2017, the Company has extended the
maturity date of the First Note and Second Note for 2 years
from 4 February 2018 to 4 February 2020 and the interest
rate was adjusted downwards from 10% to 8% per annum,
all accrued and outstanding interest shall be repaid on the
extended maturity date of 4 February 2020.
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
WEFZ T AT —HIEEE

29. PROMISSORY NOTE (Continued) 29. AREE (&)

On 8 November 2019, the Company and Power Expert entered
into an amendment agreement, pursuant to which the term
of the promissory notes will be changed to perpetual and the
interest rate will be fixed at 5% per annum with effect from
5 February 2020, payable annually and the interest accrued
on or before 4 February 2020 shall be payable on 4 February
2025 ("PN Extension”). Further details are set out in the
Company’s announcement dated 8 November 2019 and the
Company'’s circular dated 19 December 2019. This proposed
amendment took effect on 14 January 2020. As a result of
PN Extension, the gain on modification of promissory notes
amounted to HK$294,577,000 was recognised based on
revaluation upon the date of execution, i.e. 14 January 2020.
The revaluation was carried out by Moore.

On 3 February 2020, the Company received an assignment
notice from Power Expert notifying the Company that Power
Expert has agreed to assign the promissory notes to LEGH.
The Company has given its consent on the transfer and
issued new certificates of the promissory notes to LEGH.

On 12 October 2020, the Company received an assignment
notice from LEGH notifying the Company that LEGH has
agreed to assign the promissory notes back to Power Expert.
The Company has given its consent on the transfer and issued
new certificates of the promissory notes to Power Expert.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the promissory
notes were assigned to Quick Tycoon and the Second Note
has been fully repaid.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Company
had partial early redeemed the principal amount of the First
Note of HK$129,462,000 and a further principal amount of
HK$6,473,000 was waived by Quick Tycoon. As a result of
the redemption, a loss of approximately HK$74,562,000 was
recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income.
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
WEEZ T AT HIEEE

29. PROMISSORY NOTE (Continued) 29. EREE (&)
As at 31 December 2022, the promissory notes had a carrying o E T HEF A =+—H > KL
amount of HK$16,099,000 (2021: HK$61,605,000). AR {E £ 16,099,000 0 (& —

—4F 1 61,605,0004570) °

The carrying amount of the First Note at year end was 5 — SRR AR R 10 R T 4
computed by discounting the face value of the note by the 2R i A R A R B K SR PR A
effective interest rate and the outstanding interest payable. AEHEE -

30. DEFERRED TAX 30. EEMHIE
The movements in deferred tax liabilities during the year are AR INIRAE B E R B IE DL T
as follows:

Depreciation

Fair value allowance
change on in excess
carbon-credit ~ Withholding of relates
assets tax depreciation Total
BEREEN BERBNE
NABESD BB HRERHE ag

HK$000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$000
Tk Tk Tk T

At 1 January 2021 e e g - 13,349 54 13,403
Disposal of subsidiaries &R E AR - (13,349) - (13,349)
Deferred tax charged to profit or loss — FRMEE MBRAEEHIE (f12)

during the year (note 12) 6,075 - - 6,075
At 31 December 2021 and REEZFFEFZA=+—HA

1 January 2022 —E-—k—f—f 6,075 - 54 6,129
Deferred tax credit to profit or loss FERPRE R IELHIE (fE12)

during the year (note 12) (5,278) - - (5,278)
At 31 December 2022 o s e 797 - 54 851
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
WEFZ T AT —HIEEE

30. DEFERRED TAX (Continued) 30. EEHE (&)
At the end of the reporting period, the Group has AR HA R - A B SR B JE e 4R
unused tax losses of HK$117,228,000 (31 December £ 117,228,000 o0 (& — — 4+
2021: HK$93,446,000) available for offset against future T A =-+—H :93,446,000% JC) 5
profits. No deferred tax asset has been recognised due to ] HE B AR B M o R A€ T AR BLE B
the unpredictability of future profit streams. Included in P D N IR b O N = R R TR
unrecognised tax losses are losses of HK$11,837,000 (31 FHER - O ELAMERENEREGES
December 2021: HK$5,709,000) that will expire in 2027 11,837,000 CEFE - —H+_H=
(2021: 2026). Other losses subject to the final assessment of +—H :5,709,000% 7C) #2027 4F
the Hong Kong Inland Revenue Department may be carried FHY (T~ —4F  20264F) o AT Pl
forward indefinitely. A FR 1A b 1] 7 2 At s 18 DA A Wk B S
JRI R HERTAL S o
SHARE CAPITAL 31. B=&
2022 2021
—E-_fF TR T AR
HK$’000 HK$'000
THET T 57T
Authorised: FHE -
500,000,000 ordinary shares of 500,000,000 % 4 J1 1 (&
HK$0.01 each 0.01¥#k oY 1 48 A 5,000 5,000
Issued and fully paid: AT MBLE -
At 1 January w—H—H 3,020 2,000
Share issued upon subscription AT Ay (BTN
(note i) 100 400
Placing of shares (note ii) Pic 5 ey (B sEin) - 420
Conversion of convertible bonds AT R RS (M GEiD
(note iii) 85 200
At 31 December irt—H=+—H 3,205 3,020

Details of the Company’s share option scheme are included
in note 32 to the consolidated financial statements.

Note:

(i) On 7 March 2021, pursuant to a subscription agreement A,
the Company allotted and issued 23,760,000 ordinary shares
of the Company to subscriber A, who is an independent
third party, at HK$4.80 per share. The aggregate cash
subscription price received, before share issue expenses, was
HK$114,048,000. This transaction resulted in an increase
of the issued share capital and share premium account of
HK$214,000 and HK$102,738,000, respectively.
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23,760,000 B A 28 7] {19 538 AL - 4
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31. SHARE CAPITAL (Continued)
Note: (Continued)

(M)

(i)

(iii)

(Continued)

On 7 March 2021, pursuant to a subscription agreement B,
the Company allotted and issued 16,240,000 ordinary shares
of the Company to subscriber B, who is an independent
third party, at HK$4.80 per share. The aggregate cash
subscription price received, before share issue expenses,
was HK$77,952,000. This transaction resulted in an increase
of the issued share capital and share premium account of
HK$186,000 and HK$88,863,000, respectively.

On 10 June 2022, the Company entered into six separate
subscription agreements with six subscribers who are
independent third parties. Pursuant to these subscription
agreements, the Company allotted and issued 10,000,000
ordinary shares of the Company at the HK$3.1 per share.
The aggregate cash subscription price received before share
issue expense, was HK$31,000,000. This transaction resulted
in an increase of the issued share capital and share premium
account of HK$100,000 and HK$30,900,000, respectively.

On 3 August 2021, pursuant to a share placing agreement, the
Company placed 42,000,000 ordinary shares of the Company
to Youth Force Asia Limited, Mao Yuan Capital Limited, Z&F
International Trading Limited and other public shareholders,
at placing price of HK$5.50 per share. The aggregate cash
subscription price received, before share issue expenses, was
HK$227,728,000. This transaction resulted in an increase
of the issued share capital and share premium account of
HK$420,000 and HK$228,714,000, respectively.

On 19 March 2021, Power Expert issued a conversion notice
to the Company in respect of the exercise of the conversion
rights attached to the convertible bonds issued by the
Company to the extent of HK$40,000,000 and accordingly
request the Company to issue 20,000,000 conversion
shares of the Company at HK$2.00 per conversion share.
This transaction resulted in an increase of the issued share
capital and share premium account of HK$200,000 and
HK$51,674,000, respectively.

On 3 January 2022, the Company issued 3,500,000 conversion
shares to three independent third parties who exercised the
conversion rights of the convertible bonds to the extent
of HK$7,000,000 at HK$2.00 per conversion share. These
transactions resulted in an increase of the issued share capital
and share premium account of HK$35,000 and HK$9,630,000,
respectively.

On 10 June 2022, the Company issued 5,000,000 conversion
shares to an independent third party who exercised the
conversion rights of the convertible bonds to the extent
of HK$10,000,000 at HK$2.00 per conversion share. This
transaction resulted in an increase of the issued share
capital and share premium account of HK$50,000 and
HK$14,321,000, respectively.
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32. SHARE OPTION SCHEME 32. BBIRRESTE

Pursuant to an ordinary resolution passed on 24 March 2016,
the shareholders of the Company approved the adoption of a
new share option scheme (the “Scheme”). Unless otherwise
terminated or amended, the Scheme will remain in force for
10 years from the date of adoption.

The purpose of the Scheme is to provide incentives and
rewards to eligible participants who contribute to the
success of the Group’s operations. Eligible participants
of the Scheme include full-time or part-time employees,
including any executive directors of the Group; and any
business or joint venture partners, contractors, agents or
representatives, consultants, advisers, suppliers, producers or
licensors, customers, licensees (including any sub-licensee) or
distributors, landlords or tenants (including any sub-tenants)
of the Group or any person who, in the sole discretion of
the Board, has contributed or may contribute to the Group.
The Scheme became effective on 29 March 2016 and, unless
otherwise cancelled or amended, will remain in force for 10
years from that date.

The maximum number of unexercised share options currently
permitted to be granted under the Scheme is an amount
equivalent, upon their exercise, to 10% of the total number
of ordinary shares of the Company in issue as at the date
when the Scheme was approved by the shareholders of the
Company in a general meeting, which is a total of 20,000,000
ordinary shares available for issue under the Scheme. The
maximum number of shares issuable under share options to
each eligible participant in the Scheme within any 12-month
period is limited to 1% of the shares of the Company in
issue at any time. Any further grant of share options in
excess of this limit is subject to shareholders’ approval in a
general meeting.
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32. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued) 32. BBRESTE (@)

Share options granted to a director, chief executive officer
or substantial shareholder of the Company, or to any
of their associates, are subject to approval in advance by
the independent non-executive directors. In addition, any
share options granted to a substantial shareholder or an
independent non-executive director of the Company, or to
any of their associates, in excess of 0.1% of the shares of
the Company in issue at any time or with an aggregate value
(based on the price of the Company’s shares at the date
of grant) in excess of HK$5 million, within any 12-month
period, are subject to shareholders’ approval in advance in a
general meeting.

The offer of a grant of share options may be accepted within
21 days from the date of the offer, upon payment of a
nominal consideration of HK$1 in total by the grantee. The
exercise period of the share options granted is determinable
by the directors and ends on a date which is not later than
10 years from the date of the offer of the share options.

The exercise price of the share options is determinable by
the directors, but should not be less than the highest of (i)
the closing price of the shares of the Company as stated in
the Hong Kong Stock Exchange daily quotation sheet on the
date of grant of share options; (ii) the average of the closing
prices of the shares of the Company as stated on the Hong
Kong Stock Exchange for the 5 trading days immediately
preceding the date of the offer; and (iii) the nominal value
of the shares of the Company.
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32. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued) 32. IBRHETE (&)
Details of the outstanding share options and movements of W E_ZFZ__—_HF#+_H=+—HIt
the share options during the year ended 31 December 2022 AF JE I R AT (0 A T R R R I PR A3
are as follows: FERE AR
Number of share options
BhREE
As at As at Exercise
Name or category 1 January 2022 31 December price
of participant Granted  Granted  Exercised Lapsed 2022 Date of grant HKS  Exercise period Vesting period
iut S iut S
SEERLITH -f-BRF  BRF  BfiRE  ERM fZAZt-B RFEE fikEAn 88 LG
Directors
g2
Mr. DiLing 1,500,000 - - - 1,500,000 13 April 2021 7268 12 April 2022 - 13 April 2021 -
i “EERREER 11 Agril 2025 11 Aprl 2022
i St 1)1 et CRCEmATERE
ZRCRERAT-R ZRZZERAT-H
Mr. Chen Xin Wei - 13,500,000 - - 13,500,000 20 September 2022 249420 September 2022 - Vested on 2 December 2022
[t ZEC-FRAZHR 19 September 2023 g S o ke
CECCEACIE
ZEZZELATAR
Employees 2,000,000 - - - 2,000,000 13 April 2021 7268 12 April 2022 - 13 April 2021 -
g “EERREER 11 Agril 2025 11 Aprl 2022
i St 1)1 et CRCEmATERE
ZRCRERAT-R ZRZZERAT-H
- 3,000,000 - - 3,000,000 20 September 2022 249420 September 2022 - Vested on 30 September
CEZTRRACHR 19 September 2023 0
e St i oy S REEZZERAZTREE
ZEZZELATAR
Others* 4,400,000 - - 4,400,000 - 13 Apri 201 7268 12 April 2022 - 13 April 2021 -
L “E-ERATER 11 Aprl 2025 11 April 2022
SEIZERATIRE CRCEmATERE
ZRCRERAT-R ZRZZERAT-H
7900000 16,500,000 - 4,400,000 20,000,000
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Is of the outstanding share options and movements of

the share options during the year ended 31 December 2021

32. ERRERTE (|
WRE-F - gt oA+ AL

wﬁi“

-

AT JBE 1 AR AT 6 D U S o B B 2 )

are as follows: FEIE AR
Number of share options
ElRERE
As at As at Exercise
Name or category 1 January 2021 31 December price
of participant Granted  Granted  Exercised Lapsed 2021 Date of grant HKS  Exercise period Vesting period
H-B=- m
SEERZIEN -f-BRF  BRF B EXM fZAZt-B RFEE fikEEn k8 L5
Director
g2
Mr. DiLing - 1,500,000 - - 1,500,000 13 April 2021 7268 12 April 2022 - 13 April 2021 -
it ZE-EmATER 11 Apr 2025 11 Al 2022
¢ St 1; o “F-EmATERE
CRCIENAT-R CRCENAT-H
Employees - 2,000,000 - - 2,000,000 3Api|202 7268 12 April 2022 - 13 April 2021 -
fig ZRC-ERRTER 11 Aprl 2005 11 April 2002
CRICERATIRE CRCEMATERE
CRCRFRAT-R ZRZZERM-R
Others - 4,400,000 - - 4400,000 13 Apri 2021 7268 12 April 2022 - 13 April 2021 -
B bt i 11 Apri 2025 Ap il 2022
CECZEMATIAE “ETEMATERE
CRCTEMAT-R SRICERAT-
- 7900000 - - 190000

* The Company has granted 4,400,000 share options to

six individuals, being non-employees of the Group and
each of them is a consultant and/or adviser to the Group
("Consultant(s)”). Each Consultant is an independent third
party to the Company (as defined in the Listing Rules). The
identity of of each Consultant is set out below:
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32. BRESTE (&)

Identity of the Consultant

Number of share
options granted

RS Y & 17 BYHEREZR
Ms. Ma Chao 57 R 1,000,000
Mr. Zhang Xiaogi TR e 1,000,000
Mr. Guo Yi ek 300,000
Mr. Li Shu B e 500,000
Mr. Zhuang Ting HEHESEE 800,000
Mr. Lam Chi Keong MOE A 800,000
Total Al 4,400,000

Each Consultant above is an eligible participant under
the Share Option Scheme who has provided consultancy
services and/or advice on the business development, financial
investment or operational management of the Group and
the share options granted were rewards to the Consultants.
In addition, the Consultants would continue to provide the
Group with professional advice and/or guidance on the areas
of business, fund raising, and operation and management (in
terms of each Consultant’s respective special skills or technical
knowledge to fill any void experienced by the Group), as
well as bring carbon neutral related business to the Group.
Without affecting the operating costs of the Company, the
grant of share options to the Consultants can provide an
incentive and reward to motivate them to continue making
their respective contributions to the Group and enable them
to share in the results of the development of the Company
at the same time. The Board believed that this would bring
potential benefits to the Group. Details of the background of,
services to be provided by, and expected benefits to the Group
of each Consultant were disclosed in the announcement of
the Company dated 10 August 2022.

The fair value of the share options granted in 2021 was
HK$30,263,000, of which the Group recognised a share
option expense HK$8,474,000 (2021: HK$21,789,000)
during the year ended 31 December 2022.
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32. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

The closing price of the shares of the Company immediately
before the date of grant of share options on 13 April 2021
was HK$6.40.

The fair value of the share options granted in 2022 was
HK$26,500,000, of which the Group recognised a share
option expense HK$26,500,000 during the year ended 31
December 2022.

The closing price of the shares of the Company immediately
before the date of grant of share options on 20 September
2022 was HK$2.46.

The fair value of equity-settled share options granted during
the year was estimated as at the date of grant using a
binomial model, taking into account the terms and conditions
upon which the options were granted. The following table
lists the inputs to the model used:

32. fBR#ERTE (8)

A TR BRI D (%
A = H) R G 156,40
T -

AR AR R I RE R A el
1 £526,500,000% ¢ » AL EH R &
A E A H R R R
JBEHE B 52 26,500,000 7T ©

AN F B R P CF
FILA A H) AT B T 5 2.46
HIT

TEAAETE - 4523 DARE £ 45 55 19 M M hle
A R ERTER T2 BT —IHA
R EHR > 2 R B AR R 4% T
HEBEHE o N3R5 B R ) 22

2022 2021

—E-= - S

Dividend yield (%) M Bl AR (%) - -

Expected volatility (%) FEMEE (%) 83.37 99.69

Historical volatility (%) JEE S B (%) 83.37 99.69

Risk-free interest rate (%) 4 JE g F1 R (%) 2.63 0.31

Expected life of options (year) IR HE PR = (4F) 10 4
Weighted average share price IR Al (B e 7o)

(HK$ per share) 2.46 6.40

The expected life of the options is based on the historical
data over the past three years and is not necessarily indicative
of the exercise patterns that may occur. The expected
volatility reflects the assumption that the historical volatility
is indicative of future trends, which may also not necessarily
be the actual outcome.

No other feature of the options granted was incorporated
into the measurement of fair value.
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33. RESERVES
The amounts of the Group's reserves and the movements
therein for the reporting period are presented in the
consolidated statement of changes in equity.

(a)

(b)

(o)

(d)

Statutory surplus reserve

Transfers from retained profits to the statutory surplus
reserve were made in accordance with the relevant PRC
rules and regulations and the articles of association of
the Company’s subsidiaries established in the PRC.

For the entities concerned, the statutory surplus reserve
can be used to cover previous years' losses, if any, and
may be converted into capital in proportion to equity
holders’ existing equity holdings, provided that the
balance after such conversion is not less than 25% of
their registered capital.

Share option reserve

It represents the fair value of share options vested
which are yet to be exercised, as further explained
in the accounting policy of share-based payments in
note 3 to the consolidated financial statements. The
amount will either be transferred to the share premium
account when the related share options are exercised,
or transferred to retained profits should the related
share options lapse or be forfeited.

Capital reserve

Certain amount of gain or loss arising from the waiver
of interest of amount due to a shareholder was
recognised as capital reserve.

Fair value reserve of financial assets at FVTOCI

It represents the cumulative gains and losses arising on
the revaluation of investments in equity instruments
designated as at FVTOCI.
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34. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES
On 27 January 2021, Future Marvel Limited (a wholly-owned

34. HEKBATA
WFZ - —HE—H_=++tH > Future

subsidiary of the Company), entered into a sale and purchase
agreement with Mr. Liu Chang, for a disposal of the entire
issued shares in Well Surplus Enterprises Limited ("Well
Surplus”) which was an investment holding company and in
Automotive Engines Business segment prior to the disposal
and the shareholder loans owned by the disposal group, at
a consideration of HK$41,500,000. The consideration was
settled by the purchaser in the way of (a) HK$500,000 by
cash; and (b) the balance of HK$41,000,000 by way of
waiver of the interests of the promissory notes held by Power
Expert. The Group lost its control over Well Surplus and Well
Surplus ceased to be the subsidiaries of the Group after the
completion of abovementioned disposal on 29 January 2021.
Following the disposal, the Group recorded a significant
gain on disposal of HK$269,220,000, calculated by taking
into account the consideration of the disposal, the relevant
expenses in relation to the disposal, the net liabilities of the
Automotive Engines Business, and the relevant sale loan. The
fair value of the waived promissory notes interest in amount
of HK$39,300,000 on 29 January 2021 with reference to
a valuation performed by CH Global Valuation & Advisory
Services Limited.

On 19 October 2022, a sale and purchase agreement for a
disposal of the entire issued shares in Global Harvest Inc.
and Victorious Securities Limited (together “Target Group”),
which were wholly owned subsidiaries of the Group, was
entered into at a consideration of HK$100. The consideration
was settled by the purchaser by cash. The Group lost its
control over Target Group and Target Group ceased to
be the subsidiaries of the Group after the completion of
abovementioned disposal on 19 October 2022. Following the
disposal, the Group recorded a loss on disposal of HK$5,000,
calculated by taking into account the consideration of the
disposal and the net assets of the Target Group, comprising
prepayment, deposits and other receivables of approximately
HK$5,000.
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34. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued) 34. HEKEB AT (&)
2021
- Sy
HK$'000
T
Net liabilities disposal of: AR
Accounts receivable JRE AT R K 41,445
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables — FEATEIA ~ 4% 4 b HoAt HE Ui 2,178
Cash and cash equivalents 4 MR EEEY 1,596
Accounts payable JEAT HE K (291,912)
Other payables and accruals A AT A TR B 2 (7,572)
Tax payable JRE A AL I (97)
Amount due to immediate holding company M B #2128 =] A 3E (49,733)
Lease liability GENCS=E (600)
Deferred tax liabilities AR B TH A (13,349)
(318,044)
Release of statutory surplus reserve upon H B IR R B3R vk o 2 B ot
disposal (1,085)
Release of exchange reserve upon disposal H 5 IR f A S M £t 445 40,476
(278,653)
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries A A A AR 269,220
Legal and professional fee R EER T (500)
9,933
Satisfied by: B LA AT
Cash consideration BaAE 500
Waiver of promissory notes interest 7R S0 SRR S 39,300
Assignment of shareholder’s loan I SRR A (49,733)
(9,933)
An analysis of the net outflow of cash and cash equivalents o B ] 2 B A I B A (TR
in respect of the disposal of subsidiaries is as follows: WA
2021
HK$'000
T % T
Cash and cash equivalents disposed of T b B B MBS (1,596)
Cash consideration received Wi Y B 4 AR 500
Net outflow of cash and cash equivalents in BBt &/ 7l 19 B4 KB & S EW 1F
respect of the disposal of subsidiaries i (1,096)
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35. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT 35 #ZABESARE2XRMT
OF CASH FLOWS

(a) Major non-cash transactions (a) FEFRERS
During the year, the Group had non-cash additions to YA N s mE N B T &
right-of-use assets and lease liabilities of HK$20,361,000 GPE > AREEA MY E
(2021: HK$20,170,000) and HK$20,361,000 (2021: MHEAEEHRSRED I A
HK$20,170,000), respectively, in respect of lease 20,361,000% 70 (& . — 4 ¢
arrangements for office premises. 20,170,000#570) DA }%20,361,000
T (CEF = —4F 1 20,170,000
Jt) °
(b) Changes in liabilities arising from financing (b) REBMETBNEEEE
activities
Interest-
bearing bank
and other  Convertible ~ Promissory Lease
borrowings Bonds Notes Liabilities
i ERTA

R TRRES RARE RE&R
HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$000
Tt T Tt T

At 1 January 2021 WoE=——A—H 44,000 114,189 289,883 2,673
Changes from financing cash flows MESENEEH (5,000) - (260,501) (4,236)
New leases Mg - - - 20,170
Exchange realignment HE 2 - - - 9
Lease modification MEEU - - - (1,754)
Interest expense RSB - 36,583 34,292 311
Disposal of subsidiaries i A 2 - - - (600)
Conversion of convertible bonds iR - (12,486) - -
Change in valuation of promissory notes, net 7 ji. S fk ff (5 &) i 4 - - 37,231 -
Waiver of promissory notes interest AR SRR R - - (39,300) -
At 31 December 2021 G Smbtc s S
H 39,000 138,286 61,605 16,573
At 1 January 2022 WoE-H—H—H 39,000 138,286 61,605 16,573
Changes from financing cash flows BEREREEH (31,500) - (129,462) (10,026)
New leases Mg - - - 20,361
Exchange realignment HE 2 0 - - - 126
Lease modification MEEU - - - (10,102)
Interest expense RIS B - 46,552 9,394 963
Conversion of convertible bonds TR = (7,294) S -
Loss on partial early repayment of promissory #2758 ¥ (K bt 2k 2 s
note # - - 74,562 -
At 31 December 2022 WoZZ—HE+ZH=1—H 7,500 177,544 16,099 17,895
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35. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT 35. S8R E&REBRMETE &)
OF CASH FLOWS (Continued)
(c) Total cash outflow for leases (¢ HEBRERBALE
The total cash outflow for long-term leases included in FIAGABEERETHNHES S

the consolidated of cash flows is as follows: T AR
2022 2021
—E-F R4
HK$’000 HK$'000
FBT Tt
Within operating expenses e B S H B N 188 107
Within financing activities E Bl B 4 [ A 10,026 4,236
10,214 4,343

36. JOINT ARRANGEMENTS 36. HEKE

Particulars of the Group’s joint operation as at 31 December
2022 and 2021 are as follows:

ARAREEN - F R F
FE+ A =4 — Bk E s T W

T
Form of Place of Percentage of attributable  Principal
Name of joint operation business structure  operation interest of the Group activities
HESE AR EBRBRA KEgm AEBEEGZEEEAL IEXR
2022 2021
—E-CE TR
% %
EXCEL - LANON Joint Venture Body unincorporated Hong Kong 51 51 Construction
(note a)
fati — oA ERHE B 5 1 1 2 Eik HETHE
China Carbon Infogem Limited liability PRC (Mainland 50 50 Provision of
Technologies Development Company China) scientific and
(Shenzhen) Co., Ltd.* technological
("China Carbon Infogem”) innovation
and technical
services
for carbon
management
and carbon
finance
SR 2 BERHCE R (BRI HREEAF R (e 3 R At R A
HRAT &L
(iR B (D) B Al
T AT s
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36. JOINT ARRANGEMENTS (Continued) 36. HEIKZE (&)

The English name of this company represents the best * HﬂﬁA]tﬂEHEHMEJU&)'C@*ﬁ Q117N
effort made by the management of the Company to directly T Z SRR T A 7 B R
translate its Chinese name as no official English name has KB HEAH AP LB -
been registered.

(a) Under the joint operation agreement, the joint (a) *Eﬁ% wA R > LR A
operators have contractually agreed sharing of control BAE KM E L= IF A REA
over the relevant activities of this body unincorporated, (A FH B SERS RO ZE I RE > BRI > 3%
hence this body unincorporated is jointly controlled by FEN AT AR [ R HoAth 4L
the Group and the other joint operator. Furthermore, A K88 NILm ) - 1ot > G
the joint operation agreement specifies that the Group A2 1 R 51 WA AR A ] R (] 175
and other party to the joint arrangement have rights R At N R 5 Ll BT R A AR
to the assets and obligations to the liabilities relating V9] I M i B FC At 3 [ 88 A\ MR
to the joint arrangement in accordance with the A HE 7 20 Al A A BR 7 e B
attributable interest of the Group as disclosed above A AR o B 5%
and the interest attributable to the other joint operator FAFENS B AR S - &
respectively, therefore the body unincorporated is BRETERFERELR > AF
classified as a joint operation. The joint operation is VR 110 4 A S ) R e 5 R
principally engaged in construction work to carry out At
the provision of barrier-free access facilities for highway
structures in Hong Kong.

(b) Under the joint venture agreement, the joint venturer (b) WG EWRE > GETERZEL

have contractually agreed sharing of control over the
relevant activities of China Carbon Infogem, hence
China Carbon Infogem is jointly controlled by the
Group and the other joint venturer. Furthermore, the
joint venture agreement specifies that the Group and
other party to the joint arrangement have rights to the
net assets with the attributable interest of the Group
as disclosed above and the interest attributable to
the other joint venturer respectively, therefore China
Carbon Infogem is classified as a joint venture.
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37. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

(a) At 31 December 2022, the guarantees given by the
Group to certain banks in respect of performance bonds
in favour of certain contract customers amounted to
HK$31,791,000 (2021: HK$20,694,000).

(b) In the ordinary course of the Group’s construction

business, the Group has been subject to a number of
claims due to personal injuries suffered by employees of
the Group or the Group’s subcontractors in accidents
arising out of and in the course of their employment.
The directors of the Company are of the opinion that
such claims are well covered by insurance and would not
result in any material adverse impact on the financial
position or results and operations of the Group.

38. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(a) In addition to the transactions and balances detailed
elsewhere in these consolidated financial statements,
the Group had the following material transactions with

related parties during the reporting period:

(a)

(b)

(@)

37. RAREE

WoEZF+TZH=+—H>
KEERGTETEGHNEFZE
H) PR T 1) A T ERAT AR A 4
4 431,791,000 o0 (% ——
£ 1 20,694,000%7T) ©

FEASEEEE DN H FRRE
o AR AR B B AR I T O
BTR] 5y TE 2 M 400 [H] 3 A i A
N B A5 T i A B R A TR
W oo AR > AR ER R
B R PR AR > A g A AR F Y
P IR Dl S A % K AT ]
HRAFIHE -

38. EEEARS

R AE A 5 B e 3R FL At 3 20
A2 Ty FNAEBRAL - ASSR R
ST A B B 5 HEAT R S K
L5

2022 2021
—E-= - S
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
B 5 FET T
Donation paid to a society of K FAAFHITEH
which an executive director B A KA E
of the Company is the I
legal representative 890 500
Donation paid to a society of R T4 FlHiAE -1
which a former chairman WEAT T B+ e [ e
of the Company is a
chairman (i) - 2,000
Interest expenses charged A A ] — 2 RS AT
by a company of which JBE BRI 2 ) AT A
a shareholder of the )=y
Company is a shareholder (i) - 3,780
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38. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued) 38. AR S (1@

(a) (Continued) (a) (&)
Notes: Ffat
(i) The related party resigned as non-executive director and () BHE B LFERITES NAFER
chairman of the Company, and ceased to be a related fOR-ZFE_—F+—H+LHER
party on 17 November 2021. BT -
(i)  Details are set out in notes 26 and 27 to the consolidated (i) W IR A A B R I R 26 &
financial statements. 27 °
(b) Disposal of a subsidiary to an executive (b) BFATHEHLEAQNTHITE
director of the Company A
Cash consideration of HK$100 received from Mr. Di I IS 6 5 A= i B B 42 A B 100 7
Ling. Details of which are set out in note 34 to the JC o HFEIE SR 45 A IS i R It
consolidated financial statements. 7134
(c) Compensation of key management personnel () TEBFEEE A BRI
of the Group
Further details of the compensation of key management A BH AR 2 [ A N B Y
personnel of the Group are included in notes 10 and 11 HE— 25 TR O 55 A RS R I
to the consolidated financial statements. FE10F111 »
39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY 39. REFEINEMIA
2022 2021
—E-— R4
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET Tt
Financial assets SEEE
At amortised cost TR A
(including cash and bank balance) (045 Bl 4 FER AT 45 6%) 148,237 152,367
Financial liabilities =N =N
At amortised cost Fi 4 B A 345,561 375,054
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FINANCIAL
(Continued)
The Group’s major financial instruments include accounts
receivable, other receivables, restricted bank deposits, cash
and cash equivalents, accounts payable, other payables,
interest-bearing other borrowings, promissory notes and

INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY

convertible bonds. Details of these financial instruments
are disclosed in the respective notes to the consolidated
financial statements. The risks associated with these financial
instruments include market risk (interest rate risk), credit
risk and liquidity risk. The policies on how to mitigate these
risks are set out below. The management manages and
monitors these exposures to ensure appropriate measures

are implemented on a timely and effective manner.

FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Management has assessed that the fair values of cash
and cash equivalents, accounts receivable, contract assets,
carbon-credit assets, restricted bank deposits, financial assets
included in prepayments, deposits and other receivables,
accounts payable, financial liabilities included in other
payables and accruals, lease liabilities and interest-bearing
other borrowings approximate to their carrying amounts
largely due to the short term maturities of these instruments

The Group’s finance department headed by the director
is responsible for determining the policies and procedures
for the fair value measurement of financial instruments.
The finance department reports directly to the director and
the audit committee. At each reporting date, the finance
department analyses the movements in the values of financial
instruments and determines the major inputs applied in the
valuation. The valuation is reviewed and approved by the
directors. The valuation process and results are discussed
with the audit committee twice a year for interim and annual
financial reporting.

The fair values of the financial assets and liabilities are
included at the amount at which the instrument could be
exchanged in a current transaction between willing parties,
other than in a forced or liquidation sale.
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40. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF

41.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
The following methods and assumptions were used to
estimate the fair values:

The fair values of the liability portion of convertible bonds
and promissory notes have been calculated by discounting
the expected future cash flows using rates currently available
for instruments with similar terms, credit risk and remaining
maturities. The Group’s own non- performance risk for
convertible bonds and promissory notes as at 31 December
2022 and 31 December 2021 was assessed to be insignificant.

For the fair value of the financial asset at FVTOCL, the Group
uses fair value measured based on valuation techniques
for directly checking the market price in active market
for determining and disclosing the fair value of financial
instruments. As at 31 December 2022, the Group’s financial
asset at FVTOCL was measured at fair value and determined
as level 1 (2021: level 1) financial instruments.

For the fair value of the carbon-credit assets, the Group uses
fair value measured based on valuation techniques for directly
checking comparable projects carbon credit on the market
for determining and disclosing the fair value of financial
instruments. As at 31 December 2022, the Group’s carbon-
credit assets were measured at fair value and determined as
level 3 (2021: level 3) financial instruments.

The Group did not have any financial liabilities measured at
fair value as at 31 December 2022 and 2021.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES

The Group’s principal financial instruments include accounts
receivable, contract assets, carbon-credit assets, restricted
bank deposits, deposits and other receivables, accounts and
other payables, cash and cash equivalents, lease liabilities,
interest-bearing other borrowings, promissory notes and
convertible bonds. Details of these financial instruments are
disclosed in the respective notes to the consolidated financial
statements. 279
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (Continued)

The Group's ordinary activities expose it to various financial
risks, including foreign currency risk, credit risk and liquidity
risk. The risks associated with financial instruments and
the policies on how to mitigate these risks are described
below. Management monitors closely the Group’s exposures
to financial risks to ensure appropriate measures are
implemented in a timely and effective manner.

Foreign currency risk

Foreign currency risk means the risk on the fluctuation of
fair value or future cash flows of financial instruments which
arose from changes in exchange rates.

The Group's civil engineering and construction business is
located in Hong Kong and is transacted and settled in HK$
while the Group’s Automotive Engines CGU is located in
PRC and is transacted and settled in RMB. Accordingly, the
directors considered that the Group’s foreign currency risk
is insignificant.

Credit risk

The Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable to bank
balances, accounts receivable and contract assets. The
Group's maximum credit risk exposure at the end of the
reporting period in the event of other parties failing to
perform their obligations is represented by the carrying
amount of each financial asset as stated in the consolidated
statement of financial position.

For the maximum exposure as at 31 December 2022,
management monitored the creditworthiness and payment
patterns of each debtor closely and on an ongoing basis. The
Group’s accounts receivable from contract work represent
interim payments or retentions certified by the customers
under terms as stipulated in the contracts and the Group did
not hold any collateral over these receivables. As the Group’s
customers in respect of contract work primarily consist of
government departments and developers or owners with
strong financial backgrounds, management considers that
the risk of irrecoverable receivables from contract work was
not significant.
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41.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBIJECTIVES 41.

AND POLICIES (Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)

At 31 December 2022, the Group had concentrations of credit
risk as 27% (2021: 49%) of the total accounts receivable
were due from the Group’s largest external customer and
91% (2021: 98%) of the total accounts receivable were due
from the Group's five largest external customers.

Maximum exposure and year-end staging

The tables below shows the credit quality and the maximum
exposure to credit risk based on the Group’s credit policy,
which is mainly based on past due information unless other
information is available without undue cost or effort, and

year-end staging classification as at 31 December 2022 and

2021.

The amount presented are gross carrying amounts for

financial assets and contract assets.

As at 31 December 2022

HEEREEEEREE @)

FERR (@

MoEZHE+ZH=+—H &%
B A 7E A TR S B AR T L >
W AR 27 % (& 4
49%) K HAE BRI IMBES - i
MEWOR AR T I91% (CF 4 ¢
98%) HIIZK A AL B I RSN E -

BARBNERHKR
TR A S BOR 9 15 5%
BURERNROA 5 55 B G52 DL £
FORHA I Il 8 2 A
TARRTRL T WIS EER) + SR
CECCERCE L OAST
— BB -

20 < S < T R R IR
BE -

R-B-ZH+-A=+—H

12-month
ECLs Lifetime ECLs
1218 A7 58
FEER 2HAHEERFE
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach
FIER E2RE  EIWE E1tE
HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000
FET FET FHET FET FET
Contract assets* HHEE - - - 124,408 124,408
Accounts receivable* JRRE WA B 3 - - - 41,867 41,867
Financial assets included AT
in deposits and other oA MR ) 4
receivables Pl 7
- Normal - IE% 30,196 - - - 30,196
Cash and cash equivalents Bl 413 &% (HY
- Not yet past due — ¥ A A 76,117 - - - 76,117
106,313 - - 166,275 272,588
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 41. BiEEMRETEEERKE @)

AND POLICIES (Continued)

Credit risk (Continued) EERRE (&)
Maximum exposure and year-end staging (Continued) BEAEREMNERWPER (&)
12-month
As at 31 December 2021 ECLs Lifetime ECLs
1218 A #
R-BZ-F+ZA=1+-H A B R 2T R
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach
FMEE F2M B 3B il i
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Tt Tt Tt THTT T
Contract assets* BHIERE - - - 98,455 98,455
Accounts receivable* HE R - - - 34,679 34,679
Financial assets included in AR SR A
deposits and other receivables  MEICEK Y 4 i & e
- Normal - E¥ 32,966 - - - 32,966
Cash and cash equivalents BamBla%Ey
- Not yet past due — WA A 88,266 - - - 88,266
121,232 - - 133,134 254,366
* For contract assets and accounts receivable to which the Group * AL AR R REN A4 E

applies the simplified approach for impairment, information
based on the provision matrix is disclosed in notes 21 and 22
to the consolidated financial statements.

Further quantitative data in respect of the Group’s exposure

to credit risk arising from accounts receivable are disclosed in
note 22 to the consolidated financial statements.
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41.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBIJECTIVES 41.

AND POLICIES (Continued)

Liquidity risk

The Group’s policy is to monitor regularly the current and
expected liquidity requirements to ensure that it maintains
sufficient reserves of cash and adequate committed lines of
funding from major financial institutions to meet its liquidity
requirements in the short and long term. In addition, banking
facilities have been put in place for contingency purposes.

The following tables details the remaining contractual
maturities at the end of the reporting period of the
Group's financial liabilities, which are based on contractual
undiscounted cash flows (including interest payments
computed using contractual rates, or if floating, based on
rates as at the end of the reporting period) and the earliest

BHEREERERBER (&

<

RBETERR

A AR T V14 SRS % E U B K IR R T
TE &R TR > DUME SR H AR 2 4 B
ol S e B 3 e R 119 A 4D
R RE > AR 2 Y R R O
BEETR o Mo > REME LY
R EH > UMARZ T -

RS AR 4R Y B B A R
AOREFRRIBR G20 > HITRIESH
ARG BB i i (B 2  #F R B
JaEg B ) ) MR i ot B A A B )
HFH A FLEATER) BoAS S T REZE
R R H AR

date that the Group could be required to repay:

Weighted
average Within 1 Total
effective  yearoron  Between1  Between 2 undiscounted
interest rate demand and 2 years and 5years  cash flows Total
mEFE  -FRAE KR
BERNZ  EEXESR -ECf ZERE ReR#s @zt
% HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TART TET THER TET TET
31 December 2022 “ETTESTH
=1—H
Accounts payable JE AR 3 N/A 72,816 - - 72,816 72,816
Financial liabilities A AF AR 2
included in other SREALR
payables N/A 71,602 - - 71,602 71,602
Interest-bearing Ak BSRAT R Ak
other borrowings 6% 7,950 - - 7,950 7,500
Convertible bonds CE St 30% - - 333,000 333,000 177,544
Promissory note RO Note fitz 6,898 1,916 7,664 16,478 16,099
159,266 1,916 340,664 501,846 345,561
Lease liabilities fHEARK 6.66% 9,084 5,749 6,625 21,458 17,895
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (Continued)
Liquidity risk (Continued)

Weighted

average
effective ~ Within 1 year
interest rate  or on demand
mErsy  —EREE
EBAE EELkHER

41. BIEEREEEEREIE @)

nREESEE (&)
Total
Between 1 Between 2 undiscounted
and 2 years and 5 years cash flows Total
R
—EE “ERE O Haids st

% HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
it i i it it
31 December 2021 S S e
A
Accounts payable JEEAS B K N/A 68,553 - - 68,553 68,553
Financial liabilities SEAS MR FOR
included in other SRAfR
payables N/A 66,769 - - 66,769 66,769
Interest-bearing it B 5%
other borrowings 1% 41,730 4,230 12,690 58,650 39,000
Convertible bonds 5 30% - - 350,000 350,000 138,286
Promissory notes LR Note itk 8,712 8,712 52,72 69,696 61,605
185,764 12,942 414,962 613,668 374,213
Lease liabilities HEARE 6% 7,818 6,716 4,645 19,179 16,573

Note: The promissory notes are perpetual therefore only 5 years
undiscounted cash flows are presented for liquidity risk
purpose. The details of the terms of the promissory note are
set out in note 29 to the consolidated financial statements

As explained in note 3 to the consolidated financial
statement, the directors have adopted or plan to adopt
certain measures in order to improve the Group's financial
and cash flow positions and to maintain the Group’s as a
going concern.
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBIJECTIVES 41.

AND POLICIES (Continued)

Capital management

The primary objective of the Group’s capital management
policy is to ensure that the Group will be able to continue as
a going concern while maximising the return to stakeholders
through the optimisation of the debt and equity balance.

The directors of the Company review the capital structure
on a periodical basis. As part of this review, the directors
consider the cost of capital and the risks associated with
each class of capital and will balance the Group’s overall
capital structure through new share issues as well as raising
new debts or repayment of existing debts.

The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio, which is
net cash and bank balances divided by the total capital. Net
debts are calculated as the total of interest-bearing bank
and other borrowings, liability component of the convertible
bonds and promissory notes less cash and cash equivalents.

Total capital refers to equity attributable to owners of the
Company. The gearing ratio as at 31 December 2022 and 31
December 2021 was as follows:

MHEEREERR

ExEE

ARG I O R R B AR A Tl
PRASE B RE R A ACE > R RpB i AL
frips Hizl&\u%ﬁ‘ijﬁﬂﬁﬁﬁl%ﬁ%lﬂi&
oI A

R G E M at E AN o Ry LA
Mt TAER — &0 > % E S W
A o B ISV o M R 0 JELBRY > SIEI 9
BT B R AT MO M OB B MR R BLA M
B AT- B A A B 1 B R AR

ALEEENEERMIREREEA
& 7 A L R 1 B MR AT A B
T (E R VB A AN - %fi‘%{%i”‘ﬁﬂﬂ
Hewt BARAT B AR AT 3R~ AR R R
BRI R S SRR ) BRI 4 M
B EYRA -

AR AT B B A 16 f 2 -
BoEC A AR CE
A ES ) 3 Lt
S

2022 2021
—E-= R4
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET T# T
Interest-bearing bank AR A 3K
and other borrowings 7,500 39,000
Liability component of AR R AE IR AT
the convertible bonds 177,544 138,286
Promissory note TR 16,099 61,605
Less: Cash and cash equivalents W Be MBI EHEEY (76,117) (88,266)
Net debts A 15 125,026 150,625
(Deficit in equity)/equity attributable to A/ @A AMELS
owners of the Company (ks 4h) W 7 (49,146) 86,874
Gearing ratio (%) B A R (%) N/A 57.7
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42. RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEMES

The Group operates a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme
("MPF Scheme”) for all qualified employees in Hong Kong
under the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance.
The assets of the MPF Scheme are held separately from those
of the Group in funds under the control of an independent
trustee. Under the rule of the MPF Scheme, the employer and
its employees are each required to make contributions to the
scheme at a rate of 5% specified in the rules, but subject
to a cap of HK$1,500 per month. The only obligation of the
Group with respect of MPF Scheme is to make the required
contributions under the scheme. No forfeited contribution
is available to reduce the contribution payable in the future
years.

The employees employed in the PRC are members of the
state-managed retirement benefit schemes operated by
the PRC government. The PRC subsidiaries are required to
contribute a certain percentage of their basic payroll to
the retirement benefit schemes to fund the benefits. The
only obligation of the Group with respect to the retirement
benefit schemes is to make the required contributions under
the schemes. No forfeited contribution is available to reduce
the contribution payable in future years.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the total
contribution to the defined contribution schemes charged
to profit or loss amounted to HK$3,198,000 (2021:
HK$2,704,000).

During the year ended 31 December 2022 and 2021, the
Group did not have any defined benefit plan.
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43. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE 43. XA TR RET
COMPANY
Information about the statement of financial position of the A B /S R 2 BB IR L&
Company at the end of the reporting period is as follows: ZERIE
2022 2021
—E-= - S
HK$'000 HK$'000
FE T T
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FREBEE
Investment in subsidiaries [} N m 10 10
Right-of-use assets o FHRE - 8,551
Financial assets at FVTOCI Fh A H A 2 T U A
PIA SEEF RN
4 Rl 8,200 20,000
Total non-current assets IF B B A 8,210 28,561
CURRENT ASSETS RBEE
Due from subsidiaries JRE iz o6 G 2 ) K 36,576 71,066
Prepayments, deposits and other TEAT A ~ $d K
receivables oAt R A 2R 10,596 18,308
Cash and cash equivalents Bl MBS EY) 38 286
Total current assets it B A 47,210 89,660
CURRENT LIABILITIES RBRE
Due to a subsidiary Fﬁﬁfﬁfﬂ%/\ A 105,118 -
Other payables and accruals Ho At A 3k X TR 1,174 6,265
Interest-bearing other borrowings =8 HiAth %.i‘—)’( 7,500 33,000
Lease liabilities THE &K = 2,980
Total current liabilities Wi B B A 113,792 42,245
NET CURRENT (LIABILITIES)/ASSET RE (BE) BEFE (66,582) 47,415
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT EEHAERABERE
LIABILITIES (58,372) 75,976
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COMPANY (Continued)

43. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE

43. FEUBRRR @

2022 2021
—E-— R4
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET T T

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES FREBEE
Interest-bearing other borrowings S A £ = 6,000
Lease liabilities HE A& = 5,871
Convertible bonds CIE 3 =3 177,544 138,286
Promissory note LI 16,099 61,605
Deferred tax liabilities 30 S ol T 4 i 2 2
Total non-current liabilities FE R E A fE 193,645 211,764
Net liabilities BEFEE (252,017) (135,788)

EQUITY s
Share capital JieA 3,205 3,020
Reserves (note) ittt (5 (255,222) (138,808)
Deficit in equity EEBA (252,017) (135,788)
Sha Tao Chen Xinwei
BB FERE
Chairman Executive Director
FE HITESE
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
FE+ZA=+—HILEE

- S ~—

43. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE

43. ARATFZHBRRE (&)

Note: & -
A summary of the Company’s reserves is as follows: AN Z FERE LT -
Equity Fair value
component reserve of
of Share financial
Share Capital ~ convertible option asset at  Accumulated
premium reserve bonds reserve FvTod loss Total
BDAABEA
Htr2EKRA
TRERESZ ZEREEZ
BAEE ERfE BEds BRERE LNERE ZiER H
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
it it it it T T T
At 1 January 2021 i e
—H—H 45,486 - 384,037 - - (914,856) (485,333)
Total comprehensive ERAHE RS
expense for the year - - - - - (110,026) (110,026)
Issue of new shares BITH M 420,315 - - - - - 420,315
Issue of shares upon BT B 0
conversion of convertible 1T
bonds 51,674 - (39,388) - - - 12,286
Equity-settled share option  [BtHEAE S Bl A %
expenses - - - 21,789 - - 21,789
Waiver of interest of BRI E
amount due to a
shareholder - 2,161 - - - - 2,161
At 31 December 2021 i S——d
+-A=1—H 517,475 2,161 344,649 21,789 - (1,024,882) (138,808)
At 31 December 2021 and R -ZE 4
1 January 2022 FZAET—HR
SR
—H—H 517,475 2,161 344,649 21,789 - (1,024,882) (138,808)
Total comprehensive FREEENSE
expense for the year - - - - (11,800) (177,697) (189,497)
Issue of new shares BTk 30,900 - - - - - 30,900
Issue of shares upon BT R
conversion of convertible  E1TH A
bonds 23,950 - (16,741) - - - 7,209
Equity-settled share option  McHE A5 B B M HER 3
expenses - - - 34,974 - - 34,974
Transfer of share option ~ AREMIER M HE
reserve upon the lapse BRIBCRE R
of share options - - - (16,855) - 16,855 -
At 31 December 2022 1 S
+-HA=+—H 572,325 2,161 327,908 39,908 (11,800)  (1,185,724) (255,222)
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44. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES OF 44. A R B X EME » 7 8 ¥

THE COMPANY

In the opinion of the directors, the immediate holding
company is Quick Tycoon Limited and the ultimate holding
company is Sound Gem Limited, which were incorporated in
Hong Kong and the British Virgin Islands respectively.

Information about subsidiaries
Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as

WHERE > BEERAFRBIUSAR
O] o T B BFERE S W B South Gem
Limited > 43 Bl i & s 2 2 Jag i 2 B I

S AL -

FRAEE

ARAFREBETRAFEME

follows:
Place of
incorporation/ Norinal value of Percentage of
registration and  Form of business issued ordinary equity attributable
Company Name business structure share capital to the Company Principal activities
AL/EE BT \ .
e RERLE FBEREA Ratae KOAREREAMM TERE
Direct Indirect
E# B
202 00 2022 0N
China Carbon Green Development PRC (Mainland Limited liability RMB10,000,000 - - 100%  100% Global Carbon Neutral Business
(Shenzhen)‘to., China) company ‘
PG (R FRAR P PEE)  ARA 10,000,000 AR EHRES
China Carbon Green (Naning) Technology ~ PRC (Mainland Limited liability RMB10,000,000 - - 60%  60% Global Carbon Neutral Business
Development Co,, Ltd. China) company .
PRAL ?ﬁﬁ' HHRRERAR TE(PERS)  ARAA 10,000,000 A ReH e ULRIE ]
Excel Engineering Company Limited Hong Kong Limited liability HK$23,288,000 = - 100%  100% Civil engineering works and
company building construction and
B maintenance works
WELRARAA Fil FRALT 23,288,000 ¢ iﬁ;ﬁu&ﬁ?@%&ﬁ%ﬁ
1
Green Carbon Asset Management Limited ~ Hong Kong Limited liability HK$10,000 = - 100%  100% Global Carbon Neutral Business
(formerly known as China Carbon Neutral company
Group Limited) -
ﬁi@@%%‘é BERAT Fil FRALTA 10,0007 EHIRES
(R RRRERARLA)
Zhan Xiang Investment Limited Hong Kong Limited fiability HK$10,000 = - 100%  100% Investment holding
conpeny \
RARERRAR Fik HRAH 10,0007 igieadi
Global Carbon Asset Investment Cayman slands ~ Limited liability UsD1 = - 100%  100% Global Carbon Neutral Business
Mana%emen t, Ltd ‘ company B
ARWEEREEWARL HERE i E3m 3 UG e
* Registered as a limited liability company under the PRC law. * AR R A A BRA A
# The English name of this company represents the best # H 7 7 A M IE R S SO A

effort made by the management of the Company to directly
translate its Chinese name as no official English name has
been registered.
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45. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD 45. REHIEEE

In March 2023, the Group has completed the acquisition of
73% equity interest in Shenzhen Jianxin Zhuhe Technology
Company Limited (“Jianxin Zhuhe"”). Jianxin Zhuhe, is
a national high-tech enterprise. It has more than 30 soft
writings and patents in artificial intelligence, blockchain, big
data, etc. With the core of artificial intelligence, blockchain,
and cloud computing technologies, Jianxin Zhuhe combines
the world’s leading digital identity, key security, and privacy
computing technologies to provide green and trustworthy
blockchain technologies, green credit rating standards, rules
and mechanisms for the industry through digital technologies
to facilitate more blockchain-based independent and
controllable data, establish green digital credit, and link
green digital finance.

Save as disclosed above and elsewhere in the consolidated

financial statements, the Group did not have any significant
event after the reporting date.
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EFHBHRE

A summary of the results and of the assets, liabilities and total
equity of the Group for the last five financial years, as extracted
from the Group’s published consolidated financial statements, is

set out below.

Five-Year Financial Summary

AL 5 IR B 2 36 - EE - A
R b 2 A2 (8 1 4R B T 3R 43

HEHRE) BT -

RESULTS E
Year ended Year ended Year ended Year ended Year ended
31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December
2022 2021 2020 2019 2018
HE-ZS-CF BEZ--F HESZCZFE O ERSZF OBEESERR
+ZA=+-8 +ZA=+-H +ZH=+—H +ZH=+-H +ZA=+—H
I8:3:5 EAE JIRid: S EFE R
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET Tt T T T
Revenue 709,306 468,007 478,321 459,109 743,414
(Loss)profit before tax Wi (E5tR) /Al (204,316) 273,639 302,144 (922,494) (769,826)
Income tax credit/(expense) Pt/ (8 30) 5,278 (6,075) (115) 16,249 66,059
(Loss)profit for the year ER R /A (199,038) 267,564 302,029 (906,245) (703,767)

ASSETS, LIABILITIES AND TOTAL EQUITY

31 December

31 December

6E  AENESEAE

31 December 31 December

31 December

2022 2021 2020 2019 2018

e SEIFE S R ZEAE

+ZA=+-B +ZA=Z+—H +ZA=Zt—-H FZA=+—0 +ZAZT—H

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

FAT T T T Tt

Total assets 314,538 484,817 255,821 439,095 1,307,390
Total liabilities (364,307) (397,756) (934,750) (1,413,850) (1,400,349)
(Deficit in equity)/total equity A (49,769) 87,061 (678,929) (974,755) (92,959)
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